Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018

Davide Chiumello *Editor*



Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018

Davide Chiumello Editor

Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018



Editor Davide Chiumello Intensive Therapy University of Milan San Paolo Hospital Milan Italy

ISBN 978-3-319-94188-2 ISBN 978-3-319-94189-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018966699

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, Corrected Publication 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

The book is a useful guide to the management of the most-debated hot topics of practical interest in anesthesia and intensive care. It reviews the state of the art in issues related to both intensive care and anesthesia, such as the perioperative management of coagulation, pain, use of noninvasive ventilation, antifungal treatment for critically ill patients, and the diagnosis and treatment of septic shock and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS).

Written by leading experts and including updated references, it provides a comprehensive, easy-to-understand update on anesthesia and intensive care. The book clearly explains complex topics offering practicing clinicians insights into the latest recommendations and evidence in the field while, at the same time, making it a valuable resource for students new to the study of anesthesia and intensive care.

Milan, Italy

Davide Chiumello

Contents

Part I Anesthesia and Pain

1	Perioperative Coagulation Management and Point-of-Care Monitoring in Anesthesia 3 Gianni Biancofiore 3
2	Complications Associated with Neuraxial Blockade
3	Cardiac Patients and Noncardiac Surgery: PathophysiologicalBasis for Clinical Management43G. Frasacco and L. Tritapepe43
4	Postoperative Pain Management 57 Franco Cavaliere and Carlo Cavaliere 57
5	The New Oral Anticoagulants and Anesthesia71Davide Chiumello and Paolo Spanu71
6	Perioperative Management for Patients with a Solid OrganTransplant87Laura Petrò, Alessandra Ponti, Elena Roselli, Manlio Prosperi, and Andrea De Gasperi
7	Neuromuscular Diseases
8	Noninvasive Ventilation in the Perioperative Period
Par	t II Intensive Care
9	Diagnosis and Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: An Evidence-Based Review
10	Septic Shock and Hemodynamic Management

11	The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome:	
	Diagnosis and Management 18 Davide Chiumello, Antonella Marino, and Antonio Cammaroto 18	;9
12	Airway Management in Pediatric Patients)5
13	Anaesthesia for Interventional Neuroradiology	.9
14	Antifungal Treatments in Critically Ill Patients	57
Cor	rrection to: Diagnosis and Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: An Evidence-Based ReviewC	21

Part I

Anesthesia and Pain



1

Perioperative Coagulation Management and Point-of-Care Monitoring in Anesthesia

Gianni Biancofiore

1.1 Introduction

Since the first report of a successful blood transfusion in 1667 by Jean-Baptiste Denys, blood transfusion has evolved considerably saving, undoubtedly, many lives. However, administration of blood products remains associated with numerous complications and side effects [1, 2]. This is of particular interest because the need for blood in hospitals continues to exceed the volume collected by the transfusion services with a substantial cost and a burden to the transfusion services [2]. Therefore, overuse of blood products and the resulting expenditure in a time when affordable health care is needed are receiving increasing attention by regulators and clinicians. This is in the forefront as more and more data suggest that many allogenic transfusions are either not needed or result in negative outcomes while lacking any demonstrable benefit to the patient. This is one of the reasons that led to an approach to transfusion medicine that challenges the traditional attitudes providing a strategy that will result in preemptive treatments so that allogeneic blood could be avoided or the patients' exposure to this therapy could be substantially reduced. Patient blood management (PBM) is currently defined by the Society for the Advancement of Blood Management as "the scientific use of safe and effective medical and surgical techniques designed to prevent anemia and decrease bleeding in an effort to improve patient outcome" [3]. This target is achieved by addressing the following issues: (1) prevention of present or potential coagulopathy; (2) detection, diagnosis, and proper treatment of anemia; (3) enforcement of all appropriate modalities of blood conservation; and (4) multimodal team approach including shared patient decision [4]. According to this matrix, one of the classic and simplest ways to reduce transfusion is to prevent

G. Biancofiore (⊠)

Transplant Anesthesia and Critical Care, University School of Medicine, Pisa, Italy e-mail: g.biancofiore@med.unipi.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_1

blood loss. From this point of view, the most appropriate management of perioperative patient coagulation is of utmost importance [5]. In fact, perioperative coagulation management is a complex task that has a significant impact on the perioperative journey of patients. Anesthesia providers play a critical role in the decision-making on transfusion and/or hemostatic therapy in the surgical setting. Various tests are available in identifying coagulation abnormalities in the perioperative period. While the rapidly available bedside hemoglobin measurements can guide the transfusion of red blood cells, blood product administration is guided by many in vivo and in vitro tests. The introduction of newer anticoagulant medications and the implementation of the modified in vivo coagulation cascade have given a new dimension to the field of perioperative transfusion medicine. A proper understanding of the application and interpretation of the coagulation tests is vital for a good perioperative outcome.

The aim of this review is to report the basic principles of the current point-of-care (POC) coagulation analyzers, to outline their clinical use, and to evaluate their ability to monitor different pharmacological substances interacting with hemostasis in the perioperative setting.

1.2 Why POC Testing of Hemostasis Gained Interest in Recent Years?

Hemostasis is a combination of a number of events that occur in a sequence following the breach of vascular integrity. They include vasoconstriction, platelet aggregation, thrombus formation, recanalization, and healing. Conventionally, secondary hemostasis was described as intrinsic and extrinsic pathways merging at a final common pathway. This in vitro model ignores the link between primary and secondary hemostasis and is not applicable in vivo. The currently employed cell-based model of coagulation reflects the in vivo process, and it differs from the previous model in two key ways. First, the complex formed by the tissue factor and factor VII contributes in the activation of factor IX, demonstrating that the intrinsic and extrinsic coagulation pathways are interconnected almost from the beginning of the process. Second, the complete process requires three consecutive phases: an initial phase, an amplification phase, and the propagation phase. Platelets and thrombin are actively involved in the last two phases [6]. There is no universally accepted definition of hemostasis. The most simplistic definition is the "cessation of bleeding." An alternative view is the mechanistic concept that hemostasis represents the platelet and coagulation cascades involved in the cessation of bleeding. A more refined clinical definition of hemostasis is bleeding control without the induction of pathologic thrombotic events such as myocardial infarction, stroke, arterial thrombosis, or deep vein thrombosis. Hemostasis can thus be considered as control of bleeding within the finely tuned balance of procoagulant, anticoagulant, fibrinolytic, and antifibrinolytic activities [6]. A number of coagulation tests are available in the perioperative period to assist clinicians in identifying coagulation abnormalities. In recent years, incorporation of various forms of coagulation monitoring has provided valuable

information in the management of perioperative coagulopathies. The ideal laboratory test to evaluate hemostasis in the bleeding surgical or medical patient should reflect the dynamic status of bleeding and be accurate and available in real time to enable the physician to make treatment decisions rapidly. Testing should be specific for different physiologic mechanisms to target specific treatments to correct deficits in hemostasis. The test result should have meaningful clinical implications and closely reflect the patient's hemostatic status. Other characteristics of the ideal test include reproducibility, resistance to effect of pre-analytic variables, and ease of use in point-of-care settings such as the operating room, emergency department, and intensive care unit [6].

Perioperative management of coagulopathic bleeding requires timely hemostatic intervention using allogeneic blood products, administration of coagulation factor concentrates, or both. To guide these interventions, fast laboratory workup is essential. If it comes to the question which laboratory test should be performed to assess hemostasis, current guidelines usually refer to standard plasma coagulation tests (SLTs), that is, prothrombin time (PT)/international normalized ratio (INR) and activated partial thromboplastin time. Although the complete panel of standard coagulation testing almost always covers additional measurements of fibrinogen and platelet count, interpretation of SLTs is most frequently used to assess coagulopathy. Generally speaking, coagulopathy is presumed when SLTs are prolonged by more than 1.5-fold, although the evidence to support this degree of prolongation as diagnostic of coagulopathy is limited. However, there are major limitations to SLTs. In fact, these tests are time-consuming (with turnaround times sometimes longer than 60 min), and, as a consequence, they are often omitted in situations of severe bleeding, where prompt treatment must be ensured. Moreover, if the results of PT/aPTT are more than 1.5 times prolonged, the treatment options range from transfusion of fresh-frozen plasma (FFP) to administration of coagulation factor concentrates such as prothrombin complex concentrates (PCC) or activated recombinant factor VII. Remarkably, all these treatment options may be linked to serious side effects, and their administration should be rigorously justified. More importantly, we need to question what information we obtain from a PT or aPTT. In routine clinical practice, PT and aPTT are commonly used either for bleeding risk assessment before an invasive procedure or for the assessment of the hemostasis profile with respect to detection of underlying coagulopathy and guiding subsequent blood component therapy. In fact, PT/INR and aPTT are plasma-based coagulation tests that were basically designed to monitor vitamin k antagonists and heparin, respectively, and to assess coagulation factor deficiencies. However, it is important to outline that PT/INR and aPTT were not conceived or intended to monitor perioperative coagulation disorders, predict bleeding, or to guide bleeding therapy in the perioperative setting. All in all, there are significant shortcomings of SLTs in the perioperative and major bleeding management setting in terms of accuracy, evidence for their efficacy, valuable turnaround times in a clinical setting where a quick decision-making is mandatory [7]. Therefore, alternatives, such as the point-of-care coagulation tests (POCT), also termed as near-patient coagulation tests (NPT) that refer to measures of coagulation that can be performed at or near the patient and

provide results much more quickly with a more comprehensive overview of the whole coagulation process, became very attractive for clinicians.

1.2.1 Viscoelastic POC Testing of Hemostasis: Terminology

Thrombelastography was first described by Hartert in 1948 as a method to assess the global hemostatic function from a single blood sample. In the earlier literature, the terms "thrombelastography," "thrombelastograph," and "TEG" have been used generically. However, in 1996 the term "TEG[®]" became a registered trademark of the Haemoscope Corporation and from that time has been used to describe the assay performed using Haemoscope instrumentation. Alternative instrumentation marketed by Pentapharm GmbH uses the terminology thromboelastometry for the process of measurement and "ROTEM[®]" for the instrumentation and resultant graphical output. Thromboelastography and ROTEM are viscoelastic hemostatic assays [2–4] that provide a graphical evaluation of the kinetics of all stages of clot formation (initiation, propagation, strength, and dissolution) in whole blood. The descriptive data associated with both the described instruments is summarized in Table 1.1.

1.2.2 Viscoelastic POC Testing of Hemostasis: How it Works

The TEG/ROTEM[®] assesses the viscoelastic properties of blood samples under low shear conditions. The TEG[®] measures the clot's physical property by using a stationary cylindrical cup that holds the blood sample and oscillates through an angle

Instrumentation	TEG®	ROTEM [®]
Measurement period	-	RT
Clot time (period to 2 mm amplitude)	r	CT
Period from 2 to 20 mm amplitude	k	CFT
Alpha angle	α (slope between <i>r</i> and <i>k</i>)	α (angle of tangent at 2 mm amplitude)
Maximum angle	-	CFR
Maximum strength	MA	MCF
Time to maximum strength	TMA	MCF-t
Amplitude (at set time)	A (A30, A60)	(A5, A10,)
Clot elasticity	G	MCE
Maximum lysis	-	ML
Lysis at a fixed time	CL30, CL60	LY30, LY45, LY60
Time to lysis	TTL (2 mm drop from MA)	CLT (10% from MCF)
Maximum lysis	-	CLR (maximum tangent post-MCF)

Table 1.1 Nomenclature used for TEG® and ROTEM®

of $4^{\circ}45'$ (Fig. 1.1a). Each rotation cycle lasts 10 s. A pin is suspended in the blood by a torsion wire and is monitored for motion (Fig. 1.2a). The torque of the rotation cup is transmitted to the immersed pin only after fibrin-platelet bonding has linked the cup and pin together. The strength of these fibrin-platelet bonds affects the magnitude of the pin motion. Thus, the output is directly related to the strength of the formed clot. As the clot retracts or lyses, these bonds are broken, and the transfer of cup motion is again diminished. The rotation movement of the pin is converted by a mechanical-electrical transducer to an electrical signal, finally being displayed as a tracing. The generated electric signal gets converted into a "bell- shaped" graphical display demonstrating the characteristic of shear elasticity against time. The shape of the graphical display aids in a quick qualitative assessment of different coagulation states (hypo, normal, hyper) representing specific abnormalities in clot formation and fibrinolysis.

The ROTEM[®] instrument (Fig. 1.1b) uses a modified technology: the signal of the pin suspended in the blood sample is transmitted via an optical detector system,



Fig. 1.1 Working principles of viscoelastic point-of-care coagulation devices. (a) TEG^{\oplus} : (1) rotating cup with blood sample, (2) coagulation activator, (3) pin and torsion wire, (4) electromechanical transducer, (5) data processing. (b) ROTEM[®]: (1) cuvette with blood, (2) activator, (3) pin and rotating axis, (4) electromechanical signal detection, (5) Print output



not a torsion wire, and the movement is initiated from the pin, not the cup. Both the instruments are now equipped with cartridges replacing cups, pins and electronic pipettes and look simpler and more user friendly.

TEG[®]/ROTEM[®] both measure and graphically display the changes in viscoelasticity at all stages of the developing and resolving clot, i.e., the time until initial fibrin formation (TEG[®], reaction time; ROTEM[®], clotting time [CT]), the kinetics of fibrin formation and clot development (TEG[®], kinetics, α -angle; ROTEM[®], clot formation time, α angle), the ultimate strength and stability of the fibrin clot (TEG[®], maximum amplitude [MA]; ROTEM[®], maximum clot firmness [MCF]), and clot lysis. Although TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] tracings look similar (Fig. 1.2), the nomenclature and reference ranges are different. The differences may be explained by different components, materials, and proprietary formulas of the coagulation activators (composition, concentrations) used.

1.2.3 Viscoelastic POC Testing of Hemostasis: Clinical Experience

There is emerging evidence that point-of-care tests based on "goal-directed" coagulation management can modify the transfusion strategy by providing better understanding of the underlying pathology and by the targeted use of not only FFP but also fibrinogen and prothrombin complex concentrates hence reducing the need for blood products, which enables the clinician to tailor hemostasis management according to the patient's needs. Although POC hemostasis testing may aid care of any critically ill surgical patient, it is likely to be particularly helpful in certain groups of patients who are more vulnerable to hemorrhagic complications. These include patients undergoing hepatic, cardiac, or vascular surgery and victims of polytrauma.

1.2.3.1 Liver Surgery

One of the first clinical applications of thrombelastography was in the hemostatic monitoring of liver transplantation. Problems associated with hepatic surgery and particularly orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) stem from both surgery itself and preoperative coagulopathy from hepatic dysfunction. In particular, OLT was historically associated with major blood loss. However over the years, improvements in surgical and anesthetic management allowed significant improvements in the perioperative management of this class of patients with significant reduction in the transfusional needs. The same happened with liver surgery, particularly when performed in patients with liver disease. The coagulopathy of chronic liver disease is present preoperatively, and further disturbance of coagulation can occur intraoperatively, resulting in bleeding complications but also thrombotic events [8].

There is increasing evidence that the changes in coagulation factors and platelet count regularly observed in patients with liver cirrhosis cannot be interpreted as a reliable indicator of diffuse bleeding risk. Instead, a differentiated view on hemostasis has led to the concept of a rebalanced coagulation system. In fact, while it is important to recognize that procoagulant factors are reduced in liver cirrhosis, it is also evident that synthesis of anticoagulant factors and fibrinolytic proteins produced in the liver is also diminished. Similarly, the decreased platelet count may be counterbalanced by increased platelet aggregability caused by highly active von Willebrand multimers. Although "rebalanced," hemostasis in cirrhotic patients is not as stable as in healthy subjects, and therefore, while under normal "unstressed" conditions, diffuse bleeding is rarely observed; both diffuse bleeding and thrombus formation may occur when compensation mechanisms are exhausted [9, 10].

Because TEG®/ROTEM® are global tests providing a composite analysis that reflect function of plasma, blood cells, and platelets, they are increasingly viewed as an appropriate tool to investigate the coagulopathy of cirrhotic patients. In agreement with the concept of rebalanced hemostasis, patients with cirrhosis often maintain normal global hemostasis as assessed by TEG. In a cohort of 273 patients with stable cirrhosis, it was found that mean and median TEG® parameters were all within normal limits, although the MA decreased in proportion to the severity of thrombocytopenia and severity of liver disease [11]. Theoretical benefits of the use of TEG® or ROTEM® in the hepatic surgical setting include a rationalization of blood products, a reduction in transfusion-related side effects, and an improvement in patient outcomes including mortality with a reduction in costs. A typical example is fibrinogen. Fibrinogen is the first factor to reach critical levels when hemodilution or massive bleeding occurs. Fibrinogen concentration can easily be monitored by POC viscoelastic technologies, and substitution therapy based on guidance according to the clot firmness reduced the rate of red blood cells, fresh-frozen plasma, and platelet transfusion by more than 50%. Additionally the rate of transplantation without transfusion of the above blood-related products rose from 3.5% to 20% [12]. In a recent review on fibringen and fresh-frozen plasma in surgery, the authors concluded that fibrinogen level was generally associated with improved outcome measures, while fresh-frozen plasma failed to show evidence for effectivity and had severe side effects [13]. Besides fibrinogen, other coagulation factors may decrease during liver surgery and transplantation resulting in a reduction of thrombin generation and prolongation of clotting time. In these cases, prothrombin complex concentrate can correct coagulopathy. Theoretically, there are four-factor PCC and three-factor PCC. Four-factor PCC contain factors II, VII, IX, and X and the anticoagulant factors protein S and protein C. Infectious risk is reduced or eliminated by virus elimination, and thromboembolic complication occurs in only 0.9%. In liver transplantation, POC-guided substitution of blood products including prothrombin complex concentrate in liver transplantation did appear safe as they did not show to increase the occurrence of thrombosis, pulmonary, and ischemic events compared to patients who did not receive these concentrates [14].

TEG[®]/ROTEM[®] are not of exclusive use for OLT patients only but also for medical cirrhotic patients. A review was recently conducted using the following key words: "cirrhosis," "coagulation," "bleeding," "INR" (international normalized ratio), "aPTT" (activated partial thromboplastin time), and "thrombocytopenia." PubMed was used as the basic database. The authors showed that although pathological values of SLT and thrombocytopenia have traditionally been regarded

as indicators of a high risk for bleeding in all patients, and especially in those with cirrhosis, this approach has been challenged in recent years. The conventional approach in assessing a bleeding risk was based on pathological values of SLT. A 1.5-fold increase of INR or aPTT or platelets <50/nL is assumed as pathological. The traditional approach of reducing the risk of excessive bleeding during an invasive procedure was to transfuse FFP or PLT concentrates in order to improve hemostasis and to avoid bleeding complications. In the recent 20 years, several studies have provided us with a basis for questioning this approach. Their results indicated that SLT were not able to predict hypocoagulation and bleeding complications. Moreover, transfusion of various blood products has been associated with an increased risk for acute lung injury, transfusion-associated circulation overload, bacterial infections, and modulation of the immune system with increased numbers of nosocomial infections. Furthermore, a high-volume overload, which is required to correct a hemostasis disorder if FFP are being used in cirrhotic patients, may increase portal venous pressure. This might significantly increase bleeding in these subjects. However, some very recent studies demonstrated that the use of TEG/ ROTEM for assessing the risk of bleeding avoids futile transfusion with a similar safety profile. The implementation of TEG®-/ROTEM®-based coagulation management and the use of coagulation factors (prothrombin complex, fibrinogen concentrate) have led to a highly significant reduction of FFP and red blood cell transfusions, without an increased incidence of thrombosis or bleeding [11]. In conclusion, also medical cirrhotic patients will benefit of a coagulation treatment based on TEG®/ROTEM®. Finally, a temporary hypercoagulable state is common after liver transplantation due to imbalance between the procoagulant and anticoagulant systems, as well as fibrinolytic shutdown. This may play a role in the early development of hepatic artery thrombosis. The use of TEG®/ROTEM® can accurately assess postoperative hypercoagulability and thrombosis. To this end, there is interesting evidence that this monitoring technique could demonstrate hypercoagulability in the majority of the subjects after living donor liver transplantation and general surgery and may, therefore, be used to guide antithrombotic treatment in the perioperative period [15, 16].

1.2.3.2 Cardiac Surgery

Postoperative bleeding is a common complication of cardiac surgery and a major cause of re-exploration. Coagulation management of patients undergoing cardiac surgery is complex because of a balance between anticoagulation for cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and hemostasis after CPB [17]. Furthermore, an increasing number of patients have impaired platelet function at baseline due to administration of antiplatelet drugs. During CPB, optimal anticoagulation dictates that coagulation is antagonized and platelets are prevented from activation so that clots do not form. After surgery, coagulation abnormalities, platelet dysfunction, and fibrinolysis can occur, creating a situation whereby hemostatic integrity must be restored. Heparin is used during cardiopulmonary bypass in open-heart surgery, and excessive postoperative bleeding has been attributed to the insufficient reversal of heparinization with protamine sulfate. This is partly due to the fact that conventional monitoring by

means of activated clotting time may fail to differentiate between the contributions from heparinization, dilution, and platelet dysfunction [17]. Johansson et al. reviewed over 3250 cardiac patients reported in 16 studies and demonstrated superiority of TEG[®]/ROTEM[®] over SLT in predicting bleeding and the need for reoperation. The total number of blood transfusions was reduced with TEG/ROTEM-guided transfusion compared with SLT-based practices. The degree of heparinization could be evaluated with assays that neutralize the heparin (heparinase in TEG and HEPTEM in ROTEM), so that non-heparin-related hemostatic problems could be detected [18]. These findings were corroborated in a recent Cochrane analysis [19].

In a recent meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials and observational trials retrieved from a literature search in PubMed, EMBASE, and Cochrane Library, trials comparing transfusion strategy guided by TEG®/ROTEM® with a standard-ofcare control group undergoing cardiac surgery were included. The literature search retrieved a total of 17 trials (9 randomized controlled trial and 8 observational trials) involving 8332 cardiac surgery patients. POCT-guided transfusion management significantly decreased the odds for patients to receive allogeneic blood products (OR 0.63, 95% CI 0.56–0.71; P < 0.00001) and the re-exploration rate due to postoperative bleeding (OR 0.56, 95% CI 0.45–0.71; P < 0.00001). Furthermore, the incidence of postoperative AKI (OR 0.77, 95% CI 0.61–0.98; P = 0.0278) and thromboembolic events (OR 0.44, 95% CI 0.28–0.70; P = 0.0006) was significantly decreased in the TEG®/ROTEM® group. No statistical differences were found with regard to in-hospital mortality, cerebrovascular accident, or length of intensive care unit and hospital stay [20]. Furthermore, it has been shown that implementation of TEG®/ROTEM®-guided coagulation management is cost-effective and resulted in a significant reduction of transfusion blood products [21, 22]. Finally, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has recently reviewed the available evidence for use of viscoelastic testing in cardiac surgery and concluded that viscoelastic testing improves the use of blood products and factor concentrates, reduces red cell transfusion, and is cost effective. It also concluded that the above was true for intra- and postoperative use; however, they did not recommend any particular transfusion algorithm. For ROTEM[®] and TEG[®], the effect on mortality, length of ICU and hospital stay, and rate of re-sternotomy was not statistically significant across all studies [23].

There remains great controversy regarding the platelet transfusion threshold to be applied in cardiac surgery, due to the platelet function defect present in all patients after CPB [24]. Numeric platelet counts from the laboratory may not be accurate due to clumping, particularly if the patient is hypothermic or if the sample was taken during or immediately after CPB, which can lead to an artifactually low platelet count. The numerical analysis of platelets in the laboratory does not take into account a variable degree of platelet dysfunction induced by CPB and potentially exacerbated by preoperative treatment with platelet antagonists and/or uremia [17]. The monitoring of platelet blockade with impedance aggregometry (Multiplate[®]), platelet mapping (TEG[®]), or latex agglutination (Verify Now[®]; Accumetrics, San Diego, CA, USA) remains outside what is considered the standard of care, and the clinical utility of preserved patient platelet function in vitro remains to be established. All in all, the best measure of platelet function postoperatively remains unresolved [17]. Currently, platelet function testing may be more important for preoperative risk stratification. Most measures of platelet function become invalid at platelet counts $<50-100 \times 10^9$ in the test tube [25]. Enriching platelets in vitro to allow an assessment in this situation introduces significant delay, which is why platelet aggregometry, considered the gold standard of platelet function assessment, has never become standard in postoperative patients after cardiac surgery [26]. Finally, there has been a lot of interest in hyperfibrinolysis since the introduction of aprotinin. In current clinical practice, true hyperfibrinolysis apparent in vitro by TEG[®] is a rare occurrence. It would appear that a degree of fibrinolysis is to be expected after cardiac surgery, but the definition of systemically apparent hyperfibrinolysis is less clear [17].

Tranexamic acid (TXA), used almost ubiquitously in UK cardiac surgical practice, and epsilon aminocaproic acid (EACA) are synthetic lysine analogues that reversibly block the lysine-binding site of plasminogen which inhibits the lysis of polymerized fibrin. They have a plasma half-life of around 2 h and are excreted in the urine in high concentrations. The optimum dose of TXA is unknown despite its widespread international use, with 10 mg/kg bolus followed by 1 mg kg/h as a continuous infusion being the most commonly used regimen, with little evidence for higher doses. Both agents have been shown to reduce blood loss, when used prophylactically in cardiac surgery [17]. Tranexamic acid may be slightly more effective than EACA in reducing blood loss; however, there is little evidence to support the exceedingly high doses (up to 10 g) used in some centers [27].

1.2.3.3 Obstetrics

Globally, postpartum hemorrhage (PPH) is the leading cause of maternal morbidity and mortality. In the current treatment of severe PPH, first-line therapy includes transfusion of packed cells and fresh-frozen plasma in addition to uterotonic medical management and surgical interventions. In persistent PPH, tranexamic acid, fibringen, and coagulation factors are often administered. Secondary coagulopathy due to PPH or its treatment is often underestimated and therefore remains untreated, potentially causing progression to even more severe PPH. In most cases, medical and transfusion therapy is not based on the actual coagulation state because conventional laboratory test results are usually not available for 45-60 min. Therefore, TEG®/ROTEM® coagulation testing comes of interest. Data on thromboelastography and thromboelastometry in pregnant women are however limited, particularly during the peripartum period and in women with PPH, so more research in this field is truly needed [28]. However, the emergency nature of PPH makes randomized controlled trials logistically difficult. Therefore, population-based observational studies should be encouraged as they can usefully strengthen the evidence base, particularly for components of PPH treatment that are difficult or impossible to assess through RCT [29]. A recent observational cross-sectional/longitudinal study aimed at demonstrating changes in clot mechanics during pregnancy and to determine the effect that delivery has on immediate postpartum thromboelastography parameters. Thromboelastography was performed on whole blood aliquots obtained

from women carrying singleton pregnancies and was repeated 6 h after delivery among patients recruited in the third trimester or labor. Bleeding questionnaires were completed and routine clinical/demographic data obtained. Overall, 112 women were included. The thromboelastography parameters were significantly correlated with length of pregnancy. From the third trimester to the postpartum period, there was a significant decrease in time until fibrin formation (P = 0.036) and in time to reach a certain clot strength (amplitude of 20 mm; k value; 1.3 vs 1.1 min, P = 0.007). From established labor to after delivery, there was a significant increase in clot lysis at 60 min after the maximum amplitude of clot formation (LY60; 1.8% vs 3.1%, P = 0.001). The authors concluded that their study describes a novel finding regarding changes in clot mechanics in late pregnancy/puerperium and supports the concept of using thromboelastography as part of the routine assessments at delivery [30]. Another study aimed at comparing the use of thromboelastography and laboratory analyses to evaluate hemostasis during major obstetric hemorrhage. A secondary aim was to evaluate correlations between the results of thromboelastography, laboratory analyses, and estimated blood loss. Forty-five women with major obstetric hemorrhage and 49 women with blood loss <600 mL were included. The following thromboelastography analyses were performed: time to start of clotting (TEG-R), time to 20 mm of clot firmness (TEG-K), rate of clot growth (TEG-Angle), maximum amplitude of clot (TEG-MA), and lysis after 30 min (TEG-LY30). In addition, platelet count, activated partial thromboplastin time, prothrombin time, fibrinogen, antithrombin, and D-dimer were measured. Thromboelastography variables reflecting clot stability and fibrinolysis were decreased in women with massive obstetric hemorrhage compared to women with normal bleeding, while clot initiation was accelerated. Laboratory analyses also showed impaired hemostasis with the most pronounced differences in platelet count, fibrinogen concentration, and antithrombin activity. The strongest correlations existed between fibrinogen and TEG-MA and between estimated blood loss and TEG-MA, fibrinogen, and antithrombin, respectively. The authors conclude that impaired hemostasis, demonstrated by thromboelastography and laboratory analyses, was found after an estimated blood loss of 2000 mL. Thromboelastography provides faster results than standard laboratory testing which is advantageous in the setting of ongoing obstetric hemorrhage. However, laboratory analyses found greater differences in coagulation variables, which correlated better with estimated blood loss [31]. In a study of nonpregnant, healthy term pregnant women, and postpartum women, it was demonstrated that a hypercoagulable state exists during pregnancy and persists through the first 24 h postdelivery. Both native TEG and celite-activated TEG were used, and it was found that r and k were decreased, while alpha angle and MA were significantly increased in the pregnant and postpartum women compared with the normal group [32]. More recently, the hypercoagulability status of women with and without gynecologic malignancies was compared using TEG. Blood specimens from 25 women with newly diagnosed gynecologic malignancies and from 21 age-matched controls were analyzed. Hypercoagulability was defined by a short r value (min), a short kvalue (min), an elevated maximum amplitude (MA) value (mm), and a broad alpha angle (°). A two-tailed, two-sample t-test was used for statistical analysis. When

compared with specimens from age-matched controls, specimens from women with gynecologic malignancies demonstrated values consistent with hypercoagulability. The specific parameters are presented as a mean (±SD). Patients with gynecologic malignancies were found to have a short *r* value (7.1 ± 2.1 min vs. 11.8 ± 1.8 min; P < 0.001), a short *k* value (3.1 ± 0.9 min vs. 4.6 ± 0.9 min; P < 0.001), a prolonged MA value (64.7 ± 5.4 mm vs. 58.8 ± 6.1 mm; P = 0.001), and a greater alpha angle (70.6° ± 5.3° vs. 61.6° ± 4.9°; P < 0.001). The authors concluded that detection of hypercoagulability as measured by thromboelastography is statistically more common among women with gynecologic malignancies compared with age-matched controls [33]. In summary, goal-directed therapy using point-of-care testing has not been well studied in the obstetric setting but holds promise for individualizing resuscitation measures [34].

1.2.3.4 Trauma

Hemorrhagic shock is a leading cause of death in trauma patients. Surgical control of bleeding and fluid resuscitation with both crystalloid and blood products remain the mainstay of therapy for injured patients with bleeding. Current evidence suggests that hemodilution, hypothermia, acidemia, and the consumption of clotting factors all play roles in the pathogenesis of coagulopathy in trauma. In such a complicated panorama, there is an emerging understanding of the key role played by the management of coagulation in this particular clinical setting. In fact, restoration and subsequent maintenance of normal coagulation function is essential for survival of the severely injured bleeding patient. Furthermore, after initial stabilization, trauma patients paradoxically face the dangers of a hypercoagulable state, demanding accurate risk stratification and chemoprophylaxis for prevention of highly morbid thromboembolic events [35].

A systematic review found 55 studies of TEG®/ROTEM® examining the diagnosis of trauma coagulopathies, including hypocoagulation, hypercoagulation, platelet dysfunction, and fibrinolysis, guidance of blood product administration, and associations with mortality. To our knowledge, this review is the first to summarize the literature on the use of TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] in trauma [36]. The overall methodologic quality of included studies was moderate. No RCTs were reported; most cohort studies lacked clinically similar control groups managed without TEG®/ROTEM®, and standard measures of diagnostic accuracy were inconsistently reported. Observational data suggest that TEG® and ROTEM® may have adequate diagnostic properties for abnormalities identified by RSCTs and may identify additional coagulation disorders. However, the effect of these tests on the need for blood product transfusion and mortality is unclear. Studies also examined different patient populations, transfusion triggers, and transfusion protocols, limiting direct comparisons and generalizability. In summary, our systematic review demonstrated limited but rapidly growing observational evidence on the use of TEG® and ROTEM® in trauma. Both methods may be useful for diagnosis of early trauma coagulopathies, specifically hypocoagulability, hypercoagulability, hyperfibrinolysis, and platelet dysfunction. They may also be used to direct blood and blood product transfusion; effects on patient-important outcomes are uncertain. All in all, the existing literature helps clinicians to

appreciate the potential impact of these novel methods on transfusion guidance and outcomes in trauma. However, adequately powered and methodologically sound RCTs will be required to prove positive effects on blood product transfusion and patient-important outcomes [36].

Recently, the pan-European, multidisciplinary Task Force for Advanced Bleeding Care in Trauma, founded in 2004 and including representatives of six relevant European professional societies, used a structured, evidence-based consensus approach to address scientific queries that served as the basis for recommendations and supporting rationale. Expert opinion and current clinical practice were also considered, particularly in areas in which randomized clinical trials have not or cannot be performed. Existing recommendations were reconsidered and revised based on new scientific evidence and observed shifts in clinical practice; new recommendations were formulated to reflect current clinical concerns and areas in which new research data have been generated. This guideline represents the fourth edition of a document first published in 2007 and updated in 2010 and 2013 [37]. With regard to coagulation monitoring, this group of experts recommends that routine practice will include the early and repeated monitoring of coagulation, using either a traditional laboratory determination [prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) platelet counts and fibrinogen] (Grade 1A), and/or a viscoelastic method (Grade 1C). The authors outline that despite the widespread use of viscoelastic methods, the usefulness has recently been questioned. In fact, In a recent systematic review Hunt et al. found no evidence of the accuracy of thrombelastography and very little evidence to support the accuracy of thromboelastometry and were therefore unable to offer any advice about the use of these methods [38]. In the above examined systematic review, Da Luz et al. concluded that only limited evidence from observational studies support the use of viscoelastic tests to diagnose early traumatic coagulopathy, but while these tests may predict blood product transfusion, mortality and other patient-important outcomes may be unaffected [36]. A number of other limitations to the use of viscoelastic methods have been described. Larsen et al. found that thrombelastography was unable to distinguish coagulopathies caused by dilution from thrombocytopenia, whereas thromboelastometry was indeed capable of distinguishing these two different types of coagulopathy and suggesting the correct treatment [39]. The use of thrombelastography may thus lead to unnecessary transfusion with platelets, whereas the application of thromboelastometry may result in goal-directed fibrinogen substitution. All in all, according to these findings, although use is rapidly increasing, controversy remains at present regarding the utility of viscoelastic methods for the detection of posttraumatic coagulopathy. Finally, according to the pan-European, multidisciplinary Task Force, the following are the leading key points regarding the use of TEG/ROTEM in trauma patients [37]:

- 1. The literature on TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] in trauma is limited by the lack of randomized controlled trials and the moderate quality of observational studies.
- TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] may be superior to routine screening coagulation tests to promptly diagnose early trauma coagulopathy, including hypocoagulability, hyperfibrinolysis, hypercoagulability, and platelet dysfunction.

- 3. Many TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] abnormalities predict the need for massive transfusion and predict death, but predictive performance is not consistently superior to routine screening coagulation tests.
- 4. Limited evidence from one observational study suggests that a ROTEM[®]-based transfusion algorithm reduces the amount of blood and blood products transfused.
- 5. TEG[®] and ROTEM[®]-based resuscitation for bleeding trauma patients is not associated with lower mortality in most observational studies, but the question requires evaluation in randomized trials.

1.3 Shortcomings and Criticisms to TEG/ROTEM

Perioperative POC testing of hemostasis would be invaluable if it could identify patients at increased risk of postoperative hemorrhage. Nevertheless, it should always be considered that this technique is not without limitations. In fact, indeed the coagulation status is assessed in whole blood, allowing in vivo coagulation system interactions with platelets and red blood cells to provide useful information on the more appropriate clinical approach. However, a significant difference between in vitro and in vivo coagulation has to be considered: viscoelastic coagulation tests measure the coagulation status under static conditions (no flow) in an artificial situation (cuvette or cartridge and not an endothelialized blood vessel). Therefore, results obtained from these in vitro tests must be carefully interpreted after considering the clinical conditions (e.g., overt bleeding in the surgical site). As in any assay there are some blind spots in monitoring coagulation using the viscoelastic method. Platelet dysfunction either inherited or drug induced will not be detected. Another shortcoming is the insensitivity to detect the effects of von Willebrand factor, which is involved in the initiation of clot forming. Moreover, factor XIII, which is mainly responsible for stabilization of the fibrinogen network, is also not adequately displayed [40]. However, it must always bear in mind that thromboelastography is and remains a POC and not a traditional laboratory technology. More importantly, there are concerns about standardization of the assays [41, 42]. On an operational level, viscoelastic tests have been criticized for not having undergone the same evaluation process as conventional coagulation tests. There are wide technical variations in how TEG®/ROTEM® are performed, and the machine requires calibrations two to three times a day which causes significant inconvenience in daily point-of-care usage. While originally designed for fresh whole blood with no additional activators, subsequent modifications have included sample anticoagulation and the use of different activators to standardize the initiation of coagulation. Patients' gender, age, and alcohol drinking may also affect the result. Moreover, the normal reference ranges for viscoelastic tests were derived from hospitalized surgical patients in 1 study, and from a small sample of 12 healthy volunteers in another [43]. Hence, it is suggested that each center is recommended to generate its own reference range by specially trained personnel according to the guidelines from the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (the federal regulatory standards

that apply to all clinical laboratory testing performed on humans in the United States) [44]. All these necessitate an active and tightly controlled quality assurance program. Finally, there are conditions in which viscoelastic tests may fail to detect hemostatic dysfunction. The test setting is at 37 °C. Therefore, the effect of hypothermia, which has a well-recognized negative impact on coagulation, may not be recognized if not appropriately addressed. Lastly, the interchangeability of results between TEG[®] and ROTEM[®] has been questioned. Although they share the same fundamental principles, and similar parameters, hardware, and techniques, the results generated may not be directly comparable, possibly due to the use of different activators. Consistent correlations are limited to that between TEG-MA and ROTEM MCF measurements and that between TEG CL and ROTEM ML in diagnosing hyperfibrinolysis and predicting mortality [43].

1.4 Conclusions

Hemostatic function is a critical factor determining patient outcomes in emergency or elective procedures. Conventional coagulation tests have limitations in detecting hemostatic dysfunction in subgroups of patients and are largely ineffective in diagnosing hyperfibrinolysis. The viscoelastic tests are potentially useful point-of-care tools to provide information on clot formation, clot strength, and fibrinolysis, as well as to guide goal-directed transfusion and antifibrinolytic therapy. However, standardization of techniques and reference ranges is required before these tests can be widely used in different clinical settings. There is growing evidence that application of TEG[®]-/ROTEM[®]-guided transfusion strategies may reduce the need for blood products and improve morbidity in patients with bleeding. However, these results are primarily based on trials of elective cardiac surgery involving cardiopulmonary bypass, and the level of evidence remains low. Further evaluation of TEG[®]/ ROTEM[®]-guided transfusion in acute settings and other patient categories in low risk of bias studies is needed.

References

- 1. Turan A, Yang D, Bonilla A, et al. Morbidity and mortality after massive transfusion in patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery. Can J Anesth. 2013;60:761–70.
- 2. Hall T, Pattenden C, Hollobine C, et al. Blood transfusion policies in elective general surgery: how to optimise cross-match-to-transfusion ratios. Transfus Med Hemother. 2013;40:27–31.
- 3. www.sabm.org.
- 4. Isbister JP. The three-pillar matrix of patient blood management—an overview. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesth. 2013;27:69–84.
- Tanczos K, Nemeth M, Molnar Z. What's new in hemorrhagic shock? Intensive Care Med. 2015;41:712–4.
- 6. Levy J, Dutton R, Hemphill J, et al. Multidisciplinary approach to the challenge of hemostasis. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:354–64.
- Haas T, Fries D, Tanaka K, et al. Usefulness of standard plasma coagulation tests in the management of perioperative coagulopathic bleeding: is there any evidence? Br J Anaesth. 2015;114:217–24.

- Hartmann M, Szalai C, Saner FH. Hemostasis in liver transplantation: pathophysiology, monitoring, and treatment. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;28(22):541–1550.
- 9. Lisman T, Porte RJ. Rebalanced hemostasis in patients with liver disease: evidence and clinical consequences. Blood. 2010;116:878–85.
- Clevenger B, Mallett SV. Transfusion and coagulation management in liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:6146–58.
- Saner FH, Kirchner C. Monitoring and treatment of coagulation disorders in end-stage liver disease. Visc Med. 2016;32:241–8.
- 12. Noval-Padillo JA, León-Justel A, Mellado-Miras P, et al. Introduction of fibrinogen in the treatment of hemostatic disorders during orthotopic liver transplantation: implications in the use of allogenic blood. Transplant Proc. 2010;42:2973–4.
- Kozek-Langenecker S, Sørensen B, Hess JR, Spahn DR. Clinical effectiveness of fresh frozen plasma compared with fibrinogen concentrate: a systematic review. Crit Care. 2011;15:R239.
- Kirchner C, Dirkmann D, Treckmann JW, et al. Coagulation management with factor concentrates in liver transplantation: a single-center experience. Transfusion. 2014;54:2760–8.
- 15. Cerutti E, Stratta C, Romagnoli R, et al. Thromboelastogram monitoring in the perioperative period of hepatectomy for adult living liver donation. Liver Transpl. 2004;10:289–94.
- 16. De Pietri L, Montalti R, Begliomini B, Scaglioni G, et al. Thromboelastographic changes in liver and pancreatic cancer surgery: hypercoagulability, hypocoagulability or normocoagulability? Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27:608–16.
- Besser MW, Ortmann E, Klein AA. Haemostatic management of cardiac surgical haemorrhage. Anaesthesia. 2015;70(Suppl. 1):87–95.
- 18. Johansson PI, Solbeck S, Genet G, et al. Coagulopathy and hemostatic monitoring in cardiac surgery: an update. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2012;46:194–202.
- Wikkelsø A, Wetterslev J, Møller AM, Afshari A. Thromboelastography (TEG) or thromboelastometry (ROTEM) to monitor haemostatic treatment versus usual care in adults or children with bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(8):CD007871.
- Deppe AC, Weber C, Zimmermann J, et al. Point-of-care thromboelastography/ thromboelastometry-based coagulation management in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of 8332 patients. J Surg Res. 2016;203:424–33.
- Spalding GJ, Hartrumpf M, Sierig T, et al. Cost reduction of perioperative coagulation management in cardiac surgery: value of 'bedside' thrombelastography (ROTEM). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2007;31:1052–7.
- Royston D, von Kier S. Reduced haemostatic factor transfusion using heparinase-modified thrombelastography during cardiopulmonary bypass. Br J Anaesth. 2001;86:575–8.
- 23. Detecting, managing and monitoring haemostasis: viscoelastometric point-of-care testing (ROTEM, TEG and Sonoclot systems). 2014. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/dg13. Accessed 4 Nov 2018.
- 24. Ortmann E, Klein AA, Sharples LD, et al. Point-of-care assessment of hypothermia and protamine-induced platelet dysfunction with multiple electrode aggregometry Multiplate(R) in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg. 2013;116:533–40.
- Hanke AA, Roberg K, Monaca E, et al. Impact of platelet count on results obtained from multiple electrode platelet aggregometry (Multiplate). Eur J Med Res. 2010;15:214–9.
- Reece MJ, Klein AA, Salviz EA, et al. Near-patient platelet function testing in patients undergoing coronary artery surgery: a pilot study. Anaesthesia. 2011;66:97–103.
- Ortmann E, Besser MW, Klein AA. Antifibrinolytic agents in current anaesthetic practice. Br J Anaesth. 2013;111:549–63.
- 28. de Lange NM, Lancé MD, de Groot R, et al. Obstetric hemorrhage and coagulation: an update. Thromboelastography, thromboelastometry, and conventional coagulation tests in the diagnosis and prediction of postpartum hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2012;67:426–35.
- Sentilhes L, Merlot B, Madar H, Sztark F, Brun S, Deneux-Tharaux C. Postpartum haemorrhage: prevention and treatment. Expert Rev Hematol. 2016;9:1043–61.
- Karlsson O, Jeppsson A, Hellgren M. Major obstetric haemorrhage: monitoring with thromboelastography, laboratory analyses or both? Int J Obstet Anesth. 2014;23:10–7.

- Bolte A, Hermans F, Van Rheneen-Flach L, et al. Thromboelastography (TEG[®]) and rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM[®]) in pregnancy: a systematic review. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2015;5:114–5.
- Shreeve NE, Barry JA, Deutsch LR, et al. Changes in thromboelastography parameters in pregnancy, labor, and the immediate postpartum period. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2016;134:290–3.
- Solomon C, Collis RE, Collins PW. Haemostatic monitoring during postpartum haemorrhage and implications for management. Br J Anaesth. 2012;109:851–63.
- Collis R, Guasch E. Managing major obstetric haemorrhage: pharmacotherapy and transfusion. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2017;31:107–24.
- 35. Gonzalez E, Pieracci FM, Moore EE, et al. Coagulation abnormalities in the trauma patient: the role of point-of-care thromboelastography. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2010;36:723–37.
- 36. Da Luz LT, Nascimento B, Shankarakutty AK, et al. Effect of thromboelastography (TEG[®]) and rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM[®]) on diagnosis of coagulopathy, transfusion guidance and mortality in trauma: descriptive systematic review. Crit Care. 2014;18:518.
- 37. Rossaint R, Bouillon B, Cerny V, et al. The European guideline on management of major bleeding and coagulopathy following trauma: fourth edition. Crit Care. 2016;20:100.
- Hunt H, Stanworth S, Curry N, et al. Thromboelastography (TEG) and rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM) for trauma induced coagulopathy in adult trauma patients with bleeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2:CD010438.
- Larsen OH, Fenger-Eriksen C, Christiansen K, et al. Diagnostic performance and therapeutic consequence of thromboelastometry activated by kaolin versus a panel of specific reagents. Anesthesiology. 2011;115:294–302.
- 40. Lancé MD. A general review of major global coagulation assays: thrombelastography, thrombin generation test and clot waveform analysis. Thromb J. 2015;13:1.
- Kitchen DP, Kitchen S, Jennings I, et al. Quality assurance and quality control of thrombelastography and rotational thromboelastometry: the UK NEQAS for blood coagulation experience. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2010;36:757–63.
- 42. Chitlur M, Sorensen B, Rivard GE, et al. Standardization of thromboelastography: a report from the TEG-ROTEM working group. Haemophilia. 2011;17:532–7.
- Yeung MC, Tong S, Tong P, et al. Use of viscoelastic haemostatic assay in emergency and elective surgery. Hong Kong Med J. 2015;21:45–51.
- https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/CLIA/index.html?redirect=/ clia/. Accessed 15 Jan 2017.



Complications Associated with Neuraxial Blockade

Edoardo De Robertis, Gennaro Scibelli, and Lucia Maio

2.1 Introduction

Greater benefits are attributed to regional anaesthesia (RA) compared to general anaesthesia, including reduced morbidity and mortality [1-5], best levels of postoperative analgesia [6–11] and, last but not least, cost reduction [12].

However, regional anaesthesia, despite providing excellent anaesthesia and analgesia in many surgical procedures, is not completely free of risks, which anaesthetists and patients must take into account, to make the best choice of anaesthetic technique, supported by a complete and correct information.

In the execution of the central blocks, the appearance of adverse events, even very serious ones, has been sporadically reported, among which the neurological damages are worthy of particular consideration, moreover of heterogeneous nature, with variable onset from the execution of the technique and often with dubious demonstration of the cause-effect relationship.

Rare case reports and retrospective studies highlight the possibility that central blocks can cause permanent neurological damage to the spinal cord and/or roots, whose causes often remain unclear.

Other types of neurological damages related directly or indirectly to a neuraxial block derive from infections (meningitis, abscesses) or, extremely rare, from intracerebral ischaemic-haemorrhagic accidents.

E. De Robertis (⊠)

G. Scibelli · L. Maio
 Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Local Healthcare Unit "Naples 1",
 S. Paolo Hospital, Naples, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Unit of Obstetric and Gynecological Anaesthesia – AOU Federico II, University of Napoli Federico II, Naples, Italy e-mail: ederober@unina.it

D. Chiumello (ed.), Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_2

Therefore, we can distinguish:

- Spinal cord or direct root trauma
- Spinal haematoma
- Intracranial haematoma
- Spinal cord ischaemia
- Infection

2.2 Epidemiology

Most of the studies in literature which investigated neurological complications after RA are dated and do not take into consideration either the current specificity of indication and application of AR, the progress in operators training and in technique execution, the availability of better and safer local anaesthetics and devices or the increasing prevalence of risk factors, such as diabetes, obesity and the use of anticoagulants and antiplatelet drugs.

If we consider the negative neurological sequelae related or associated with RA, excluding the local anaesthetic toxicity (characterized by epileptic seizures), the transitory neurological symptoms (characterized by strong, temporary, radicular-type back pain, after performing spinal anaesthesia) [13] and epidural haematoma and abscesses, we note that the nerve injury after RA is an extremely rare occurrence; therefore, a large number of patients must be recruited to define the true incidence of neurological complications; moreover, much of the available literature is limited to isolated clinical cases, retrospective studies and interviews with anaesthetists, in which an underestimation of the real incidence induced by omission of complication reports can be presumed.

One of the largest studies on the evaluation of neurological complications after central nervous block (CNB) was published by Moen et al. [14] in 2004; it considered a high CNB number (1,260,000 spinal and 450,000 epidural) over a long-period study (1990–1999), collecting data from multiple sources, including a survey of anaesthetists by mail and the Swedish database for mandatory reporting of adverse events.

Another important and extensive study was conducted by Aromaa et al. [15] in 1997. The authors collected all the reports presented by patients for insurance reimbursements of neurological complications associated with CNB in Finland between 1987 and 1993, compared with the total number of CNB, retrospectively estimated and performed in that country (550,000 spinals and 170,000 epidural) over the same period of time.

In the prospective study of Scott and Tunstail [16], 14,856 spinal and 108,133 epidural procedures in obstetrics were evaluated between 1990 and 1991 in 79 obstetrics units in the UK.

Finally, two large studies on neurological complications after CNB, performed by Auroy et al. [17, 18], examined hundreds of anaesthetic procedures in France—40,640 spinals and 30,413 epidurals performed in 1994 [18] and 41,079 spinals and 35,293 epidurals performed in the period 1998–1999 [17]—collecting the largest database available, in order to determine the frequency of major complications associated with all RA techniques.

According to Moen et al. [14], the overall frequency of major neurological complications after spinal anaesthesia is about 0.4:10,000, while Auroy et al. report an overall incidence of serious or major neurological complications significantly higher after spinal anaesthesia, in particular 11.8:10,000 in 1994 [18] and 3.7:10,000 in 1998–1999 [17]. One of the reasons for these differences is to be found in the definition given by the authors of "serious" and "major" neurological complications, as Auroy et al. [17, 18] include cases of radiculopathy and peripheral neuropathy in the casuistry of complications, while Moen et al. [14] don't. In relation to epidural anaesthesia, for Moen et al. [14] the frequency of "serious or major" neurological complications is about 1.6:10,000, while for Auroy et al. the overall incidence of these is 3.9:10,000 in 1994 [18] and 0.3:10,000 in 1998–1999 [17].

For all studies on CNB, the review of the overall data suggests that spinal anaesthesia carries a higher risk of radiculopathy or neuropathy (3.78:10,000) than epidural anaesthesia (2.19:10,000), with an incidence of permanent neurological damage of 0–4.2:10,000 and 0–7.6:10,000, after spinal and epidural anaesthesia, respectively.

2.3 Clinical Pictures

2.3.1 Radiculopathy

Radiculopathy usually occurs with hypoesthesia in the territory of the affected root and occasionally with impairment of the motor component resulting in weakness.

In the case of persistent paraesthesia, direct needle- or catheter-induced trauma is strongly suspected. On 19 radiculopathies reported by Auroy, in 12 cases a paraesthesia and in two cases a pain during injection were evoked.

On seven cases of persistent paraesthesia after epidural in obstetrics (two permanent, two longer than a month), evoked paraesthesia was constant at the introduction of the catheter, an event very frequent in practice, to which therefore cannot be attributed a univocal meaning such as "sentinel event". Certainly, the adoption of polyurethane catheters is associated with a reduced incidence in the evocation of paraesthesia when compared to other materials [19, 20], but there are no studies that confirm their protective role.

Paraesthesia can occur not only during the introduction of the catheter into the epidural space but also—even less frequently—during the execution of a spinal anaesthesia. In some cases, it may signal complications or particularly unusual situations (catheter node around the root [21], post-spinal myoclonus [22], root compression from the air following the use of air spindle [23] or pre-existing dorsal table [24]). Horlocker [25] reports 300 cases of paraesthesia during puncture on 4767 spinal anaesthesia (6.3%) and six cases of persistent paraesthesia on 4767 blocks (1.2%). Of the six patients with persistent paraesthesia, four had paraesthesia

to the puncture. Therefore, the incidence of persistent paraesthesia is 1:75 in the group with evoked paraesthesia at the puncture and 1:2200 in the group without paraesthesia.

Unlike the evocation of paraesthesia, the onset of acute pain at the introduction of the spinal needle or of the catheter (or its removal) should not be underestimated, as a signal of sometimes extremely serious events, such as the direct lesion of the spinal cord [26, 27].

2.3.2 The Cauda Equina Syndrome

The cauda equina syndrome (CE) is a dysfunction that involves the L2-S5 roots. The S2-S4 roots lesion causes bladder atony; the progression of the syndrome is characterized by weakness or paralysis of the muscles below the knee and saddle anaesthesia, which extends to the calves, in case of involvement of L5 and S1.

Aurory described five cases (1.2:10,000) caused by a combination of 5% lidocaine-CSE, therefore a local maldistribution toxicity is strongly suspected. Two similar cases were described by Kubina [28] in concurrence with the use of bupivacaine in CSE, and in one of them, spinal stenosis was present. Spinal stenosis L3-L4 is invoked as a cofactor in another case [29], while the use of intrathecal adrenaline in a vasculopathic patient [30] is implicated in another case of CE.

With the use of spinal micro-catheters, complications related to intrathecal access are associated with potential problems related to high concentrations of local anaesthetics, both due to the maldistribution within the liquor and to their intrinsic toxicity. Lidocaine and tetracaine in vitro have proved to be more toxic than bupivacaine [31–33].

Reports of CE [34, 35] associated with the use of spinal micro-catheters preceded the official communication of the FDA with regard to the increased risk of this kind of complication [36] in this specific technique.

2.3.3 Intracranial Haematoma

It is a very rare complication of central blocks; Scott [37] reports a frequency of 1:500,000. Intracranial haematomas (EI) are described following accidental puncture of the dura, usually under obstetric anaesthesia [38] but also in other specialties [39, 40], even after a simple spinal anaesthesia [41–44].

No particular risk factors are reported, except for a case [41] of difficult and repeated puncture and a second case in an alcoholic patient [42]. In the case reported by Cohen [45], a pre-existing cerebral atrophy was recognized as a contributory factor, whereas in the case [46] reported by Vaughan, the intracranial subdural haematoma, without accidental dural puncture, occurred in a obstetric patient in whom CT diagnosed a concomitant intracerebral vascular malformation.

The mechanism hypothesized for this type of complication would be the loss of liquor with traction of the vascular structures and their damage [47]. The persistent

headache in the days following the puncture is often confused with a simple PPDH, so that the blood patch is required, with possible diagnosis delay.

2.3.4 Anterior Spinal Artery Syndrome

The spinal cord is vascularized by the anterior spinal artery (in the anterior 2/3 of each segment) and by two posterior arteries (in the posterior 1/3 of each segment). These terminal arteries receive blood from three distinct aortic vessels (cervical, thoracic superior and thoracolumbar arteries), with poor anastomosis between lumbar and cervical tract. Small segmental arteries of variable calibre support the vascularization provided by the anterior spinal artery. The most important of these vessels is the Adamkiewicz artery, which originates from the left and enters the spinal canal through the intervertebral foramen between T8 and L3 levels. A damage to this vessel can cause ischaemia of the entire lumbar spine due to lack of valid thoracolumbar collateral circulation.

The anterior region of the spinal cord, where the pyramidal and anterolateral spino-thalamic ways run, is particularly vulnerable to ischaemia, especially when arteriosclerosis, intraoperative hypotension and the use of vasoconstrictors are associated with local anaesthetics. The ischaemic lesion of this region causes below the lesion level flaccid paralysis, loss of sensibility and preservation of the proprioceptive sensitivity.

Kane [48] reports four cases of ischaemia of the spinal cord following prolonged intraoperative hypotension. Similar cases are also reported in the course of general anaesthesia without CNB [49], where other factors can be invoked such as posture, caval compression and administration of adrenaline [50–52].

In some case reports with CNB, basal vasculopathies [53, 54], use of adrenaline in association with LA [53], a possible direct damage of the radicular artery [55] and operative hypotension [54, 56] are described. Despite being very rare, needleor catheter-induced damage of the anterior spinal artery, where it enters the intervertebral foramen, is suspected to be a cause of transient ischaemic syndrome [57].

A separate discussion is reserved for the description of the bleeding complications during a CNB; the most fearful one of these is represented by the spinal haematoma, which requires a rapid diagnosis in order to prevent the permanent neurological sequelae; its occurrence has been the object of numerous studies, considering the wide diffusion of the use of pharmacological principles with anticoagulant and/or antiplatelet action with both prophylactic and therapeutic purposes.

2.3.5 Spinal Epidural Haematoma

Spinal haematoma, defined as a symptomatic bleeding within the neuraxis, is a rare and severe complication of the CNB. The actual incidence of this complication is unknown. The probable incidence of haemorrhage after performing a CNB without specific risk factors has been calculated to be about 1:220,000 for spinal anaesthesia

and less than 1:150,000 for epidural anaesthesia. The highest risk of bleeding is related to the placement and removal of an epidural catheter, the lowest one to a single-shot spinal puncture, while another variable is related to the needle gauge used [58, 59].

Approximately 60–80% of all the most severe cases of bleeding are associated with haemocoagulation disorders or bleeding from the needle [60].

Performing neuraxial anaesthesia in patients treated with antithrombotic drugs is controversial due to the increased risk of haematoma. Numerous studies carried out on a large number of patients have shown the relative safety in performing central blocks during antiplatelet therapy, but the total number of patients enrolled has been relatively low [61]. Three spinal haematomas during ticlopidine or clopidogrel therapy have been described [62–64].

NSAIDs, widely used in pain treatment, are not anticoagulant drugs but, similar to aspirin, interfere with platelet aggregation mechanisms. Administration of NSAIDs alone does not increase the risk of bleeding, but it has been shown that association with other anticoagulants increases the frequency of spontaneous bleeding.

Because of the rarity of this complication, the recommendations on CNB in the case of concomitant thromboprophylaxis are not based on prospective randomized studies but rather on case reports and expert opinions. The latter ones are mainly based on the knowledge of the pharmacokinetics of the single drugs involved. A practical rule adopted by most scientific societies sets the time interval between withdrawal of the drug and CNB execution to twice the elimination half-life of the drug.

An extensive review of the main anticoagulant drugs used in therapy describes its most important properties, with particular reference to the mechanisms of action and the duration of their activity. At the same time, the guidelines published by the most important scientific societies were analysed, comparing the recommendations provided for the correct use of drugs and the relative levels of evidence. In particular we have examined and compared the main guidelines developed by the main study groups and scientific associations in various American and European countries. At this time these guidelines represent the reference point for anaesthesiological activities in the various countries, even if they contain indications that are often not supported by clear evidence or even, significantly different indications which often confuse the operators.

We classified the level of recommendations and the level of evidence using the definitions of the Committee for Practice Guidelines of the ESC (Table 2.1) [65].

2.3.6 LMWH

With the release of LMWH for general use in the USA in May 1993, labelled indications included thromboprophylaxis at a scheduled dose of 30 mg every 12 h, with the first dose administered as soon as possible after surgery. An alarming number of spinal epidural haematomas, some with permanent paraplegia, were reported [66], triggering a warning from the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The

Table 2.1 Classes of recommendations and levels of evidence

Classes of recommendations

Class I Evidence and/or general agreement that a given treatment or procedure is beneficial

Class II Conflicting evidence and/or divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of the treatment or procedure

Class IIa Weight of evidence/opinion in favour of usefulness/efficacy

Class IIb Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion

Class III Evidence or general agreement that the treatment or procedure is not useful or effective and in some cases may be harmful

Level of evidence

Level A Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analyses

Level B Data derived from a single randomized clinical trial or large non-randomized studies Level C Consensus of opinion of the experts and/or small studies, retrospective studies and registries

marked increase in the frequency of spinal haematoma in patients anticoagulated with LMWH prompted a re-evaluation of the relative risks and benefits of neuraxial blockade [67, 68]. Collation of these cases in the USA allowed the risk of spinal epidural haematoma during concurrent administration of low-molecular-weight heparins (LMWHs) to be calculated at 1:40,800 for spinal anaesthesia, 1:6600 for single-shot epidural anaesthesia and 1:3100 for epidural catheter anaesthesia [66]. What seems to be a relatively high incidence of bleeding was attributed to the daily administration of LMWH twice a day and the lack of recommendations at that time regarding time intervals between neuraxial puncture or catheter removal and thromboprophylaxis. The response in the USA has been to introduce recommendations that are stricter than those in place in Europe, proposing avoidance of LMWH during the entire time epidural catheters are in place [67]. Particularly, ASRA guidelines have consistently recommended against the administration of twice-daily LMWH in a patient with an indwelling epidural catheter [67, 68]. Although oncedaily LMWH dosing in the presence of an epidural catheter is safe, caution was advised if the patient received an additional haemostasis-altering medications, including antiplatelet therapy.

Anaesthetic management of the patient receiving LMWH by anaesthesiologists in North America provides the following points:

- In patients on preoperative LMWH thromboprophylaxis, we recommend that needle placement should occur at least 10–12 h after the LMWH dose.
- In patients receiving higher (treatment) doses of LMWH, it is recommended a delay of at least 24 h to ensure normal haemostasis at the time of needle insertion.
- In case of postoperative LMWH, patients with postoperative LMWH thromboprophylaxis may safely undergo single-injection and continuous catheter techniques.
- In case of twice-daily dosing, the first dose of LMWH should be administered no earlier than 24 h postoperatively. Indwelling catheters should be removed before

initiation of LMWH thromboprophylaxis. If a continuous technique is selected, the epidural catheter may be left indwelling overnight but must be removed before the first dose of LMWH. Administration of LMWH should be delayed for 2 h after catheter removal.

In case of single-daily dosing, the first postoperative LMWH dose should be administered 6–8 h postoperatively. The second postoperative dose should occur no sooner than 24 h after the first dose. Indwelling neuraxial catheters may be safely maintained. However, the catheter should be removed a minimum of 10–12 h after the last dose of LMWH. Subsequent LMWH dosing should occur a minimum of 2 h after catheter removal. No additional haemostasis-altering medications should be administered due to the additive effects [69].

In Europe, the widespread adoption of a single-daily dose of enoxaparin 40 mg produced a lower incidence of complications. A retrospective analysis in Sweden found that the risk was 1:156,000 after spinal anaesthesia and 1:18,000 after epidural anaesthesia, with bleeding occurring more rarely in obstetrics (1:200,000) than in female orthopaedic patients undergoing knee arthroplasty (1:3600) [14]. Risk factors for spinal haematoma after neuraxial regional anaesthesia were identified as lack of guidelines, administration of antithrombotic agents, female sex and difficult punctures. Subsequent reports from various countries indicate that spinal epidural haematoma after neuraxial blockade occurs in 1:2700 to 1:19,505 patients [70–73], with one report indicating that haematoma may be more common after lumbar (1:1341) compared to thoracic epidural anaesthesia (1:10,199) [72].

According to European guidelines, to avoid bleeding complications, there should be a time interval of at least 12 h between subcutaneous administration of LMWH at prophylactic doses and neuraxial blockade or removal of an epidural catheter [60, 74] (Class IIa, level C). If thromboprophylaxis with LMWH is prescribed in a twice-daily schedule, compared to a once-daily regimen, the risk of epidural haematoma may be increased because the trough levels of anti-Xa activity are higher [75]. In this situation, one dose of LMWH should be omitted creating a 24-h time interval before catheter removal and the subsequent dose (Class IIb, level C). Similarly, when therapeutic doses of LMWH are being administered once or twice daily, catheter placement or removal should also be delayed for at least 24 h after the last dose (Class IIa, level B).

A meta-analysis of preoperative versus postoperative studies shows that LMWH given 12 h preoperatively does not reduce the risk of VTE compared to a postoperative regimen [76]. As antithrombotic drugs increase the risk of spinal epidural haematoma after neuraxial blockade, a postoperative start may be advantageous, especially in patients also receiving aspirin (Class IIb, level B).

Spinal epidural haematoma is not restricted to LMWH and similar drugs but can occur with any agent that interferes with haemostasis. New antithrombotic drugs are continually under development. The administration of these medications in combination with neuraxial anaesthesia must be carefully considered, and we can apply lessons learned from the LMWH experience to develop initial management recommendations [77] (Table 2.2).

	Time before puncture/catheter manipulation or removal ^a	Time after puncture/catheter manipulation or removal ^a	Laboratory tests
Unfractionated heparins (for prophylaxis, ≤15,000 IU per day)	4–6 h	1 h	Platelets during treatment for more than 5 days
Unfractionated heparins (for treatment)	i.v. 4–6 h s.c. 8–12 h	1 h 1 h	aPTT, ACT, platelets
Low molecular weight heparins (for prophylaxisb)	12 h	4 h	Platelets during treatment for more than 5 days
Low molecular weight heparins (for treatment)	24 h	4 h	Platelets during treatment for more than 5 days
Fondaparinux (for prophylaxis, 2.5 mg per day)	36–42 h	6–12 h	(Anti-Xa, standardized for specific agent)
Rivaroxaban (for prophylaxis, 10 mg q.d.)	22–26 h	4–6 h	(PT, standardized for specific agent)
Apixaban (for prophylaxis, 2.5 mg b.i.d.)	26–30 h	4–6 h	?
Dabigatran (for prophylaxis, 150–220 mg)	Contraindicated according to the manufacturer	6 h	?
Coumarins	$INR \le 1.4$	After catheter removal	INR
Hirudins (lepirudin, desirudin)	8–10 h	2–4 h	aPTT, ECT
Argatroban	4 h	2 h	aPTT, ECT, ACT
Acetylsalicylic acid	None	None	
Clopidogrel	7 days	After catheter removal	
Ticlopidine	10 days	After catheter removal	
Prasugrel	7–10 days	6 h after catheter removal	
Ticagrelor	5 days	6 h after catheter removal	
Cilostazol	42 h	5 h after catheter removal	
NSAIDs	None	None	

Table 2.2 Recommended time intervals before and after neuraxial puncture or catheter removal

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; b.i.d., twice daily; ECT, eparin clotting time; INR, international normalised ratio; IU, international unit; i.v., intravenously; NSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; s.c., subcutaneously; q.d., daily ^aAll time intervals refer to patients with normal renal function

2.3.6.1 Fondaparinux

Fondaparinux, an injectable synthetic pentasaccharide, produces its antithrombotic effect through factor Xa inhibition [78]. The "expert study" with a total of 5387 patients included 1428 undergoing regional anaesthesia procedures: a single dose of fondaparinux was omitted the evening before catheter removal [79], and this provided a time interval of 36 h before catheter removal and 12 h (6 h according AAS guidelines) [80] between catheter removal and the next dose of fondaparinux. Neuraxial regional anaesthesia should not be performed when therapeutic doses of fondaparinux (5–10 mg per day) are employed due to the substantial risk of accumulation (Class III, level C) [77].

2.3.6.2 NOACs

The new oral anticoagulants (NOACs) currently include thrombin inhibitor dabigatran and factor Xa inhibitors (rivaroxaban, apixaban, edoxaban).

The ASRA guidelines on regional anaesthesia did not make recommendations, probably because of the lack of studies, whereas the European and the Scandinavian guidelines based their recommendations on the half-life of the drugs. The European and Scandinavian guidelines adopted a 2 half-life interval between discontinuation of the drugs and neuraxial injection.

Current recommendations for neuraxial blocks with new oral anticoagulants are different when they are used for postoperative thromboprophylaxis after hip or knee replacement or for prevention of thromboembolic disease in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (AFIB), because in the first case, much lower doses are given compared with patients with AFIB [81] (Table 2.3).

Dabigatran is an oral reversible monovalent thrombin inhibitor. The oral prodrug dabigatran etexilate is metabolized by plasma esterases into dabigatran [82]. Currently it is licenced to be given once daily 220 mg starting with 110 mg within 1–4 h after surgery for 10 days after knee replacement surgery and for 28–35 days

	Drug used for postoperativ (low doses)	Drug used in high doses for AFIB	
NOAC	Time before puncture/ catheter manipulation or removal	Time after puncture/ catheter manipulation or removal	Drug withdrawal if neuraxial blocks are performed for surgery
Dabigatran	1-1.5 days	2–12 h	3.5–4 days
Rivaroxaban	22–26 h (Eur. guidelines) 18 h (Scand. guidelines)	4–6 h (Eur. guidelines) 6 h (Scand. guidelines)	2–3 days
Apixaban	26–30 h No data	4–6 h 6 h	3–4 days
Edoxaban	12 h	2 h	2 days

Table 2.3 Simplified scheme of suggested times when neuraxial blocks are planned during NOAC administration

NOAC new oral anticoagulant, AFIB non-valvular atrial fibrillation

after hip replacement surgery while is typically given 2×150 mg daily in AFIB patients.

The long (12–17 h) half-life of dabigatran in healthy patients suggests a time interval of 34 h (from 1 to 1.5 days) between the last dose of dabigatran and catheter manipulation or withdrawal. However, the manufacturer advises against the use of dabigatran in the presence of neuraxial blockade (Class III, level C) [77, 83, 84]. Analysing licencing studies involving 4212 neuraxial blocks, the first dose of dabigatran was given at least 2 h after epidural catheter removal. Other suggestions for next dose range from 2 to 12 h [80, 84, 85].

When used in patients with AFIB, if a neuraxial block for surgery is planned, the suggested withdrawal time is 3.5–4 days [83, 86].

Rivaroxaban is a potent selective and reversible oral activated factor Xa inhibitor. When used for thromboprophylaxis, rivaroxaban is generally administered once daily 10 mg within 6–10 h after surgery for 5 weeks after hip replacement surgery and 2 weeks after knee replacement surgery.

A minimum of 18 h between the last dose of rivaroxaban (10 mg) and removal of an indwelling catheter and a minimum of 6 h before resumption of the drug have been recommended by the Scandinavian Society guidelines [27]. The European Society guidelines recommend an interval of 22–26 h between the last dose of rivaroxaban and removal of an indwelling catheter (Class IIa, level C) and an interval of 4–6 h between epidural catheter removal and the next dose of rivaroxaban (Class IIb, level C). These two recommendations represent a 2-half-life interval between rivaroxaban discontinuation and epidural catheter placement or removal. Extreme caution is recommended when using rivaroxaban in the presence of neuraxial blockade (Class IIb, level C) [77].

Rivaroxaban is given 1×20 mg for deep venous thrombosis treatment or stroke prevention inpatients with non-valvular AFIB. Experts recommend rivaroxaban discontinuation for 2–3 days [84, 87, 88] before neuraxial puncture. Expert opinions concerning resumption after catheter removal range from 5 to 24 h [84, 87].

Apixaban is an oral, reversible, direct factor Xa inhibitor related to rivaroxaban [82]. It is given twice daily 2.5 mg within 12–24 h after hip or knee replacement surgery for 32–38 days and 10–14 days, respectively [81]. Although the Scandinavian guidelines did not make recommendation on the interval between cessation of apixaban and neuraxial injection because of lack of available data, the European guidelines suggest a time interval of 26–30 h between the last dose of apixaban (2.5 mg) and catheter withdrawal and that at least one dose should be omitted (Class IIb, level C). After catheter withdrawal, the next dose of apixaban may be given 4–6 h later (Class IIb, level C) [77]. The Scandinavian guidelines recommend 6 h after a neuraxial injection or catheter removal before resumption of the drug [80]. Extreme caution is recommended when using neuraxial blockade in the presence of apixaban (Class IIb, level C).

Apixaban is given 2×5 mg daily for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolic disease in adult patients with non-valvular AFIB. Expert opinions defining
the time from apixaban discontinuation to neuraxial block placement range from 3 to 4 days [84, 87].

Edoxaban, a new Xa inhibitor, has currently been approved in the USA and Japan for the reduction in the risk of stroke and systemic embolic disease in patients with non-valvular AFIB with a dose of 60 mg once daily. Indwelling epidural or intrathecal catheters should not be removed earlier than 12 h after the last administration of edoxaban, and the next dose of edoxaban should not be administered earlier than 2 h after the removal of the catheter. However, in analogy to expert reasoning with rivaroxaban and apixaban, edoxaban should be stopped 2 days before a neuraxial puncture or epidural catheter manipulation [81].

2.3.6.3 Antiplatelet Drugs

Antiplatelet medications, including NSAIDs, thienopyridine derivatives (ticlopidine and clopidogrel) and platelet GP IIb/IIIa antagonists (abciximab, eptifibatide, tirofiban), exert diverse effects on platelet function.

Low-dose aspirin, when used for secondary prophylaxis, has been shown to reduce the risk of stroke and myocardial infarction in the range of 25–30% [89, 90]. Furthermore, the discontinuation of aspirin for secondary prophylaxis is associated with significant risk [91], and a platelet rebound phenomenon may occur, resulting in a prothrombotic state [92]. When aspirin is used for primary prophylaxis, its value in preventing cardiovascular events is unclear. [93, 94]

Nonaspirin NSAIDs bind reversibly and competitively inhibit the active site of the COX enzyme.

The degrees of reversible inhibition of COX-1, after single doses of frequently used NSAIDs (diclofenac, ibuprofen, indomethacin, naproxen and piroxicam), are dependent on the selected NSAID and measured timeframe in the first 24 h [95].

NSAIDs that selectively inhibit the enzyme COX-2 do not alter platelet function [96].

The ASRA and European guidelines recommend that central neuraxial blocks may be performed in individuals using aspirin or NSAIDs [69, 77]. On the basis of the available data, NSAIDS, including aspirin, when given in isolation, do not increase the risk of spinal epidural haematoma and are not a contraindication to neuraxial block (Class IIb, level C). Spinal anaesthesia has better support than epidural (Class IIb, level C).

To avoid any negative effect of NSAIDS on platelet function and neuraxial block, it is sufficient to miss a dose the evening before a planned procedure or catheter removal.

The Scandinavian guidelines for the performance of central neuraxial blocks in individuals using aspirin based their recommendations on the indication for aspirin use and the daily dose. In individuals taking aspirin for secondary prevention, a shorter discontinuation time of 12 h was recommended. For individuals not using aspirin for secondary prevention, the discontinuation time is 3 days unless the dose is greater than 1 g per day for which the discontinuation time is extended to 1 week [80].

For NSAIDs, the Scandinavian guideline recommendations are guided by the specific half-life for each drug [80].

Although the administration of aspirin alone does not appear to increase haematoma formation, a higher rate of complications has been observed in both surgical and medical patients when heparins were administered concurrently [97]. Because preoperative, versus postoperative, thromboprophylaxis is not proven to be beneficial [98], a cautionary approach in the presence of aspirin would be to start VTE prophylaxis postoperatively (Class I, level B).

In patients receiving NSAIDS, we recommend against the performance of neuraxial techniques if the concurrent use of other medications affecting clotting mechanisms, such as oral anticoagulants, UFH and LMWH, is anticipated in the early postoperative period because of the increased risk of bleeding complications [69].

The thienopyridines block the ADP receptor, P2Y12 subtype.

Ticlopidine has a long elimination half-life and causes an irreversible inhibition of platelet function [99]. European guidelines [77] suggest a time interval between discontinuation of this thienopyridine therapy and neuraxial blockade of 10 days, American guidelines of 14 days [69].

Clopidogrel is a prodrug [100]. Neuraxial anaesthesia should only be performed at least 7 days after the last intake (Class IIa, level C) [69, 77], whereas the Scandinavian guidelines noted that 5 days interruption is probably adequate [80].

Prasugrel, a novel thienopyridine, is a prodrug [100, 101], has a rapid onset, is ten times greater than that of clopidogrel [102] and is a particularly potent antiplatelet agent. In view of this properties, neuraxial anaesthesia should be strongly discouraged during prasugrel treatment, unless a time interval of 7–10 days can be observed (Class III, level C) [24], whereas the Scandinavian guidelines states that 5-day stoppage may be sufficient [80].

Ticagrelor acts directly on the P2Y12 receptor. Like prasugrel, it provides much faster, greater and more consistent P2Y12 inhibition than clopidogrel [102]. However, neuraxial anaesthesia should be discouraged during treatment with ticagrelor, unless at least 5 days have lapsed since the last dose (Class III, level C) [77]. For resumption of the antiplatelet drug after a neuraxial procedure or catheter removal, the Scandinavian guidelines recommended that the drug be started after catheter removal, whereas the European guidelines recommended 6 h after catheter removal before prasugrel and ticagrelor can be started [77].

Blocking the glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor, the final common pathway of platelet aggregation, represents the most potent form of platelet inhibition. It is reversible. After administration, the time to normal platelet aggregation is 24–48 h for abciximab and 4–8 h for eptifibatide and tirofiban [103, 104]. As glycoprotein IIb/ IIIa inhibitors are used only in acute coronary syndromes, in combination with anticoagulants and aspirin and as cardiac surgery procedures are usually conducted as emergencies with continuing anticoagulation, neuraxial blockade is contraindicated (Class III, level C). If a catheter has to be removed after their administration, most guidelines recommend waiting at least 48 h after abciximab and 8–10 h after tirofiban or eptifibatide [105]. Neuraxial techniques should be avoided until platelet function has recovered.

The increasing spread of RA practices both in Europe [106] and in North America [107] requires the concomitant operators' knowledge of the risks of neurological injuries associated with the most common RA techniques. Historically, nerve injury after CNB is rare. Numerous large-scale studies published in the 1950s and 1960s on neurological complications after CNB emphasized the safety of spinal and epidural anaesthesia [108–116]. In a prospective study for examining the complications of spinal anaesthesia, Vandam and Dripps [112] documented 71 cases of transient neurological deficits after 10,098 spinal anaesthesias. Of these cases, only one permanent nerve injury was subsequently considered to be foreign to spinal anaesthesia [109]. A review of neurological complications after 32,718 epidural anaesthesia published by Dawkins [113] showed that the frequency of transient and permanent nerve lesions is 0.1% and 0.02%, respectively.

It is interesting to note that the incidence of the permanent neurological deficit after CNB reported by Dahlgren and Tornebrandt [117] is significantly higher than the one reported in most other studies in the literature. A reason for this discrepancy may be that the authors considered all the neurological complications (including very light sensitive deficits too) suffered by patients in all age groups (including children) and in both sexes, subjected to a wide range of operations, often followed by a continuous infusion by epidural catheter [117].

In contrast, most of the other examined studies included, in whole [16, 118, 119] or in part [14, 17, 120], young healthy women undergoing spinal or epidural obstetric anaesthesia. In fact, Moen et al. [14] calculated that the frequency of serious neurological complications after epidural anaesthesia is 2.8:10,000 when the obstetric population is excluded, while it falls to 0.4:10,000 in obstetric epidural anaesthesia. Similarly, Auroy et al. [17] reported an overall incidence of the main neurological complications related to the CNB of 3.4:10,000 compared to a 0.6:10,000 specific for the obstetric population.

Another reason for the relatively large number of neurological complications reported by Dahlgren and Tornebrandt [117] may be the questionable causal association between the CNB and the subsequent neurological symptoms described in at least one of the three cases after spinal anaesthesia and in all seven cases after epidural anaesthesia that could be attributed to surgery, patient position or intercurrent diseases [117].

A comparison between various guidelines reveals similarities in the management of patients receiving thrombolytics, UFH and antiplatelet therapy. The ASRA guidelines for LMWH are much more conservative than the corresponding European statements owing to the large number of haematomas in North America. It is notable that an indwelling epidural catheter during single-daily dosing of LMWH is still considered safe in Europe. However, if the patient is receiving antiplatelet therapy, LMWH will not be administered 24 before needle placement and/ or catheter removal. An additional major difference is the management of the patient receiving fondaparinux. The German guideline [121] allows maintenance of an indwelling epidural catheter, although it is recommended against in both the Belgian [122] and the ASRA statements. Finally, European guidelines support neuraxial techniques (including continuous epidural analgesia) in the presence of direct thrombin inhibitors. However, this is relatively contraindicated by the ASRA guidelines.

The comparison between the guidelines of the main societies shows, for the majority of considered anticoagulants, very strong differences, particularly concerning the time intervals to be respected in carrying out regional anaesthesia procedure. Furthermore, the evidences for prescriptions to be taken are weak. Therefore, the decision for or against regional anaesthesia always requires a careful risk-benefit analysis, noting any history of bleeding, followed by a physical examination looking for signs of increased bleeding tendency, for example, petechiae or haematoma (Class I, level A) [123]. Several conditions may be associated with altered coagulation. These include the perioperative use of various anticoagulant drugs, low platelet count, renal and/or hepatic failure, chronic alcoholism, chronic steroid therapy and perioperative infusion of dextrans. Laboratory tests, if indicated at all, should be appropriate to the individual (Class I, level A).

The perioperative cessation of anticoagulant drugs in order to improve the safety of neuraxial block needs to be critically evaluated. An alternative anaesthetic technique should be used if it is judged that the administration of the anticoagulant must not be interrupted (Class IIa, level C) [77].

Therefore, if neuraxial blockade is felt to be beneficial to a given patient, a spinal anaesthetic technique may be a valuable alternative as current data from the literature suggest that spinal puncture may be associated with less risk of spinal haematoma than epidural anaesthesia.

Finally, the guidelines are not meant to bypass clinical judgement. When the anaesthesiologist decides not to comply with these guidelines, the reasons should be noted in the patient's chart.

In summary, the rate of neurological complications after CNB results to be <4:10,000 (<0.04%), and the permanent neurological damage after RA is extremely rare in the current anaesthetic practice, even considering that the rate of neurological complications reported in the literature could be underestimated, because much of the data originates from self-reporting by operators rather than controlled prospective studies.

References

- Ballantyne JC, Carr DB, deFerranti S, et al. The comparative effects of postoperative analgesic therapies on pulmonary outcome: cumulative meta-analyses of randomized, controlled trials. Anesth Analg. 1998;86:598–612.
- Beattie WS, Badner NH, Choi P. Epidural analgesia reduces postoperative myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. Anesth Analg. 2001;93:853–8.
- Rodgers A, Walker N, Schug S, et al. Reduction of postoperative mortality and morbidity with epidural or spinal anaesthesia: results from overview of randomised trials. BMJ. 2000;321:1493.
- Urwin SC, Parker MJ, Griffiths R. General versus regional anaesthesia for hip fracture surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Br J Anaesth. 2000;84:450–5.
- Wu CL, Hurley RW, Anderson GF, et al. Effect of postoperative epidural analgesia on morbidity and mortality following surgery in medicare patients. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2004;29:525–33.

- 6. Buist RJ. A survey of the practice of regional anaesthesia. J R Soc Med. 1990;83:709-12.
- Chelly JE, Ben David B, Williams BA, Kentor ML. Anesthesia and postoperative analgesia: outcomes following orthopedic surgery. Orthopedics. 2003;26:865–71.
- Hadzic A, Arliss J, Kerimoglu B, et al. A comparison of infractavicular nerve block versus general anesthesia for hand and wrist day-case surgeries. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:127–32.
- Hadzic A, Williams BA, Karaca PE, et al. For outpatient rotator cuff surgery, nerve block anesthesia provides superior sameday recovery over general anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 2005;102:1001–7.
- Hadzic A, Karaca PE, Hobeika P, et al. Peripheral nerve blocks result in superior recovery profile compared with general anesthesia in outpatient knee arthroscopy. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:976–81.
- 11. McCartney CJ, Brull R, Chan VW, et al. Early but no long-term benefit of regional compared with general anesthesia for ambulatory hand surgery. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:461–7.
- 12. Chan VW, Peng PW, Kaszas Z, et al. A comparative study of general anesthesia, intravenous regional anesthesia, and axillary block for outpatient hand surgery: clinical outcome and cost analysis. Anesth Analg. 2001;93:1181–4.
- Schneider M, Ettlin T, Kaufmann M, et al. Transient neurologic toxicity after hyperbaric subarachnoid anesthesia with 5% lidocaine. Anesth Analg. 1993;76:1154–7.
- Moen V, Dahlgren N, Irestedt L. Severe neurological complications after central neuraxial blockades in Sweden 1990–1999. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:950–9.
- Aromaa U, Lahdensuu M, Cozanitis DA. Severe complications associated with epidural and spinal anaesthesias in Finland 1987–1993. A study based on patient insurance claims. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1997;41:445–52.
- Scott DB, Tunstall ME. Serious complications associated with epidural/spinal blockade in obstetrics: a two-year prospective study. Int J Obstet Anesth. 1995;4:133–9.
- 17. Auroy Y, Benhamou D, Bargues L, et al. Major complications of regional anesthesia in France: the SOS regional anesthesia hotline service. Anesthesiology. 2002;97:1274–80.
- Auroy Y, Narchi P, Messiah A, et al. Serious complications related to regional anesthesia: results of a prospective survey in France. Anesthesiology. 1997;87:479–86.
- Yoshii WY, Rottman RL, Rosenblatt RM, et al. Epidural catheter induced traumatic radiculopathy in obstetrics. One centre's experience. Reg Anesth. 1994;55:473–5.
- Rolbin SH, Hew E, Ogilvie G. A comparison of two types of epidural catheters. Can J Anaesth. 1987;34:459–61.
- 21. Greaves JD. Serious spinal cord injury due to hematomyelia caused by spinal anaesthesia in a patient treated with low-dose heparin. Anaesthesia. 1997;52(2):150–4.
- 22. Osuga K, Hirabayashi Y, Fukuda H, et al. Masui. 1999;48(1):67-9.
- Sidhu MS, Asrani RV, Bassel GM. An unusual complication of extradural catheterization in obstetric anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 1983;55:473–5.
- 24. Gracia J, Gomar C, Riambau V, Cardenal C. Radicular acute pain after epidural anaesthesia with the technique of loss of resistance with normal saline solution. Anaesthesia. 1999;54(2):168–71.
- Yamashita S, Joukou M, Kuramoto T. Severe lightening pain during spinal anesthesia. Masui. 1990;39(12):1708–10.
- Juneja M, Kargas GA, Miller DL. Comparison of epidural catheters induced paraesthesia in parturient. Reg Anesth. 1995;20(2S):152.
- Rajakulendram Y, Rahman S, Venkat N. Long term neurological complication following traumatic damage to the spinal cord with a 25 g Whitacre spinal needle. Int J Obstet Anesth. 1999;8:62–6.
- Kubina P, Gupta A, Oscarsson A, et al. Two cases of cauda equina syndrome following spinal-epidural anesthesia. Reg Anesth. 1997;22(5):447–59.
- Stambough JL, Stambough JB, Evans S. Acute cauda equina syndrome after total knee arthroplasty as a result of epidural anesthesia and spinal stenosis. J Arthroplasty. 2000;15(3):375–9.

- Carp H, Bailey S. The association between meningitis and dural puncture in bacteriemic rats. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:739–42.
- Ross BK, Coda B, Heath CH. Local anesthetic distribution in a spinal model: a possible mechanism of neurologic injury after continuous spinal anesthesia. Reg Anesth. 1992;17(2):69–77.
- Lambert DH, Hurley RJ. Cauda equina syndrome and continuous spinal anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1991;72(6):817–9.
- Hodgson PS, Neal JM, Pollock JE, Liu SS. The neurotoxicity of drugs given intrathecally (spinal). Anesth Analg. 1999;88(4):797–809.
- Rigler M, Drsner K, et al. Cauda equina syndrome after continuous spinal anaesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1991;72:275–81.
- Schell RM, Brauer FS, Cole DJ, Applegate RL. Persistent sacral nerve root deficits after continuous spinal anaesthesia. Can J Anaesth. 1991;38(7):908–11.
- 36. FDA. Safety alert. Cauda equina syndrome associated with the use of small bore catheters in continuous spinal anaesthesia. Silver Spring, MD: Food and Drug Administration; 1992.
- Scott DB, Tunstall ME. Serious complications associated with epidural/spinal blockade in obstetrics: a two years prospective study. Int J Obstet Anesth. 1995;4:133–9.
- Loo CC, Dahlgren G, Irestesdt L. Neurological complications in obstetric regional anaesthesia. Int J Obstet Anesth. 2000;9:111.
- Deglaire B, Duverger P, Muckensturm B, Maissin F, Desbordes JM. Acute intracranial subdural hematoma after accidental dural puncture in epidural anesthesia. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 1988;7(2):156–8.
- Garcia-Sanchez MJ, Prieto-Cuellar M, et al. Chronic subdural hematoma secondary to an accidental dural puncture during lumbar epidural anesthesia. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 1996;43(9):327–9.
- Bottiger BW, Diezel G. Acute intracranial subarachnoid hemorrhage following repeated spinal anesthesia. Anaesthesist. 1992;41(3):152–7.
- Kunz U, Panning B, Stolke D. Chronic subdural hematoma following spinal anesthesia. Reg Anaesth. 1989;12(2):34–7.
- Lee ST, Hu WM, Lin CC. Intracranial chronic subdural hematoma following spinal anesthesia: report of a case. J Formos Med Assoc. 1993;92(7):671–3.
- Takahashi K, Sakata H, et al. Intracranial subdural hematoma following spinal anesthesia. Masui. 1994;42(10):1596–7.
- 45. Cohen JE, Godes J, Morales B. Postpartum bilateral subdural hematomas following spinal anesthesia: case report. Surg Neurol. 1997;47(1):6–8.
- Vaughan DJ, Stirrup CA, Robinson PN. Cranial subdural haematoma associated with dural puncture in labour. Br J Anaesth. 2000;84(4):518–20.
- 47. Newrick P, Read D. Subdural hematoma as a complication of spinal anaesthetic. Br Med J. 1982;285:341–2.
- Kane RE. Neurologic deficits following epidural or spinal anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1981;60:150.
- 49. Ditzler JW, Mcllever G. Paraplegia following general anesthesia. Anaesth Analg. 1956;34:501.
- 50. Harrison PD. Paraplegia following epidural analgesia. Anaesthesia. 1975;30(6):778–82.
- Davies A, Solomon B, Levene A. Paraplegia following epidural anaesthesia. Br Med J. 1958;2:654–7.
- 52. Urquahrt-Hay D. Paraplegia following epidural analgesia. Anaesthesia. 1989;24:464-6.
- Gaudin P, Lefant D. Paraplegia after epidural anesthesia for vascular surgery. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 1991;10(5):468–71.
- Rutter SV, Jeevananthan V, Souter R, Cowen MJ. Shared spinal cord: paraplegia following abdominal aortic surgery under combined general and epidural anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 1999;16(9):646–9.
- Kennedy DJ, Dreyfuss P, Aprill CN, Bogduk N. Paraplegia following image-guided transforaminal lumbar spine epidural steroid injection: two case reports. Pain Med. 2009;10(8):1389–94.

- 56. Linz SM, Charbonnet C, et al. Spinal artery syndrome masked by postoperative epidural analgesia. Can J Anaesth. 1997;44(11):1178–81.
- Richardson J, Bedder M. Transient anterior spinal cord syndrome with continuous postoperative epidural analgesia. Anesthesiology. 1990;72:764.
- Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ, Schroeder DR, Rose SH, Elliott BA, McGregor DG, et al. Preoperative antiplatelet therapy does not increase the risk of spinal hematoma with regional anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1995;80:303–9.
- 59. Smith M. Impaired haemostasis and regional anaesthesia. Can J Anaesth. 1996;43:129-41.
- Vandermeulen EP, Van Aken H, Vermylen J. Anticoagulants and spinal-epidural anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1994;79:1165–77.
- Urmey WF, Rowlingson JC. Do antiplatelet agents contribute to the development of perioperative spinal hematoma? Reg Anesth Pain Med. 1998;23:146–51.
- Benzon HT, Wong HY, Siddiqui T, Ondra S. Caution in performing epidural injections in patients on several antiplatelet drugs. Anesthesiology. 1999;91:1558–9.
- 63. Kawaguchi S, Tokutomi S. A case of epidural hematoma associated with epidural catheterization which occurred on 12th day after the Japanese last medication of ticlopidine hydrochloride. Masui. 2002;51:526–8.
- 64. Shlansky-Goldberg R. Platelet aggregation inhibitors for use in peripheral vascular interventions: what can we learn from the experience in the coronary arteries? J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2002;13:229–46.
- 65. Poldermans D, Bax JJ, Boersma E, Hert S, Eeckhout E, Fowkes G, et al. Guidelines for pre-operative cardiac risk assessment and perioperative cardiac management in non-cardiac surgery: the Task Force for Preoperative Cardiac Risk Assessment and Perioperative Cardiac Management in Non-cardiac Surgery of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and endorsed by the European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA). Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27:92–137.
- Schroeder DR. Statistics: detecting a rare adverse drug reaction using spontaneous reports. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 1998;23:183–9.
- 67. Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ, Benzon H, Brown DL, Enneking FK, Heit JA, et al. Regional anesthesia in the anticoagulated patient: defining the risks. (The Second ASRA Consensus Conference on Neuraxial Anesthesia and Anticoagulation). Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2003;28:172–97.
- Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ. Neuraxial block and low molecular-weight heparin: balancing perioperative analgesia and thromboprophylaxis. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 1998;23:164–77.
- 69. Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ, Rowlingson JC, Enneking FK, Kopp SL, Benzon HT, et al. Regional anesthesia in the patient receiving antithrombotic or thrombolytic therapy: American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine evidence-based guidelines (Third Edition). Reg Amnesty Pain Med. 2010;35:64–101.
- Cameron CM, Scott DA, McDonald WM, Davies MJ. A review of neuraxial epidural morbidity: experience of more than 8000 cases at a single teaching hospital. Anesthesiology. 2007;106:997–1002.
- Christie IW, McCabe S. Major complications of epidural analgesia after surgery: results of a six-year survey. Anaesthesia. 2007;62:335–41.
- Popping DM, Zahn PK, Van Aken HK, Dasch B, Boche R, Pogatzki-Zahn EM. Effectiveness and safety of postoperative pain management: a survey of 18925 consecutive patients between 1998 and 2006 (2nd revision): a database analysis of prospectively raised data. Br J Anaesth. 2008;101:832–40.
- Cook T, Counsell D, Wildsmith J. Project OBOTRCOATNA. Major complications of central neuraxial block: report on the Third National Audit Project of the Royal College of Anaesthetists. Br J Anaesth. 2009;102:179–90.
- Bergqvist D, Lindblad B, Matzsch T. Risk of combining low molecular weight heparin for thromboprophylaxis and epidural or spinal anesthesia. Semin Thromb Hemost. 1993;19(Suppl 1):147–51.

- 75. Douketis JD, Kinnon K, Crowther MA. Anticoagulant effect at the time of epidural catheter removal in patients receiving twice-daily or once-daily low-molecular-weight heparin and continuous epidural analgesia after orthopedic surgery. Thromb Haemost. 2002;88:37–40.
- 76. Strebel N, Prins M, Agnelli G, Buller HR. Preoperative or postoperative start of prophylaxis for venous thromboembolism with low-molecular weight heparin in elective hip surgery? Arch Intern Med. 2002;162:1451–6.
- 77. Gogarten W, Vandermeulen E, Van Aken H, Kozek S, Llau JV, Samama CM. Regional anaesthesia and antithrombotic agents: recommendations of the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27:999.
- Turpie AG, Gallus AS, Hoek JA. A synthetic pentasaccharide for the prevention of deep-vein thrombosis after total hip replacement. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:619–25.
- 79. Singelyn FJ, Verheyen CCPM, Piovella F, Van Aken HK, Rosencher N. EXPERT Study Investigators. The safety and efficacy of extended thromboprophylaxis with fondaparinux after major orthopedic surgery of the lower limb with or without a neuraxial or deep peripheral nerve catheter: the EXPERT Study. Anesth Analg. 2007;105:1540–7.
- Breivik H, Bang U, Jalonen J, Vigfusson G, Alahuhta S, Lagerkranser M. Nordic guidelines for neuraxial blocks in disturbed haemostasis from the Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2010;54:16–41.
- Volk T, Kubulus C. New oral anticoagulants and neuraxial regional anesthesia. Curr Opin Anesthesiol. 2015;28:605–9.
- Weitz JI, Hirsh J, Samama MM. Physicians ACoC. New antithrombotic drugs: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (8th Edition). Chest. 2008;133:234–56.
- 83. Rosencher N, Noack H, Feuring M, Clemens A, Friedman RJ, Eriksson B. Type of anaesthesia and the safety and efficacy of thromboprophylaxis with enoxaparin or dabigatran etexilate in major orthopaedic surgery: pooled analysis of three randomized controlled trials. Thromb J. 2012;10(1):9.
- Waurick K, Riess H, Van Aken H, Kessler P, Gogarten W, Volk T. S1 guideline neuraxial regional anesthesia and thromboprophylaxis/antithrombotic medication. Anasth Intensivmed. 2014;55:464–92.
- Rosencher N, Bonnet MP, Sessler DI. Selected new antithrombotic agents and neuraxial anaesthesia for major orthopaedic surgery: management strategies. Anaesthesia. 2007;62:1154–60.
- Moore TJ, Cohen MR, Mattison DR. Dabigatran, bleeding, and the regulators. BMJ. 2014;349:4517.
- Benzon HT, Avram MJ, Green D, Bonow RO. New oral anticoagulants and regional anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2013;111(Suppl 1):96–113.
- Harrop-Griffiths W, Cook T, Gill H, Hill D, Ingram M, Makris M, et al. Regional anaesthesia and patients with abnormalities of coagulation. The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain & Ireland. The Obstetric Anaesthetists' Association Regional Anaesthesia UK. Anaesthesia. 2013;68:966–72.
- Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. BMJ. 2002;324:71–86.
- Burger W, Chemnitius JM, Kneissl GD, Rucker G. Low-dose aspirin for secondary cardiovascular prevention—cardiovascular risks after its perioperative withdrawal versus bleeding risks with its continuation—review and meta-analysis. J Intern Med. 2005;257:399–414.
- Oscarsson A, Gupta A, Fredrikson M, Järhult J, Nyström M, Pettersson E, et al. To continue or discontinue aspirin in the perioperative period: a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Br J Anaesth. 2010;104:305–12.
- Gerstein NS, Schulman PM, Gerstein WH, Petersen TR, Tawil I. Should more patients continue aspirin therapy perioperatively?: clinical impact of aspirin withdrawal syndrome. Ann Surg. 2012;255:811–9.
- Antithrombotic Trialists' (ATT) Collaboration, Baigent C, Blackwell L, Collins R, Emberson J, Godwin J, Peto R, et al. Aspirin in the primary and secondary prevention of vascular dis-

ease: collaborative meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials. Lancet. 2009;373:1849–60.

- 94. Wolff T, Miller T, Ko S. Aspirin for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events: an update of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150:405–10.
- Patrono C, Ciabattoni G, Patrignani P, Pugliese F, Filabozzi P, Catella F, et al. Clinical pharmacology of platelet cyclooxygenase inhibition. Circulation. 1985;72:1177–84.
- Leese PT, Hubbard RC, Karim A, Isakson PC, Yu SS, Geis GS. Effects of celecoxib, a novel cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, on platelet function in healthy adults: a randomized, controlled trial. J Clin Pharmacol. 2000;40:124–32.
- Ruff RL, Dougherty JH. Complications of lumbar puncture followed by anticoagulation. Stroke. 1981;12:879–81.
- Hull R, Pineo G, MacIsaac S. Low-molecular-weight heparin prophylaxis: preoperative versus postoperative initiation in patients undergoing elective hip surgery. Thromb Res. 2000;101:155–62.
- Buur T, Larsson R, Berglund U, Donat F, Tronquet C. Pharmacokinetics and effect of ticlopidine on platelet aggregation in subjects with normal and impaired renal function. J Clin Pharmacol. 1997;37:108–15.
- Capodanno D, Ferreiro JL, Angiolillo DJ. Antiplatelet therapy: new pharmacological agents and changing paradigms. J Thromb Haemost. 2013;11:316–29.
- 101. Farid NA, Smith RL, Gillespie TA, Rash TJ, Blair PE, Kurihara A, et al. The disposition of prasugrel, a novel thienopyridine, in humans. Drug Metab Dispos. 2007;35:1096–104.
- Angiolillo DJ, Bhatt DL, Gurbel PA, Jennings LK. Advances in antiplatelet therapy: agents in clinical development. Am J Cardiol. 2009;103:40–51.
- Bhatt DL, Topol EJ. Current role of platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors in acute coronary syndromes. JAMA. 2000;284:1549–58.
- Coller BS. Anti-GPIIb/IIIa drugs: current strategies and future directions. Thromb Haemost. 2001;86:427–43.
- 105. Gogarten W. The influence of new antithrombotic drugs on regional anesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2006;19:545–50.
- Clergue F, Auroy Y, Pequignot F, et al. French survey of anesthesia in 1996. Anesthesiology. 1999;91:1509–20.
- 107. Hadzic A, Vloka JD, Kuroda MM, et al. The practice of peripheral nerve blocks in the United States: a national survey. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 1998;23:241–6.
- Bonica JJ, Backup PH, Anderson CE, et al. Peridural block: analysis of 3,637 cases and a review. Anesthesiology. 1957;18:723–84.
- Dripps RD, Vandam LD. Long-term follow-up of patients who received 10,098 spinal anesthetics: failure to discover major neurological sequelae. JAMA. 1954;156:1486–91.
- Phillips OC, Ebner H, Nelson AT, Black MH. Neurologic complications following spinal anesthesia with lidocaine: a prospective review of 10,440 cases. Anesthesiology. 1969;30:284–9.
- 111. Usubiaga JE. Neurological complications following epidural anesthesia. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1975;13:1–153.
- 112. Vandam LD, Dripps RD. A long-term follow-up of 10,098 spinal anesthetics. Incidence and analysis of minor sensory neurological defects. Surgery. 1955;38:463–9.
- Dawkins CJ. An analysis of the complications of extradural and caudal block. Anaesthesia. 1969;24:554–63.
- 114. Lund PC, Cwik JC. Modern trends in spinal anaesthesia. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1968;15:118–34.
- 115. Noble AB, Murray JG. A review of the complications of spinal anaesthesia with experiences in Canadian teaching hospitals from 1959 to 1969. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1971;18:5–17.
- Selander D, Edshage S, Wolff T. Paresthesiae or no paresthesiae? Nerve lesions after axillary blocks. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1979;23:27–33.
- 117. Dahlgren N, Tornebrandt K. Neurological complications after anaesthesia. A follow-up of 18,000 spinal and epidural anaesthetics performed over three years. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1995;39:872–80.

- 118. Paech MJ, Godkin R, Webster S. Complications of obstetric epidural analgesia and anaesthesia: a prospective analysis of 10,995 cases. Int J Obstet Anesth. 1998;7:5–11.
- 119. Holdcroft A, Gibberd FB, Hargrove RL, et al. Neurological complications associated with pregnancy. Br J Anaesth. 1995;75:522–6.
- 120. Phillips JM, Stedeford JC, Hartsilver E, Roberts C. Epidural abscess complicating insertion of epidural catheters. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89:778–82.
- 121. Gogarten W, Van Aken H, Büttner J, Riess H, Wulf H, Buerkle H. Regional anaesthesia and thromboembolism prophylaxis/anticoagulation. Anaesth Intensivmed. 1997;38:623–8.
- 122. Anonymous. Belgian Guidelines concerning drug induced alterations of coagulation and central neuraxial anesthesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg. 2000;51:101–4.
- 123. Pfanner G, Koscielny J, Pernerstorfer T, Gütl M, Perger P, Fries D, et al. Austrian Society for Anaesthesia, Resuscitation and Intensive Care. Preoperative evaluation of the bleeding history. Recommendations of the working group on perioperative coagulation of the Austrian Society for Anaesthesia, Resuscitation and Intensive Care. Anaesthesist. 2007;56:604–11.



3

Cardiac Patients and Noncardiac Surgery: Pathophysiological Basis for Clinical Management

G. Frasacco and L. Tritapepe

3.1 Ischemic Heart Disease

In developed countries about 5-10% of patients eligible for surgical procedures have some degree of ischemic heart disease. They have an increased risk of perioperative acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and 30% of hospital mortality [1].

Usually it is a consequence of a "silent" myocardial ischemia (ischemia without typical symptoms of angina).

The strong association between postoperative silent ischemia and other cardiac adverse events defines the crucial role of anesthesia techniques used to minimize ischemia onset.

Ischemic heart disease is characterized by atherosclerosis plaques of the coronary arteries, resulting in narrowing of vessels and decreased coronary blood flow. Imbalance between myocardial oxygen supply and demand may occur during exercise, leading to precordial pain due to stress-related stable angina.

Unstable angina (pain at rest), silent ischemia, and myocardial infarction are due to plaque rupture, ulceration, or erosion with thrombus and coronary spasm [2].

Several factors in the perioperative period can result in perioperative myocardial infarction (PMI):

- High level of circulating epinephrine and other catecholamine after surgery, with tachycardia, coronary constriction, and increased platelet viscosity [3]
- High blood coagulation with increased risk of coronary thrombosis [1]

G. Frasacco

L. Tritapepe (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Policlinico Casilino Hospital, Rome, Italy

Sapienza University of Rome, Policlinico Umberto I Hospital, Rome, Italy e-mail: luigi.tritapepe@uniroma1.it

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_3

The risk of perioperative complications depends on predictive factors (patient's condition before surgery, comorbidities, etc.), functional capacity, and surgical risk [4].

Recent myocardial infarction, unstable angina, untreated heart failure, severe arrhythmias, and severe valvular disease are predictors of high perioperative risk.

Intermediate-risk values are stable angina, history of AMI, heart failure under treatment, and diabetes. Low-risk predictors are old age, ECG abnormalities, cerebral ischemic stroke, and uncontrolled hypertension.

Determination of functional capacity is a pivotal step in preoperative cardiac risk assessment, and it should be performed with cardiopulmonary test. Without testing, functional capacity is estimated in metabolic equivalents (METs). One MET is metabolic demand at rest. High-risk patients have poor functional capacity (e.g., inability to climb two flights of stairs or run a short distance, <4 METs) and increased incidence of postoperative cardiac events [4].

The Lee index score [5] predicts the risk of postoperative myocardial infarction and mortality, according to six variables (type of surgery, history of IHD, history of heart failure, history of cerebrovascular disease, preoperative treatment with insulin, and preoperative creatinine >2 mg/dL).

Surgical factors that influence cardiac risk are related to the urgency, invasiveness, type, and duration of the procedure. With regard to cardiac risk, surgical interventions (open or endovascular procedures) can be broadly divided into lowrisk, intermediate-risk, and high-risk groups, with estimated 30-day cardiac event rates (cardiac death and myocardial infarction) of <1%, 1-5%, and >5%, respectively.

3.1.1 Anesthetic Management

Anesthetic challenge is to guarantee an adequate balance between oxygen delivery and demand to myocardial tissue. Increased heart rate, afterload, or preload with a consequent increasing in cardiac work is associated with high myocardial oxygen consumption, and it must be avoided [6] (Table 3.1). Several factors can reduce oxygen delivery, low hematocrit value, preoperative anemia, low oxygen saturation, coronary thrombosis, and vasoconstriction. Every surgical operation elicits a stress

Oxygen supply	Oxygen demand
Heart rate	Heart rate
– Diastolic period	
Coronary perfusion pressure	Transmural ventricular pressure
– Arterial diastolic aortic pressure	– Preload
– End-diastolic ventricular pressure	– Afterload
Arterial oxygen content	Contractility
– Partial arterial pressure of oxygen	
- Hemoglobin concentration	

Table 3.1 Factors determining the oxygen supply/demand

response and may cause an oxygen mismatch, with myocardial ischemia, even without severe coronary lesions. Fluid shift, acute anemia, changes in preload and afterload and heart rate, and activation of neuroendocrine and inflammatory systems caused by surgical stress increase oxygen consumption [6]. In this setting it's crucial to gain an adequate level of anesthesia, avoiding hemodynamic instability or low systemic arterial pressure (which will lead to low coronary perfusion pressure). Anyway, the majority of ischemic events during surgical operation are not related to hemodynamic variations. Other causes are vasoconstriction and coronary thrombosis.

In high-risk patients, intra- and postoperative hemodynamic monitoring is necessary, with increasing level of invasiveness (transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) or Swan-Ganz catheter) [7].

There is conflicting evidence, over whether a specific anesthetic technique is superior to another one, in reducing perioperative mortality in patients with cardiac disease.

Clinical trials comparing outcomes among regional and general anesthetic techniques have shown some evidence of improved outcome and reduced postoperative morbidity with regional anesthesia. Benefits of regional anesthesia are best neuroendocrine stress response control, reduced incidence of postoperative thromboembolic events, and cardiac (coronary thrombosis) and pulmonary complications (respiratory failure).

Other clinical trials have shown that neuroaxial and regional techniques reduce sympathetic tone, leading to reduction in afterload (reduced myocardial oxygen consumption) and in venous return due to increased compliance of the venous system, vasodilatation, and finally decrease in blood pressure (reduced coronary perfusion). So in patients with ischemic heart disease and good left ventricular function, performing regional or neuroaxial anesthesia may have benefic effects [6].

Patients with left ventricular dysfunction may not tolerate hemodynamic changes due to sympathetic blockade, and they may be advantaged by general anesthesia with selected drugs (less impact with cardiac function). Balanced anesthesia with opioids seems to be the best choice in these patients. Volatile agents used for general anesthesia have myocardial protective effects, and they may prevent perioperative myocardial infarction.

According to guidelines, perioperative continuation of beta-blockers is recommended, and preoperative initiation of beta-blockers may be considered in selected patients [4].

3.2 Valvular Heart Disease

Patients with valvular heart disease (VHD) are increasing in number, considering the aging population with more than 13% of mild/severe valvulopathies in elderly [8].

Hemodynamic instability is common in these patients, and hemodynamic management is crucial and really complex (Table 3.2).

	MVS	MVI	AVS	AVR
Preload	↑↓	1	↑↓	1
Afterload	=	Ļ	=	Ļ
HR	60–70 bpm	90–100 bpm	60–70 bpm	90 bpm
SVR	Keep	Reduce	Keep	Reduce
PVR	Reduce	Reduce	=	=
Rhythm	Sinus, absolutely	AF tolerated	Sinus, absolutely	AF tolerated
Inotropes	Inodilators	Inodilators	Norepinephrine	Inodilators

Table 3.2 Management of hemodynamics in valvulopathies

MVS mitral valve stenosis, *MVI* mitral valve insufficiency, *AVS* aortic valve stenosis, *AVR* aortic valve insufficiency, *HR* heart rate, *SVR* systemic vascular resistance, *PVR* pulmonary vascular resistance

Beyond general indications to guarantee a hemodynamic stability, it is essential to understand the pathophysiology of every single valvular disease and to consider that different valvular dysfunction may be present in the same patient.

Echocardiography should be performed on any patient with known or suspected VHD scheduled for noncardiac surgery, in order to assess the severity of the valvular defect and its hemodynamic consequences, during preoperative evaluation.

3.2.1 Aortic Valve Stenosis

Aortic valve stenosis (AVS) is the most common VHD in Europe. Acquired aortic stenosis is due to an idiopathic calcific degeneration of the aortic valve. The major risk factors are atherosclerosis complicated by inflammatory phenomena. The incidence of AVS increases with age, due to mechanical stress factor and other comorbidities like hypertension, diabetes, smoke, and hypercholesterolemia.

The incidence is 2–4% in the older population (>65 age) but is probably underestimated [9].

Bicuspid aortic valve is the most common congenital cardiac abnormality, affecting approximately 1–2% of the general population. Patients are asymptomatic till the valve opening guarantees an adequate blood flow; subsequently the continuous and repeated abnormal opening and closing of the aortic cusps leads to valve degeneration and leaflets calcification. So elderly patients may present with valve stenosis and or insufficiency (aortic valve regurgitation or AVR) [10].

In developing countries especially in the last decades, as a consequence of migration phenomenon, also in Europe, there are new cases of rheumatic valve degeneration which cause AVS and AVR.

Severe aortic stenosis constitutes a well-established risk factor for sudden irreversible death despite cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

The suspicion of aortic stenosis from symptoms and physical examination, has to be confirmed by echocardiography evaluation.

Aortic valve stenosis signs and symptoms generally develop when narrowing of the valve is severe. Some patients with aortic valve stenosis may not experience symptoms for many years. Signs and symptoms of aortic valve stenosis may include heart murmur (systolic murmur extended to the neck vessels), angina, and tightness or shortness of breath, especially during activity. The heart-weakening effects of aortic valve stenosis may lead to heart failure and syncope. Echocardiography evaluation is crucial for diagnosis and stenosis quantification. It allows to measure the valve area (normal value 3-4 cm²) [11]. Severe aortic stenosis is defined according to an integrative approach taking into account valve area (<1.0 cm^2 or 0.6 cm^2/m^2 body surface area, except in obese patients) and flow-dependent indices (maximum jet velocity 4 m/s and mean aortic pressure gradient \geq 40 mmHg). Pathophysiology of aortic stenosis is characterized by left systolic ventricular flow obstruction with increased wall stress, which chronically leads to pressure overload and concentric ventricular hypertrophy. Left ventricle produces a high-pressure peak for the increased transvalvular gradient, with a reduction in wall stress thanks to the myocardial concentric hypertrophy. Naturally it leads to a diastolic dysfunction with a consequent increasing in ventricular end-diastolic pressure, which is the preamble for a subendocardial ischemia. Reduction in ejection fraction is due to reduction in

myocardial contractility. Myocardial dysfunction and loss of myocardial contractility determine a reduction of ejection fraction, which implies a complex estimation of the severity of aortic stenosis (reduction in valve flow gradient named "lowgradient aortic stenosis").

3.2.1.1 Anesthetic Management

Complications after noncardiac surgery depend on patient-related risk factors (degree of stenosis, ischemic heart failure, etc.), on the type of surgery, and on the circumstances under which it takes place. Moreover, cardiopulmonary resuscitation may not provide an adequate cardiac output in patients with severe aortic stenosis. Aortic stenosis implies for anesthetists a complex management and an accurate patient monitoring to avoid hemodynamic instability or variation in volume status, heart rate, and vascular tone, despite the anesthetic technique [12].

For clinical assessment it is crucial to avoid arrhythmias and to guarantee heart sinus rhythm. In patients with diastolic dysfunction, atrial stroke is essential in maintaining cardiac output. In fact atrial fibrillation leads to the loss of atrial systole with consequent severe hypotension (low cardiac output). In this situation with low cardiac output and hemodynamic instability, clinicians have to quickly perform an electrical cardioversion, also in the preoperative time, to get a hemodynamic stability.

Heart rate variations have to be avoided, also in sinus rhythm. Bradycardia can cause collapse in cardiac output (loss of stroke volume). On the other hand, tachycardia can lead to an increased cardiac stress and work, especially in a hypertrophic heart (as a consequence of stenosis) where discrepancies between oxygen delivery and demand may worsen coronary blood flow. Optimization of fluid load is mandatory. Preload must be increased because of the diastolic dysfunction [13].

Peripheral vascular tone and afterload have to be high, avoiding hypotension and vasodilatation. In case of low arterial pressure and low coronary perfusion pressure,

vasopressors as norepinephrine may help in maintaining vascular tone and cardiac contractility.

Anesthetic management is aimed at ensuring the best compromise between depth of sedation or type of locoregional blockade (avoiding bradycardia or tachycardia) and the management of vascular tone and fluid load to avoid vasoplegia and reduction in preload.

Neuroaxial anesthesia may be contraindicated unless constant maintenance of an adequate afterload is performed [13].

In this setting hemodynamic monitoring is mandatory: heart rate, ECG, oxygen saturation, and invasive blood pressure. In high-risk surgery, continuous central venous pressure (CVP) monitoring or semi-invasive/invasive cardiac output monitoring system may help in the volemic status and cardiac assessment. Intraoperative echocardiography [11], when available, is the most comprehensive monitoring system, which allows to evaluate cardiac contractility and output, heart filling volume, diastolic and systolic function, and volemic status.

In symptomatic patients, aortic valve replacement should be considered before elective surgery. In patients at high risk or with contraindication for aortic valve replacement, balloon aortic valvuloplasty, or, preferably, transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) may be a reasonable therapeutic option before surgery. Neuroaxial anesthesia (spinal or epidural anesthesia) can be tolerated in the moderate aortic stenosis (especially in asymptomatic patients), but it's not recommended in severe AS, because of the reduction in preload and afterload due to sympathectomy which could lead to a severe hypotension and reduction in coronary perfusion.

3.2.2 Aortic Valve Regurgitation

Aortic valve regurgitation (AVR) depends on an incomplete closure of valve cusps with a regurgitation of an amount of blood in the left ventricle during diastole [12].

Aortic regurgitation can be divided into severe and acute forms due to endocarditis or aortic dissection and chronic regurgitation ones, with a better prognosis. In this last form, regurgitation is due to incompetence of the aortic valve or any defect of the valvular apparatus (leaflets, annulus) for congenital causes, connective degeneration, inflammatory or rheumatic diseases, and annular dilatation (due to aging and hypertension). Coaptation defect allows blood regurgitation to increase the left ventricular end-diastolic pressure [14]. Chronic volume overload leads to a ventricular remodeling with eccentric hypertrophy and dilatation. For this reason, patients may be asymptomatic for many years, till severe regurgitation causes heart failure with fatigue, dyspnea, orthopnea, and nocturnal paroxysms. Reduced diastolic pressure causes angina also without coronary lesions. Stroke volume is increased from low peripheral vascular resistances, so EF% is normal. With the worsening of the ventricular dilatation and the ventricular remodeling, cardiac output fails, with hypotension, increased sympathetic tone, and severity of regurgitation [14]. Echocardiography is the key examination in the diagnosis and quantification of AVR severity, using color Doppler and pulsed-wave Doppler. Echocardiography is also important to evaluate regurgitation mechanisms, describe valve anatomy, and determine the feasibility of valve repair [15].

AR may be mild (regurgitation volume <20%), moderate (volume 20–39%), and severe (volume 40–60%). Entity of regurgitation is due to diastole duration too.

3.2.2.1 Anesthetic Management

In the anesthetic management, the aim is to gain a heart rate of about 90 bpm to shorten the diastolic time and the consequent regurgitation fraction [6]. Mild tachycardia in fact allows to increase diastolic arterial pressure and to reduce enddiastolic left ventricle pressure, with optimization of myocardial perfusion. Drugs reducing heart rate have to be avoided. Sinus rhythm is desirable, but unlike the aortic stenosis, tachyarrhythmia is well tolerated. Preload has to be increased and adequate to the dilated ventricular chamber; reduction in afterload is crucial to allow the antegrade flow through the valve and to avoid regurgitation [6]. Myocardial contractility must be preserved, optimizing the vasodilatation and avoiding the reduction in preload.

Vasoconstrictor drugs increase the afterload with consequent worsening in valve regurgitation and ventricular dilatation. In case of the necessity of inotropic drugs, it's better to choose an inodilator as levosimendan or milrinone, instead of dobutamine. Locoregional anesthesia (subarachnoid or epidural) can certainly represent technique of choice, provided that adequate intravascular volume is maintained.

3.2.3 Mitral Valve Stenosis

Rheumatic fever is the predominant etiology of mitral valve stenosis (MVS), and it has greatly decreased in Europe in the last decades; nevertheless, migration has led to new rheumatic disease cases.

Mitral valve area is about $4-5 \text{ cm}^2$. Moderate reduction in area (<2.5 cm²) causes symptoms as dyspnea getting worse with exercise, anemia, pregnancy, and fever (need to increase the cardiac output) [16].

The severity of the mitral stenosis is defined by the valve area: mild (valve area $2.5-1.5 \text{ cm}^2$), moderate ($1.5-1 \text{ cm}^2$), and severe (< 1.0 cm^2).

The diagnosis is usually established by echocardiography and cardiac catheterization. Valve area should be measured using planimetry and the pressure halftime method, which are complementary. Echocardiography also evaluates pulmonary artery pressures, concomitant valve disease, and left atrium (LA) size. In fact the obstruction of the mitral flow determines an increase in left atrial pressure with enlargement of the atrium, risk of atrial fibrillation, and auricular thrombus.

In case of atrial fibrillation, patients need anticoagulation therapy with vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) or non-VKA direct oral anticoagulants (NOACs) or heparin

and rhythm control medications or cardioversion (in rapid-onset fibrillation and hemodynamic instability). Transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) should be performed to exclude LA auricular thrombus before cardioversion or after an embolic episode.

High atrial pressure causes increase in pulmonary pressure with vessels remodeling and postcapillary pulmonary hypertension, consequent enlargement, and hypertrophy of the right ventricle [17].

Slowing in diastolic ventricular filling determines low pressure and low enddiastolic ventricular volume (with reduction in stroke volume). Stroke volume is reduced, especially in case of increased heart rate. Contractility can be maintained, but it is often depressed due to structural alterations of the ventricle and the subvalvular apparatus with a reduction in the compliance of the left ventricle and subsequent diastolic dysfunction. The septal shift for enlargement of the right ventricle also contributes to diastolic dysfunction.

3.2.3.1 Anesthetic Management

The pathophysiology of the SVM involves the control of cardiac rhythm, preload, left ventricular contractile function, and pulmonary hypertension. It is essential to avoid tachycardia (tachyarrhythmia in many cases) because, reducing the diastolic time irreversibly, it compromises ventricular filling. The acute increase in the transvalvular gradient should also be avoided, avoiding the increase of sympathetic tone [5, 6]. Where possible sinus rhythm should be preserved and maintained, favoring the atrial contribution to the determinism of cardiac output. In the case of atrial fibrillation, rhythm control (digital, beta-blockers, even short-acting amiodarone) must be absolutely guaranteed.

An adequate preload must be guaranteed to maintain the trans-stenotic flow; therefore, it must pay attention to the vasodilatation due to anesthetics. However, optimizing the preload involves the risk of further increase in left atrial pressure and the development of pulmonary edema. The excessive reduction of the afterload is not particularly advantageous anyway. Despite normal peripheral vascular resistances and contractility in most patients, it is possible that the empty/unloaded left ventricle develops systolic and diastolic dysfunction. In these patients, it is crucial to monitor pulmonary hypertension, hypoxemia, acidosis, hypercapnia, and the use of nitrous oxide must be avoided [17]. It is also necessary to predict the increase in bleeding linked to anticoagulation. Avoid excessive premedication that compromise ventilation: even mild hypercapnia precipitates hemodynamic stability. Patient with SVM requires monitoring of invasive blood pressure, CVP, and intraoperative echocardiographic monitoring. In high-risk surgeries, monitoring of cardiac output and pulmonary arterial pressure with the Swan-Ganz catheter is recommended, given the simultaneous presence of right ventricular dysfunction. It is essential to avoid hypoxemia and hypercapnia, to maintain optimal acid-base balance, and to reduce pulmonary hypertension with vasodilators, inodilators, and nitric oxide. Locoregional techniques can be poorly tolerated for their effects on systemic vascular resistance; epidural anesthesia is preferable to the subarachnoid one for the most gradual appearances of the sympathetic block.

3.2.4 Mitral Valve Insufficiency

Mitral valve insufficiency (MVI) is a very common valvular disease. It is determined both by changes in the valve and in the subvalvular apparatus including the anomalous remodeling of the left ventricle which leads to pathological valvular coaptation. Mitral valve abnormalities include prolapse, myxomatosis degeneration, rheumatism insufficiency, mitral cleft, and infiltrative/degenerative processes. Functional MVI accounts for about 10-20% of patients with ishemic heart disease [18]. In these patients, morphology of the mitral valve is normal. In conclusion, there are two categories of patients with MVI: those with myxomatous valve degeneration (cordial rupture, cord lengthening, prolapse, flail) and those with ischemic MI (from myocardial ischemia). Valvular regurgitation depends on the regurgitation orifice, the ventricle-atrial pressure gradient, and the duration of the systolic time [18]. Symptoms of chronic MVI range from fatigue and palpitations to heart failure. Echocardiography is essential for the diagnosis and stratification of the degree of mitral insufficiency, but diagnosis, as well as clinical presentation, can also be performed by cardiac catheterization. MVI is defined by the percentage of regurgitation compared to stroke volume as mild (<30%), moderate (30-39%), and severe (40-60%) [8]. The Doppler mode on pulmonary veins helps in quantifying the severity of the MVI. Systolic regurgitation increases pressure and volume of the left atrium, but increase of the pressure is gradual and limited in relation to chronic dilation of the left atrium. Left atrium enlargement determines atrial fibrillation that further alters atrium compliance and leads to pulmonary hypertension [19]. As with MVS, a slower pressure balance is achieved in the small circle with pulmonary hypertension and consequent right ventricular dysfunction. The pathophysiology of MVI is linked to the pressure and volume increase of the atrium and left ventricle. This causes a chronic dilatation of the left ventricle with mild eccentric hypertrophy without increase in ventricular thickness. Stroke volume is guaranteed for a long time, thanks to the reduction of afterload determined by the MVI. Stroke volume begins to decrease as a consequence of the degree of regurgitation which increases the dilatation of the left ventricle itself. The percentage of ejection fraction (EF%) may also be normal considering the amount of regurgitation, but the reduction of EF% significantly compromises hemodynamic status and it requires cardiac surgery.

In patient undergoing high-risk surgery, in selected cases, percutaneous palliation procedure (MitraClip) can be used to reduce the degree of MVI.

Acute MVI from myocardial infarction (rupture of chordae or papillary muscle) or from endocarditis determines a condition of hemodynamics emergency due to the impossibility of atrial adaptation and acute development of pulmonary edema. Usually these patients can be in cardiogenic shock requiring treatment with inotropes, NIV, IABP, and often urgent cardiac surgery.

3.2.4.1 Anesthetic Management

Management of patients with MVI requires maintenance of anterograde stroke volume, with a heart rate between 80 and 100 bpm, which reduces the time of systole

and the amount of regurgitation. Bradycardia can be deleterious because it increases the duration of systole and therefore the regurgitation but also the diastolic time and therefore the overload of the left ventricle. Sinus rhythm should be maintained, but atrial fibrillation is tolerated [3]. Less tolerated are the alterations in preload and afterload due to the effect of anesthesia that can lead to an aggravation of the MVI. As an indication, the slight reduction of the afterload associated with an increase of the preload determines an optimization of the hemodynamics. So an adequate anesthesia depth, a moderate vasodilation, even with inodilators, determines an increase in cardiac output. It is fundamental to avoid hypertension and hypertensive crises which may get MVI worsen [6]. Usually cardiac contractility is maintained, but contractility does not correlate with FE% for the regurgitation quota. In case of hypotension, heart rate (increased) and preload should be improved, absolutely avoiding vasoconstrictor drugs. In case of low EF% and reduced cardiac output, inodilators and inotropes such as dobutamine should be used. Increases in pulmonary arterial pressure should also be avoided. Locoregional techniques are well tolerated, if heart rate control is always monitored.

3.2.5 Antibiotic Prophylaxis of Bacterial Endocarditis

Recommendation for antibiotic prophylaxis in patients with valvular heart disease is complex. Recent guidelines classify different conditions of heart disease by referring to the probability of contracting endocarditis as a secondary effect in high-, moderate-, and low-risk patient groups. Subjects with congenital heart disease, acquired valvulopathies, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and mitral prolapse with a regurgitation murmur are included in the moderate-risk group, and they require perioperative antibiotic therapy based on the type, location, and severity of the surgical intervention. In general, antibiotic prophylaxis against *Streptococcus viridans* is necessary for dental, oral, and respiratory tract surgery, while antibiotic prophylaxis toward *Enterococcus faecalis* is indicated for genitourinary and gastrointestinal surgery. Adequate antibiotic therapy must be started before the beginning of surgery.

3.3 Heart Failure

Heart failure is the inability of the heart to pump enough blood to satisfy tissue requests. It occurs in a high percentage of the population, with an increase of 10% in the group over 75 years old, and it is associated with an increase in mortality after anesthesia. Ischemic heart disease is the most common cause. Other causes include hypertension, valvular heart disease, and cardiomyopathies. One third of surgical patients with an ejection fraction of less than 30% die within a year [7].

Cardiac output is lower in heart failure because the systolic output decreases for the same end-diastolic volume of the left ventricle compared to a normal heart. Because of the decompensated heart has a limited ability to increase the systolic volume, the only response to increased preload is an increase in heart rate, which can cause ischemia. Furthermore, high end-diastolic ventricular pressure hinders blood flow to the endocardium.

In decompensated heart, cardiac output is reduced, and it collapses if the ventricular end-diastolic volume rises to high levels, as in the overload status of heart failure [6].

The goal is to evaluate the severity of the disease and the myocardial contractility. Limited exercise tolerance, orthopnea, and paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea are indicators of severity. Pharmacological treatments may include ACE inhibitors, diuretics, and nitrates. In some patients with mild or moderate heart failure, cardioselective beta-blockers can be used in an attempt to control heart rate, but the risk is that they can depress sympathetic nerve activity that guarantees myocardial contractility in the decompensated heart. Useful instrumental investigations are ECG (to search ischemia sign), chest radiography, and especially echocardiogram to evaluate the ejection fraction. EF is the percentage of the end-diastolic blood volume ejected from the left ventricle during systole, and values below 30% are index of severe heart failure.

3.3.1 Anesthetic Management

"Safe" anesthesia for patient with heart failure does not exist, but in any case, an optimal conduct is to optimize ventricular filling, keeping in mind that preload can be reduced by the use of diuretics and nitrates. Arterial and central venous blood pressure should be monitored, and sometimes pulmonary arterial pressure should also be monitored. It is advisable to monitor the cardiac output to highlight silent periods of low flow and consequent occult tissue hypoxia. If available, transesophageal echocardiography is a useful tool for visualizing and monitoring overall cardiac performance.

Heart rhythm should be maintained as arrhythmic changes may compromise cardiac output (systolic and diastolic dysfunctions). Especially in advanced diastolic dysfunction (restrictive form), loss of sinus rhythm can lead to fatal episodes, and immediate electrical cardioversion should be performed. Many patients already have an implantable defibrillator and biventricular pacing that needs to be optimized before surgery. However, the heart rate should be maintained in the 80–90 bpm range, as the cardiac output may solely depend on the heart rate.

Proper cardiac contractility must be maintained; in particular, the use of inotropes may be necessary to counteract the cardio-depressive action of anesthetic agents. Reduction of the afterload due to vasodilatation, for example, as a secondary effect of spinal or epidural anesthesia, can have positive effects, as it does not only reduce myocardial work but also help to maintain the cardiac output [6]. However, the benefit of such actions can be limited by falls in blood pressure which can compromise the blood flow to vital organs such as the brain and kidney. Particular attention should be paid to preoperative therapy with ACE inhibitors, which may result in a massive vasodilation induced by severe vasoplegic action of the anesthetic drugs, difficult to treat [20].

Patients with heart failure should follow a protocol of hemodynamic optimization (optimization of DO_2) intraoperatively and especially in the postoperative time in intensive care where, in addition to arrhythmias monitoring, hemodynamic monitoring and optimization must be continued to ensure better outcomes.

References

- 1. Akhtar S, Silverman D. Assessment and management of patients with ischemic heart disease. Crit Care Med. 2004;32(4 Suppl):S126–36.
- Chassot P-G, Delabays A, Spahn DR. Preoperative evaluation of patients with, or at risk of, coronary artery disease undergoing non-cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89:747–59.
- 3. Karthikeyan G, Bhargava B. Managing patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery. Heart. 2006;92:17–20.
- 4. Kristensen SD, et al. 2014 ESC/ESA Guidelines on non-cardiac surgery: cardiovascular assessment and management: The Joint Task Force on non-cardiac surgery: cardiovascular assessment and management of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA). Eur Heart J. 2014;35(35):2383–431.
- 5. Lee TH, et al. Derivation and prospective validation of a simple index for prediction of cardiac risk of major noncardiac surgery. Circulation. 1999;100:1043–9.
- Konstadt S. Anesthesia for non-cardiac surgery in the patient with cardiac disease. Can J Anesth. 2005;52(Suppl. 1):R7.
- Stoelting RK, Dierdorf SF. Anesthesia and co-existing disease. 4th ed. New York, NY: Churchill Livingstone; 2002. p. 105–16.
- ACC/AHA. Guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease. JACC. 2006;48:1–148.
- 9. Supino PG, Borer JS, Preibisz J, Bornstein A. The epidemiology of valvular heart disease: growing public health problem. Heart Fail Clin. 2006;2:379–93.
- Kertai MD, et al. Aortic stenosis: an underestimated risk factor for perioperative complications in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. Am J Med. 2004;116:8–13.
- 11. Mochizuki Y, Pandian NG. Role of echocardiography in the diagnosis and treatment of patients with aortic stenosis. Curr Opin Cardiol. 2003;18:327–33.
- Mittnacht AJ, Fanshawe M, Konstadt S. Anesthetic considerations in the patient with valvular heart disease for non cardiac surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2008;12(1):33–59.
- 13. Christ M, Sharkova Y, Gelener G, Maisch B. Preoperative and perioperative care for patients with suspected or established aortic stenosis facing noncardiac surgery. Chest. 2005;128:2944–53.
- 14. Bekeredjian R, Grayburn PA. Valvular heart disease: aortic regurgitation. Circulation. 2005;112:125–34.
- 15. Zoghbi WA, Enriquez-Sarano M, Foster E, Grayburn PA, Kraft CD, Levine RA, Nihoyannopoulos P, Otto CM, Quinones MA, Rakowski H, Stewart WJ, Waggoner A, Weissman NJ, American Society of Echocardiography. Recommendations for evaluation of the severity of native valvular regurgitation with two-dimensional and Doppler echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2003;16:777–802.
- Messika-Zeitoun D, Lung B, Brochet E, Himbert D, Serfaty JM, Laissy JP, Vahanian A. Evaluation of mitral stenosis in 2008. Arch Cardiovasc Dis. 2008;101:653–63.
- 17. Klein AJ, Carroll JD. Left ventricular dysfunction and mitral stenosis. Heart Fail Clin. 2006;2:443–52.

- 18. Carabello BA. The current therapy for mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52:319–26.
- Ramakrishna G, Sprung J, Ravi BS, et al. Impact of pulmonary hypertension on the outcomes of noncardiac surgery predictors of perioperative morbidity and mortality. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;45:1691–9.
- Behnia R, Molteni A, Igic R. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors: mechanisms of action and implications in anesthesia practice. Curr Pharm Des. 2003;9:763–76.

Check for updates

Postoperative Pain Management

Franco Cavaliere and Carlo Cavaliere

4.1 Postoperative Pain

Pain is the first of the consequences of the surgical intervention the patient feels. If not effectively controlled, pain influences the postoperative course of the patient, is remembered as a very negative experience, and can become chronic, causing algic syndromes, which may last for years. The importance of the theme is evidenced by the numerous guidelines on the subject published by prestigious scientific societies [1-3].

Postoperative pain originates from different mechanisms [4, 5]. The component caused directly by the surgical procedure is the result of multiple factors: the incision of the skin and the section of the tissues, the traction and compression exerted by the retractors, and the traumatisms suffered by myofascial structures, muscles, bones, tendons, joints, and ligaments. Not only the nerve section, but also the stretching due to the nearby sutures plays a particularly important role as a cause of neuropathic pain. Tissue inflammation that develops after the surgical trauma is a source of algogenic stimuli through the release of a series of mediators, including potassium and leukotrienes from damaged cells, serotonin from platelets, and bradykinin from endothelial cells. Then, there is the irritation of tissues and nerve structures due to compression or suction related to drainages and the presence of fluids and in particular blood in the pleural and peritoneal cavities. A final, important factor is the mixing of somatic and visceral pain and the involvement of the autonomic nervous system.

F. Cavaliere (🖂)

C. Cavaliere ENT Clinic, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

4

Department of Cardiovascular Sciences, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy e-mail: franco.cavaliere@policlinicogemelli.it

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_4

4.1.1 The Importance of Treating Postoperative Pain Adequately

Inadequate analgesia can lead to a long series of negative events. Pain is often accompanied by intense emotional and psychological components that condition the patient's degree of satisfaction and his judgment on the structure to which he has entrusted. Pain activates the autonomic nervous system and is responsible for a series of cardiocirculatory responses (tachycardia, hypertension) and respiratory responses (tachypnea, current volume reduction) that engage the functional reserves of the patient. The endocrine response includes the secretion of ACTH, cortisol, catecholamines, glucagon, thyroxine, and the activation of the renin-angiotensin system, while insulin secretion is inhibited. In general, catabolic reactions are stimulated and anabolic ones are inhibited [6].

Pain involves functional limitations to the movement that hinder the early mobilization of the patient and facilitate the establishment of deep vein thrombosis. In thoracic and abdominal interventions, the presence of pain limits the expansion of the thorax and the activity of the diaphragm, favoring the onset of pulmonary atelectasis, bronchopneumonia outbreaks, and hypoxemia refractory to oxygen therapy. The persistence of pain can delay the discharge of the patient, increasing the length of hospital stay and related costs. Finally, several evidences suggest that inadequate analgesia could facilitate pain chronicization.

Among the potential effects of postoperative antalgic treatment, a depression of the immune system, attributed mainly to opioids, has been reported, which may increase the risk of relapse in neoplastic patients [7, 8]. However, conclusive evidence on this point is still missing.

4.1.2 Chronic Pain as a Consequence of Surgical Procedures

Postoperative pain is defined as chronic when it is still present 3-6 months after surgery [4]. It is generally a neuropathic pain, which originates from nerve structures assigned to the transmission of painful stimuli, rather than from the persistence of algogenic stimuli. This type of pain often manifests itself with a burning sensation, which can be associated with a lack of sensitivity or hyperesthesia. Frequently, there are also hyperalgesia (increased perception of painful stimuli) and allodynia (painful perceptions caused by stimuli other than noxious). The pathogenesis is complex because central and peripheral nervous sensitization can coexist; often, there is an interaction between the immune and nervous systems. At the level of the posterior horns of the spinal cord, sensitization takes place due to the prolonged stimulation of the nerve fibers C, with release of molecules that amplifies the transmission of the painful stimuli that travel through fibers A [5]. These substances include substance P, the calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), and the excitatory amino acid glutamate and aspartate. Sensitization also involves a general activation of pain transmission pathways and a depression of the descending inhibitory pathways.

The incidence of chronic postsurgical pain is probably still underestimated and is variable in relation to age, sex, genetic predisposition, and the presence of pain in the preoperative period. The type of surgical procedure is naturally the main factor. The incidence is low after minor interventions, increases in the most invasive ones, and reaches very high values in some interventions as limb amputation (around 50-80%), mastectomy (20-40\%), and thoracotomy (30-50\%) [9]. Numerous data suggest that adequate analgesic treatment can prevent chronic postoperative pain [10]. In addition, it should be borne in mind that some drugs are particularly effective against neuropathic pain and perform a fundamental action for multimodal analgesia. Among these substances, we find magnesium, ketamine, clonidine, gabapentinoids, and antidepressants [11]. The effectiveness in preventing chronic pain of local analgesia (wound infiltration) or regional techniques with respect to systemic analgesia with opioids and analgesics has been the subject of a recent review by Cochrane [12]. The conclusions pointed out that, generally-speaking, the data collected so far are not yet sufficient to draw definitive conclusions because of the differences between the studies about surgical procedures taken into account and modalities of pain therapies used. However, available literature suggests that local or regional analgesia could avoid chronic postoperative pain in one patient out of every four after thoracotomy or mastectomy.

4.1.3 Pain Evaluation

The intensity of postoperative pain reported by different patients after the same surgical procedure is variable. In fact, the sensitivity to pain stimuli changes from individual to individual, is greater in young subjects than in the elderly, and increases in the presence of anxiety and strong emotional involvement. Pain intensity is greater when it overlaps with a painful symptomatology already present before the intervention, especially if it is a chronic pain in pharmacological treatment. Finally, the same intervention may involve different degrees of tissue trauma.

Pain is one of the vital parameters, and its entity must always be monitored, evaluating both the intensity at rest and during movement. In the postoperative period, adequate analgesia cannot be performed based solely on the type of surgery performed. The intensity of the pain varies from subject to subject and changes over time; therefore, analgesic administration should be titrated on the intensity of pain perceived by the patient and measured at regular intervals. For this purpose, the numerical scale (NRS, numeric rating scale), the visual scale (VAS, visual analogical scale), and the verbal scale (VRS, verbal rating scale) are easy-to-use and well-reproducible tools recommended by guidelines [1]. In patients unable to communicate, the Bieri scale can be used, in which levels of pain are expressed by six faces with different facial expressions [1]. Other scales, such as the Multidimensional Affect and Pain Survey (MAPS), the McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), and the Karnofsky Performance Status (KPS), are multidimensional; they ensure a more complete assessment of perceived pain at the price of a longer and more laborious application.

In Italy, the obligation to perform periodic pain assessments and to report the results in the medical record is enshrined in law [13]. Furthermore, the assessment of the patient's satisfaction level can be easily performed with the administration of a special questionnaire at the time of discharge. This practice prevents inadequate analgesic treatment from going unnoticed and helps to improve internal protocols.

4.2 Postoperative Analgesia

4.2.1 A Multimodal Approach

Each drug and analgesic technique currently available has limitations, and usually only the association of some of them allows obtaining adequate analgesia. In addition, each drug has side effects, often dose-dependent, such as the respiratory depression and increased incidence of postoperative vomiting and nausea (PONV) associated with the use of opioids. For this reason, a polypharmacological approach has undoubted advantages in terms of reducing the doses of individual analgesics and consequently their undesirable effects. This approach, called multimodal analgesia, is defined as the use, with the same route of administration or with different routes, of two or more analgesic drugs acting with different mechanisms [14].

Currently, therefore, postoperative analgesia is generally a multimodal analgesia, which combines multiple techniques (systemic and locoregional) and multiple drugs (opioids, NSAIDs, anti-COX2, paracetamol, local anesthetics, adjuvants) to achieve better results with less incidence of side effects. This approach not only reduces the doses and therefore the side effects of the drugs, but also allows to individualize the treatment based on the characteristics of the patient, the type of surgery, the degree of tissue inflammation, and the nature of pain (usually a mix of somatic, visceral, and neuropathic components). The use of regional anesthesia techniques allows, for example, the early mobilization of the patient at risk of respiratory complications. Applying the pyramidal scheme proposed by some authors, in mild pain we could foresee the use of NSAIDs, paracetamol, and anti-COX2, in association with local techniques such as wound infiltration; the addition of an opioid administered at regular intervals is suggested in moderate pain and the administration of an opioid by continuous infusion (by elastomers or patient-controlled analgesia) together with the use of nerve blocks, in intense pain [15].

4.2.2 Preemptive Vs Preventive Analgesia

The term preemptive analgesia means the administration of analgesic drugs already in the preoperative phase that precedes the surgical incision [16, 17]. For preventive analgesia, we mean instead the administration of analgesics before the end of general anesthesia, when anesthetic drugs are still active. Both of these techniques assume that sensitization of pain transmission circuits in response to algogenic stimuli occurs already in the intraoperative phase and can be prevented by administering analgesics by systemic route or by using local-regional anesthesia techniques. The administration of analgesics prior to surgical incision is particularly important in patients suffering from pain already before surgery.

In practice, techniques used to perform preventive analgesia include intravenous opioid and NSAID administration, epidural analgesia with local opioids and analgesics, nerve blocks, and infiltration of the surgical site with local anesthetics. Of particular interest is the administration of drugs effective against peripheral and central sensitization to pain, such as the inhibitors of NMDA receptors (ketamine, clonidine, and dextromethorphan), local anesthetics by intravenous infusion, and epidural prostigmine. The studies available in the literature did not point out significant differences about the efficacy of preemptive vs preventive analgesia and even of preventive vs postoperative analgesia. Pending further study, it should however be noted that the theoretical considerations underlying these techniques are absolutely reasonable and that their implementation does not involve any special risk for patients.

4.3 Systemic Analgesia

4.3.1 Opioids

Opioids are natural or synthetic molecules that share the property of binding to some receptors that modulate the transmission of pain. These receptors are divided into the three classes (mu, delta, and kappa), which differ from each other for the distribution in the different areas of the brain and spinal cord and for their functions, which are partly common. The activation of these receptors inhibits the excitation of neurons, through a reduction of the adenylyl cyclase activity and therefore of the levels of cyclic AMP.

The antalgic effect of opioids is complex and manifests itself both with an increase in the pain threshold and with a marked reduction in the emotionality associated with pain. The increase of threshold occurs partly due to the inhibition of the activity of the second-order projection neurons to which C fibers connect in the spinal cord. Further action is carried out on supraspinal GABAergic neurons, which exert the activity of inhibiting the descendant inhibitory serotoninergic neurons of the brainstem which, in turn, hinders the transmission of painful stimuli. By binding supraspinal GABAergic neurons, opioids inhibit them and allow the inhibitory action of serotonergic neurons on pain transmission to take place. The effects of opioids on the emotional component of pain are equally important and derive from the action on the limbic system.

Current-use opioid drugs include morphine, fentanyl, sufentanil, codeine, tramadol, methadone, buprenorphine, and hydromorphone. These drugs differ in their pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic aspects. Pharmacodynamics partly reflects the different affinity for the three classes of receptors. For example, morphine and fentanyl are strong agonists of mu receptors and weak agonists of delta and kappa receptors, while buprenorphine is a partial agonist of mu receptors on which, however, it also exerts an antagonist action. Tramadol and methadone are mu-receptor agonists but have other side effects that enhance the analgesic effect, represented, for example, by the inhibition of neuronal reuptake of norepinephrine and serotonin. Among the pharmacokinetic differences, particular importance has the degree of liposolubility that affects the speed with which the drug crosses the blood-brain barrier to reach the effector sites located inside the spinal cord and the brain. Morphine is characterized by relatively low liposolubility and therefore has a fairly long latency of action; the analgesic effect appears about 5 min after intravenous administration and reaches its maximum effect after about 30-60 min. Fentanyl, on the other hand, has greater liposolubility; after intravenous administration, the analgesic effect appears after approximately one minute. However, the short latency typical of more liposoluble opioids may increase the risk of complications. Indeed, the rapid passage through the blood-brain barrier leads to the achievement of higher peaks at the effector sites, which may favor the onset of severe respiratory depression.

The side effects of opioids are numerous. Respiratory depression is dosedependent and related to mu receptors; it is characterized by a reduction in the respiratory rate up to apnea, whereas a reduction in the current volume occurs at higher dosages. Sedation and dysphoria are other side effects of opioids together with an increased incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV). The paralytic ileus is a consequence of the stimulation of the mu and kappa receptors in the intestinal nerve plexus, which determines an increase in the basal tone of the intestinal musculature and of the sphincters. The slowing of recovery of intestinal function is one of the main reasons for which opioids are not recommended by the enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocols [18]. Another possible side effect is pruritus.

Morphine can be administered in 2 mg intravenous boluses to be repeated every 5–10 min until an adequate analgesic effect is achieved (VAS of three or less on a scale of one to ten), followed by a continuous infusion with elastomer or, better, by patient-controlled analgesia (PCA), programmed to deliver only boluses, without continuous infusion. A continuous infusion should be performed in a protected environment due to the risk of drug accumulation and consequent respiratory failure. On this regard, elderly people and patients with renal insufficiency are particularly at risk because the former has a greater sensitivity to morphine and the latter a greater risk of accumulation of morphine-6-glucuronide and morphine-3-glucuronide metabolites, which may cause respiratory depression.

Compared to morphine, *fentanyl* has 100 times higher potency, is much more liposoluble, and has short duration of action and no active metabolites. It is used intravenously and intrathecally.

Sufentanil is ten times more potent than fentanyl and can be used both intravenously, in protected environments, and by epidural route, in association with local anesthetics.

Codeine or *methylmorphine* is an opioid ten times less potent than morphine, often marketed in association with other nonnarcotic analgesics. Codeine is

metabolized by the hepatic CYP2D6 enzyme to morphine; the rate of the reaction varies according to different phenotypes present in the population. Pain relief may be inadequate in poor metabolizers, because the blood levels of morphine remain too low. On the other hand, in so-called ultrarapid metabolizers, the rate is so high that blood levels of morphine may increase enough to cause side effects, in particular respiratory failure. The prevalence of ultrarapid metabolizers varies in different ethnic groups and is particularly high in African populations, where it can reach about 30%; in those individuals, codeine should not be used, but morphine and NSAIDs are safe [19].

4.3.2 Paracetamol

Paracetamol or acetaminophen is an analgesic, antipyretic, and weak antiinflammatory drug [20]. Its mechanism of action has not yet been fully clarified and could be manifold. The sites of action are in the central nervous system, where this drug penetrates quickly, overcoming the blood-brain barrier due to its high liposolubility and low protein binding. Among the various pharmacological actions highlighted in vivo and in vitro, there is the inhibition of the enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX) with a higher affinity for COX-2, the stimulation of serotonergic descending pathways that inhibit the transmission of algogenic stimuli, and the increase in concentrations of endogenous cannabinoids. Paracetamol can be administered orally, rectally, and intravenously. Its precursor proparacetamol, which is rapidly metabolized to paracetamol, can also be given intravenously. The intravenous route offers the advantage of a lower latency (about 30 min less) and of a greater effectiveness due to the immediate absorption and the absence of the first-pass effect. The metabolism of paracetamol is hepatic and occurs through reactions of sulfation, glucuronidation, and oxidation. In the oxidative pathway, the main one, the drug is converted into the metabolite N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI), which is in turn transformed into some inactive metabolites that are eliminated with the urine after conjugation with intracellular glutathione. The accumulation of NAPQI can result in a toxic damage to the liver, even very serious, if the availability of glutathione is not adequate. This condition can occur both because of toxic dosage or because the intracellular glutathione deposits are depleted, as in the case of acute or chronic alcohol abuse. The dosage of intravenous paracetamol is 1 g every 4-6 h with a maximum of 4 g/day. In children over 2 years of age, adolescents, and adults weighing less than 50 kg, a dosage of 15 mg/kg every 4–6 h is suggested. In children younger than 2 years, dosage should not exceed 10 mg/kg every 4-6 h. The duration of the analgesic effect is about 4-6 h but may be longer in young children and in patients with renal insufficiency. Paracetamol administration is effective in reducing postoperative pain, opioid use, and the incidence of PONV. Apart from the risk of hepatotoxicity associated with the use of high dosages (over 4 g/day) in small subjects (body weight less than 50 kg), the side effects of paracetamol are quite rare and include arterial hypotension, thrombocytopenia, hypersensitivity reactions, and elevated plasma concentrations of liver enzymes.

4.3.3 NSAIDs

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have analgesic and antiinflammatory properties. They act by inhibiting the cyclooxygenase enzyme (COX) and then the production of prostaglandins, prostacyclins, and thromboxanes, compounds that all intervene in the pathogenesis of inflammation and in the generation of algogenic stimuli. NSAIDs are the most prescribed category of analgesic drugs; they are effective on moderate pain and, in association with opioid analgesics, on the control of severe pain. The NSAIDs most frequently used in the postoperative period are diclofenac, ketorolac, ibuprofen, indomethacin, piroxicam, tenoxicam, and lysine acetylsalicylate. The most frequent complications caused by their use is the alteration of platelet function with a consequent increase in the risk of postoperative hemorrhages and gastrointestinal bleeding; in addition, NSAIDs can cause acute renal failure and exacerbations of bronchial asthma, especially in atopic patients. These drugs inhibit COX isoforms 1 and 2. Therapeutic effects are mainly attributable to the inhibition of COX-2, the inducible isoform implicated in pathological processes such as inflammation and various cancer types, while toxicity is related to the inhibition of COX-1, the constitutive form. It is therefore possible to evaluate the safety level of each NSAID based on the relationship between the activity on COX-1 and COX-2, considering that drugs with a ratio lower than 1 carry a lower risk of side effects than those with a ratio above 1 [21].

4.3.4 Selective COX-2 Inhibitors

Selective COX-2 inhibitors include celecoxib, rofecoxib, valdecoxib, and parecoxib. The cyclooxygenase enzyme is present in the human body in two forms, the most widespread COX-1 and the COX-2, whose synthesis is activated by numerous pathological conditions, including inflammation. NSAIDs inhibit both forms of COX, and their side effects, in particular gastrointestinal bleeding, are partly caused by COX-1 inhibition. Selective anti-COX-2 drugs allow obtaining the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effect with a lower risk of gastrointestinal bleeding. Unfortunately, the reduction of side effects related to COX-2 inhibition alone is balanced by an increased risk of myocardial ischemic diseases, initially reported only in patients who were chronically taking these drugs. Currently, therefore, the use is contraindicated in patients with ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, congestive heart failure, and postoperative coronary artery bypass surgery. Besides, particular caution should be used in the treatment of hypertensive, diabetic, or hyperlipidemic subjects.

4.3.5 Adjuvants

Ketamine has antalgic properties but is also effective to prevent the occurrence of hyperalgesia following the administration of opioids [22]. This last action takes

place through binding to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors and requires minor concentrations compared to those necessary to use the drug as an anesthetic. Dosages are lower than 1.2 mg/kg/h and are usually preceded by a bolus of 1 mg/ kg. The majority of studies evaluating the effects of low-dose ketamine in the perioperative period agree on three points: the use of this drug leads to a significant reduction in opioid use, has a dubious or modest effect on the intensity of postoperative pain, and is characterized by substantial safety, even as regards the hallucinatory effects of the drug. Some studies suggest that ketamine could also reduce the risk of chronic postoperative pain.

Gabapentin and its derivative *pregabalin* are drugs effective on neuropathic pain [23]. Their use in the perioperative period has been proposed in order to prevent the painful component due to the traumatism of peripheral nerve endings and the consequent risk of central sensitization. The results of some studies suggest that, in addition to preventing the onset of chronic postoperative pain, these drugs could reduce preoperative anxiety, the hemodynamic response to laryngoscopy and tracheal intubation, the opioid requirement, the frequency of postoperative nausea and vomiting, and the incidence of postoperative delirium. Gabapentin and pregabalin are usually administered before the start of the operation; respective dosages are 75 and 1200 mg/day.

4.3.6 Drug Administration

Systemic analgesia can be administered in various ways. In particular, recurrent or continuous administration can be used, and the latter can take place according to the indications of the patient or can be directly managed by him or her, on the basis of the intensity of the perceived pain, within predefined limits. Interval administration is usually performed by intramuscular or subcutaneous injections. It has the advantage that a severe overdose is unlikely to occur, because the patient's condition is evaluated before each new administration of the analgesic. On the other hand, it is easier for the pain to be treated inadequately, especially in the final phase of the interval between two doses. Continuous administration usually takes place intravenously. The use of infusion devices (elastomers) provides a constant infusion rate, scheduled over 24 or 48 h. This type of infusion prevents the risk of inadequate analgesia prior to the next dose of the analgesic, as occurs in intermittent administration, but can promote the accumulation of the drug. This is particularly important in the case of drugs with a long and context-sensitive (i.e., dependent on the duration of the infusion) half-life, such as morphine or fentanyl, or with pharmacologically active metabolites, such as morphine-6-glucuronide that originates from morphine metabolism.

Patient controlled anesthesia (PCA) is a technique of intravenous (but also regional) administration by means of a sophisticated infusion pump that allows to set up or not an initial bolus and a constant rate of analgesic infusion and, characterizing aspect, allows the patient to get a bolus of analgesic by pressing a button. The doctor can program the volume of the delivered bolus, the maximum number of boluses in a given time frame, and the minimum time interval between two administrations. Data reported in the literature show that, compared to traditional intramuscular or intravenous administration, opioid infusion using PCA allows better control of pain and a higher degree of patient satisfaction, but does not affect the amount of opioids administered, the incidence of side effects, and the length of hospital stay [24, 25].

4.3.7 Individual Response to Drugs

The results of some studies indicate that both the intensity of postoperative pain sensation and the response to drugs and in particular to opioids are influenced by patients' genetic variability. The genetic variants of the μ receptor 115 G, which involves the substitution of an asparagine with an aspartate molecule, is particularly interesting on this regard. A recent meta-analysis on the postoperative pain in patients who carry this variant did not highlight significant influences on the level of perceived pain but a lower sensitivity to opioids, which results in a greater postoperative consumption and fewer side effects, in particular nausea and vomiting [26]. It is interesting to note that the distribution of this genetic variant has a geographical component, being present in 16% of Europeans and North Americans and 46.5% of Asians.

Individual genetic variations can influence the effects of analgesic drugs also by modifying their pharmacokinetics. In this case, most of the available data regards opioids and in particular the variants that affect the enzymes that are part of the cytochrome P450 group, responsible for the metabolism of many drugs and among these of the opioids. The most interesting data concern a functional protein, CYP2D6, the genetic variants of which make it possible to distinguish four types of individuals based on the rate of opioid metabolization. Poor (PM), intermediate (IM), extensive (EM) and ultrarapid (UM) metabolizers have been identified. As reported previously, in the case of codeine, a weak opioid that is metabolized to morphine by cytochrome P450, the analgesic efficacy of the drug is poor in PM subjects and high in EM subjects [27]. In the latter, the drug is most effective at the price of an accentuation of the side effects of morphine and in particular of the risk of respiratory depression. Similarly, tramadol, a weak opioid whose main metabolite *O*-desmethyltramadol is a more potent opioid than the original molecule, may be more effective in EM subjects and less in PM subjects.

4.4 Locoregional Analgesia

Locoregional analgesia plays a particularly important role in multimodal analgesia. During the operative phase, it can be used as the main analgesic technique or as an accessory one, also in the framework of preemptive analgesia. Some data reported in the literature suggest that, compared to general anesthesia, locoregional analgesia could provide advantages such as a marked reduction in systemic opioid demand; a lower incidence of delirium and a better and faster postoperative recovery have been reported, but at the moment there is no conclusive evidence [27, 28]. Finally, the results of some studies suggest that epidural analgesia could help prevent the chronicization of pain after thoracotomy and breast surgery in one out of four/five cases treated [12].

Neuraxial administration occurs by spinal or epidural route. The association of opioids and local anesthetics at low dosage allows preserving tactile and proprioceptive sensibility and muscle control, which are of great importance to early mobilization (e.g., by allowing the patient to ambulate). With respect to spinal administration, the epidural route requires larger doses (about ten times) because the drugs must reach the receptors located in the spinal cord, at the level of the gelatinous substance of Rolando by diffusion through the meninges. Furthermore, part of the injected drugs is absorbed into the bloodstream through the abundant venous plexuses present in the epidural space. Epidural administration is also characterized by a higher latency of the analgesic effect, which can be abbreviated with the use or addition of a fat-soluble opioid, such as fentanyl, or of local anesthetics such as bupivacaine. The addition of alpha-2-agonists such as clonidine or dexmedetomidine increases the intensity and extent of analgesia and prolongs its duration. Among the possible complications of the neuraxial techniques, there are respiratory depression, spinal and epidural hematomas, and infection. Respiratory depression that occurs shortly after the administration of the drug is usually caused by the spread of the drug into the blood and the attainment of toxic concentrations; later, the depression is generally due to the diffusion of the drug in the cerebrospinal fluid to the brainstem. Epidural hematomas can lead to irreversible damage to the spinal cord if not treated within a few hours from their formation. It is therefore necessary to check the mobility and sensitivity of the lower limbs periodically and, in suspicion, to perform a CT scan or a rachis MRI, followed by surgical decompression by laminectomy in the event that the clinical suspicion is confirmed.

The paravertebral block consists injecting a local anesthetic into the paravertebral space to block the roots of the spinal nerves after they exit the intervertebral foramen. It can be carried out with a single injection, but more frequently with repeated administration through a catheter positioned percutaneously under ultrasound guidance. It is used in thoracic, upper abdomen, and breast surgery and in rib fractures.

Intrapleural analgesia consists in the administration of local anesthetics in the pleural cavity in a single administration or repeatedly through a catheter. It is effective against pain associated with thoracotomy, thoracic drainage positioning, and surgery of the upper quadrants of the abdomen. It lasts for several hours and is contraindicated in the presence of hemothorax or pleural effusion, phlogosis, or fibrosis.

The transverse abdominis plane (TAP) block is the injection of a local anesthetic between the internal and transverse oblique muscles of the abdominal wall and is generally performed under ultrasound guidance. Indications include procedures of abdominal surgery, urology, and gynecology. Numerous studies have shown a significant saving in the dosage of opioids administered systemically with consequent reduction of their side effects. This type of blockade is contraindicated in the presence of abdominal wall infections.

Continuous nerve blocks are performed with ultrasound- or electrostimulationguided techniques and ensure a degree of analgesia comparable to that of neuraxial blocks but with a more limited extent. They also significantly reduce the need for systemic analgesics.

Intra-articular anesthesia is performed by injecting a local anesthetic or an opioid such as morphine into the joint cavity of the shoulder or knee.

The infiltration of the wound with long-acting local anesthetics can be performed by the surgeon at the time of closure and is effective in prolonging the time interval between the end of surgery and the first analgesic request. By placing a catheter, infiltration analgesia can be repeated several times; however, this second modality may have a limited effectiveness in reducing the further need for systemic analgesics.

4.5 Organizational Aspects

An efficient organizational structure is at the basis of a correct postoperative pain treatment [1-3]. The use of shared protocols is of fundamental importance. Theoretical instruction and practical training of the medical and nursing staff increase the knowledge of these protocols and improve their application. The 24-h availability of dedicated personnel is a very important aspect. The maximum efficiency of the system is probably achieved with the creation of an Acute Pain Service, i.e., a multidisciplinary team aimed at the treatment of pain that includes the anesthetist with the functions of coordinator and team leader, surgeons, nurses, physiotherapists, and other specialists. Systematic and regular assessment of pain intensity is a necessary condition for an effective treatment and can be performed by the nurses of the departments, provided they are adequately trained. Finally, the administration of questionnaires aimed at knowing the degree of satisfaction of patients at discharge, their opinions on the treatment received, and their possible suggestions is a useful feedback of the activity carried out.

Preoperative evaluation provides useful elements to program the techniques and drugs to be used to achieve effective postoperative analgesia. Also in this case, the training of the operators plays an essential role. The evaluation should consider:

• The characteristics of the patient, which include the personality, the state of anxiety, and the previous experiences, in particular those concerning earlier admissions to hospitals and surgical procedures. Coexisting diseases, such as chronic cardiocirculatory and respiratory diseases or a medical history positive for obstructive apnea syndrome (OSAS), should influence the choice of analgesic technique, for example, by limiting the use of opioids. The presence of pain in the preoperative period linked to the pathology to be treated or to chronic algic syndromes requires the administration of analgesics before the surgery and often an increase in the usual dosages. In the case of chronic opioid therapies, tables of

equivalence between various molecules are available to convert the chronic dosage of a drug into the equivalent dose of the opioid selected for postoperative analgesia; effective dosages result from the addition of the amount of analgesic that corresponds to chronic therapy plus the amount needed to control acute pain.

- The surgical procedure and the technique chosen to perform it.
- The prediction of the intensity and duration of postoperative pain and its tendency to become chronic.
- The possible implementation of ERAS programs, which may condition perioperative analgesia protocols [29]. Generally, these programs do not encourage the use of opioids, especially at high doses, due to the higher incidence of PONV and to the delays of the intestinal canalization, which in turn can slow down the restart of food intake. Conversely, the use of locoregional and neuraxial techniques is strongly recommended because they cause fewer side effects and favor the early mobilization of patients. Finally, the use of non-opioid analgesics (paracetamol, NSAIDs, anti-COX2) and various adjuvants, including ketamine, gabapentin and pregabalin, beta-blockers, alpha-2-agonists, and glucocorticoids is encouraged.

4.6 Conclusions

Postoperative pain is a symptom that can negatively affect the well-being of the patient both in the hours/days following surgery and, in the case of chronicization, in the following years.

Optimal treatment is based on multimodal analgesia and a multidisciplinary approach that should be coordinated by an anesthetist.

Efficient pain management requires the allocation of human and economic resources for the production of shared protocols, staff education and training, regular pain monitoring, and 24-h availability of a dedicated specialist.

References

- 1. Linee guida SIAARTI per il "Trattamento del dolore postoperatorio". http://www.siaarti.it/ Ricerca/Trattamento-del-dolore-postoperatorio.aspx.
- Chou R, Gordon DB, de Leon-Casasola OA, et al. Management of postoperative pain: a clinical practice guideline from the American Pain Society, the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists' Committee on Regional Anesthesia, Executive Committee, and Administrative Council. J Pain. 2016;17:131–57.
- American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Acute Pain Management. Practice guidelines for acute pain management in the perioperative setting: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Acute Pain Management. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:248–73.
- 4. Conacher ID. Pain relief after thoracotomy. Br J Anaesth. 1990;65:806-12.
- 5. Kolettas A, Lazaridis G, Baka S, et al. Postoperative pain management. J Thorac Dis. 2015;7:S62–72.
- 6. Tennant F. The physiologic effects of pain on the endocrine system. Pain Ther. 2013;2:75-86.
- 7. Kaye AD, Patel N, Bueno FR, et al. Effect of opiates, anesthetic techniques, and other perioperative factors on surgical cancer patients. Ochsner J. 2014;14:216–28.
- 8. Snyder GL, Greenberg S. Effect of anaesthetic technique and other perioperative factors on cancer recurrence. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105:106–15.
- Humble SR, Dalton AJ, Li L. A systematic review of therapeutic interventions to reduce acute and chronic post-surgical pain after amputation, thoracotomy or mastectomy. Eur J Pain. 2015;19:451–65.
- Amaya F, Hosokawa T, Okamoto A, et al. Can acute pain treatment reduce postsurgical comorbidity after breast cancer surgery? A literature review. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015, 641508
- 11. Carroll I, Hah J, Mackey S, et al. Perioperative interventions to reduce chronic postsurgical pain. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2013;29:213–22.
- 12. Andreae MH, Andreae DA. Regional anaesthesia to prevent chronic pain after surgery: a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Anaesthesia. 2013;111:711–20.
- Legge 15 marzo 2010, n. 38 concernente "Disposizioni per garantire l'accesso alle cure palliative e alla terapia del dolore" (Gazzetta Ufficiale n. 65 del 19 marzo 2010).
- Buvanendran A, Kroin JS. Multimodal analgesia for controlling acute postoperative pain. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2009;22:588–93.
- Crews JC. Multimodal pain management strategies for office-based and ambulatory procedures. JAMA. 2002;288:629–32.
- 16. Garimella V, Cellini C. Postoperative pain control. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2013;26:191-6.
- 17. Vadivelu N, Mitra S, Schermer E, Kodumudi V, Kaye AD, Urman RD. Preventive analgesia for postoperative pain control: a broader concept. Loc Reg Anesth. 2014;7:17–22.
- Hoffmann H, Kettelhack C. Fast-track surgery—conditions and challenges in postsurgical treatment: a review of elements of translational research in enhanced recovery after surgery. Surg Res. 2012;49:24–34.
- 19. Pattinson KTS. Opioids and the control of respiration. Br J Anaesth. 2008;100:747-58.
- Koh W, Nguyen KP, Jahr JS. Intravenous non-opioid analgesia for peri- and postoperative pain management: a scientific review of intravenous acetaminophen and ibuprofen. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2015;68:3–12.
- Warner TD, Giuliano F, Vojnovic I, Bukasa A, Mitchell JA, Vane JR. Nonsteroid drug selectivities for cyclo-oxygenase-1 rather than cyclooxygenase-2 are associated with human gastrointestinal toxicity: a full in vitro analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:7563–8.
- Jouguelet-Lacoste J, La Colla L, Schilling D, Chelly JE. The use of intravenous infusion or single dose of low-dose ketamine for postoperative analgesia: a review of the current literature. Pain Med. 2015;16:383–403.
- Mishriky BM, Waldronand NH, Habib AS. Impact of pregabalin on acute and persistent postoperative pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Anaesthesia. 2015;114:10–31.
- Ballantyne JC, Carr DB, Chalmers TC, Dear KB, Angelillo IF, Mosteller F. Postoperative patient-controlled analgesia: meta-analyses of initial randomized control trials. J Clin Anesth. 1993;5:182–93.
- Hudcova J, McNicol E, Quah C, Lau J, Carr DB. Patient controlled opioid analgesia versus conventional opioid analgesia for postoperative pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD003348.
- Ren ZY, Xu XQ, Bao YP, et al. The impact of genetic variation on sensitivity to opioid analgesics in patients with postoperative pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pain Physician. 2015;18:131–52.
- Dean L. Codeine therapy and *CYP2D6* genotype. In: Pratt V, McLeod H, Dean L, Malheiro A, Rubinstein W, editors. Medical genetics summaries [Internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information (US); 2012. [Updated 16 Mar 2017]. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK100662/.
- Hopkins PM. Does regional anaesthesia improve outcome? Br J Anaesth. 2015;115(Suppl 2):ii26–33.
- 29. Barreveld A, Witte J, Harkirat Chahal V, Durieux ME, Strichartz VG. Preventive analgesia by local anesthetics: the reduction of postoperative pain by peripheral nerve blocks and intravenous drugs. Anesth Analg. 2013;116:1141–61.



5

The New Oral Anticoagulants and Anesthesia

Davide Chiumello and Paolo Spanu

Oral anticoagulant therapy (OAT), which is used for the prevention and treatment of thromboembolic disease, has been performed in clinical practice, since before 2011, using dicumarolic drugs only.

The drugs that are used nowadays have anticoagulant action that results in the inhibition of the synthesis of vitamim K-dependent coagulation factors II, VII, IX, and X and the inhibition of anticoagulant proteins C and S [1].

The reduced thromboembolic risk is reported to be around 62% when the international normalized ratio (INR) range is between 2.0 and 3.0, with low hemorrhagic risk (<1%/year) [2, 3]. The risk is higher according to the SPAF II trial (1.8%/year) in patients older than 75 years [4].

Individual factors influence hemorrhagic and thromboembolic risk because of drug-variable kinetics: cytochrome P450 and CYP2C9 variants, body mass index (BMI), dietary vitamin K intake, pharmacologic interaction, and, finally, hepatic and thyroid function [1].

During treatment with warfarin, good control of INR in the therapeutic range is difficult to achieve and maintain because of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokynetic properties.

Jones and colleagues demonstrated, in a large English population cohort study, that a 10% increase in time spent outside of the INR range was associated with a 29% increased risk of mortality (odds ratio (OR) 1.29, p < 0.001), increased rate of hospitalization, risk of an ischemic stroke (OR 1.15, p = 0.006), and a 12% increase in all thromboembolic complications (OR 1.12, p < 0.001) [5].

D. Chiumello

P. Spanu (🖂)

Dipartimento di Scienze della Salute, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

SC Anestesia e Rianimazione, ASST Santi Paolo e Carlo, Milan, Italy e-mail: davide.chiumello@unimi.it

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_5

Patients treated with OAT for those reasons must undergo strict INR control and frequent change of weekly dosage.

The slow onset (3–6 days to reach the therapeutic range) and long half-life prompted research for the development of new agents. The new oral anticoagulants (NOACs) emerged with the advantages of being orally administered medications and possessing the advantages of low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH), which does not require routine monitoring and dose adjustment as required with warfarin or heparin.

The NOACs show a high therapeutic index, rapid onset of anticoagulant effects, low half-life, low interaction with drugs or food, and fixed daily dosage.

The management of patients in NOAC therapy for surgery or anesthesiology treatment is currently increasing. Understanding the NOACs is very important for the proper management of the risk of bleeding or thrombotic complications during the pre-intra-post periods of scheduled or unscheduled surgery.

5.1 Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Properties

The coagulation process through intrinsic or extrinsic activation determines the final transformation of fibrinogen into fibrin. The vitamin K antagonist (VKA) is an anticoagulant that lowers the level of vitamin K-dependent coagulation factor (prothrombin, VII, IX, X factors) and independent proteins (C, S, and Z).

The NOACs, in contrast, act by directly inhibiting selective anticoagulant factors: Xa and thrombin. Apixaban and rivaroxaban inhibit factor Xa, while the dabigatran anticoagulant action consists in direct prothrombin inhibition (Fig. 5.1). Dabigatran is a reversible and competitive inhibitor of thrombin, and is able to reduce the platelet aggregation promoted by thrombin [6].

Dabigatran, because of this pharmacodynamic aspect, has greater efficacy than other direct thrombin inhibitors like unfractioned heparin, which is unable to inhibit thrombin linked to fibrin [7].

Apixaban is metabolized by CYP3A4 - dependent liver enzymes and approximately 25% is excreted renally; its bioavailability is 50% and has a plasma elimination half-life of 12 h and Tmax of 3 h [8].

Rivaroxaban has an 80% bioavailability with a plasma elimination half-life of 9 h in young adults, in older adults its plasma elimination half-life increases to 11-13 h.

Rivaroxaban is metabolized one-third by the kidneys and two-thirds by the liver.

Dabigatran has low bioavailability, approximately 6.5%, and low plasma protein link; its plasma elimination half-life is around 12–14 h and is excreted mainly (85%) through the kidneys [9, 10].



Fig. 5.1 Direct apixaban and rivaroxaban inhibition of Xa, gabigatran inhibition of thrombin

5.2 Clinical Trials: NOACs vs. VKA Efficacy and Safety Profile in Phase III Clinical Trials

The NOACs compared with VKA such as warfarin, acenocumarol, heparin (LMWH and unfractionated heparin, or UFH) have the same efficacy and safety for thromboprophylaxis following major orthopedic surgery, treatment of venous thromboembolism, pulmonary embolism, and thromboembolic events in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation (AF).

The program "RE-VOLUTION" is composed of several clinical studies for the evaluation of dabigatran efficacy and safety profile compared with standard anticoagulant therapy.

The Randomized Evaluation of Long-term anticoagulant therapY (RE-LY) is a prospective phase III trial randomized with 18,113 patients, mean age 71 years. The

study context is stroke prevention in nonvalvular AF comparing two blinded doses of dabigatran with warfarin; the INR therapeutic range was between 2 and 3.

The primary endpoints were efficacy in stroke and embolism event prevention and safety with respect to bleeding risk. Additional risk factors were stroke/transient ischemic attack (TIA) in 20% of patients, previous acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in 17% of patients, and cardiac impairment in 32% of patients. About 40% of the patients had comedication with aspirin and 50% never took warfarin.

Dabigatran with high dosage (150 mg twice daily) was associated with a reduction in risk of stroke and systemic embolism in 34% (p < 0.001) and risk hemorrhage stroke in 74% (p < 0.001) compared with warfarin.

Dabigatran was not inferior to warfarin at low dosage (110 mg twice daily) and superior at high dosage (150 mg twice daily) in the prevention of stroke and embolism. With high dosage there were significant differences in mortality. The safety profile was better, at both dosages, compared with warfarin for major hemorrhage [11].

The study ROCKET AF compared rivaroxaban efficacy and safety at a dosage of 20 mg/day and 15 mg/day in patients with creatinine clearance (CrCl) of 30–49 mL/ min with warfarin (target INR between 2 and 3). The study (14,264 patient age >75 years) demonstrated that rivaroxaban and warfarin had the same efficacy in stroke and embolism prevention and the same hemorrhage risk and adverse events.

In patients treated with rivaroxaban there was less intracranial bleeding and fatal bleeding versus warfarin. Rivaroxaban is an alternative to warfarin in patients with nonvalvular AF with one or more additional risk factors: congestive cardiac failure, arterial hypertension, age >75 years, diabetes mellitus, and previous stroke/TIA.

Rivaroxaban taken at a daily dosage of 20 mg (with CrCl \geq 50 mL/min) must be adjusted in case of renal failure. At present, chronic renal failure (CRF) with CrCl \geq 50–30 mL/min, the dosage should be decreased to 15 mg/day, if CrCl is between 30 and 15 mL/min, frequent renal function monitoring is indicated.

Rivaroxaban is contraindicated if CrCl < 15 mL/min. Any complication related to hemorrhaging or other adverse events are reported in case of overdose up to 600 mg [12, 13].

The Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) study is a phase III double-blinded, doubledummy, randomized trial involving 18,201 patients with nonvalvular AF and one with additional risk of stroke. The study involved 1034 centers in 39 countries and compared apixaban's efficacy in stroke and systemic embolism prevention compared with warfarin.

Apixaban was associated with significant reduction in stroke and systemic embolism risks (21%), major bleeding (31%), and, finally, mortality reduction (11%) [14].

The results of these trials [11–14] were reported from 2011 to 2013, with European Medicines Agency (EMA) and Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco (Italian Drug Agency) (AIFA) approval, and contributed to the introduction of NOACs in anticoagulant therapy in Italy and Europe.

5.3 NOACs: Italian Scenarios and Therapeutic Indications

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the clinical use in human therapies in the USA of dabigatran in 2010, rivaroxaban in 2011, and apixaban in 2012, with all the indications for patient monitoring in order to ensure the therapy's safety and reduce the risks.

In the same period, between 2010 and 2013, NOACs received approval from the EMA and AIFA. The NOACs currently in use are reported in Table 5.1.

The therapeutic indications were recently defined by AIFA and describe NOACs as alternatives to VKA or LMWH in specific clinical contexts. The therapeutic indications approved by AIFA are as follows [15]:

Dabigatran:

- 1. Thromboembolic primary prevention in patients following total knee joint surgery or hip arthroplasty and hip fracture;
- Stroke prevention in adults with nonvalvular AF and one or more risk factors: previous stroke, TIA or venous thromboembolism, left ventricular ejection fraction <40%, cardiac failure, ≥class 2 as definition of New York Heart Association (NYHA), age ≥75 years, age ≥65 years with associated diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, arterial hypertension.

Rivaroxaban:

- 1. Venous thromboembolic primary prevention in adult patients after total knee joint surgery or hip arthroplasty;
- 2. Stroke and venous thromboembolism prevention in adult patients with nonvalvular AF and one or more risk factors (congestive cardiac failure, artery hypertension, age ≥75 years, mellitus diabet, previous stroke or TIA).
- 3. Treatment and prevention of deep vein thrombosis in medical adult patients and pulmonary embolism prevention after deep vein thrombosis.

Apixaban:

1. Venous thromboembolism prevention in adult patients after total joint surgery knee or hip arthroplastiy

Table 5.1 New oral anticoagulant NOACs in use from 2011 to 2013 in Italy, approved by AIFAand EMA

Drug			Mechanism of action
Rivaroxaban	XARELTO®	10 mg	Factor
			Xa activated inihibition
Apixaban	ELIQUIS ®	2.5 mg	Factor
			Xa activated inihibition
Dabigatran	PRADAXA®	75 mg	Thrombin
		110 mg	FactorII inihibition

 Stroke and embolism prevention in adults with nonvalvular AF and one or more risk factors: previous stroke, TIA, age ≥75 years, diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension, cardiac failure (class ≥2 NYHA).

In short the current use of NOACs has two ambits: hospital therapy management and home therapy management as follow:

- 1. Home therapy: stroke and thromboembolism prevention in patients with AF;
- 2. Hospital therapy: thromboprophylaxis in orthopedic knee surgery or hip arthroplasty;
- 3. Mixed: deep vein thrombosis treatment and prevention, pulmonary embolism prevention after deep vein thrombosis (rivaroxaban).

The strict indications for home therapy of NOACs reflect an attempt to avoid incongruous use by medical doctors, whose are responsible for planning specific NOAC treatment (if indicated) with the proper dosage and duration of treatment. This is important because the annual costs of anticoagulant therapy are, for single patients, 350% more than that for dicumarolic therapy, including the costs of coagulation test monitoring.

Treatment follow-up, required for all patients in Italy, will help to define more precisely the NOAC safety profile.

Part of the problem with NOAC therapy has to do with management in a hospital context of surgery and anesthesia.

5.4 Management of Suspected Overdose and Bleeding Complications

The short NOAC half-life helps to make surgery safe when needed for acute bleeding even a few hours after the last dose was taken, but we should consider the increased risk in the case of renal and liver failure.

For NOACs there are no antidotes except for dabigatran: a monoclonal antibody can block the anticoagulant effect (idarucizumab) [16, 17].

Pollack et al. documented, in 90 patients with chronic dabigatran therapy, results on the administration of idarucizumab (5 g I.V. in two single doses) in the case of acute severe bleeding (51 patients) (group A) and when surgery was necessary (39 patients) (group B), in an interim analysis, pubblished in *The New England Journal of Medicine* in 2015 (cohort study RE-VERSE AD) [18].

Idarucizumab reduced acute bleeding from the blocking of dabigatran coagulant effects in 100% of patients, Pollack found the diluted thrombin time (dTT) and escarin clottig time (ECT) to be normalized: 98% of group A and 98% of group B.

In case of hemorrhages, specific coagulation tests should be considered for quantitative and qualitative assessment of NOAC action. Dabigatran's quantitative test is dTT, which increases also with low dosage [19, 20] and escarin clotting time (ETC). Rivaroxaban and apixaban should be tested with antifactor Xa (anti-FXa). These tests should be done in Italian hospital laboratories. Qualitative tests may be used for dabigatran thrombin time (TT) and for apixabam prothrombin time (PT) [21, 22]. Plasma-level NOAC concentration might also be useful. These tests are important in the management of acute bleeding mainly in cases of patients with renal and liver failure, NOAC overdose, and suspected drug interaction.

The recommended treatments in different International guidelines [23] include, in the case of overdose, activated charcoal to reduce absorption, dialysis for reduced plasma-level concentration, and prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC) [24, 25]; no clinical trials have been conducted on the efficacy and safety of activated factor VII use in NOACs in connection with acute bleeding. Desmopressin and antifibrinolytic agents may be considered, but any evidence about their efficacy has been shown.

Even if NOACs present short half-lives, the time to reach normal coagulation activity may be different with groups and because of renal failure. Dabigatran has a half-life of 7–9 h [9, 10], and the time for normal hemostasis depends on CrCl: >80 mL/min in 24 h, 50–80 mL/min in 24–36 h, and, finally, 30–50 mL/min in 36–48 h. Rivaroxaban and apixaban have half-lives of, respectively, around 7–17 h [26] and 8–14 h [8].

5.5 NOACs and Surgical Intervention

Surgery or invasive diagnostic interventions represent bleeding risk factors and require cessation of the therapy.

The RE-LY trial had in the chort about 25 % of the patients which required temporary cessation of the therapy cause a surgical intervention. The rationale in NOAC cessation/restart therapy management is to limit the increased embolism risk when therapy must be suspended and increased bleeding risk when therapy must be restarted after surgery or regional anesthesia procedures.

The European Society of Anesthesiology pubblished in 2013 guidelines on the management of severe perioperative bleeding. Kozec Langenecker et al. [27] emphasized that NOAC therapy must not be suspended for skin and odontoiatric surgery or endoscopic procedures, even if a biopsy is performed (not the same as in a colon biospy). The same recommendation in ophthalmic surgery was made (level C2).

In patients treated with rivaroxaban, apixaban, and dabigatran with CrCl >50 mL/ min bridging therapy is suggested in high-risk cases, using the following timeline: fifth day before surgery last NOAC dose, third day before surgery therapeutic dose of LMWH or, alternatively, UFH until the first day before surgery with the last dose of LMWH 24 h before intervention, if UFH is used in two daily administrations, last dose 12 h before intervention (level C2).

In patients with dabigatran therapy and CrCl between 30 and 50 mL/min suspension 5 days before surgery without bridging therapy (level C2) is suggested. The therapy restart should be done with UFH or LMWH after 672 h from intervention. In a recent review and practical guide in NOAC use, published in 2015, Hinojar et al. [28] divided surgery into minor and major interventions according to low or high hemorrhage risk.

The minor risk procedures are endoscopy, biopsy, angiography, pacemaker implantation or implantable cardioverter defibrillator, and myocardial ablation. The major surgical procedures include neuraxial injection and epidural catheter, rachicentesis, thoracic surgery, orthopedic surgery, liver and renal biopsy, and urologic surgery (TURP, TURV) (Table 5.2).

In patients with dicumarol therapy the suspension of therapy and commencement of bridging therapy are recommended. The bridging therapy for NOACs before planned surgery is a controversal issue. A guideline published in 2013 by a Spanish forum on anticoagulants and anesthesia [29] gave a recommendation defininig NOAC timing of suspension before surgery with and without bridging therapy using LMWH.

This forum defined three levels of thrombosis risk (Table 5.3) and three different levels of bleeding risk (Table 5.4) in order to give rational recommendations on the timing of discontinuation and bridging therapy when necessary.

In patients with NOAC therapy, considering the pharmacokinetic aspects, in particular the short half-life and predictability effects, it is not suggested to do bridging therapy before and after intervention in the low bleeding and thrombosis risk

		Minor surgery	Major surgery
		Management	Management
NOAC	Renal function CrCl (mL/min)	Preoperative	Postoperative
Dabigatran	>50	Stop 2 days before	Restart after 48 h
	30–50	Stop 3 days before	
Rivaroxaban	>30	Stop 2 days before	Restart after 24 h
Apixaban	>30	Stop 2 days before	Restart after 24 h

Table 5.2 Management of pre- and postoperative patients with NOAC therapy (modified from Hinojar et al. [28])

Table 5.3 Thromboembolism risk stratification modified by Foro de Consenso de la ESRA-España de fármacos que alteran la hemostasia

Perioperative thromboem	bolism stratification risk	
Low	Moderate	High
Atrial fibrillation (AF)		
CHA2DS2-VASc 0–1 no other risk factors	CHA2DS2-VASc 2-4 points	CHA2DS2-VASc >4 points stroke within 3 months rheumatic valvulopathy
Venous thromboembolism	n	
Thrombotic disorder more than 1 year from planned procedure	Thrombotic disorder 3–12 months from planned procedure recurrent DVT oncologically active disease, mild thrombophilia	Thrombotic disorder in last 3 months from planned procedure

Manejo de los anticoagulantes orales de acción directa en el periodo perioperatorio y técnicas invasivas. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim 2012

Bleeding surgery risk		
Low	 Possibility of good surgery hemostasis Possible acute hemorrhage without negative outcome or hemorrhage shock 	
	 Surgical procedure without transfusion usually needed 	
	Minor surgery	
Minor	Possible difficulties in surgical hemostasis	
	• Possible bleeding increases need for transfusion or implies a need for reintervention	
	Major abdominal surgery, cardiovascular, major orthopedic surgery, major	
	orthopedic surgery, ear/nose surgery, urology, reconstructive surgery	
High	• Perioperative bleeding may put the patient at mortal risk or poor surgery outcome	
	• Examples: intracranial neurosurgery, intervention in spinal cord, eye posterior	
	chamber surgery	

Table 5.4 Bleeding risk stratification modified by Modificata da Foro de Consenso de la ESRA-España de fármacos que alteran la hemostasia

Manejo de los anticoagulantes orales de acción directa en el periodo perioperatorio y técnicas invasivas. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim 2012

categories (Tables 5.3 and 5.4). Bridging therapy using LMWH is recommended for moderate and high bleeding and thrombosis risk categories.

The brief experience with clinical use and recommendations on management are based not so much on trial results as on expert opinion (EHRA 2013, HAS 2013), which creates uncertainty with respect to the proper approach to therapy and definition of risk. A great contribute was given to the clinical trials analysis, the researcher continue to find out sub group from databases which gave inications for improve efficancy/safety ratio [23].

The timing of suspension/restart and whether to conduct bridging therapy are presented in Fig. 5.2, with particular attention being paid to renal function. Recommendations are more extensive in Table 5.3 from Hinojar and colleagues. Finally, perioperative thromboprophylaxis from the guidelines of the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) treats NOACs as drugs to be used on the basis of recommendation level 1B as a LMWH.

The LMWH advantages are well known: the patient may undergo neuraxial anesthesia 12 h after the last enoxaparin dose [30]. After NOAC (dabigatran, rivaroxaban) administration used for thromboprophylaxis [31, 32], according to data from the literature, safety requires waiting not less than 24 h before performing any intervention [33, 34].

5.6 NOACs and Regional Anesthesia

Patients in anticoagulant therapy requiring local anesthesia must be underwent to temporary discontinuation as well as surgery interventions. The regional anesthesia procedures are stratified according the different bleeding risk (Fig. 5.2). Indipendently to procedure intrinsic risk (anatomic site, the needle size, the tecnique) the most bleeding (peridural haematoma) risk factor is a concomitant



LOW HSK CICI > 50 IIIL/III

Fig. 5.2 Suspension/restart and bridging therapy

anticoagulant therapy. This issue were underlined before NOACs introduction in the clinical use because every anticoagulant presents this risk.

Peridural haematoma frequence, even if is a rare event, is not well defined as risk with NOACs therapy yet; this because of a little numbers of trials and patients studied. The American guidelines on NOACs were issued by the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine (ASRA) in 2010. Horlocker et al. [35] focused attention on exercising caution in administering a regional anesthesia procedure during NOAC therapy. This is because of a lack of evidence from clinical trial data.

Also, in Europe, the guidelines from the Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care (SSAI) on NOACs give a generic recommendation: be careful.

The studies are different but but mainly involve comparing anticoagulant properties with each other, in particular the endpoints bleeding risk and efficacy, but bleeding risk related to regional anesthesia is no more defined.

For example, regarding thrombosis risk, in 2012, several studies were performed. Gomez-Outez et al. [36] wrote a review and meta-analysis, including of 16 trials where rivaroxaban was compared to enoxaparin and had fewer thromboembolism events (relative risk 0.48, 95% IC 0.31–0.75); similiar results were reported with dabigatran (0.71, 0.23–2.12) and apixaban (0.82, 0.41–1.64). In the same meta-analysis the RR of bleeding was major for rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin (1.25, 1.05–1.49) and dabigatran (1.12, 0.94–1.35), with inferior results for apixaban (0.82, 0.69–0.98). In conclusion, Gomez-Outez et al. assert that NOACs have good efficacy and safety.

The NOACs used for thromboprophylaxis or anticoagulant therapy were compared with conventional therapy in several studies, but few trials define the risk in regional anesthesia.

In Europe and the USA most of the recommendations are based on expert opinion supported by pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic knowledge. The process involved two steps: first, risk is defined, and second, the timing of suspension/restart of both anticoagulant therapy or thromboprophylaxis therapy is established (Fig. 5.2).

The guidelines may provide an evaluation of bleeding or thrombosis risk through scores. The more commonly used one is HAS-BLED (Table 5.5): evaluation major bleeding risk within a year from AF in patient undergoing anticoagulant therapy. Alternatively, CHADS2 and CHA2DS2-VAS can be used to evaluate stroke risk (Table 5.6)

Recently, these scores have been used in guidelines and discussed in reviews. Analysis of the literature shows that surgical intervention with regional anesthesia has the same impact on risk. In other words, the anesthesia neuraxial invasive procedures presents a bleeding risk equal to that of major surgery. Harrop and colleagues [37] stratified the risk for different regional procedures from minor to major risk (Fig. 5.3).

Another concept frequently discussed regards peridural hematoma, which presents the same risk as the procedure of positioning and during catheter removal.

Regarding the timing of NOAC therapy suspension for safety in regional anesthesia, the guidelines define the timing of catheter positioninig and removal. Not only should positioning/removal and intrinsic risk be considered but also patient global clinical conditions; determinative is age >65 years, congestive cardiac failure, arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and previous embolisms [38].

HAS-BLED score		
		Points
Н	Arterial hypertension	1
А	Liver renal failure	1 or 2
S	Stroke	1
В	Bleeding	1
L	INR lability	1
Е	Age >65 years	1
D	Drugs/alchool	1 or 2
		Max 9 points

Table 5.5HAS-BLED score

Table 5.6 CHADS2–CHA2DS2-VASc score

CHADS2 score		CHA2DS2-VASc score	
Congestive heart failure	1	Congestive heart failure Left ventricular dysfunction	1
Hypertension	1	Hypertension	1
Age >75 years	1	Age >75 years, 65–74 years	1 or 2
Diabetes mellitus	1	Ictus/TIA	2
Ictus/TIA	2	Cardiovascular disease	1
		female	1
	Max 6 points		Max 6 points



When patients are undergo to neuraxial anesthesia safety precautions should be taken: avoid multiple attempts, if local bleeding occurs avoid additional attempts and careful neurological examination should planed for early identification of neuraxial hematoma. In a review, Benzon and colleagues [39] defined the time needed between neuraxial anesthesia and NOAC suspension. They used a CHA2DS-VASc score proposing five half-lives in cases of low thrombosis risk, while for patients with high thrombosis risk they recommended two to three half-lives.

The European guidelines, in particular from the Scandinavian Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care (SSAI), use an interval of two half-lives as the safety limit. Two half-lives are considered protective from embolism events and bleeding risk. Benzon emphasized that two half-lives came from studies in healthy young adults patients not representative of the typical population in anticoagulant therapy in which chronic renal failure is frequently present.

The European guidelines on safety recommend intervals of two to three halflives for patients with high thrombosis or stroke risk and intervals of four to five half-lives for patients with low thrombosis risk. In patients with renal failure, the interval should be evaluated based on CrCl [40]. The restart of therapy after neuraxial anesthesia should be done 24–48 h after but is anticipated in patients with high thrombosis risk or stroke [39].

The recommendation of the American College of Chest Physicians Clinical Practice Guidelines [41] suggest that, to reduce thrombosis and bleeding risk in patients undergoing NOAC therapy, the anesthetic and surgical procedures should be postponed if one of the following conditions is present in the last 3 months: venous thromboembolism, IMA, TIA or stroke, acute bleeding, or pregnancy less than 6 weeks from delivery date.

5.7 Conclusion

The new oral anticoagulants have great advantages despite the sanitation costs compared to previous and conventional anticoagulant therapy.

The therapeutic indications based on randomized clinical trials were approved by the EMA and in Italy by the AIFA introducing the NOAC into European and Italian clinical protocols.

The guidelines on therapy with NOACs give recommendations on the management of bleeding and thrombotic risk, and some of them are based on expert opinion. In patients with low thrombotic risk (CHADS 2-VSC 2) the time between suspension of anticoagulant therapy and commencement of neuraxial anesthesia may be five half-lives. Suspension must be less, around two to three half-lives, for patients with high thrombotic risk or stroke, in which case an alternative therapy may be bridging therapy with LMWH when it is necessary to wait for five half-lives.

Careful attention must be paid to patients with renal failure. Anticoagulant therapy may restart 24–48 h following anesthesia procedures. With regard to anesthesia procedures, the problem is the interval safety between stopping and restarting, but there are no absolute indications to garantee no risk of bleeding or thrombotic complications. For those reasons, all patients with low or high risk must be carefully monitored during pre and post surgery period.

References

- Brunton LL, Chabner BA, Knollmann BC. Goodman e Gilman: the pharmacological basis of therapeutics. 12th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 2011.
- 2. Hart RG, Pearce LA, Aguilar MI. Meta-analysis: antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patient who have non valvular atrial fibrillation. Ann Intern Med. 2007;146:857–67.
- 3. De Caterina R, Husted S, Wallentin L, Andreotti F, Arnesen H, Bachmann F, Baigent C, Huber K, Jespersen J, Kristensen SD, Lip GY, Morais J, Rasmussen LH, Siegbahn A, Verheugt FW, Weitz JI, Coordinating Committee. New oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation and acute coronary syndromes: ESC Working Group on Thrombosis Task Force on Anticoagulants in Heart Disease position paper. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59:1413–25.
- 4. Ezekowitz MD, Bridgers SL, et al. Warfarin in the prevention of stroke associated with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. Veterans Affairs Stroke Prevention in Nonrheumatic Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. N Engl J Med. 1992;327:1406–12.
- Jones M, McEwan P, et al. Evaluation of the pattern of treatment, level of anticoagulation control, and outcome of treatment with warfarin in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: a record linkage study in a large British population. Heart. 2005;91:472–7.
- Stangier J, Clemens A. Pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of dabigatran etexilate, an oral direct thrombin inhibitor. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2009;15(Suppl 1):9S–16S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076029609343004. PMID 19696042.
- Hankey GJ, Eikelboom JW. Dabigatran etexilate: a new oral thrombin inhibitor. Circulation. 2011;123(13):1436–50. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.004424. PMID 21464059.
- Raghavan N, Frost CE, Yu Z, et al. Apixaban metabolism and pharmacokinetics after oral administration to humans. Drug Metab Dispos. 2009;37(1):74–81.

- Stangier J, Rathgen K, Stähle H, Gansser D, Roth W. The pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and tolerability of dabigatran etexilate, a new oral direct thrombin inhibitor, in healthy male subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2007;64(3):292–303.
- Blech S, Ebner T, Ludwig-Schwellinger E, Stangier J, Roth W. The metabolism and disposition of the oral direct thrombin inhibitor, dabigatran, in humans. Drug Metab Dispos. 2008;36(2):386–99.
- 11. Connolly SJ, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1139. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0905561.
- 12. Hankey GJ, et al. Rivaroxaban compared with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation and previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack: a subgroup analysis of ROCKET AF. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11:315–22.
- 13. Gorelick PB. Rivaroxaban and recurrent stroke prevention in AF. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11:295-7.
- 14. Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray J, et al. Apixaban versus Warfarin in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:981–92.
- AIFA-Concept Paper su Nuovi Anticoagulanti Orali. Available from http://www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/sites/default/files/version_2012_09_24_cp_noacs_1.pdf.
- Schiele F, van Ryn J, Canada K, et al. A specific antidote for dabigatran: functional and structural characterization. Blood. 2013;121(18):3554–62.
- Toth J, Gan G, van Ryn J, et al. Reversal of dabigatran's anticoagulant activity in the monkey by a specific antidote and pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic modeling [abstract]. Blood. 2012;120(21):Abstract 22.
- Pollack CV Jr, Reilly PA, Eikelboom J, Glund S, Verhamme P, Bernstein RA, Dubiel R, Menno V, et al. Idarucizumab for dabigatran reversal. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:511–20. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1502000.
- Van Ryn J, Stangier J, Haertter S, et al. Dabigatran etexilate a novel, reversible, oral direct thrombin inhibitor: interpretation of coagulation assays and reversal of anticoagulant activity. Thromb Haemost. 2010;103(6):1116–27.
- Freyburger G, Macouillard G, Labrouche S, Sztark F. Coagulation parameters in patients receiving dabigatran etexilate or rivaroxaban: two observational studies in patients undergoing total hip or total knee replacement. Thromb Res. 2011;127(5):457–65.
- 21. Samama MM, Contant G, Spiro TE, et al. Laboratory assessment of rivaroxaban: a review. Thromb J. 2013;11(1):11.
- Samama MM, Martinoli JL, LeFlem L, et al. Assessment of laboratory assays to measure rivaroxaban — an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor. Thromb Haemost. 2010;103(4):815–25.
- 23. Heidbuchell H, Verhamme P, Alings M, Antz M, Hacke W, Oldgren J, Sinnaeve P, Camm AJ, Kirchhof P. EHRA Practical Guide on the use of new oral anticoagulants in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: executive summary. Eur Heart J. 2013;34:2094. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht134.
- Eerenberg ES, Kamphuisen PW, Sijpkens MK, Meijers JC, Buller HR, Levi M. Reversal of rivaroxaban and dabigatran by prothrombin complex concentrate: a randomized, placebocontrolled, crossover study in healthy subjects. Circulation. 2011;124(14):1573–9.
- 25. Levi M, Moore T, Castillejos C, et al. Effects of three-factor and four-factor prothrombin complex concentrates on the pharmacodynamics of rivaroxaban [abstract]. J Thromb Haemost. 2013;11(Suppl 2):167.
- 26. Kubitza D, Becka M, Voith B, Zuehlsdorf M, Wensing G. Safety, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics of single doses of BAY 59-7939, an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2005;78(4):412–21.
- Kozek-Langenecker SA, Afshari A, Albaladejo P, et al. Management of severe perioperative bleeding: guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2013;30:270–382.
- 28. Hinojar R, Jiménez-Natcher JJ, Fernández-Golfín C, Zamorano JL. New oral anticoagulants: a practical guide for physicians. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother. 2015;1:134–45.
- 29. Llau JV, Ferrandis R, Castillo J, et al. en representación de los participantes en el Foro de Consenso de la ESRA-España de fármacos que alteran la hemostasia. Manejo de los antico-

agulantes orales de acción directa en el periodo perioperatorio y técnicas invasivas. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2012;59:321–30.

- 30. Falk-Ytter Y, Francis CW, Johanson NA, et al. Prevention of VTE in orthopedic surgery patients: Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis. 9th ed American College of chest Physicians evidence based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2012;141(2 Suppl):2785–3255.
- Ageno W, Spyropoulos AC, Turpie AG. Role of new anticoagulants for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after major orthopaedic surgery and in hospitalised acutely ill medical patients. Thromb Haemost. 2012;107:1027–34.
- 32. Wolowacz SE, Roskell NS, Plumb JM, et al. Efficacy and safety of dabigatran etexilate for the prevention of venous thromboembolism following total hip or knee arthroplasty. A metaanalysis. Thromb Haemost. 2009;101:77–85.
- 33. Eriksson BI, Dahl OE, Rosencher N. et al; RENOVATE Study Group. Dabigatran etexilate versus enoxaparin for prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement: a randomised, doubleblind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2007;370:949–56.
- 34. Asmis LM, Alberio L, Angelillo Scherrer A, et al. Rivaroxaban: Quantification by anti-FXa assay and influence on coagulation tests: a study in 9 Swiss laboratories. Thromb Res. 2012;129(4):492.
- 35. Horlocker TT, Wedel DJ, Rowlingson JC, et al. Regional anesthesia in the patient receiving antithrombotic or thrombolytic therapy: American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine evidence-based guidelines (third edition). Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2010;35:64–101.
- 36. Gomez-Outez A, Terleira-Fernandez AI, Suarez-Gea ML, Vargas-Castrillon E. Dabigatran, rivaroxaban, or apixaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after total hip or knee replacement: systematic review, meta-analysis, and indirect treatment comparisons. Br Med J. 2012;344:3675.
- 37. Membership of the Working Party, Harrop-Griffiths W, Cook T, Gill H, Hill D, Ingram M, Makris M, Malhotra S, Nicholls B, Popat M, Swales H, Wood P. Regional anaesthesia and patients with abnormalities of coagulation: The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain & Ireland. The Obstetric Anaesthetists Association Regional Anaesthesia UK. Anaesthesia. 2013;68:966.
- Olesen JB, Lip GY, Hansen ML, et al. Validation of risk stratification schemes for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: nationwide cohort study. Br Med J. 2011;342:d124.
- Benzon HT, Avram MJ, Green D, Bonow RO. New oral anticoagulants and regional anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2003 Dec;111(Suppl 1):i96–113.
- Connolly G, Spyropoulos AC. Practical issues, limitations, and periprocedural management of the NOAC's. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2013;36:212–22.
- 41. Douketis JD, Spyropoulos AC, Spencer FA, et al. American College of Chest Physicians. Perioperative management of antithrombotic therapy: antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest. 2012;141(2 Suppl):326–50S.



6

Perioperative Management for Patients with a Solid Organ Transplant

Laura Petrò, Alessandra Ponti, Elena Roselli, Manlio Prosperi, and Andrea De Gasperi

6.1 Introduction

In the last 10 years, relevant improvements in surgical technical solutions, new immunosuppressive agents, and a better understanding of the complex pathophysiology of end-stage organ failure by anesthesiologists and intensivists have led to relevant results in the field of solid organ transplantation [1-3]. In Italy, the 1-year survival rate for most solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients is currently higher than 90%, while a 5-year survival rate is now between 60% and 80% (50% for lung transplant and 90% for pediatric kidney transplant) (www.trapianti.salute.gov.it). However, aging of the recipients, the increasing number of comorbidities (particularly cardiopulmonary, metabolic, and gastrointestinal), and the occurrence of de novo cancer and lymphoproliferative disorders are changing the posttransplant natural history: in particular, the condition of recipient of a solid organ transplant can be considered a new, relevant form of chronic illness.

The need for surgery in the early or late posttransplant period is increasing [1-5]. Between 15% and 40% of the SOT recipients will undergo invasive procedures: as a consequence, these patients have to be assessed for every form of anesthesia (general or locoregional) or sedation (from moderate to deep sedation) for elective and emergency non-transplant surgery, for interventional radiologic and endoscopic procedures (gastrointestinal, thoracic, or urologic), for traumatic events, and for obstetrics [1-5]. The incidence of abdominal aortic aneurysms is

L. Petrò · A. Ponti · E. Roselli · M. Prosperi · A. De Gasperi (🖂)

^{2°} Servizio Anestesia e Rianimazione - ASST GOM Ospedale Niguarda, Piazza Ospedale Maggiore 3, Milan, Italy

e-mail: laura.petro@ospedaleniguarda.it; alessandra.ponti@ospedaleniguarda.it; elena.roselli@ospedaleniguarda.it; manlio.prosperi@ospedaleniguarda.it; andrea.degasperi@ospedaleniguarda.it; andrea.degasperi@mpcnet.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_6

increased, particularly after heart transplant. Acute surgical cholecystitis is frequent in thoracic transplant recipients, cyclosporine (less used, but still present in some immunosuppressive regimens) being considered a consistent risk factor for cholelithiasis and its surgical consequences. The immunosuppressive therapy, the common denominator of all the transplanted patients, increases by a factor of four the risk of de novo cancer. Skin cancer and lymphoma are the most frequent neoplasms found in transplanted patients, but the frequency of lung, liver, cervical, colon, larynx, bladder, and prostate malignancies is higher than in the normal population [1–3].

Not much is available in the literature on the anesthesiological management of SOT recipients who have to undergo interventional procedures or non-transplant surgery: in this paper we will review the anesthesiological and perioperative management of transplanted patients, focusing on the peculiar aspects of the modified posttransplant physiological profile, able to impact on the conduction of surgery and on the immediate postoperative period [1-5].

Outcomes of elective surgery in most part of SOT recipients are not different if compared to non-transplanted patients. Instead, urgent and emergent surgical procedures are more prone to postoperative complications. Then, the role of the anesthesiologist in the perioperative period might become crucial.

In SOT recipient, anesthesia safety depends (at least in part) on both the detailed knowledge of the pretransplant comorbidities and the posttransplant physiological changes introduced in the recipient by the grafted organ(s): among the latter are comorbidities newly introduced by the immunosuppressive therapy, the quality of function (or dysfunction) of the transplanted organ and the impact this condition could have on the entire organism, the different physiological and pharmacological responses to surgical or traumatic stress introduced by the new condition, and the different perioperative management this "new" condition requires—a brand new challenge for every anesthesiologist.

6.2 Immunosuppressive Therapy [6–8]

As above mentioned, common to all SOT recipients is immunosuppression, a form of modulation of the recipient's immune system to induce host tolerance to the new graft to avoid acute or chronic rejection [6]. The risk of rejection, one of the most feared complications after SOT, has to be balanced in each recipient against infections and side and/or adverse effects on metabolism (glycemic and lipidic profiles as examples) or on function of the central nervous system, heart, kidney, and liver (just to mention the organs most commonly affected by the consequences of the immunosuppressive therapy): plasma levels of the immunosuppressive drugs and markers of the effects of the drugs on the immune system (if available and perhaps much more relevant) would be pivotal for a fine tuning of the "level" of the immunosuppression. This latter point is still ill-defined and a matter of hot discussion.

6.2.1 The Drugs [1, 6]

The posttransplant immunosuppressive regimen (drugs, dosage, schedule) is an association of drugs of different classes, often varying among transplant centers.

- 1. Corticosteroids (methylprednisolone, prednisone) are used for both induction and maintenance of immunosuppression: among the multiple mechanisms of action, in SOT recipients relevant are the inhibition of the transcription of cytokines and the sequestration of CD4+ lymphocytes. With the advent of new potent immunosuppressive drugs (see below), maintenance steroids are rapidly tapered, markedly reduced, or in long term, generally avoided. When used, prednisone is usually administered for maintenance of immunosuppression, while methylprednisolone is prescribed for induction and to treat acute rejection episodes. Common side effects are iatrogenic diabetes, arterial hypertension, and weight gain. Chronic steroid use exposes the patients to an increased risk of infection, gastrointestinal bleeding, hyperglycemia, osteoporosis, and, as above underlined, arterial hypertension.
- 2. Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), mainly cyclosporine (CSA) and tacrolimus (TAC), act by binding to calcineurin and preventing its translocation into the nucleus, thus impacting on transcription and secretion of interleukin 2 (IL-2) by T lymphocyte cells. Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is mandatory, due to the narrow therapeutic range of CNIs and the possible systemic side effects (mainly but not only glucose intolerance, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity). Metabolism is dependent on cytochrome P450: drugs able to induce this metabolic pathway are able to influence CNI plasma levels. On the contrary, CNIs can interfere with other medication metabolic pathways, with possible toxicity.
- 3. mTOR inhibitors sirolimus (SIR) and everolimus (EVER) induce lymphocyte cell cycle arrest. Both SIR and EVER are granted of a reduced nephrotoxic effect. mTOR-inhibitor therapy is usually considered 4–6 weeks after transplantation, in association with CNI drugs, due to an interference with wound healing which might become a concern in the first 2–3 weeks after transplant surgery. Pulmonary idiosyncratic toxicity has been reported with SIR, usually in form of non-infectious interstitial pneumonia associated with fever and hemoptysis. Withdrawal of the drug is usually associated with a very rapid improvement of both the respiratory symptoms and the radiological imaging [7].
- 4. *Antiproliferative agents* (azathioprine [AZA] and mycophenolate [MYC]) (usually classified as antimetabolites) inhibit purine synthesis with suppression of T and B lymphocytes. Forms of toxicity affecting the bone marrow (anemia, thrombocytopenia, leucopenia), the gastrointestinal tract, and the liver may be possible side effects to be aware of.
- 5. Antibodies: Polyclonal (*thymoglobulin*) and monoclonal antibodies (*OKT3*, *basiliximab*, *daclizumab*). *Thymoglobulin*, able to induce marked lymphocyte depletion, is a rabbit-derived polyclonal antithymocyte antibody. Its use, sometimes associated with a flu-like syndrome with fever, tachycardia, and arterial

hypotension due to cytokines release, is reserved for induction (or preconditioning) immediately before or immediately after transplant and to treat acute steroid-resistant rejection episodes. *Muromonab* (OKT3), acting against CD3+ lymphocytes, is now rarely prescribed, due to the poor selectivity and the possible relevant side effects, mainly correlated with cytokines release. Much better tolerated (less toxicity) and much more utilized nowadays in several induction protocols are *basiliximab and daclizumab*, a newer generation of monoclonal antibodies able to block IL-2-mediated T-cell activation.

6.2.2 Immunosuppression and the Perioperative Period

Immunosuppressive therapy should never be stopped in the perioperative period.

Corticosteroids are present in a large part of the chronic immunosuppressive treatments, even if now much less prescribed than in the past. Although chronic steroid therapy could constitute a potential risk for perioperative stress-induced adrenal suppression, this condition is rare: maintenance dose is usually administered without any dose adjustment [1-4, 6, 9], even if 50 mg of hydrocortisone three times a day for the first 48–72 postoperatively hours has been suggested by some (but it is still under debate) [1, 9].

CSA and TAC should be administered per os (PO) or via nasogastric (NG) tube as soon as possible after surgery: blood levels should be monitored (TDM) daily, due to the many conditions able to alter the pharmacokinetic profile (perioperative massive fluid infusion, biliary drainage via a Kehr tube, cardiopulmonary bypass, or more simply pharmacological interference due to CYP 3A4 inducers) [1, 6]. As above alluded to, CNI metabolism depends on CYP 3A4. Many drugs are able to cause induction and inhibition or can behave as a competitive substrate of this enzyme: among them are phenytoine, carbamazepine, erythromycine, co-trimoxazole, itraconazole, clarithromycine, and metoclopramide.

AZA, nowadays much less used than mycophenolate, does not need any therapeutic adjustment for the intravenous administration.

Literature dealing with the interaction between CSA, TAC, and anesthetic drugs is poor and not updated [1–5, 10]. All inhalational anesthetics have been used safely in transplant surgery; the relevance of the production of nephrotoxic inorganic fluoride appears to be more theoretical than clinical. Sevoflurane (SEVO) and desflurane (DES) [1–5] are the safest agents at the moment (isoflurane is less used nowadays). It has however to be reported, even if very rare, a possible severe liver toxicity associated with SEVO [11]. The use of isoflurane and nitric oxide and propofol infusion does not alter CSA kinetics. A prolongation of the effect of fentanyl and of neuromuscular blocking drugs such as vecuronium, pancuronium, and atracurium has been reported in case of CSA use [12–15]. The prolonged effect (if present) is reported to be due to CSA-related calcium influx inhibition in musculoskeletal cells: this mechanism, however, does not seem to have clinical relevance, and the most used neuromuscular blockers are nowadays cisatracurium and rocuronium, very seldom vecuronium. Even if beyond the scope of this chapter, we will shortly discuss some critical points (side effects/complications) associated with the use of the most common immunosuppressors able to impact on the postoperative/post-procedural period [6].

Side effects of CSA and TAC are hypertension (50-70%, due to increased sodium-reabsorption and peripheral vasoconstriction), renal dysfunction, diabetes, and neurotoxicity [1, 6]. CSA and TAC are nephrotoxic drugs: dose-dependent renal blood flow reduction increases the risk of renal dysfunction (from mild to severe acute kidney injury [AKI], included the need for renal replacement therapy). SOT recipients under CSA and TAC treatment are at risk of AKI in case of hypovolemia, the associated use of other nephrotoxic drugs, and possibly in case of contrast medium administration. Renal dysfunction in its various forms is more frequent lung transplant recipients (20%)in heart and because of higher immunosuppression.

CSA and TAC can cause neurological complications, more commonly in the early posttransplant period, but always to be considered in the natural history of a transplanted patient: minor effects are common (30–60%), trivial, and self-limiting [16]. Among major side effects (much less common) are seizures, due to a lower sensibility threshold: seizures, aphasia, and speech disorders can be a consequence of high CSA blood levels and low magnesium and lipid plasma levels. Although very rare, *posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES)* [16, 17] should be taken into consideration in case of acute neurologic deterioration. PRES is more represented in liver and kidney transplant recipients and is a form of neurotoxicity induced by CNIs. Among possible signs and symptoms, very frequent are seizures, encephalopathy, and headache; visual disturbances or focal neurological symptoms are instead less frequent. PRES is diagnosed by MRI with a characteristic bilateral vasogenic edema involving parieto-occipital areas. Permanent neurological deficits might be the outcome, if the syndrome is not promptly recognized, due to progression of vasogenic edema toward cytotoxic edema. Treatment, apart from supportive therapy, relies upon discontinuation of the CNI (even if the syndrome is unrelated to drug levels), hypertension control, and optimization of magnesemia. Even if not related to immunosuppressors and usually reported early after transplantation (but to be considered in the differential diagnosis of acute neurological disorders after SOT) is central pontine myelinolysis (CPM) [1, 16]. Rare after heart or kidney transplant, CPM can occur after liver transplantation (<5% of the cases, with a mortality rate close to 30-50%): usually it is associated to a too rapid correction of perioperative hyponatremia (120-125 mEq), or to a sodium shift of more than 25 mEq/L in less than 24 h; the rapid change in plasmatic osmolarity is reported to be one of the more relevant mechanisms of CPM. MRI is needed for the diagnosis.

In general, a large part of SOT recipients experience at least one infectious episode after the transplant procedure [7, 8], to be considered a consequence of a suboptimal balance between immunosuppression and host defenses: when compared to the general population, the incidence of infections is higher in transplant recipients. Diagnosis is sometimes problematic: steroids are able to mask specific signs and symptoms of infections, or, on the contrary, a specific inflammatory symptom may be due to an underlying, unrecognized acute rejection. Differential diagnosis in this specific setting may be challenging. Transplanted patients are exposed to community and healthcare-associated (HCA) infections: geographic environment and time from transplant must be taken into consideration for the differential diagnosis [7, 8]. Infection-associated morbidity and mortality are higher than in the non-transplanted patients, particularly if infection and the consequent sepsis or septic shock are sustained by multiple (MDR) or Pan (XDR) drug-resistant microorganisms. Opportunistic fungal (*Candida, Aspergillus*) or viral (CMV, Epstein Barr) infections are also reported with various incidence and different severity in the immunosuppressed patients: specific infective complications may be associated in different grafted organs with different immunosuppressant drugs [7, 8, 18]. Neutropenia (neutrophil count less than 500/mL) should be considered as an alarming condition, even if it is not common in solid organ transplant recipients.

6.2.3 The Patient After the Transplant: A New Natural History

Organ transplantation might be the only treatment able to cure an end-stage organ disease or failure: then, the SOT procedure becomes the best way to treat all the systemic pathological consequences associated with the failing organ(s). Comorbidities already present before the transplant may worsen after the procedure, and the immunosuppressive therapy, as above underlined, may be at least, in part, responsible. It could happen in diabetic recipients (4-20% of transplanted population) for the autonomic neuropathy, the arterial hypertension, and the vascular complications. CSA, TAC, and steroids can cause hyperlipidemia (55-70% of kidney and heart transplant recipients, 6-15% of lung and liver transplant recipients). Diffuse atherosclerotic disease is frequent in kidney- and heart-transplanted patients (the incidence of abdominal aortic aneurysm is increased in heart recipients), but it is becoming more common in liver-transplanted patients [19-21]. The risk of coronary artery disease (CAD) is increased in heart and kidney transplant patients, becoming the leading cause of death among these patients in the late posttransplant period. In the last few years, the incidence of CAD is increasing also among liver-transplanted patients [22]: mandatory for anesthesiologists and intensivists is an expertise on the perioperative management (diagnosis and treatment) of cardiovascular diseases [19-22].

6.2.4 The Anesthesiologist and the Patient with a Grafted Organ: Understanding a New Physiological Profile to Manage the Perioperative Period

Understanding the new physiology of SOT recipients admitted to non-transplant surgery is the first imperative for every anesthesiologist involved in this situation: the complete denervation of the graft is the new paradigm to be aware of while preparing the perioperative anesthesiological plan [2–5]. A careful preoperative functional assessment of the grafted organ starts from the understanding of the new

physiological condition. A consultation with the transplant center may be particularly useful if not warranted [1-3]. Attention has to be paid to any form of dysfunction of the transplanted organ, in order to exclude rejection (chronic more than acute), subtle signs of infection/sepsis, and other forms of chronic graft dysfunction, ischemia. Whatever the cause, any form of dysfunction (rejection, infection, ischemia) increases the risk of severe postoperative complications and in general of perioperative morbidity. Immunosuppression regime has to be taken into close consideration, and again the transplant center consultation (particularly in complex cases) is recommended, to plan the most appropriate perioperative management.

6.3 Physiology and Pharmacology of a Denervated Organ and the Consequences in the Perioperative Period

The grafted organs are denervated: relevant and to be well known by the perioperative transplant physicians are (or may become) the consequences for the liver (lack of nociceptive and visceral afferent pathways, lack of vasoconstriction in shock), the lung (ineffective cough), and the heart (even if evidence of reinnervation late after transplant is now reported) [1–5].

Heart—The transplanted heart is completely denervated, with loss of afferent and efferent sympathetic, parasympathetic, and sensitive nerve connections [2–4, 23]. The loss of parasympathetic regulation results in an increased heart rate at rest (mild tachycardia) and in the lack of response to the Valsalva maneuver and carotid sinus stimulation. Sympathetic reflexes to laryngoscopy and intubation are usually absent or reduced even in case of inadequate anesthesia depth [4]. The response to stimuli from the vasomotor center after changes in arterial pressure (autonomic innervation) is abolished, but the response to circulating catecholamines is preserved, as receptor density is normal or increased [2-4]. Response to hypovolemia and hypotension is peculiar: due to the loss of baroreceptor reflex, and the relatively fixed heart rate and cardiac output, heart rate does not increase in case of hypotension/hypovolemia [4]. The increase in cardiac output should then rely upon an increase in stroke volume: increasing the preload, namely, the venous return, is then the appropriate strategy [4, 24]. The preserved Frank-Starling mechanism plays in this specific setting a key role in maintaining cardiac output, as the denervated heart is preload-dependent [2-4]: in this specific setting and particularly in case of hearttransplanted patients undergoing surgery with major fluid shifts, correction of hypotension should rely upon an appropriate hemodynamic monitoring to assess the circulating volume and the cardiac performance [4, 24]. Adequate preload, gauged by the appropriate monitoring, is pivotal in maintaining the hemodynamic equilibrium: monitoring of cardiac output and, when appropriate, dynamic indices are key for the intraoperative hemodynamic management [4, 20, 21]. Heart rate increases slowly (5–10 bpm) in response to circulating catecholamines, whose increase might take minutes. Hypovolemia is often associated with a pronounced fall in arterial blood pressure, followed by a catecholamine-mediated marked hypertension (vasoconstriction response): the susceptibility of the transplanted heart to catecholamines, due to an increased receptor density, may induce a sort of hypersensitivity [2–4]. Epinephrine and norepinephrine may have an increased inotropic effect due to higher beta/alpha (inotrope/vasoconstrictor) ratio. Dopamine acts on the heart predominantly via an indirect mechanism of norepinephrine secretion: therefore the inotropic effect can be reduced, whereas dopaminergic and alpha-mimetic effects are prevalent. Isoproterenol and dobutamine do not show any significant difference in beta-effect intensity. On the contrary, beta-blockers may cause severe hypotension. Bradycardia and even asystole may follow neostigmine administration [24] because of cholinergic receptor activation in cardiac ganglionic cells, supporting in heart-transplanted patients undergoing surgery the rationale of the use of rocuronium for muscle relaxation and of sugammadex for its antagonization. Many of the above cited effects can be modified by the graft reinnervation, predominantly orthosympathetic [23]: the effects are unpredictable and the item is still under strong debate. Interestingly enough, coronary blood flow autoregulation is preserved [4].

After a successful heart transplant, large part of the patients return to a functional NYHA 1 class, with a good quality of life [1, 4]. Interestingly enough, due to the complete denervation of the grafted heart, transplant recipients may have atypical angina symptoms or no symptoms at all, making a thorough posttransplant medical history, physical examination, and functional assessment particularly important to define the perioperative strategy. Right bundle branch block, atrial and ventricular arrhythmias, diabetes (39%), hypertension (>95%), chronic renal failure (14%), and coronary artery disease of graft (40-65% in 5 years) are comorbidities to be considered when managing heart-transplanted patients candidate to noncardiac surgery; a small number of recipients may need a permanent pacemaker implantation [1-4]. Problematic could be the case of a patient in need for surgery and with chronic rejection, often associated with a rapidly progressing coronary artery disease. Very different is instead the profile of a patient with acute rejection, usually associated with severe forms of heart failure: clinical signs of rejection may be the acute worsening of the usual performance status, ventricular arrhythmias, congestive heart failure, and electrocardiographic signs of myocardial infarction. Again, relevant is the transplant center consultation. In case of noncardiac surgery performed in hearttransplanted patients, the preoperative functional assessment should include (but not limited to) EKG, basal echocardiography, and kidney function tests [4].

Lung—Worldwide, the survival rate of lung-transplanted patients has improved in recent years, 1 year survival rate being 80% [1–4, 7]: outcome might change according to the indications and the underlying disease, the age of the recipients, the surgical technique (single- vs. bilateral-lung transplant), and the occurrence or not of early posttransplant complications [4]. According the most recent ISHLT data, survival after a double-lung transplant is higher than single-lung. The 5-year survival rate is above 50% in patients below 60 years old but worsens in elderly recipients; obliterative bronchiolitis affects 10% of the patients after 1 year, rising to close to 50% 5 years from transplantation [4]. Lung functional recovery after transplantation can take months, and, as previously underlined, it depends on the underlying pathology (the transplant indication) and the surgical technique. Denervation (a consequence of the surgical transection of the vagal nerve) predisposes to the lack of cough reflex, reduced clearance of secretions, and microinhalation, increasing, together with immunosuppression and surgery, the risk of postoperative pulmonary infections and, as extreme consequence, of major systemic complications [4]. During the first months after transplantation, loss of afferent and efferent innervation distal to the anastomoses alters (or may alter) the bronchoconstrictive tone (under the control of the parasympathetic tone): however, muscarinic receptors are intact, and recent data show a beta-2 agonist bronchodilator response within the first year after transplant. Pulmonary blood flow is normal in double-lung transplant: on the contrary, the blood flow is prevalent together with ventilation (60–70%) to the grafted lung in single-lung transplant. Hypoxic vasoconstriction reflex is always preserved [4].

The most common early posttransplant complications are related to graft dysfunction and, as above underlined, to infections [7, 8]: malignancies and obliterative bronchiolitis (an expression of chronic rejection) are instead reported later after transplantation. When airway obstruction occurs, PTLD (posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders) should be considered, even if rare, in the differential diagnosis workup to define the possible cause of obstruction: PTLD related to EBV-infection occurs in 4% of pediatric transplant patients and in close to 1% of the adult transplanted population [1, 4, 25].

The importance of the perioperative fluid balance is paramount in lungtransplanted patients admitted to non-transplant surgery [4, 26]. Due to the surgical section of lymphatic vessels during the transplant surgery and an unpredictable neogenesis of new lymphatic vessels, lung-transplanted patients are particularly sensible to fluid shift in general and to intraoperative fluid overload: perioperative pulmonary edema is a feared complication of the lung-transplanted patients undergoing abdominal surgery for gastrointestinal complications, a complication for unknown reasons not infrequent in these patients [4]. Close to 20% of the transplanted patients may need surgery or invasive procedures, and complications may be frequent (up to 50%). Delayed diagnosis, possibly because of the many confounding factors, is associated with high mortality [26]. General surgery in lungtransplanted patient has to be discussed with the transplant center: a thorough preoperative lung function assessment (including arterial blood gases, pulmonary function tests, and advanced imaging) is required to optimize the perioperative management. Accurate airway evaluation should include the risk of anastomotic strictures and a difficult airway management [4, 26].

Kidney—Despite normal or near normal creatinine and BUN values, glomerular filtration rate (GFR) can be reduced in kidney-transplanted patients: therefore the effect of drugs predominantly cleared by the kidney can be prolonged. Due to denervation, the use of dopamine at so-called (and not demonstrated) "renal dose" is useless. Instead, dopamine at beta dosage (4–6 gamma/kg/min) could increase cardiac out and renal perfusion, improving renal function [27, 28].

Liver—The grafted liver is denervated, a condition able to blunt the usual physiological responses [1–3, 5]. Autonomic regulation is impaired at best. Catecholamine treatment shows blunted responses if compared to the effects on a normal liver. Sympathetic denervation, at least during the first year after transplant, is associated

with an impaired vasoconstrictive response in presence of hypovolemia/acute blood losses: in case of hemorrhagic shock, the normal liver under vasoconstriction serves as blood pool, which might not be the case for the patient with a newly grafted liver. According to the literature, later after transplant liver blood flow under physiological conditions appears to be normal, and, as is for other grafted organs, reinnervation might occur.

After liver transplant surgery, in case of good functional recovery of the graft, liver function tests (LFTs) are normal or near normal within the first month [5]. Alteration of LFTs, particularly AST/ALT, gamma GT, bilirubin, and PT/aPTT reflects some form of organ dysfunction and further ad hoc investigations (included advanced imaging and endoscopic procedures) are mandatory. The drug-metabolizing capacity of a well-functioning grafted liver is normal. In case of surgical or invasive procedures to be performed in liver-transplanted patients, a thorough preoperative functional assessment should include neurological, cardiovascular (included a workup for cardiac function and coronary artery disease mainly dictated by medical history and physical examination) [19–22], respiratory and renal functions, and a metabolic balance (iatrogenic diabetes, hypercholesterolemia to be ruled out and/or properly managed). Since kidney function could be impaired after liver transplantation, important is a preoperative renal functional assessment: a panel of electrolytes together with BUN, creatinine, and GFR are advised [5].

6.4 General Notes of Anesthesia Management in SOT Recipients: When Clinics Are Applied to the New Physiology

A variety of anesthetic techniques (general, locoregional, sedation) have been successfully applied in solid organ transplanted patients [1-5]. Standard premedication may be used if needed. Appropriate perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis should be used, as in non-transplanted patients. Peculiar conditions (MDR/XDR colonization, infections, peculiar risk factors) need a case-by-case decision: colonization does not mean by default changes in the standard antibiotic prophylaxis, while strict postoperative infectious control measures are mandatory [7, 8]. Due to the demonstrated reduction of postoperative respiratory complications (at least in abdominal surgery), intraoperative protective ventilation is recommended during general anesthesia and should include tidal volumes (TV) of 6-8 mL/kg of IBW, PEEP 5-10 cmH₂O, plateau pressure <30 cmH₂O, ETCO₂ between 30 and 35 mm Hg, and the use of recruitment maneuvers if needed [29]. Oral endotracheal intubation is preferred to nasal intubation because of the potential risk of infection caused by nasal flora [1–4, 8]. The choice of perioperative hemodynamic monitoring (invasive, minimally invasive, and/or the newer noninvasive devices) is mainly driven by the patient's comorbidities, the clinical conditions, the type of surgery, the planned anesthesia technique, and the available devices [19-21, 30]. Monitoring of central venous pressure (CVP) may raise concerns but so far is the most common hemodynamic parameter used worldwide in the perioperative period [30]. Minimally invasive or the new

noninvasive monitoring devices, allowing measurements of cardiac output and dynamic indices of fluid responsiveness (systolic pressure variation [SPV], stroke volume variation [SVV], pulse pressure variation [PPV]), should be strongly considered whenever appropriate [20, 21, 30]. In case of high-risk patients because of comorbidities and/or because of complex surgery (e.g., surgery with major fluid shifts), invasive arterial blood pressure is advised.

If a central neuraxial blockade is planned, PT/aPTT and platelet count should be within the limits considered safe for surgical procedures, keeping in mind the possible bone marrow depression due to immunosuppressive drugs and a possible multifactorial thrombocytopenia (as is, e.g., in liver-transplanted patients). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs should be avoided because of the risk of hepatic and kidney toxicity, gastric bleeding, and adverse effects on platelet function [1–5].

Interactions between immunosuppressors and anesthetic drugs should be considered in transplanted patients: however, as already underlined, in spite of reported experimental evidences of possible interactions, there are no clinical trials demonstrating major interactions, and the available studies are not updated.

6.4.1 Kidney Transplant Recipients

Kidney transplant recipients are at high cardiovascular risk: the risk, reduced but not entirely eliminated by the transplant, claims for a thorough and updated preoperative cardiovascular evaluation of patient undergoing noncardiac surgery to rule out coronary artery disease or dilated or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy [19]. Diabetes mellitus, another significant risk factor for cardiovascular complications, is not infrequent in kidney transplant recipients. Renal function can be altered, even if serum creatinine level is within normal range: great care has to be taken in avoiding nephrotoxic drug or substances excreted by the kidney. Among inhalational anesthetics, isoflurane and desflurane are safe. Sevoflurane has been demonstrated to be safe in several trials, even if concerns are still expressed by some, due to the presence and the possible renal toxic adverse effects of compound A (a by-product of the reaction with strong bases present in the CO_2 absorbers) and inorganic fluoride ions. In case of low flow anesthesia, a minimum fresh gas flow rate of 2 L/min has to be used [31–34]. Among neuromuscular blocking drugs, cisatracurium should be considered the drug of choice due to the spontaneous degradation (Hoffman reaction) [35]. Due to a reduced elimination of rocuronium in chronic renal failure (the case for suboptimal renal function after transplant and not to be generalized to all the kidney-transplanted patients by default), more studies are needed before the use of sugammadex can be recommended in this specific setting: the complex rocuronium/sugammadex in fact is excreted by the kidneys. Caution and strict monitoring are to be used with fentanyl, sufentanil, and alfentanil in case of suboptimal renal function: interindividual pharmacokinetic variability is high, making titration to the need of the individual patient mandatory in this specific setting. The use of remifentanil, according to the reported routine clinical experience, seems to be safe, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles being unaltered even in renal

dysfunction. While in chronic renal failure opioid administration might be problematic (as above underlined and well demonstrated also for morphine and its metabolite morphine-3-glicuronide), good functional recovery of the kidney graft is able to normalize opioid clearance. Meperidine in patients with renal dysfunction might cause seizures (accumulation of the metabolite normeperidine) and then has to be used with great caution.

Prevention of hypotension and hypoperfusion is the hemodynamic goal in every clinical anesthesia. Particularly in the kidney-transplanted patient, the intraoperative hemodynamic monitoring is mandatory to avoid hypovolemia and its consequences: minimally invasive devices allowing continuous cardiac output monitoring could ease the differential diagnosis of the hypotensive episodes and should orient the hemodynamic manipulation (hypovolemia vs. decreased contractility vs. distributive shock). Intraoperative oliguria has to be avoided, and diuretics are to be administered only after having ruled out hypovolemia: this makes hemodynamic monitoring crucial for an appropriate interpretation of the cardiovascular changes. Quite the same is the behavior in case of pancreas-kidney- and in pancreastransplanted patients [36].

6.4.2 Liver Transplant Recipients

The liver transplant recipient with average graft function and normal LFTs has to be considered as a "normal" patient: the possible consequences of the denervated liver have already been discussed and taken into consideration when preparing the anesthesia plan [5]. In liver transplant recipients, there is no evidence of increased risk of developing toxic hepatitis after the administration of isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desoflurane, even if few case reports of hepatotoxicity due to sevoflurane are present in the literature [11]. The possible protective role of sevoflurane is then controversial. There are no contraindications to locoregional anesthesia, but attention should be paid to platelets count and the coagulation profile (see above). Opioids are safe propofol and thiopental are safe induction agents, while caution should be used with ketamine, due to the possible induction of seizure activity. Among neuromuscular blocking agents, cisatracurium might be considered of choice, even if in patients with good liver graft function and normal renal function, rocuronium, vecuronium, and sugammadex should be safe [5]. In liver-transplanted patients undergoing de novo cancer surgery, peritoneal adhesions are at very high risk of bleeding for surgical technical reasons, regardless of hemostasis and coagulation tests. To optimize the management of intraoperative bleeding and transfusion requirements (and in general the hemostatic profile), the use of thromboelastography and thromboelastometry is advised: if not available, PT/aPTT, fibrinogen, and platelet counts are to be monitored [5, 37]. As above underlined, hemodynamic monitoring is mandatory to optimize circulating volume and fluid administration, particularly in major abdominal surgery: the use of devices able to measure cardiac output and dynamic indices (SVV, PPV) becomes crucial for a perioperative goal-directed therapy, even

if again central venous pressure (CVP) monitoring is still the most frequent reported parameter [30].

6.4.3 Heart Transplant Recipients

General anesthesia is preferred over regional anesthesia in heart transplant recipients due to the possible impaired response to hypotension after the central neuraxial block [2–4]:

however, locoregional anesthesia is not contraindicated, and there are published case reports [1-4]—an appropriate volume loading together with an ad hoc hemodynamic monitoring is mandatory to balance the relative hypovolemia due to vasodilatation [4]. Invasive or minimally invasive hemodynamic monitoring is mandatory when hemorrhage is expected or relevant fluid shifts are anticipated. Fluid challenge or the use of pressors and inotropes has to be guided by the hemodynamic monitoring. Invasive arterial blood pressure has to be strongly considered in case of intermediate- and high-risk surgery. Transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) can be, if and when available, a good choice to assess volume status and cardiac contractility [1–4]. Neuromuscular blockade monitoring is becoming more and more relevant, particularly when cisatracurium is used: elimination is not affected by either renal or hepatic (dys)function, and neostigmine, as above underlined, has to be avoided to severe bradycardia [4]. Rocuronium (and sugammadex as reversal) might be a safe alternative choice for muscle relaxation and reversal: neuromuscular monitoring is, however, to be strongly considered [4]. Infections have to be ruled out: WBC count and markers of infection (CRP/PCT) should be monitored. A chest X-ray might be considered before surgery, according to the scheduled surgical procedure and the patient's age.

6.4.4 Lung Transplant Recipients

Anesthesiologic management in lung transplant recipients is influenced by the severity of lung dysfunction prior to transplant, particularly in case of single-lung transplant [1–4]. Obstructive and restrictive syndromes and hypoxia are the rule in lung transplant recipients. Hypercapnia early after transplant is not unusual. Chest X-ray, arterial blood-gas analysis, and spirometry are to be strongly considered before major surgery. Chest CT scan is the gold standard for every differential diagnosis [6, 7]. Intraoperative protective ventilation strategy is mandatory, and ventilatory strategy should be tailored according to the type of lung transplant. In single-lung transplant, 60–70% of perfusion will be directed to the transplanted lung, and positive pressure ventilation may lead to shunting and impaired oxygenation [4]. In patients receiving a single-lung transplant for restrictive lung disease, the transplanted lung should have significantly better compliance than the native lung, and oxygenation/ventilation is unlikely to be compromised.

Restrictive perioperative fluid management has to be strongly considered to avoid pulmonary edema due to impaired lymphatic vessels and should be guided by hemodynamic monitoring using minimally invasive systems or TEE.

6.4.5 Special Cases

6.4.5.1 Laparoscopic Surgery

Laparoscopic procedures are increasing in transplanted patients. In heart transplant patients, laparoscopic surgery can be challenging: induction of anesthesia and positioning may cause hemodynamic instability often secondary to a reduced cardiac output. CO_2 -pneumoperitoneum has direct and indirect effects secondary to abdominal distention and CO_2 reabsorption. The net hemodynamic effects are increased systemic vascular resistances, arterial pressure and filling pressures (CVP/PWP), and a decreased CI [1–3].

6.5 Conclusions

Knowledge of the new physiological profile associated with the denervated grafted organ and the new natural history introduced by the condition of immunosuppression are key to manage the solid organ transplant recipients facing non-transplant surgery: due to the expanding number of transplanted patients admitted to non-transplant surgery, the possible problematic approach and the few studies so far available, a registry for the perioperative problems is needed for an optimal design of appropriate management guidelines.

References

- Avoina L, Pretto E. Anesthesia for non-transplant surgery in the organ transplant recipient. In: Pretto Jr EA, Biancofiore G, et al., editors. Oxford textbook of transplant anaesthesia and critical care. Oxford: Oxford University press; 2015. https://doi.org/10.1093/ med/9780199651429.001.0001.
- Toivonen HJ. Anaesthesia for patients with a transplanted organ. Acta Anaeshesiol Scand. 2000;44:812–33.
- Kastopanagiotou G, et al. Anesthetic and perioperative management of adult transplant recipients in non transplant surgery. Anesth Analg. 1999;89:613–22.
- Baisden JS. Anesthesia for non cardiac surgery following thoracic organ transplantation, Chapter 18. In: Subramaniam K, Sakai T, editors. Anesthesia and perioperative care for organ transplantation. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. p. 249–59. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6377-5_18.
- Hoetzel A. General anesthesia for the patient with ESLD and post liver transplantation, Chapter 31. In: Subramaniam K, Sakai T, editors. Anesthesia and perioperative care for organ transplantation. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. p. 395–407. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6377-5_31.
- Hardinger KL, Agha IA, Brennan DC. Immunosuppressive agents, Chapter 3. In: Ljungman P, Snydman D, Boeckh M, editors. Transplant infections. 4th ed. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016. p. 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28797-3_3.

- De Gasperi A, Feltracco P, Mazza E, Ceravola E. Pulmonary complications in patients receiving a solid-organ transplant. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2014;20:411–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MCC.000000000000120.
- Almaghrabi R, Clancy CJ, Nguyen NH. Prevention of perioperative infections in organ transplant recipients, Chapter 2. In: Subramaniam K, Sakai T, editors. Anesthesia and perioperative care for organ transplantation. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6377-5_18.
- 9. Bromberg JS, Baliga P. Stress steroids are not required for patients receiving a renal allograft and undergoing operation. J Am Coll Surg. 1995;180:532–6.
- Girella VN, Pantuc CB, et al. Effects of cyclosporine on anesthetic action. Anesth Analg. 1987;66:703–6.
- Turillazzi E, D'Errico S, Neri M, Riezzo I, Fineschi V. A fatal case of fulminant hepatic necrosis following sevoflurane anesthesia. Toxicol Pathol. 2007;35:840–5.
- Siai A, Kaplan RF, Davis RF. Prolonged neuromuscolar blockade and ventilatory failure after renal transplantation and cyclosporine. Can J Anesth. 1990;37:543–8.
- Mazze RI, et al. The effects of sevoflurane on serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen concentrations: a retrospective, twenty-two center, comparative evaluation of renal function in adult surgical patients. Anesth Analg. 2000;90:683–8.
- 14. Crosby E, Robblee JA. Cyclosporine-pancuronium interaction in a patient with a renal allograft. Can J Anesth. 1988;35:300–2.
- 15. Gramstad L, et al. Interaction of cyclosporine and its solvent cremophor with atracurium and vecuronium: studies in the cat. Br Anaesth. 1986;58:1149–55.
- 16. Dhar R. Neurologic complications of transplantation. Neurocrit Care. 2018;28:4–11.
- 17. Song T, Rao Z, Tan Q, Qiu Y, Liu J, Huang Z, Wang X, Lin T. Calcineurin inhibitors associated posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome in solid organ transplantation: report of 2 cases and literature review. Medicine. 2016;95:e3173.
- 18. Fishman JA. Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. New Engl J Med. 2007;357:2601–14.
- Raval Z, Harinstein ME, Skaro AI, Erdogan A, DeWolf AM, Shah SJ, Fix OK, Kay N, Abecassis MI, Gheorghiade M, Flaherty JD. Cardiovascular risk assessment of the liver transplant candidate. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:223–31.
- 20. Kristensen K, et al. ESC/ESA Guidelines on non-cardiac surgery: cardiovascular assessment and management. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2014;31:1–57.
- Fleisher L, et al. ACC/AHA guideline on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation and management of patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. Executive summary. Circulation. 2014;130:2215.
- 22. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines: liver transplantation. J Hepatol. 2016;64:433.
- 23. Murphy DA, et al. The heart reinnervates after transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000;69:1769–81.
- Cristalli A, De Gasperi A, Prosperi M, Mazza E, Puttini M, Palmieri B. Abdominal aortic aneurysm resection following cholecystectomy and heart transplantation. Case report. Minerva Anestesiol. 2001;67:149–55.
- Hammer GB, et al. Post transplant lymphoproliferative disease may present with severe airway obstruction. Anesthesiology. 1998;89:263–5.
- 26. Del Rio JM, Daneshmand MA, Hartwig GH. Postoperative critical care of lung transplant patients, Chapter 10. In: Subramaniam K, Sakai T, editors. Anesthesia and perioperative care for organ transplantation. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. p. 111–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6377-5_10.
- 27. Consensus conference on perioperative renal protection. Ann Franc Anesth. 2005;24:87-119.
- Lee TH, et al. Differential protective effects of volatile anesthetic against renal ischemia reperfusion injury in vivo. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:1313–23.
- Ladha KS, Bateman BT, Houle TT, MAC DJ, Vidal Melo MF, Huybrechts KF, Kurth T, Eikermann M. Variability in the use of protective mechanical ventilation during general anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2018;126:503–12.

- Biancofiore G, Cecconi M, Della Rocca G. A web-based Italian survey of current trends, habits and beliefs in hemodynamic monitoring and management. J Clin Monit Comput. 2015;29:635–4.
- Mc Ilroy D, Sladen RN. Renal physiology, pathophysiology and pharmacology, Chapter 23. In: Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 545–90.
- Steadman R, Wray C. Anesthesia for abdominal organ transplantation, Chapter 74. In: Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 2262–91.
- Perouanski M, Pearce R, Hammings H. Inhaled anaesthetics: mechanisms of action, Chapter 25. In: Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 614–37.
- Forman S, Ishizawa Y. Inhaled anaesthetics: pharmacokinetics, Chapter 26. In: Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 638–69.
- Vuyk J, Sitsen E, Reekers M. Intravenous anesthetics, Chapter 30. In: Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 821–63.
- 36. Cingi E, Beebe DS, Harmon JV, Belani K. Preoperative recipient evaluation and preparation (kidney), Chapter 20. In: Subramaniam K, Sakai T, editors. Anesthesia and perioperative care for organ transplantation. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. p. 275–9. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6377-5_20.
- 37. De Pietri L, DeGasperi A, Feltracco P, Biancofiore G, Sensolo M, Sacerdoti D. Management of severe bleeding in liver disease and transplantation, Chapter 10. In: Ranucci M, Simioni P, editors. Point-of-care tests for severe hemorrhage: a manual for diagnosis and treatment. New York, NY: Springer; 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-24793-9 (Print) 978-3-319-24795-3.



Neuromuscular Diseases

Fabrizio Racca and Brunella Gily

Patients affected by neuromuscular disorders (NMDs) are at high risk of intraoperative and postoperative complications. General anesthesia (GA) in these patients may exacerbate respiratory and cardiovascular failure due to a marked sensitivity to several anesthetic drugs. Moreover, succinylcholine and halogenated agents can trigger life-threatening reactions [1]. On the other hand, survival rates of these patients had progressively improved, increasing the need for surgical procedures [2, 3]. An intensive, proactive, multidisciplinary approach should be instituted before, during, and after any surgical procedure requiring GA or sedation. Thus, surgery in this children population should be performed in a fully equipped hospital with extensive experience in NMD management. This chapter will review the pathophysiology of life-threatening complications of anesthesia in NMDs and the assessment and management of these patients before, during, and after anesthesia. Four major categories of NMDs (see Table 7.1) should be considered to plan the safest anesthesia strategy: (1) motoneuron diseases, (2) peripheral neuropathies, (3) neuromuscular junction diseases, and (4) muscle diseases.

7.1 Preoperative Assessment and Management

Some patients with NMDs may lack a definite diagnosis, manifesting the disease only with minor signs. These patients are particularly at risk of life-threatening complications related to anesthesia. Thus, all patients presenting for administration of GA or sedation should be screened for subclinical myopathy [1] (see Table 7.2).

Inability to walk past 18 months old or other signs of motor loss or delay, especially if familiar, the presence of scoliosis or joint blocks should suggest a subclinical myopathy and should warrant neurological evaluation before elective surgery.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

7

F. Racca $(\boxtimes) \cdot B$. Gily

Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, SS Antonio Biagio e Cesare Arrigo Hospital, Alessandria, Italy

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_7

Table 7.1 Neuromuscular disorders

- 1. Motoneuron diseases
 - Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)
 - Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA)
 - SMA with respiratory distress (SMARD)
 - Spinobulbar muscular atrophy (Kennedy disease)
 - Poliomyelitis
 - Post-polio syndrome
- 2. Peripheral neuropathies
 - Guillain-Barrè syndrome (GBS)
 - Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP)
 - Hereditary sensory and motor neuropathies (i.e., Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease)
 - Hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathies (HSAN)
 - · Critical illness polyneuropathy
 - · Other polyneuropathies
- 3. Neuromuscular junction diseases
 - Myasthenia gravis (MG)
 - Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS)
 - · Congenital myasthenias
 - Botulism
- 4. Muscle diseases
- 4.1. Progressive muscular dystrophies
 - Dystrophinopathies: Duchenne (DMD) and Becker (BMD) type
 - Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies (LGMD)
 - Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy (FSHD)
 - Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD)
 - Myotonic dystrophy (DM): DM type 1 (DM1), DM type 2 (DM2)
- 4.2. Congenital muscular dystrophies
 - Ullrich CMD, Bethlem myopathy
 - Merosin-deficient dystrophy CMD
 - Alpha-dystroglycanopathies (e.g., Fukuyama CMD)
 - Emery-Dreifuss dystrophy
- 4.3. Congenital myopathies
 - Central core disease
 - · Asymptomatic patients susceptible to malignant hyperthermia
 - Multiminicore myopathy
 - · Nemaline/rod myopathies
 - · Centronuclear/myotubular myopathy
 - Fiber-type disproportion myopathy
 - · Myofibrillar myopathies
- 4.4. Metabolic myopathies
 - · Mitochondrial encephalomyopathies
 - Glycogen storage disorders (i.e., GSD type II or Pompe disease, McArdle disease)
 - Lipid storage myopathies
- 4.5. Channelopathies
 - · Congenital myotonia
 - · Hyperkalemic periodic paralysis
 - · Hypokalemic periodic paralysis
 - King-Denborough syndrome
- 4.6. Acquired myopathies
 - Polymyositis
 - Dermatomyositis
 - Toxic myopathies
 - Endocrine myopathies (e.g., thyroid dysfunction)

Table 7.2 Suspicious signs and symptoms of subclinical neuromuscular disease

• Usual snoring and/or the presence of signs and symptoms of sleep breathing disorders (frequent arousals, disturbed sleep, daily drowsiness, nightmares, morning headache, poor concentration, irritability)

- · Recurrent pneumonia and/or lower airway infections
- · Ineffective cough, swallowing disease
- · Inability to walk before the age of 18 months, delay in the development stages
- · Scoliosis, lordosis, articular retractions/blocks, ligaments laxity
- · Napoleon hat profile mouth, wooden face
- Weakness of the main articulations: scapular (inability to lift the arms), pelvic (Gower maneuver, donkey walk), feet and hands
- · Frequent falls, fatigability
- Loss of muscle tone, alteration of tropism (hypotrophy, hypertrophy, calves pseudohypertrophy)
- · Reduction of QI, delay of speech
- Mioglobinuria (dark-colored urine)
- Ophthalmoplegia
- Lactic acid increase
- CK increase with/without AST > ALT increase

Table 7.3 Causes of CK level increase

Myopathies

- Very high levels of CK (>1500 U/L): Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy, limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, congenital dystrophy, inflammatory myopathies, thyroid diseases
- Moderate increase of CK (500–1500 U/L): glycogen storage disorders, RYR 1 mutation (malign hyperthermia, central core myopathy), channelopathies, myotonic muscular dystrophy, facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy
- Mild increase of CK (200–500 U/L): congenital myopathy, secondary myopathy, mitochondrial defects
- Neuropathies and motoneuron diseases (usually slight increased levels of CK, with the exception of Kennedy bulb-spinal atrophy where CK levels are over 1500 U/L)
- Myositis
- Traumatism or intense exercise in the last 72 h
- Muscle ischemia
- · Endocrine system disease (thyroid, adrenal, parathyroid dysfunctions)
- · Drugs (statins, alcohol, neuroleptics, beta-blockers)

Asymptomatic elevated creatine kinase (CK) levels may be the only sign of a muscle disease. Persistent high levels of CK (two times higher than the normal range) require a neuromuscular evaluation. Moreover, these patients should be checked for subclinical myopathy (see Table 7.2). All the causes of elevated CK are listed in Table 7.3.

All patients with suspected or confirmed NMD are particularly at risk of lifethreatening complications related to anesthesia, such as malignant hyperthermia, rhabdomyolysis, and hyperkalemic cardiac arrest secondary to denervation. Such patients should be treated as highest risk level subjects.

In all patients with NMDs preoperative pulmonary evaluation is strongly recommended to assess the risk of respiratory complications and the need of specific perioperative and postoperative management [1]. Assessment of respiratory function should include an accurate medical history and physical examination, a chest X-ray, an evaluation of sleep-disordered breathing, and the measurements of respiratory function and cough effectiveness. Evaluation of respiratory function and cough effectiveness includes measurement of FVC, peak cough flow (PCF), and diurnal pulse oximetry (SpO₂). SpO₂ less than 95% in room air or FVC less than 50% of predicted value has been established as a clinically significant abnormality, requiring carbon dioxide (PCO₂) level measurement. Moreover, a sleep study is indicated in patients who have any of the following: preoperative FVC < 40% of predicted value and signs or symptoms of nocturnal hypoventilation or apnea. Preoperative training with the use of NIV has been recommended for patients with NMDs with preoperative FVC < 50% of predicted value, especially for patients at high risk of respiratory failure, defined by an FVC < 30% of predicted value, or with diurnal hypercapnia. Moreover, if PCF is less than 270 L/min, training in assisted cough techniques is advocated before surgery. See Table 7.4 for more details.

All patients with neuromuscular disease with potential involvement of the cardiocirculatory system (see Table 7.5) must undergo an accurate assessment of cardiac

Table 7.4 Respiratory preoperative management

Indications for noninvasive ventilation training in preoperative time

- Forced vital capacity <50% of predicted values (<60% for pediatric population). The patient should be well collaborative
- Daily hypercapnia (PaCO₂ > 45 mmHg)
- Significant night hypercapnia (EtCO₂ or PtcCO₂ > 50 mmHg for more than 10% of sleep time or SpO₂ < 90% for at least 5 consecutive minutes or >4 episodes of SpO₂ < 92%)
- Significant sleep apnea (the cutoff value of AHI is still unknown; some authors suggest to start NIV when AHI is >10 in patients affected by Duchenne muscular dystrophy)

Indications for training in manual and/or mechanical assistance in cough for the patient in the preoperative time

- Cough peak <270 L/min (adult or young adult). Only for collaborative patients
- MEP < 40 cmH₂O (Only for collaborative patients)
- · Anamnestic data for children

Disorder	Cardiac effects
Guillain-Barrè syndrome Hereditary neuropathies Muscular-spinal atrophy	Autonomic system dysfunction may enhance cardiovascular instability (i.e., bradycardia, blood pressure shifts)
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Long QT
Dystrophinopathies: Duchenne and Becker type	Dilated cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias, and conduction defects
Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies Myotonic dystrophy Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy Congenital myopathies Mitochondrial encephalomyopathies	Arrhythmias, conduction defects, dilated cardiomyopathy
Glycogen storage disorder type II or Pompe disease	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in the infantile form
Lipid storage myopathies	Cardiomyopathy
Periodical paralysis	Arrhythmias in case of hypo- or hyperkalemia; particular awareness to the Andersen syndrome because it is at high risk of ventricular arrhythmia

Table 7.5 Cardiac dysfunctions in neuromuscular disorders
function (echocardiogram in all patients with myopathy and in patients with suspected pulmonary hypertension, ECG Holter if signs or symptoms of bradytachyarrhythmia) and an optimization of cardiologic therapy before being subjected to anesthesia or sedation [1].

For patients chronically treated with steroids (i.e., DMD, myasthenia gravis), consideration has to be paid to their administration during surgery. In fact, this therapy can suppress the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and, during a phase of stress, such as surgery, the adrenal glands may don't respond appropriately [4]. Management of surgical patients on chronic steroid therapy should be performed administering a perioperative stress-dose steroids [5].

The preoperative evaluation should also include the assessment for a difficult intubation due to jaw ankylosis, atrophy of masticatory muscles, macroglossia, or to limited mobility of the cervical spine. If any of these conditions are present, intubation should be performed taking into account adult and child guidelines for difficult intubation [6, 7].

7.2 Life-Threatening Complications of Anesthesia in NMDS

All patients with suspected or confirmed NMD are particularly at risk of lifethreatening complications related to anesthesia, such as malignant hyperthermia, rhabdomyolysis, and hyperkalemic cardiac arrest secondary to denervation.

Malignant hyperthermia (MH) is very rare (incidence of 1:100,000 patients who undergo general anesthesia, being 50% of the cases less than 19 years old). The predicted prevalence in the USA of patients susceptible to MH is 1:2000 [8, 9].

The clinical signs of MH are severe hyperthermia, muscle contraction, rhabdomyolysis, and mixed acidosis. MH occurs when a susceptible individual is exposed to succinylcholine or a halogenated volatile anesthetic (halothane, isofluorane, enfluorane, sevofluorane, desfluorane). Patients with genetic alteration of ryanodine receptor (RYR1) or, rarely, dihydropyridine receptor (DHP) are strongly at risk. MH patients affected by myopathies have an alteration of RYR1 receptors, such as some congenital myopathy (i.e., the "central core" myopathy, the "multi-minicore" myopathy, and Native American myopathy) and some channelopathies (i.e., the King-Denborough disease and periodic hypokalemic paralysis).

The MH can appear either immediately after the induction of anesthesia or during anesthesia or immediately after suspension of anesthesia in the postoperative time. In the latter case, it usually arises with asymptomatic rhabdomyolysis. In Tables 7.6 and 7.7, further informations are provided on the management of the IM.

Rhabdomyolysis is another rare but potentially lethal complication that manifests when vulnerable subjects (i.e., patients with myopathies) are exposed to halogenated gases or to succinylcholine. Rhabdomyolysis is the effect of the necrosis of

Table 7.6 Useful information for the diagnosis of malignant hyperthermia

- Malignant hyperthermia (MH) is caused by an abnormality on a skeletal muscle receptor. The genetic mutation is known in about 50% of the cases: in most cases the genetic alteration is a mutation of the ryanodine receptor (RYR1); it is rarely due to the mutation of the dihydropyridine receptor (DHP). In about 50% of the cases, the genetic alteration of RYR1 is transmitted as an autosomal dominant trait; in other patients, a new mutation is assumed
- The subjects listed below are at risk of being healthy carriers of alterations of RYR1 or DHP receptors:
- Familiar or personal history of adverse reactions to anesthesia (respiratory or metabolic acidosis, masseter or generalized muscle stiffness, dark-colored urine, hyperthermia)
- Patients with signs of subclinical myopathy (inability to walk past 18 months old or other signs of motor loss of delay, especially if familiar, the presence of scoliosis or joint blocks, etc.)
- Patients with a history of rhabdomyolysis caused by heat or exercise

"Trigger" drugs must be avoided in these people and a diagnostic investigation should be planned properly

- Patients with certain congenital myopathies are also at risk, i.e., "central core" myopathy, "multi-minicore" myopathy, Native American myopathy, and some channelopathies (i.e., King-Denborough disease and hypokalemic periodic paralysis)
- MH may start during the first anesthesia exposure, even if in more than 50% of the cases, there was a previous anesthesia that did not trigger it. The incidence is probably underestimated: some cases occur with a mild form (variable phenotypic expression). In susceptible individuals, MH has also been described after exposure to hard exercise or heat. In addition to this, there are cases of fatal MH in susceptible subjects without apparent triggers (postmortem demonstration of RYR1 receptor abnormality)
- MH may cause an excessive release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, which causes an excessive accumulation of calcium in the muscle cells. The result is a prolonged muscle contraction and an activation of the cellular metabolism with a consequent increase of production of CO₂, depletion of O₂ and ATP, and with the effect of an increase of lactic acid production. Once the energy stocks are finished, cells die and go to rhabdomyolysis
- The first manifestations of MH are muscle contraction and mixed acidosis with increased lactates, as well as rhabdomyolysis and hyperkalemia
- After several minutes/hours since the onset of the reaction, a severe hyperthermia appears (the increase in temperature can be 1 °C/h), which can reach 45 °C. This phenomenon is caused by the contraction of the muscles. Activation of the cellular metabolism increases the consumption of O₂ and the CO₂ production, with the result of the dysfunction of vital organs. Hyperthermia is associated with the development of disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC)
- Clinical presentation varies from patient to patient. Typically, one of the first signs of MH is
 a severe hypercapnia, detected by capnography, without apparent cause; it is difficult to
 correct, despite the minute volume increase. Associated signs include sinus tachycardia and/
 or muscle stiffness (generalized or masseter isolated), despite curarization, and/or metabolic
 acidosis. Rigidity muscle in a curarized patient is pathognomonic. Most of the patients do
 not have all the symptoms described above
- Hyperthermia is rarely an early sign: it is usually a late manifestation and may even be absent. Other usually late symptoms are the ECG alterations related to hyperkalemia, tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation, pressure instability (hypertension or hypotension), myoglobinuria
- Laboratory tests may also show mixed acidosis with increased lactates, increased levels of blood CK, hyperkalemia, myoglobinuria
- The signs of MH can be divided into early and late signs

Table 7.6	(continued)
-----------	-------------

	Early signs of MH	Late signs of MH
Metabolic	EtCO ₂ increase	Hyperkalemia
	O ₂ consumption	Fast increase of
	increase	body core
	Metabolic and	temperature
	respiratory acidosis	
	Profuse sweating	
	Marbled skin	
Muscular	Spasm of the	High values of CK
	masseter (typically	blood levels
	after	High values of blood
	succinylcholine	myoglobin
	administration)	High values of
	Generalized	myoglobinuria
	muscle stiffness	(dark-colored urine)
Cardiovascular	Atypical	Serious cardiac
	tachycardia	arrhythmias
	Cardiac	Cardiac arrest
	arrhythmias	DIC (disseminated
	Hemodynamic	intravascular
	instability	coagulation)

The following conditions should be ruled out:

- · Inadequate anesthetic dept
- Sepsis
- · Inadequate ventilation
- Anesthesia machine malfunction
- · Pheochromocytoma
- · Thyrotoxic crisis
- Drug abuse (ecstasy or other)
- · Malignant neuroleptic syndrome

Diagnostic investigation among patients suspected of being susceptible to IM should not delay anesthesia: avoiding trigger drugs is sufficient

There are two diagnostic exams for MH:

- Contraction test with caffeine and halothane; it requires a biopsy (however, there are several false negatives)
- Genetic diagnosis (however, there are several false negatives, because in only about 50% of the cases the genetic mutation is known)

the muscular cell, with consequent release of intracellular substances into the circulation (i.e., potassium, myoglobin, and CK). This phenomenon may cause a cardiac arrest due to hyperkalemia and acute renal failure.

Hyperkalemic cardiac arrest secondary to denervation is another life-threatening complication related to general anesthesia in neuromuscular disorders. It is triggered by succinylcholine, when administered in patients who have an increase in nicotinic receptors caused by denervation, as occurs in people with motoneuron disease and with peripheral neuropathy.

Table 7.7 Managing a malignant hyperthermia crisis

```
Immediately
```

- Stop all trigger agents and change to non-trigger anesthesia (i.e., TIVA)
- Disconnect the vaporizer
- Declare an emergency and call for help
- Inform the surgeon and ask for termination/postponement of surgery
- Hyperventilate (use a minute volume 2–3 times normal) with 100% O_2 at high flow
- Treat with dantrolene (2.5 mg/kg i.v. with rapid infusion; ampoules of 20 mg are mixed with 60 mL sterile water for injectable solutions (48 ampoules may be needed for an adult patient)). The infusion should be repeated until cardiorespiratory stabilization; it may be necessary to go beyond the maximum dose of 10 mg/kg; the dantrolene administration must be started as soon as possible
- · Consider inserting an arterial and central venous line and a urinary catheter

Treat hyperthermia

- \bullet Cool the body surface to <38.5 °C with physical means: air, wet and cold towels, ice packs placed in the axillae and groin
- 2000–3000 mL of chilled (4 °C) 0.9% saline infused i.v.

Measure core temperature

Treat acidosis

- Give sodium bicarbonate 8.4% (1 mL = 1 mEq) 1–2 mEq/kg at i.v. if pH < 7.2
- Hyperventilate aiming to normalize PCO₂
- · Treat hyperkalemia by administering
- Glucose 50% 100 mL with 10 IU insulin, monitoring blood sugar
- Calcium chloride 10%: 5–10 i.v. (using a central venous catheter) until the normal values of ionized calcemia are reached

Prevent acute renal failure by administering fluids and diuretics and check renal function

- Maintain urinary output >2 mL/kg/h by administering furosemide 0.5–1 mg/
 - kg + continuous infusion starting at 1 mg/kg/h
- Increase consensually the administration of crystalloids (lactated Ringer's solution or 0.9% saline)

Treat any arrhythmias (do not administer calcium channel blockers)

- · Give esmolol if tachycardia persists
- Give amiodarone: 300 mg i.v. for treatment of arrhythmias

Check coagulation and treat any coagulopathy (DIC)

Obtain sample for measurement of CK and myoglobulin

Transfer the patient to ICU and monitor the patient for a minimum of 24 h

7.2.1 Prevention of Complications

To prevent these life-threatening complications related to general anesthesia, it is very important to follow the recommendations below [10].

1. Choose total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) in subjects at risk, in order to avoid drugs that can trigger one of these complications; it is fundamental in these cases to use an anesthesia machine without the vaporizer, to change the circuit and the soda lime; moreover, the anesthesia machine have to be "washed" from the presence of halogenated gas residues. Washing the anesthesia device must be performed setting the machine to ventilate with a balloon attached to the Y-tube for at least 20 min, using an O_2 flow of at least 10 L/min. The absence of halogenated

gas in the system must be confirmed by checking the absence of halogenates exhaled by the analyzer of gas.

- 2. An adequate monitoring should always be provided during and after surgery, to identify signs of rhabdomyolysis or MH (dark-colored urine, hyperkalemia, increase of CK blood levels, hypercapnia, hyperthermia, etc.).
- 3. In the operating rooms, there must be sufficient stock of dantrolene and sterile water for this dilution (at least 36 ampoules of 20 mg of dantrolene, which allow the cumulative administration dose of 10 mg/kg in a 72-kg-weight patient. In addition to this, there should be at least 5 60 mL syringes and 36 100 mL bottles of sterile water for dilution); each ampoule of dantrolene sodium 20 mg is in powder form, and it must be prepared by adding 60 mL of sterile water for injectable use and shaking up to get a clear solution. Some authors recommend the storage of 48 ampoules, considering the possibility of treating high-weight patients.

7.2.2 Management

In the case of one of these complications, immediate treatment is essential [10].

In the case of MH, the treatment is described in Table 7.7.

In the case of rhabdomyolysis, the treatment involves the management of hyperkalemia, the prevention of acute renal failure, and the treatment of possible arrhythmias using the same strategies described in Table 7.7 for MH.

In the case of cardiac arrest from hyperkalemia, the treatment requires that the cardiopulmonary resuscitation is sustained until the level of potassium has been lowered.

7.3 Intraoperative Management

Regional anesthesia should be warranted whenever possible, including patients with preexisting peripheral nervous system disorders, in particular in the case of respiratory dysfunction [1].

It is recommended to avoid the use of succinylcholine in all neuromuscular patients [1].

In patients with motoneuron diseases, peripheral neuropathies, and neuromuscular junction diseases, halogenated agents can be administered [1]. On the contrary, it is recommended to avoid the use of halogenated agents in patients' muscle diseases; however, in mitochondrial myopathies, halogenated agents can be administered in order to avoid prolonged use of propofol for the maintenance of anesthesia that can induce in such patients' lactic acidosis [1].

Although some authors [11] agree that when faced with a difficult venous access in a patient with myopathy, a brief use of inhalation anesthesia is possible as long as the anesthesiologist is prepared to treat rhabdomyolysis; other authors [1] agreed about the use of ketamine in these circumstances. Although IM ketamine is used for adult patients, an oral or rectal route is preferred for pediatric patients to avoid unnecessary pain and stress to the child and their family.

If inhalation anesthesia has to be avoided, general anesthesia can be performed using total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) [1]. In these cases, ultra-short-acting drugs, such as propofol and remifertanil, are preferable [1].

In all patients with NMDs, nondepolarizing neuromuscular blocking (NMBs) agents may show prolonged duration of neuromuscular blockade even when shortacting. Thus, most reports recommend avoidance of NMBs whenever possible [1]. However, when NMBs are necessary, the dose should be reduced and titrated to effect; neuromuscular function has to be continuously monitored (e.g., using the train-of-four monitoring) and the effect of muscle relaxant should be antagonized [1]. Therefore, reversal of rocuronium-induced or vecuronium-induced neuromuscular blockade by sugammadex could be beneficial in NMDs to eliminate the risk of postoperative residual muscle paralysis [12, 13]. Finally, the combination of rocuronium and sugammadex could replace the need for succinylcholine in rapid sequence induction in patients with NMDs [1].

In patients with myasthenia gravis, factors potentially enhancing neuromuscular blockade should be avoided (e.g., hypothermia, hypokalemia, hypophosphatemia, and several drugs).

In patients with myotonic dystrophy, factors that can precipitate myotonic contractures (e.g., hypothermia, postoperative shivering, dyskalemia, mechanical and electrical stimulation, propranolol, succinylcholine, and anticholinesterase agents) should be avoided.

7.4 Postoperative Management

Postoperative admission to an intensive care unit (ICU) should be considered in any patient (1) at risk for respiratory complications, (2) with weak cough, (3) with severe bulbar dysfunction, (4) with severe cardiac dysfunction, (5) receiving muscular blocking agent that has been not reversed by sugammadex, or (6) receiving morphine infusions [1].

Assisted cough and mechanical ventilation respiratory support in the postoperative period are recommended for patients already using MI-E and NIV preoperatively.

Patients with decreased respiratory muscle strength require close monitoring and aggressive respiratory management. In particular, the application of a protocol based on the combination of NIV with MI-E after extubation for high-risk NMD patients may provide a clinically important advantage by averting the need for reintubation or tracheotomy and shortening their ICU stay. Extubation directly to NIV should be considered for patients with baseline FVC < 50% of predicted and should be strongly considered for those with FVC < 30% of predicted. Postoperative use of assisted cough techniques including the use of MI-E must be considered for any teenage or adult with preoperative PCF < 270 L/min [1]. To maximize the chance of success, extubation should be delayed until respiratory secretions are well controlled and SpO₂ is normal or baseline in room air [14]. Oxygen must be applied

with caution in NMD patients because it can correct hypoxemia without treating the underlying cause such as hypercapnia, mucus plugging, and atelectasis. To facilitate appropriate oxygen use, CO₂ levels should be monitored.

Adequate pain control is essential to prevent hypoventilation secondary to splinting after thoracic, upper abdominal, and spine surgery [1]. In case of hypoventilation after opioid administration, adequate ventilation can be achieved by using NIV or by delaying extubation for 24–48 h. Moreover, MI-E can also be useful when pain prevents the patient from coughing spontaneously.

7.5 Conclusions

Patients with NMDs are at high risk of intraoperative and postoperative complications. An intensive, proactive, multidisciplinary approach should be instituted before, during, and after any surgical procedure requiring general anesthesia or sedation. Thus, surgery in this patient population should be performed in a fully equipped hospital with extensive experience in NMD management.

References

- Racca F, Mongini T, Wolfler A, et al. Recommendations for Anesthesia and Perioperative management of patients with neuromuscular disorders. Minerva Anestesiol. 2013;79:419–33.
- Hull J, Aniapravan R, Chan E, Chatwin M, Forton J, Gallagher J, Gibson N, Gordon J, Hughes I, McCulloch R, Russell RR, Simonds A. British Thoracic Society guideline for respiratory management of children with neuromuscular weakness. Thorax. 2012;67:i1ei40.
- Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant DJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 2: implementation of multidisciplinary care. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(2):177–89.
- 4. Marik PE, Varon J. Requirement of perioperative stress doses of corticosteroids: a systematic review of the literature. Arch Surg. 2008;143(12):1222–6.
- 5. Yong SL, Marik P, Esposito M, Coulthard P. Supplemental perioperative steroids for surgical patients with adrenal insufficiency. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(4):CD005367.
- Petrini F, Accorsi A, Adrario E, et al. Recommendations for airway control and difficult airway management. Minerva Anestesiol. 2005;71(11):617–57.
- 7. Frova G, Guarino A, Petrini F, et al. Recommendations for airway control and difficult airway management in paediatric patients. Minerva Anestesiol. 2006;72(9):723–48.
- 8. Wappler F. Malignant hyperthermia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2001;18:632.
- 9. Brady JE, Sun LS, Rosenberg H, Li G. Prevalence of malignant hyperthermia due to anesthesia in New York State, 2001-2005. Anesth Analg. 2009;109:1162.
- 10. Glahn KPE, et al. Recognizing and managing a malignant hyperthermia crisis: guidelines from the European Malignant Hyperthermia Group. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105(4):417–20.
- Veyckemans F. Can inhalation agents be used in the presence of a child with myopathy? Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010;23(3):348–55.
- de Boer HD, van Esmond J, Booij LH, Driessen JJ. Reversal of rocuronium-induced profound neuromuscular block by sugammadex in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(12):1226–8.
- 13. Unterbuchner C, Fink H, Blobner M. The use of sugammadex in a patient with myasthenia gravis. Anaesthesia. 2010;65(3):302–5.
- Bach JR, Goncalves MR, Hamdani I, Winck JC. Extubation of patients with neuromuscular weakness: a new management paradigm. Chest. 2010;137(5):1033–9.



8

Noninvasive Ventilation in the Perioperative Period

Jacopo Tramarin, Andrea Cortegiani, and Cesare Gregoretti

General anesthesia, major surgery, and postoperative pain may cause important pulmonary physiopathologic modifications. In fact, general anesthesia and neuromuscular paralysis may induce relaxation of the respiratory muscles. As a consequence, the diaphragm switches to a more cranial position causing a reduction of pulmonary volumes, thus triggering atelectasis formation [1, 2].

In the postoperative population, the reduction of functional residual capacity (FRC) is more important when surgery is performed close to the diaphragm (e.g., surgery of the thorax and/or upper abdomen). As a matter of fact, atelectasis typically develops in the dependent regions of the lung next to the diaphragm. Around 10% of lung tissue can be involved, and they may last as long as 24–48 h after a major surgery [3–5].

This in turn could determine ventilation-perfusion mismatching, hypoxemia, and acute respiratory failure (ARF) related to lung failure. Furthermore, due to diaphragm dysfunction, especially after upper abdominal surgery, respiratory pump failure can also be present [6].

Patient's comorbidities (e.g., chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), severe obesity, older age, cardiovascular disease, neuromuscular disease, etc.) are risk factors which need to be evaluated together with the type of surgery, the anesthetic technique, and the length of mechanical ventilation to evaluate the risk of postoperative pulmonary complications (PPCs) [7].

Once established, PPCs may lead to prolonged postoperative ventilatory support, longer ICU stay, higher risk for the onset of new complications, and lastly higher expense of resources and costs.

J. Tramarin · A. Cortegiani · C. Gregoretti (🖂)

Section of Anesthesia, Analgesia, Intensive Care and Emergency, Department of Anesthesiology and Medical Biotechnologies (DIBIMED), Policlinico Paolo Giaccone, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_8

PPC incidence is estimated to be between 5% and 25%, but these values raise up to 40% in cardiac surgery and 30% in thoracic surgery [8-11].

Several scoring systems have been employed to predict the onset of PPCs [12]. The ARISCAT study [13] evaluated simple clinical parameters to predict patients at risk of developing PPCs. The study included age, preoperative SpO₂ respiratory tract infections in the month previous to surgery, HB level <10 mg/dL, incision site, and length of surgery and urgent/emergency procedures. All these variables allow to stratify the risk of postoperative ARF and the degree of severity into three levels, thus allowing the clinician to perform preventive strategies such as intraoperative protective ventilation [14].

8.1 Definition of Noninvasive Ventilation (NIV) and Respiratory Support

Noninvasive ventilation consists of positive pressure application on the airway without the need of tracheal intubation [15–18].

Pressure can be delivered either continuously during the breath cycle (CPAP) or intermittently during the inspiratory phase (NIPPV).

During CPAP flow and volume are exclusively generated by the patient's respiratory efforts. CPAP may increase FRC thus preventing alveolar collapse and atelectasis [19] and may also counterbalance an intrinsic PEEP (i.e., COPD patients) [20, 21]. Lastly, CPAP prevents collapse of the upper airway [22] and reduces left ventricular afterload [21]. During NIPPV (e.g., pressure support ventilation (PSV)) flow and volume are generated partially by the respiratory muscles and partially by the ventilator. In PSV the patient controls his respiratory frequency and inspiratory and expiratory time.

8.1.1 Perioperative Use of NIV

NIV has recently been evaluated perioperatively as a therapeutic and preventive tool [6, 15, 23]; absolute and relative counter indications are the ones stated in the major reviews and controlled trials [15, 24, 25].

8.1.2 Intraoperative NIV

Intraoperative NIV can be useful in healthy patients when a deep sedation is required or in patients undergoing major surgeries who are at high risk for postoperative pulmonary complications (e.g., thoracic, cardiac, or upper abdomen surgery) [23, 26–28].

Deep sedation may also cause upper airway collapse in both healthy patients and in patients with predisposing factors like obesity or obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) (e.g., obese subjects) [27, 29, 30].

Moreover, NIV during the intraoperative period can play an important role in patients with chronic respiratory failure (e.g., COPD, neuromuscular diseases) or in patients at high risk for acute respiratory failure (e.g., patients with kyphoscoliosis). Supine positioning required by most surgeries can deteriorate the respiratory function; this exacerbation is even more considerable during neuraxial anesthesia due to the intercostal muscles paralysis [26, 28, 31, 32]. In all of these situations, NIV can boost alveolar ventilation, reducing the work of breathing and improving left ventricular afterload [23, 33–35, 38].

Cabrini and colleagues in a systematic review have identified 30 studies which evaluated 618 patients who underwent intraoperative NIV.

Intraoperative NIV aimed at preventing ARF and was found to be useful in 24 patients which already presented a severe respiratory limitation and in 502 healthy patients during deep sedation. In three patients NIV did not succeed due to upper airway collapse [36].

Obese patients deserve special attention. As a matter of fact, body mass index is an important determinant of the respiratory function before and after anesthesia in the major and in the moderately obese patient [37].

The main respiratory alteration of the obese patient is the reduction of FRC, which decreases exponentially with the elevation of body mass index (BMI). As a consequence there is a mismatch in the ventilation-perfusion ratio with hypoxemia with a possible increase in work of breathing [38–42].

The best way to maintain the lung recruited is to prevent atelectasis and to ensure physiological pulmonary volumes is to use a noninvasive positive end-inspiratory pressure (PEEP) before induction of anesthesia [43, 44].

8.2 NIV Application in Different Surgical Settings

8.2.1 Cardiac Surgery

8.2.1.1 Preventive NIV

The restrictive syndrome which develops in patients undergoing cardiac surgery is usually less invasive than the one observed in thoracic and abdominal surgery. However, the incidence of diaphragmatic dysfunction is still elevated. Jousel and colleagues found a significant reduction of atelectasis in the group treated with CPAP [45]; Gust and colleagues in a randomized controlled study on cardiac surgical patients found a reduction in pulmonary extravascular lung water both with simple CPAP and with PSV (PSV + PEEP) [46].

In another study Matte and colleagues [47] randomized 96 patients in three groups: NIV with PSV 12/PEEP 5 cmH₂O every 3 h, noninvasive CPAP 5 cmH₂O every 3 h, and incentive spirometry every 2 h; a smaller reduction of pulmonary volumes and a higher oxygenation were found in the two groups treated with NIV. Incidence of atelectasis (12–15%) was found to be equal in the three groups.

Furthermore, Pasquina and colleagues [48] evaluated CPAP 5 cmH₂O for 30 min vs. NIV (PSV 10 cmH₂O + PEEP 5 cmH₂O) in two groups of 75 patients, showing in the NIV group a smaller incidence of atelectasis notable with a standard chest X-ray. The difference in oxygenation between the two groups was negligible. Moreover, in a randomized study by Zarbock and coworkers [49], 500 patients were divided in two groups: a control group treated with 10 min of CPAP through an intermittent nasal mask (10 cmH₂O every 4 h) and a group treated with preemptive CPAP 10 cmH₂O extended for 6 h a day. The latter group was found to have a remarkable elevation of arterial oxygenation and a reduction of postoperative pulmonary complications, incidence of pneumonia, need for tracheal intubation, and ICU admission. NIV has also successfully been used in patients at high risk for ARF during less invasive cardiac procedures [50].

8.2.1.2 Therapeutic NIV

Cardiac surgery (especially when internal mammary arteries are used for the realization of coronary bypass) and thoracic surgery have a high incidence of acute postoperative respiratory failure [25]. A randomized controlled study carried out in 58 patients with ARF, comparing NPPV vs. O_2 therapy, found a significant reduction in the incidence of arrhythmias, need for re-intubation, reduction in ICU length of stay, and mortality in the NIV group [51]. Kilger and colleagues did not find a significant increase in mortality in ARF patients treated with NIV after cardiac surgery compared to those treated without ARF [52].

8.2.2 Thoracic Surgery

8.2.2.1 Preemptive NIV

Aguilo and colleagues [53] applied NIV for 1 h in ten patients undergoing pulmonary resection, confirming an improvement in oxygenation in contrast to the control group. Perrin and colleagues [54] in a randomized controlled trial surveyed NIV benefits before and after pulmonary resection. They found a reduction in postoperative pulmonary complications as well as a reduction in hospital length of stay.

8.2.2.2 Therapeutic NIV

In an observational study including 21 ARF patients undergoing NIPPV after pulmonary transplant, Rocco and colleagues avoided re-intubation in 12 patients [55]. Auriant and colleagues [56], comparing NIV vs. standard treatment (O_2 therapy, physiotherapy, bronchodilators) in 24 patients with ARF who sustained pulmonary resection, found a decreased incidence in mortality (13% vs. 38%) and a lesser need of mechanical ventilation (21% vs. 50%). Lefebvre and colleagues [57] confirmed the efficacy of an early NIV in treating ARF after pulmonary resection 85% of the patients (76 out of 89 patients) were treated with success. The presence of cardiac comorbidity was considered as an independent factor responsible for NIV failure.

8.2.3 Major Vascular Surgery

Thoracoabdominal aortic aneurism repair is a procedure that bears a high risk of respiratory complications [58, 59].

8.2.3.1 Preemptive NIV

In a randomized controlled trial, Kindgen-Milles and colleagues [60] evaluated continuous nasal CPAP for the first 24 h vs. intermittent CPAP with oxygen therapy in 57 patients who sustained a thoracic aorta aneurism repair. Pulmonary complications and total hospital length of stay were significantly reduced in the group treated with continuous CPAP.

8.2.4 Abdominal Surgery

Hypoxemia complicates recovery of the patients who sustained abdominal surgery in 30–50% of the cases. Mechanical ventilation may be required in 8–10% of cases, augmenting mortality rates and total length of stay [24, 61].

8.2.4.1 Preemptive NIV

Stock and colleagues found that CPAP in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy reduced substantially atelectasis compared to incentive spirometry [62].

In the obese patient after bariatric surgery, application of NPPV, with a PSV of $12 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O}$ for 3–4 h in the first 24 postoperative hours, significantly increased vital capacity and FRC compared to the control group not treated with NIV [63].

8.2.4.2 Therapeutic NIV

Varon and colleagues [64] applying NIV in the treatment of postoperative ARF in neoplastic patients avoided re-intubation in 70% of cases.

Jaber and colleagues [2] in a prospected study involving 72 patients undergoing digestive tract surgery avoided re-intubation in 66% of cases. Presence of severe initial hypoxemia and a slow and minimal raise in PaO_2 after NIV are to be considered as important factors predicting NIV failure.

Antonelli and colleagues [65] demonstrated in a randomized controlled trial that NIV reduced re-intubation rate, incidence of fatal complications and mortality in patients who had developed hypoxemia and ARF after solid organ transplant.

Squadrone and colleagues [61] performed a multicenter prospective randomized clinical study on 209 patients undergoing elective major abdominal surgery. They evaluated the efficacy of early helmet CPAP vs. standard treatment (low-flow oxy-gen therapy) in patients developing acute hypoxemia. Only one patient (1%) in the group treated with CPAP as opposed to ten in the control group (10%) required intubation. Furthermore, the need for ICU recovery and infection rates was significantly lower in patients treated with CPAP (2.6 ± 4.2 days versus 1.4 ± 1.6 days, and

3% vs. 10%, respectively). Total length of hospital stay did not differ between the two groups.

Michelet and colleagues [66] compared in a case control study the efficacy of NIV against traditional treatment in 36 patients with ARF post esophagectomy. In the NIV group, re-intubation rates lowered from 64% to 25%. Similarly, the frequency of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) went from 53% to 22%, and length of stay in ICU decreased from 22 ± 18 to 14 ± 13 . Moreover, the risk of anastomosis dehiscence was less in the NIV group compared to the control group (6% vs. 28%). Application of high pressures (PSV + PEEP > 25 cmH₂O) in the immediate postoperative period may be dangerous in the presence of upper gastrointestinal tract anastomosis due to the risk of gastric insufflation. In such cases CPAP should be preferred to PSV. In case of a massive insufflation, a naso-gastric tube can be placed to rapidly relieve gastric pressure, and NIV should be interrupted [6].

8.2.5 Bariatric Surgery

In the largest prospective world database, including more than 13,000 patients, acute respiratory failure is described as the fourth cause of death (11%) [67].

Obese patients are characterized by a restrictive syndrome with an increase in the thoracic chest wall elastance and an elevation of the abdominal pressure. All these factors lead to the formation of pulmonary atelectasis [68]

8.2.5.1 Preemptive NIV

In the obese patient, at high risk of atelectasis formation, the major concern is to keep the lung open, preventing atelectasis and avoiding upper airway collapse to prevent postoperative pulmonary complications. The use of postoperative NIV is recommended especially in those patients who already are under nocturnal NIV treatment due to OSAS and/or obesity hypoventilation syndrome (OHS) [69].

Application of NPPV during the first 24 h after a gastroplastic surgery allowed to significantly increase FRC, forced expiratory volume, and arterial saturation as compared to oxygen therapy only [64, 70].

This improvement has persisted also after the interruption of NPPV, allowing a quicker recovery to the preoperative spirometric pulmonary volumes.

Neligan et al. [71] evaluated in 40 obese patients undergoing laparoscopic gastric bypass the application of CPAP immediately after extubation in the operating room or in ICU. In both groups CPAP applied for a minimum of 8 h has allowed to avoid alveolar de-recruitment.

As stated previously, some concerns had been raised about the use of NIV in postsurgical patients due to the possible elevation of intraluminal pressure which could cause a deterioration of the anastomosis. A specific study evaluated the incidence of anastomosis laceration and respiratory complications.

Huerta and colleagues evaluated the postoperative complications in patients undergoing NIV after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass [72]. The authors found only 15 cases of severe anastomotic leaks on more than 1000 patients; out of these patients who have anastomosis leaking, only two occurred in patients on CPAP. However, these results cannot be applied on malnourished or neoplastic patients undergoing surgery as they may be suffering from impaired wound healing.

Even if not supported by strong evidence, there are also some reports on the use of NIV in patients with burns [73].

8.3 **HFNT: Mechanism of Action**

HFNT can improve dyspnea and arterial blood gases and ameliorate the patient's comfort through multiple mechanisms [74–78].

8.3.1 Improvement of Pharyngeal Oxygen Concentration in Patients Undergoing Oxygen Therapy

The maintenance of an adequate oxygenation depends on the FiO_2 management. Oxygen is usually provided by a face mask or nasal prongs with a flow up to 15 L/ min. Using these conventional methods, there may be a significant difference between patient's inspiratory flow and the provided O_2 flow resulting in a difficult FiO_2 control.

HFNT by delivering a flow that is higher than the patient's inspiratory peak flow reduces air entrainment, providing a more stable FiO_2 [79–81].

8.3.2 Mucociliary Clearance Improvement

High flow of non-adequately humidified oxygen [82] can cause mouth, nose, and upper airway dryness, thus generating patient's discomfort [83]. HFNT may improve airway humidification, mucociliary clearance, and lastly patient's comfort [84, 85].

8.3.3 Reduction of the Metabolic Requirements Needed for Gas Conditioning

During normal ventilation, the nose heats inspired air up to 37 °C and humidifies incoming gas saturating it with 100% of relative humidity (RH). This process implies an energetic demand, which can be reduced by the use of HFNT [86-88].

8.3.4 Reduction in Respiratory Resistances

HFNT can reduce inspiratory resistance through:

- (a) A delivery of a gas flow which is higher than the patient's peak flow [98].
- (b) A nasopharyngeal splinting by activation of nasal muscles [89, 90].
- (c) A reduction of the muscarinic bronchial constriction reflex caused by cold air inhalation [91, 92].

8.3.5 Expiratory Resistance Increase (PEEP Effect)

HFNT doesn't provide CPAP [90] and therefore it has no the same clinical effects.

However, if the size of the nasal prongs is correct (about two-thirds of the nostril surface should be occupied by the prongs) and the delivered flow are adequate, a positive end-expiratory pressure is delivered (EPAP/PEEP). This pressure is generated by an increase in expiratory resistance. Since the nasal prongs are an open system, the pharyngeal pressure cannot be high [93]. Nonetheless it remains high enough to increase end-expiratory lung volume (EELV) [94].

Moreover the respiratory frequency is reduced due to an increase of the expiratory time (inspiratory time remains unchanged) [90] in a way that is similar to the pursed lip breathing [95] typical of the COPD patient.

8.3.6 Nasopharyngeal Dead Space Washout

At the beginning of inspiration, the pharyngeal dead space contains end-expiratory gas. This dead space contributes to the heating and humidification of inspired air, but at the same time, it reduces the efficacy of gas exchange. HFNT reduces the dead space in the nasopharyngeal cavity by delivering a fresh gas flow [96, 97].

As a consequence patients with pulmonary fibrosis or COPD have less need to raise their alveolar ventilation to reduce the CO_2 . Finally all of this would bring to an improvement of the respiratory efforts [98–103].

HFNT has been found to be associated with a significative reduction in respiratory frequency, cardiac frequency, dyspnea, supraclavicular retractions, thoracoabdominal asynchrony, and an improvement of the SpO_2 [76–78, 81, 104].

The application of HFNT has gained a particular attention as a mean of innovative respiratory support both in the critical and noncritical care setting [75, 76, 84, 105–110].

The interface of HFNT, being commonly a simple nasal prong, could improve patient's comfort and reduce skin lesions [111] when compared to NIV interfaces. Furthermore it has the advantage of delivering an optimal humidification [83].

Although HFNT is often thought to be a therapy designed to deliver high-flow oxygen therapy, most of its physiopathological effects can be achieved at FiO_2 0.21.

HFNT should be administered both titrating flow temperature and FiO_2 separately. To match patient's inspiratory flow, the delivered flow should be set as higher as possible, up to 60 L/min [76]. Temperature also seems to significantly impact patient's comfort. It was recently found that for unchanged flow rate, lower temperature may be associated with better comfort [78].

8.4 **HFNT in Perioperative Medicine**

8.4.1 HFNT After Extubation

Oxygen therapy is frequently used in the postoperative period as well as to correct post-extubation desaturation events [112].

When a support is needed, during the postoperative period, NIV use may be difficult because patient cannot tolerate the interface [111, 113–115] or because of proper clinical setting, delirious patients [116], or lack of resources [115].

Due to its positive effect on the respiratory system, HFNT could be an interesting tool, although not clarified yet, to prevent atelectasis and to improve oxygenation [38].

Furthermore, it could avoid re-intubation of patients often associated with an increase in ICU length of stay and mortality rate [117, 118]. However there is still a scant evidence of the use of HFNT because not all the studies were carried out in the ICU.

Compared to a non-rebreathing mask, the application of HFNT after extubation has shown to reduce the level of dyspnea and the respiratory and cardiac frequency [104].

A small randomized study comparing high flow delivered via nasal prongs or facial mask after extubation found no significant differences in gas exchange, respiratory frequency, or hemodynamic parameters [119].

However, in a retrospective study including 67 critical patients after extubation and comparing HFNT clinical effects to non-rebreathing mask [120], the authors found a better oxygenation (measured as PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio) with the use of HFNT; no significative differences were found in PaCO₂, respiratory frequency, mean arterial pressure, or cardiac frequency.

A recent randomized controlled study [121] comparing the effects of conventional oxygenation (52 patients) and HFNT (53 patients) in patients with moderate hypoxemia ($PAO_2/FiO_2 < 300$ before extubation) found that HFNT therapy improved oxygenation, reduced $PaCO_2$ and respiratory frequency, and improved patient's comfort and interface tolerance (starting from the 12th hour). Moreover, the HFNT group was found to be associated with less desaturation events or interface displacement.

Another randomized study (O_2 low flow vs. HFNT), whose primary outcome was the re-intubation rate after 72 h from the extubation, found that HFNT significantly reduced re-intubation rates in critical patients at low risk of extubation failure [122].

The same authors in a non-inferiority randomized controlled study comparing HFNT and NIV administered for 24 h after extubation evaluated the incidence of post-extubation ARF and re-intubation in 604 patients at high risk of re-intubation: 22.8% in HFNT vs. 19.1% (*n*:60) in the NIV group did not require re-intubation. However, 78 (42.9%) of patients in the NIV group vs. none in HFNT group presented adverse effects [123].

One multicenter randomized study aimed at proving that HFNT was not inferior to NIV in preventing ARF after cardiothoracic surgery [124]. The primary outcome was failure of treatment, intended as re-intubation or premature interruption due to adverse events or patient's request. Results showed that HFNT was not inferior to NIV. HFNT treatment was unsuccessful in 87 out of 414 patients (21%) vs. 91 out of 416 (21.9%) in the NIV group.

Futier et al. conducted a multicenter randomized trial (OPERA STUDY) which aimed at comparing postextubation use of HFNT versus standard oxygen in patients scheduled for major abdominal surgery with moderate to high risk for developing PPCs. The study did not find a reduction in the risk of developing postoperative pulmonary complications [125]. The primary outcome was the presence of hypoxemia, while the secondary end points were the presence of PPCs within 7 days after surgery, hospital length of stay, and in-hospital mortality. The proportion of patients who presented hypoxemia at 1 h after extubation was similar (21% in the HFNT group vs. 27% in the control group) as well as the incidence of PPC.

8.4.2 Preinduction Oxygenation

Preoxygenation prior to intubation is a crucial step with allows a longer safe apnea time [126, 127]. Generally an oxygenation through mask is advised before intubation in any clinical settings [128, 129], but differently from patients with normal lungs, hypoxemic patients are prone to severe oxygen desaturation which reduce oxygen stores [126, 130].

NIV has also been found to be an interesting tool to increase oxygen reserve prior to intubation [126, 127].

However, since NIV has to be interrupted during laryngoscopy, this technique cannot prevent desaturation during tracheal intubation. HFNT nasal prongs do not interfere with the laryngoscope maneuver. Indeed this device can be used to provide oxygen during the apnea period before tracheal intubation studies carried out in ICU in hypoxemic patients gave however conflicting results [38, 131, 132].

These conflicting results could be explained by the differences about the reason for intubation and the severity of hypoxemia. A recent study [133] evaluated the effect of a supplementary oxygenation with HFNT during laryngoscopy (against no oxygenation) in 150 critical patients. The lowest oxygen saturation with HFNT was 92% against 90% with conventional therapy without supplemental oxygen (p = 0.16). No differences about the incidence of desaturations under 90%, 80%, or an oxygen saturation reduction of >3% have been reported. Further studies are needed to draw a conclusion on how effective is this device, specifically in ICU setting, compared to NIV or traditional oxygen therapy, especially in hypoxemic patients.

A recent study (OPTINIV study) [134] evaluated HFNT combined with NIV versus NIV alone for the preoxygenation and the prevention of desaturations during the intubation maneuver in hypoxemic patients who needed mechanical ventilation. The OPTINIV study showed that HFNT combined with NIV, if compared to NIV alone, allowed SpO₂ values significantly more elevated during the intubation maneuver.

HFNT use was also found to be safe and improved oxygenation while avoiding hypercapnia in 50 patients at risk of difficult intubation during awake fiber-optic intubation. Tolerance was also found to be good [135].

Heinrich et al. conducted a randomized controlled study on 33 patients, testing three preoxygenation techniques before rapid sequence tracheal intubation in morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery. HFNT (50 L/min at FiO₂ 1) was compared to CPAP (7 cmH₂O at FiO₂ 1) and to traditional treatment (12 L/min in facial mask at FiO₂ 1). Primary outcome was PaO₂. HFNT significantly improved PaO₂ at 5 and 7 min during the preoxygenation/induction period as compared to the traditional method and provided an oxygenation comparable with the CPAP method. The authors concluded that HFNT was an effective and safe preoxygenation method in this group of patients [136].

Patel and colleagues demonstrated how a transnasal humidified rapid insufflation ventilatory exchange (THRIVE) technique can improve the apnea time in patients with difficult airways who have to undergo general anesthesia [137]. Patients receiving surgery for laryngeal-tracheal stenosis, vocal cord pathologies, obstructive sleep apneas, and benign or malignant hypopharyngeal obstruction were treated with HFNT at 70 L/min for 10 min before endogenous induction of anesthesia and laryngoscopy. Independently from the number of laryngoscopies or the presence of a difficult intubation, the nasal oxygenation at 70 L/min was maintained during the entire maneuver until a definitive and safe airway was achieved. The apnea time was defined as the time between the administration of the neuromuscular blocker and the initiation of positive pressure ventilation or the restart of spontaneous breathing. The authors recorded the maximum cardiac frequency, the minimum oxygen saturation value during the apnea time, and the first value of end-tidal CO_2 (EtCO₂) after the endotracheal tube placement and the connection to the mechanical ventilator.

This study showed that the use of THRIVE led to a more safe apnea time in patients with difficult airways who needed general anesthesia. No desaturations under 90% were recorded in spite of a mean 17 min apnea time. None of the patients developed cardiac arrhythmias or any other complication due to CO_2 toxicity [138, 139].

Raineri et al. assessed the efficacy and safety of HFNT at 60 L/min and FiO_2 of 1, in urgent abdominal surgery patients scheduled for rapid sequence intubation (RSI). HFNT was maintained for 4 min before induction and kept until ETI [140].

SpO₂, mean arterial pressure, and heart rate were assessed different times: at baseline (T0), after 4 min on HFNT (T1), during laryngoscopy maneuver (T2), and at the time of endotracheal intubation (T3). Primary end point were the episodes of

 SpO_2 value of <3% from baseline. SpO_2 values <3% from baseline were never found in any patient. Minimal SpO_2 value was 96%. End-tidal CO_2 (ETCO₂) at T3 was 36 mmHg. Apnea time reached a maximum of 12 min.

8.5 Conclusion

NIV represents a useful noninvasive support in preoperative medicine [141]. However, HFNT may have some advantages over NIV. It is probably easier to apply and needs less patient's cooperation and less equipment. Lastly it may generate a smaller amount of workload. It is also important to consider that HFNT seems to be tolerated and doesn't seem to be inferior to NIV in terms of clinical results in patients as first-line therapy with hypoxemic respiratory failure [142].

However, differently from CPAP, it does not generate the same end-positive airway pressure to cure atelectasis once they have developed [79]. HFNT possibly needs less surveillance than NIV. However, even more than NIV, it needs a strict monitoring to avoid an intubation delay [143].

Perioperative application of NIV and HFNT should always be considered together with all the effective tools like physiotherapy, smoking cessation, and optimization of the preoperative clinical picture.

Finally, literature suggests that despite these promising properties, the use of HFNT in perioperative medicine still needs further high-quality randomized studies.

References

- Duggan M, Kavanagh BP. Pulmonary atelectasis: a pathogenic perioperative entity. Anesthesiology. 2005;102:838–54.
- Jaber S, Delay J, Sebbane M, et al. Outcomes of patients with acute respiratory failure after abdominal surgery treated with non invasive positive-pressure ventilation. Chest. 2005;128:2688–95.
- Strandberg A, Tokics L, Brismar B, et al. Atelectasis during anesthesia and in the postoperative period. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1986;30:154–15.
- Magnusson L, Spahn DR. New concepts of atelectasis during general anesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2003;91:61–72.
- Eichenberger A, Proietti S, Wicky S, et al. Morbid obesity and postoperative pulmonary atelectasis: an underestimated problem. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:1788–92.
- Jaber S, Michelet P, Chanques G. Role of non-invasive ventilation (NIV) in the perioperative period. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2010;24:253–65.
- Guldner A, Kiss T, Netoa S, et al. Intraoperative protective mechanical ventilation for prevention of postoperative pulmonary complications: a comprehensive review of the role of tidal volume, positive end expiratory pressure, and lung recruitment maneuvers. Anesthesiology. 2015;123:692–173.
- Ball L, Battaglini D, Pelosi P. Postoperative respiratory disorders. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2016;22:379–85.
- 9. Pearse RM Moreno RP, Bauer P, et al. Mortality after surgery in Europe. Lancet. 2012;380:1059-65.

- Mazo V Sabatè S, Canet J, et al. Prospective external validation of a predictive score for postoperative pulmonary complications. Anesthesiology. 2014;121:219–31.
- 11. Gallart L, Canet J. Postoperative pulmonary complications: understanding definitions and risk assessment. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2015;29:315–30.
- 12. Smetana GW. Preoperative pulmonary evaluation. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:937-44.
- Canet J, Gallart L, Gomar C, et al. Prediction of postoperative pulmonary complications in a population-based surgical cohort. Anesthesiology. 2010;113:1338–50.
- 14. Futier E, Constantin JM, Paugam-Burtz C, et al. A trial of intraoperative low-tidal volume ventilation in abdominal surgery. New Engl J Med. 2013;369:428–37.
- 15. Nava S, Hill N. Noninvasive ventilation in acute respiratory failure. Lancet. 2009;374:250–9.
- 16. Brochard L, Mancebo J, Wysocki M, et al. Noninvasive ventilation for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med. 1995;333:817–22.
- Gregoretti C, Pisani L, Cortegiani A, Ranieri VM. Noninvasive ventilation in critically ill patients. Crit Care Clin. 2015;31:435–57.
- Stauffer JL, Olson DE, Petty TL. Complications and consequences of endotracheal intubation and tracheotomy. A prospective study of 150 critically ill adult patients. Am J Med. 1981;70:65–76.
- Sehlin M, Winsö O, Wadell K, Öhberg F. Inspiratory capacity as an indirect measure of immediate effects of positive expiratory pressure and CPAP breathing on functional residual capacity in healthy subjects. Respir Care. 2015;60:1486–94.
- Goldberg P, et al. Efficacy of noninvasive CPAP in COPD with acute respiratory failure. Eur Respir J. 1995;8:1894–900.
- 21. Vargas M, Sutherasan Y, Gregoretti C, Pelosi P. PEEP role in ICU and operating room: from pathophysiology to clinical practice. Scientific World Journal. 2014;2014:852356.
- Joosten SA, Edwards BA, Wellman A, et al. The effect of body position on physiological factors that contribute to obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep. 2015;38:1469–78.
- Jaber S, Chanques G, Jung B. Postoperative noninvasive ventilation. Anesthesiology. 2010;112:453–61.
- 24. Chiumello D, Chevallard G, Gregoretti C. Non-invasive ventilation in postoperative patients: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med. 2011;37:918.
- Landoni G, Zangrillo A, Cabrini L. Noninvasive ventilation after cardiac and thoracic surgery in adult patients: a review. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;26(5):917–22.
- Ohmizo H, Morota T, Seki Y, Miki T, et al. Combined spinal–propofol anesthesia with noninvasive positive-pressure ventilation. J Anesth. 2005;19:311–4.
- Barash PG, Cullen BF, Stoelting RK, editors. Clinical anesthesia. 7th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott-Raven Publisher; 2013. p. 1563–9.
- Ferrandiére M, Hazouard E, Ayoub J, et al. Noninvasive ventilation corrects alveolar hypoventilation during spinal anesthesia. Can J Anaesth. 2006;53:404–8.
- Hillman DR, Loadsman JA, Platt PR, Eastwood PR. Obstructive sleep apnea and anesthesia. Sleep Med Rev. 2004;8(6):459–71.
- Yamamoto F, Kato R, Sato J, Nishino T. Anesthesia for awake craniotomy with noninvasive positive pressure ventilation. Br J Anaesth. 2003;90:382–5.
- Erdogan G, Okyay DZ, Yurtlu S, et al. Non invasive mechanical ventilation with spinal anesthesia for cesarean delivery. Int J Obstet Anesth. 2010;19:438–40.
- Iwama H. Application of nasal bi-level positive airway pressure to respiratory support during combined epidural propofol anesthesia. J Clin Anesth. 2002;14:24–33.
- Allen TK, George RB, Peterson-Layne C, Habib AS. Management of a parturient with an acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary haemosiderosis and posterior spinal instrumentation. Br J Anaesth. 2008;100:235–9.
- 34. Alonso-Inigo JM, Herranz-Gordo A, Fas MJ, et al. Epidural anesthesia and non-invasive ventilation for radical retropubic prostatectomy in two obese patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2012;59:573–6.

- Dawson J, Jones M, Hirschauer N, O'Neill S. Continuous spinal anaesthesia and noninvasive ventilation for total knee replacement in a patient on home ventilation. Br J Anaesth. 2012;109:125–6.
- Cabrini L, Nobile L, Plumari VP, et al. Intraoperative prophylactic and therapeutic noninvasive ventilation: a systematic review. Br J Anaesth. 2014;112:638–47.
- 37. Pelosi P, Gregoretti G. Perioperative management of obese patients. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2010;24:211–25.
- Papazian L, Corley A, Hess D, et al. Use of high-flow nasal cannula oxygenation in ICU adults: a narrative review. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1336.
- 39. Jones RL, Nzekwu M-M. The effects of body mass index on lung volumes. Chest. 2006;130(3):827–33.
- 40. Lin CK, Lin CC. Work of breathing and respiratory drive in obesity. Respirology. 2012;17:402–11.
- Fernandez-Bustamante A, Hashimoto S, Serpa Neto A, et al. Perioperative lung protective ventilation in obese patients. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;15:56.
- 42. Adams JP, Murphy PG. Obesity in anaesthesia and intensive care. Br J Anaesth. 2000;85:91–108.
- Imber DA, Pirrone M, Zhang C, et al. Respiratory management of perioperative obese patients. Respir Care. 2016;61(12):1681–92.
- 44. Futier E, Constantin J-M, Pelosi P, et al. Noninvasive ventilation and alveolar recruitment maneuver improve respiratory function during and after intubation of morbidly obese patients: a randomized controlled study. Anesthesiology. 2011;114:1354–63.
- 45. Jousel I, Rasanen J, Verkkala K, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure by mask in patients after coronary surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1994;38:311–6.
- 46. Gust R, Gottschalk A, Schmidt H, et al. Effects of continuous (CPAP) and bi-level positive airway pressure (BiPAP) on extravascular lung water after extubation of the trachea in patients following coronary artery bypass grafting. Intensive Care Med. 1996;22:1345–50.
- 47. Matte P, Jacquet L, Van Dyck M, Goenen M. Effects of conventional physiotherapy,continuous positive airway pressure and non invasive ventilatory support with bilevel positive airway pressure after coronary artery bypass grafting. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2000;44:75–81.
- Pasquina P, Merlani P, Granier J, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure versus non invasive pressure support ventilation to treat atelectasis after cardiac surgery. Anesth Analg. 2004;99:1001–8.
- 49. Zarbock A, Mueller E, Netzer S, et al. Prophylactic nasal continuous positive airway pressure following cardiac surgery protects from postoperative pulmonary complication. A prospective, randomized, controlled, trial in 500 patients. Chest. 2009;135:1252–9.
- Guarracino F, Cabrini L, Baldassarri R, et al. Noninvasive ventilation for awake percutaneous aortic valve implantation in high risk respiratory patients: a case series. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2011;25:1109–12.
- Chen XF, Ye JL. Efficacy and safety of noninvasive pressure ventilation in the care of dyspnea under cardiac surgery. Zhongguo Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue. 2007;19:542–5.
- 52. Kilger E, Mohnle P, Nassau K, et al. Non invasive mechanical ventilation in patients with acute respiratory failure after cardiac surgery. Heart Surg Forum. 2010;13:E91–5.
- 53. Aguilo R, Togores B, Pons S, et al. Noninvasive ventilatory support after lung resectional surgery. Chest. 1997;112:117–21.
- Perrin C, Jullien V, Venissac N, et al. Prophylactic use of noninvasive ventilation in patients undergoing lung resectional surgery. Respir Med. 2007;101:1572–8.
- 55. Rocco M, Conti G, Antonelli M, et al. Non invasive pressure support ventilation in patients with acute respiratory failure after bilateral lung transplantation. Intensive Care Med. 2001;27:1622–6.
- Auriant I, Jallot A, Herve P, et al. Noninvasive ventilation reduces mortality in acute respiratory failure following lung resection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164:1231–5.
- Lefebvre A, Lorut C, Alifano M, et al. Noninvasive ventilation for acute respiratory failure after lung resection. An observational study. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35:663–70.

- Money SR, Rice K, Crockett D, et al. Risk of respiratory failure after repair of thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysms. Am J Surg. 1994;168:152–5.
- Etz CD, Di Luozzo G, Bello R, et al. Pulmonary complications after descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair: predictors, prevention, and treatment. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83:S870–6.
- Kindgen-Milles D, Muller E, et al. Nasal continuous positive airway pressure reduces pulmonary morbidity and length of hospital stay following thoracoabdominal aortic surgery. Chest. 1995;128:821–8.
- Squadrone V, Coha M, Cerutti E, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure for treatment of postoperative hypoxemia: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2005;293:589–95.
- 62. Stock M, Downs J, Gauger P, et al. Preventions of postoperative pulmonary complications with CPAP, incentive spirometry, and conservative therapy. Chest. 1985;87:151–7.
- 63. Joris J, Sottiaux T, Chiche J, et al. Effect of bilevel positive airway pressure BIPAP, on the postoperative pulmonary restrictive syndrome in obese patients undergoing gastroplasty. Chest. 1997;111:665–70.
- 64. Varon J, Walsh G, Fromm RJ. Feasibility of non invasive mechanical ventilation in the treatment of acute respiratory failure in postoperative cancer patients. J Crit Care. 1998;13:55–7.
- Antonelli M, Conti G, Bufi M, et al. Noninvasive ventilation for treatment of acute respiratory failure in patients undergoing solid organ transplantation: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2000;283:235–41.
- Michelet P, D' Journo XB, Seinaye F, et al. Noninvasive ventilation for treatment of postoperative respiratory failure after oesophagectomy. Br J Surg. 2009;96:54–60.
- Morino M, Toppino M, Forestieri P, et al. Mortality after bariatric surgery: analysis of 13,871 morbidly obese patients from a national registry. Ann Surg. 2007;246:1002–7.
- Pelosi P, Croci M, Ravagnan I, et al. The effects of body mass on lung volumes, respiratory mechanics, and gas exchange during general anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1998;87:654–60.
- 69. Banerjee D, Yee BJ, Piper AJ, et al. Obesity hypoventilation syndrome: hypoxemia during continuous positive airway pressure. Chest. 2007;131(6):1678–84.
- Ebeo CT, Benotti PN, Byrd RP, et al. The effect of bi-level positive airway pressure on postoperative pulmonary function following gastric surgery for obesity. Respir Med. 2002;96:672–6.
- Neligan PJ, Malhotra G, Fraser M, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure via the Boussignac system immediately after extubation improves lung function in morbidly obese patients with obstructive sleep apnea undergoing laparoscopic bariatric surgery. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:878–84.
- Huerta S, DeShields S, Shpiner R, et al. Safety and efficacy of postoperative continuous positive airway pressure to prevent pulmonary complications after Roux en-Y gastric bypass. J Gastrointest Surg. 2002;6:354–8.
- Gregoretti C, Decaroli D, Piacevoli Q, et al. Analgo-sedation of patients with burns outside the operating room. Drugs. 2008;68:2427–43.
- Nagata K, Morimoto T, Fujimoto D, et al. Efficacy of high-flow nasal cannula therapy in acute hypoxemic respiratory failure: decreased use of mechanical ventilation. Respir Care. 2015;60:1390–6.
- 75. Spolentini G, Alotaibi M, Blasi F, Hill NS. Heated humidified high-flow nasal oxygen in adults: mechanisms of action and clinical implications. Chest. 2015;148(1):253–61.
- Mauri T, Turrini C, Eronia N, et al. Physiologic effects of high-flow nasal cannula in acute hypoxemic respiratory failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1207–15.
- Mauri T, Alban L, Turrini C, et al. Optimum support by high-flow nasal cannula in acute hypoxemic respiratory failure: effects of increasing flow rates. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43:1453–63.
- Mauri GA, Bindia F, et al. Impact of flow and temperature on patient comfort during respiratory support by high flow nasal cannula. Crit Care. 2018;22:120.

- 79. Chanques G, Riboulet F, Molinari N, et al. Comparison of three high flow oxygen therapy delivery devices: a clinical physiological cross-over study. Minerva Anestesiol. 2013;79:1344–55.
- Wagstaff TA, Soni N. Performance of six types of oxygen delivery devices at varying respiratory rates. Anaesthesia. 2007;62:492–503.
- Ritchie JE, Williams AB, Gerard C, Hockey H. Evaluation of a humidified nasal high-flow oxygen system, using oxygraphy, capnography and measurement of upper airway pressures. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2011;39:1103–10.
- Kallstrom TJ. AARC Clinical Practice Guideline: oxygen therapy for adults in the acute care facility revision & update. Respir Care. 2002;47:717–20.
- Chanques G, Constantin JM, Sauter M, et al. Discomfort associated with under humidified high-flow oxygen therapy in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35:996–1003.
- Salah B, Dinh Xuan AT, Fouilladieu JL, et al. Nasal mucociliary transport in healthy subjects is slower when breathing dry air. Eur Respir J. 1988;1:852.
- Kilgour E, Rankin N, Ryan S, et al. Mucociliary function deteriorates in the clinical range of inspired air temperature and humidity. Intensive Care Med. 2004;30(7):1491–4.
- Prosto DF. Physiology of the upper airway. In: Visher MB, Hastings AB, Pappenhiemer JR, Rahn H, editors. Handbook of physiology respiration. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins; 1985. p. 309–45.
- Mlynski G. Physiology and pathophysiology of nasal breathing. In: Behrbohm H, Tardy T, editors. Essentials of septorhinoplasty: philosophy e approaches e techniques. Stuttgart, NY: Thieme Medical Publishers; 2004. p. 75–87.
- Dysart K, Miller TL, Wolfson MR, Shaffer TH. Research in high flow therapy: mechanisms of action. Respir Med. 2009;103:1400–5.
- Gold AR, Smith PL, Schwartz AR. Effect of alae nasi activation on maximal nasal inspiratory air-flow in humans. J Appl Physiol. 1998;84:2115–22.
- Mündel T, Feng S, Tatkov S, Schneider H. Mechanisms of nasal high flow on ventilation during wakefulness and sleep. J Appl Physiol. 2013;114:1058–65.
- Boonyongsunchai P, Webb S, Davies L, et al. Function of pulmonary neuronal M(2) muscarinic receptors in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;163:1320–5.
- Fontanari P, Burnet H, Zattara-Hartmann MC, et al. Changes in airway resistance induced by nasal inhalation of cold dry, dry, or moist air in normal individuals. J Appl Physiol. 1996;81:1739–43.
- Parke R, McGunness S, Eccleston M. Nasal high-flow therapy delivers low level positive airway pressure. Br J Anaesth. 2009;103:886–90.
- 94. Vargas F, Saint-Leger M, Boyer A, Bui NH, Hilbert G. Physiologic effects of high-flow nasal cannula oxygen in critical care subjects. Respir Care. 2015;60:1369–76.
- Spahija J, de Marchie M, Grassino A. Effects of imposed pursed-lips breathing on respiratory mechanics and dyspnea at rest and during exercise in COPD. Chest. 2005;128:640–50.
- 96. Nakos G, Lachana A, Prekates A, et al. Respiratory effects of tracheal gas insufflation in spontaneously breathing COPD patients. Intensive Care Med. 1995;21:904–12.
- Möller W, Celik G, Feng G, et al. Nasal high flow clears anatomical dead space in upper airway models. J Appl Physiol. 2015;118:1525–32.
- Bräunlich J, Beyer D, Mai D, et al. Effects of nasal high flow on ventilation in volunteers, COPD and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients. Respiration. 2013;85:319–25.
- 99. Bräunlich J, Köhler M, Wirtz H. Nasal high flow improves ventilation in patients with COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2016;25:1077–85.
- 100. Fraser JF, Spooner AJ, Dunster KR, et al. Nasal high flow oxygen therapy in patients with COPD reduces respiratory rate and tissue carbon dioxide while increasing tidal and end-expiratory lung volumes: a randomised crossover trial. Thorax. 2016;71:759–61.

- 101. Pisani L, Fasano L, Corcione N, et al. Change in pulmonary mechanics and the effect on breathing pattern of high flow oxygen therapy in stable hypercapnic COPD. Thorax. 2017;72:373–5.
- 102. Biselli P, Fricke K, Grote L, et al. Reductions in dead space ventilation with nasal high flow depend on physiological dead space volume: metabolic hood measurements during sleep in patients with COPD and controls. Eur Respir J. 2018;51:pii: 1702251. https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.02251-2017.
- 103. Biselli PJ, Kirkness JP, Grote L, et al. Nasal high-flow therapy reduces work of breathing compared with oxygen during sleep in COPD and smoking controls: a prospective observational study. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2017;122:82–8.
- Rittayamai N, Tscheikuna J, Rujiwit P. High flow nasal cannula versus conventional oxygen therapy after endotracheal extubation: a randomized crossover physiologic study. Respir Care. 2014;59:485–90.
- 105. Nishimura M. High-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy in adults. J Intensive Care. 2016;61:529-41.
- 106. Carratalá Perales JM, Llorens P, Brouzet B, et al. High-flow therapy via nasal cannula in acute heart failure. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2011;64:723–5.
- 107. Sztrymf B, Messika J, Bertrand F, et al. Beneficial effects of humidified high flow nasal oxygen in critical care patients: a prospective pilot study. Intensive Care Med. 2011;37:1780–67.
- 108. Roca O, Riera J, Torres F, Masclans JR. High flow oxygen therapy in acute respiratory failure. Respir Care. 2010;55:408–13.
- 109. Frat JP, Thille AW, Mercat A, Girault C, et al. High-flow oxygen through nasal cannula in acute hypoxemic respiratory failure. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2185–96.
- 110. Lenglet H, Sztrymf B, Leroy C, et al. Humidified high flow nasal oxygen during respiratory failure in the emergency department: feasibility and efficacy. Respir Care. 2012;57:1873–8.
- 111. Gregoretti C, Confalonieri M, Navalesi P, et al. Evaluation of patient skin breakdown and comfort with a new face mask for non-invasive ventilation: a multicenter study. Intensive Care Med. 2002;28:278–84.
- 112. Akca O, Ball L, Belda FJ, et al. WHO needs high FIO2? Turk Anesteziyoloji ve Reanimasyon Dernegi Dergisi. 2017;45:81–192.
- 113. Racca F, Appendini L, Berta G, et al. Helmet ventilation for acute respiratory failure and nasal skin breakdown in neuromuscular disorders. Anesth Analg. 2009;109:64–167.
- 114. Gregoretti C, Foti G, Beltrame F, et al. Pressure control ventilation and minitracheotomy in treating severe flail chest trauma. Intensive Care Med. 1995;21:1054–6.
- 115. Cabrini L, Moizo E, Nicelli E, Licini G, Turi S, Landoni G, et al. Noninvasive ventilation outside the intensive care unit from the patient point of view: a pilot study. Respir Care. 2012;57:704–9.
- 116. Mistraletti G, Pelosi P, Mantovani ES, et al. Delirium: clinical approach and prevention. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2012;26:311–26.
- 117. Torres A, Gatell JM, Aznar E, et al. Reintubation increases the risk of nosocomial pneumonia in patients with needing mechanical ventilation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1995;152:137–41.
- 118. Esteban A, Anzueto A, Frutos F, et al. Characteristics and outcomes in adult patients receiving mechanical ventilation. A 28-day international study. JAMA. 2002;287(3):345–55.
- 119. Tiruvoipati R, Lewis D, Haji K, Botha J. High flow nasal oxygen vs high-flow face mask: a randomized crossover trial in extubated patients. J Crit Care. 2010;25:463–8.
- 120. Brotfain E, Zlotnik A, Schwartz A, et al. Comparison of the effectiveness of high flow nasal oxygen cannula vs standard non-rebreather oxygen face mask in post extubation intensive care unit patients. Isr Med Assoc J. 2014;16:718–22.

- 121. Maggiore SM, Idone FA, Vaschetto R, et al. Nasalhigh- flow versus Venturi mask oxygen therapy after extubation. Effects on oxygenation, comfort, and clinical outcome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190:282–8.
- 122. Hernández G, Vaquero C, González P, et al. Effect of post extubation high-flow nasal cannula vs conventional oxygen therapy on re-intubation in low-risk patients a randomized clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016;315:1354–61.
- 123. Hernandez G, Vaquero C, Colinas L, et al. high-flow nasal cannula vs noninvasive ventilation on re-intubation and post-extubation respiratory failure in high-risk patients: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2016;316:1565–74.
- 124. Stéphan F, Barrucand B, Petit P, et al; BiPOPStudy Group. High-flow nasal oxygen vs noninvasive positive airway pressure in hypoxemic patients after cardiothoracic surgery: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015;313(23):2331–9.
- 125. Futier E, Paugam-Burtz C, Godet T, Khoy-Ear L, Rozencwajg S, Delay JM, et al. Effect of early postextubation high-flow nasal cannula vs conventional oxygen therapy on hypoxaemia in patients after major abdominal surgery: a French multicentre randomised controlled trial (OPERA). Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1888–98.
- 126. Russotto V, Cortegiani A, Raineri SM, et al. Respiratory support techniques to avoid desaturation in critically ill patients requiring endotracheal intubation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crit Care. 2017;41:98–106.
- 127. Baillard C, Fosse JP, Sebbane M, et al. Noninvasive ventilation improves pre-oxygenation before intubation of hypoxic patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2006;174:171–7.
- 128. Griesdale DEG, Bosma TL, Kurth T, et al. Complications of endotracheal intubation in the critically ill. Intensive Care Med. 2008;34:1835–42.
- 129. Jaber S, Amraoui J, Lefrant J-Y, et al. Clinical practice and risk factors for immediate complications of endotracheal intubation in the intensive care unit: a prospective, multiple center study. Crit Care Med. 2006;34:2355–61.
- Mort TC. Pre oxygenation in critically ill patients requiring emergency tracheal intubation. Crit Care Med. 2005;33:2672–5.
- 131. Miguel-Montanes R, Hajage D, Messika J, et al. Use of high-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy to prevent desaturation during tracheal intubation of intensive care patients with mild-to-moderate hypoxemia. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:574–83.
- 132. Vourc'h M, Asfar P, Volteau C, et al. High-flow nasal cannula oxygen during endotracheal intubation in hypoxemic patients: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41(9):1538–48.
- 133. Semler MW, Janz DR, Lentz RJ, et al. Investigators, the Pragmatic Critical Care Research Group. Randomized trial of apneic oxygenation during endotracheal intubation of the critically ill. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193:273–80.
- 134. Jaber S, Monnin M, Girard M, et al. Apnoeic oxygenation via high-flow nasal cannula oxygen combined with non-invasive ventilation preoxygenation for intubation in hypoxaemic patients in the intensive care unit: the single-centre, blinded, randomised controlled OPTINIV trial. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1877.
- 135. Badiger S, John M, Fearnley RA, Ahmad I. Optimizing oxygenation and intubation conditions during awake fibre-optic intubation using a high-flow nasal oxygen-delivery system. Br J Anaesth. 2015;115:629–32.
- 136. Heinrich S, Horbach T, Stubner B, et al. Benefits of heated and humidified high flow nasal oxygen for preoxygenation in morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery: a randomized controlled study. J Obes Bariatr. 2014;1(1):7.
- 137. Patel A, Nouraei SA. Transnasal humidified rapid-insufflation ventilatory exchange (THRIVE): a physiological method of increasing apnoea time in patients with difficult airways. Anaesthesia. 2015;70:323–9.
- 138. Frumin MJ, Epstein RM, Cohen G. Apneic oxygenation in man. Anesthesiology. 1959;20:789–98.
- 139. Gertler MM, Hoff HE, Humm DG. Acid tolerance of the dog heart. Am J Physiol. 1946;146:478–86.

- 140. Raineri SM, Cortegiani A, Accurso G, Procaccianti C, Vitale F, Caruso S, et al. Efficacy and safety of using high-flow nasal oxygenation in patients undergoing rapid sequence intubation. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2017;45:335–9.
- 141. Cortegiani A, Russotto V, Antonelli M, Azoulay E, Carlucci A, Conti G, et al. Ten important articles on noninvasive ventilation in critically ill patients and insights for the future: a report of expert opinions. BMC Anesthesiol. 2017;17:122.
- 142. Roca O, Herdandez G, Diaz-Lobato S, et al. Current evidence for the effectiveness of heated and humidified high flow nasal cannula supportive therapy in adult patients with respiratory failure. Crit Care. 2016;20:109.
- 143. Kang BJ, Koh Y, Lim C-M, et al. Failure of high-flow nasal cannula therapy may delay intubation and increase mortality. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41:623–32.

Part II

Intensive Care



9

Diagnosis and Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: An Evidence-Based Review

Giorgio Tulli

In 2016, the new definitions of sepsis and septic shock were published in the JAMA journal [1-3].

Sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organ dysfunction due to a dysregulated host response to the infection.

Septic shock is defined as a subset of sepsis with circulatory, cellular and metabolic dysfunction associated with a higher risk of mortality compared to sepsis alone.

In the previous 1992 and 2003 definitions, sepsis was defined as a suspected, probable or certain infection that was accompanied by at least two out of four SIRS (systemic inflammatory response syndrome) criteria [4, 5]. Sepsis was shown as a continuum that went from sepsis (infection plus SIRS) to severe sepsis (sepsis plus at least one organ failure) to septic shock (sepsis with arterial hypotension in spite of adequate fluid provision).

Currently the new definition abolishes this continuum and defines sepsis as an infection that becomes complicated due to the "dysregulated host response to the infection", generating organ failure that is life-threatening. The new definitions remove the SIRS as they are too sensitive and lacking in clinical specificity and also remove severe sepsis as it is considered to be redundant.

Systemic inflammatory response syndrome was diagnosed when at least two of the criteria shown in Fig. 9.1 were found [the SIRS criteria did not include MAP— mean arterial pressure or SBP-systolic blood pressure—but did include fever, heart rate and the white blood cell count].

Yesterday, like today, there must be the suspicion or certainty of infection to make a sepsis diagnosis. Today, with the new definition (Fig. 9.2), to diagnose sepsis or organ dysfunction, all we need is the SOFA score, a score that tells us whether

G. Tulli (🖂)

Quality and Safety Department, Tuscany Region Healthcare Agency, Florence, Tuscany, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

The original version of this chapter was revised. An erratum to this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_15

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_9

1991 Criteria for sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock

The following definitions derive from the 1991 Consensus Conference of the American College of Chest Physicians and Society of Critical Care Medicine 2, 162. Infection is defined as the presence of microorganisms or tissue invasion by those microorganisms.

Sepsis

The systemic inflammatory response (SIRS) to infection, manifested by at least two of:

- Temperature of >38 °C or <36 °C
- Heart rate of >90 beats per minute
- Respiratory rate of >20 breaths per minute or partial pressure of CO2 of <32 mmHg
- White blood cell count of >12,000 per ml or <4000 per ml, or >10% immature (band) forms
 Severe sensis

Severe sepsis

Severe sepsis is defined as sepsis associated with organ dysfunction, hypotension or hyperfusion. Hypoperfusion abnormalities of end organs may include lactataemia, oliguria or an alteration in mental status.

Septic shock

Septic shock is defined as sepsis associated with hypotension and perfusion abnormalities despite the provision of adequate fluid (volume) resuscitation. Perfusion abnormalities include lactic acidosis, oliguria or an acute alteration in mental status. Patients with septic shock who are receiving inotropic or vasopressor therapy might still exhibit perfusion abnormalities, despite the lack of hypotension.

Fig. 9.1 1991 Criteria for sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock

Proposed criteria for sepsis and septic shock

This proposal stems from the 2015 Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3), which considers infection to be an interaction between a host and a pathogen that induces a local or systemic host response.

Sepsis

- Life-threatening organ dysfunction owing to a dysregulated host response to infection
- Onset marked by the beginning of any organ dysfunction remote from the site of infection Septic shock
- A subset of sepsis in which underlying circulatory and cellular-metabolic abnormalities are profound enough to substantially increase mortality
- Operationally defined as requiring vasopressor therapy to maintain a mean arterial blood pressure of >65 mmHg and an increased plasma lactate level of >2 mmol/L

Fig. 9.2 New definition of sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3)

there is organ dysfunction, but in the context of which the body temperature is not taken, the heart rate and breathing rate do not appear, and the white blood cell count is not taken, criteria that, even if a specific, have always been considered useful, together with other clinical signs and symptoms, for making the diagnosis of infection (or at least for suspecting an infection).

The SOFA score therefore underlines the importance of organ failure contained in the new definition, but does not make one immediately reflect on the infection, as SIRS does instead.

As the SOFA score requires some laboratory data, it was believed appropriate to run the quick SOFA (qSOFA) alongside the SOFA score, which provides for three simple, rapid factors (breathing rate >22 breaths/min, systolic pressure <100 mmHg

and altered mental state—0 = mortality <1%, 1 = mortality 2–3%, >2 mortality >10%), but yet again does not include body temperature or heart rate or even the white blood cell count.

All the definitions must have a clinical suspicion of infection or microbiological certainty of the infectious pathogen(s) at the basis, but while useful indicators of infection were contained in the 1992 and 2003 definitions, they disappear in the new definition that focuses completely on infection complications, i.e. on organ failure.

Why was it decided it was necessary to change over from the SIRS criteria to the SOFA score?

The 1992 ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference generated the old definition which was then taken up by the Surviving Sepsis Campaign guidelines published in 2003, 2008 and 2012. These definitions of sepsis and septic shock had shown good clinical resistance over the years (at least 20 years) and had proved useful for hospitals and research. However, over the past 20 years, their use showed that the SIRS definition could be overly sensitive and non-specific.

In 2006, a critical review of some European Intensive Care Units [6] showed that the SIRS criteria were 100% sensitive but only 18% specific. In 2012, a prospective observational study carried out in Holland [7] showed that even minor changes to timing and the SIRS criteria capture method, for example, manually rather than automatically capturing, significantly changed the measured incidences of sepsis. This study showed that from 6% to 17% (depending on the SIRS criteria capture system) of the infected patients in Intensive Care did not meet the SIRS criteria. SIRS criteria are so sensitive that more than 90% of patients admitted to Intensive Care meet these criteria [8].

More recently, a study of 14 years of work in New Zealand Intensive Care Units [9] highlighted significant potential problems with the definition of sepsis. This study found that the SIRS criteria were lost in one out of eight patients with serious infections and that these lost cases were associated with substantial morbidity and hospital mortality. More specifically, "SIRS-negative" septic patients still had high percentages of organ failure, with 42% affected by septic shock, 55% requiring mechanical ventilation and 12% with acute kidney failure. Also, when compared to "SIRS-positive" septic patients, the "SIRS-negative" septic patients had a lower but still substantial hospital mortality (16% versus 23%). These data have raised the problem of the use of the SIRS component of sepsis diagnostic criteria in helping with early recognition and with early treatment of severe infections that are complicated by organ failure. By defining sepsis as the presence of SIRS criteria plus an infection and emphasising what was said previously, i.e. that almost all critical patients satisfy the SIRS criteria, sepsis is the same as having an infection, but if it is true that all patients with sepsis have an infection, the contrary is not necessarily true, i.e. that all patients with an infection have sepsis. In a few words, SIRS criteria are extremely sensitive but not very specific [9, 10].

This is the context in which the task force from the third "International Consensus Conference" on the definitions of sepsis proposed new criteria that were then shared for the first time in the 2016 Surviving Sepsis Campaign guidelines [11].

However, many clinicians and the Surviving Sepsis Campaign still see the SIRS criteria as a useful tool for identifying the infection and for suspecting the infection, but no longer use them as criteria for defining sepsis.

The quick SOFA score and the SOFA score have been, respectively, introduced as screening tools (the former) and as clinical diagnostic criteria for sepsis (the latter). The term sepsis has been removed, and septic shock has been defined as persistent hypotension that requires the use of vasopressors with elevated serum lactate (>2 mmol/L) in spite of fluid resuscitation.

The authors of the new definition acknowledge that simplicity, outcome prediction, test weighting and pathobiology were all taken into consideration for the burdensome task, a true challenge, of deriving the clinical criteria for a syndrome with different aetiologies and without any diagnosis confirmation test, without a gold standard.

Initial performance assessment showed an improved prediction of by SOFA and gSOFA of intra-hospital mortality compared to the SIRS criteria, with criteria met in 67%, 70% and 55% of deaths with initial, clinically suspected infection in Intensive Care with SOFA and outside Intensive Care (e.g. in the emergency department) with qSOFA [12, 13]. While these new criteria have improved predictive ability, they are also used as a reminder for caution that the necessary trust in a definition, that is, syndromic rather than pathologically defined, will continue to introduce errors of misclassification in epidemiological surveillance. In fact, some researchers have studied [14] the incidence of SIRS and qSOFA, on a population of emergency department patients with suspected severe infection, basing their studies on the new sepsis definitions and the overlap with mortality. Of the patients who died, eight out of 276 (2.9%) were identified by qSOFA alone, 101 out of 276 (36.5%) by the SIRS criteria alone and 128 out of 276 (46.4%) by qSOFA and SIRS, and 39 out of 276 (14.2%) did not meet either one or the other criteria. Among the patients with infections in the emergency department who died during hospitalisation, the SIRS criteria showed greater sensitivity than among the patients who survived, the SIRS criteria showing greater ability in identifying the risk of death (higher specificity). The qSOFA in this study identified 21% fewer patients with infection who died while hospitalised.

The definition of sepsis has changed, but the suspected or certain infection remains the crux of the problem. The fundamental enigma in the field of infectious diseases is the huge clinical variability among individuals during the course of the same infection [15].

An infectious (or contagious) illness is defined as an illness caused by a specific infectious agent or by its toxic products that result from the transmission of that agent or its products from another infected person, animal or other reservoir to a susceptible host, either directly or indirectly, via vegetable or animal host and a vector or even an inanimate environment. An infection is on the other hand the dynamic term that defines the entry and development of an infectious agent into a human being or animal body, whether the illness develops of not. When we are faced with infections, we must try to define them from where they manifest themselves as

community or nosocomial infections, defining their paths and the risks connected with their deterioration.

An infection may only be suspected at home or at the entrance to hospital (triage in the emergency department). The suspected infection is a clinical case in which the signs and symptoms that a person is showing are consistent and compatible with a particular infectious illness. The patient may be severe or become more severe during observation; therefore the SIRS criteria, or their systemic involvement, become important at two or more of the following: heart rate >90 beats/min, breathing rate >20 breaths/min, body temperature >38 °C or <36 °C (hypothermia), white blood cells >12/mm³ or <4/mm³, or >10% band form, presence of pus or inflamed tissue and presence of skin marbling. The qSOFA is fast and frugally indicates organ impairment breathing rate, hypotension and altered mental status that cause us to go immediately to the hospital.

An improbable infection combined with a positive microbial culture constitutes a colonisation (today important to know due to multiresistant bacteria).

An infection can only be considered not probably or probable and then be confirmed in the emergency department, or on the ward, or in Intensive Care via the microbiological path.

This category of probable infections may include the expert opinion accompanied by positive biomarkers (e.g. PCT) but sometimes also by non-pathogenic germ cultures. Therefore, a suspected or probable infection in hospital must always be confirmed microbiologically and become a possible certain infection as soon as possible.

However, in all this complexity and variability, there is a new exceptionally important problem: time passing.

The real problem: an infection that deteriorates to the point of sepsis and septic shock happens in the space of a few hours. Sepsis and septic shock are real medical emergencies.

Different doctors and different healthcare organisations are working on this "Sepsis Path" but it is the same patient experiencing it. Care and assistance must be integrated to respect time, to avoid wasting time and to avoid allowing wasted time to further complicate the infection.

Physiological changes, location and confirmation of the infection, investigations, determination of the gravity, target treatment and revision and personalisation of the treatment are all steps in a row, that is, the classic Bayesian approach to diagnosis and treatment of the infection.

The infection is the crux and TIME is the fundamental problem for diagnosis and treatment.

Infection is a dynamic process. It can be resolved, it can stabilise, or it can deteriorate to sepsis. Without cultures or with sterile cultures when a doctor strongly suspects the infection, the day of infection will be defined as the day on which suspicion of the infection starts. With positive cultures, on the other hand, the day of infection is the day on which the sample is found positive in microbiology.

But why does an infection deteriorate? What is an infection that deteriorates and when does an infection deteriorate? Is a particular infection that deteriorates easier than another?

Four complementary theories contribute to creating the infectious phenotype and consequently the septic phenotype: *germ theory* (microbiology allows us to know microbiological variability in quantitative and qualitative terms); *ecological theory* that allows us to know environmental variability; *immunological theory* that allows us to learn the host's response, deficiencies in somatic, adaptive (both genetic and epigenetic) acquired immunity; and *genetic theory* with inherent errors of germ-line encoder immunity (both inherent and adaptive) (Fig. 9.3).

Always think of sepsis when suspecting an infection. When should you think it? When a person shows signs and symptoms that indicate a possible infection that is deteriorating with organ failure or shock. Always take into consideration those people with sepsis who may show non-specific, non-located signs, for example, feeling extremely ill and not having a fever and having normal white blood cells. Pay special attention to the problems raised by one person or by the family or carers, for example, changes in usual behaviour and altered mental state. Assess people who may have sepsis with greater attention if they can't communicate easily (e.g. Italian is their second language or people with communication problems). Assess people with any suspected infection to identify the possible source or infectious factors that increase the risk of sepsis, every clinically important indication such as sudden changes in behaviour, circulation and breathing. Use a structured observation set to



Fig. 9.3 Infectious disease is a complex disease. The four complementary theories of an infectious disease

assess people and to stratify risk if sepsis is suspected. Consider using an "early warning score" to assess people with suspected sepsis in acute hospital settings (medical or surgical wards, mother-infant setting). Suspect neutropenic sepsis in patients who are having cancer treatment and suddenly don't feel well. Take these patients immediately to the emergency department for a hospital assessment.

What can the sepsis risk factors be?

Here are the main ones: very young infants (under 1 year of age) or the elderly (over 75 years of age) or extremely fragile subjects. People with a damaged immune system due to illness or drugs taken also include people treated with chemotherapy for cancer in this group. People who have damaged immune functions; people who have taken steroids for a long time; people who take immunosuppressor drugs for non-tumoural diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis; people who have undergone surgery or other invasive procedure in the last 6 months; people who use intravenous drugs; and people who wear intravenous catheters or other types of catheter (Fig. 9.4).

Sepsis and septic shock must be recognised and treated rapidly otherwise mortality and morbidity increase. Sepsis is a systemic infection that goes bad to organ failure (Fig. 9.5).

The host's responses to severe infection are complex and multiple. Recent studies show that activation of both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune responses occurs immediately after the onset of sepsis. The inherent immune system cells, including monocytes and neutrophils, release large amounts of proinflammatory cytokines that activate inflammation. The intensity of the initial

Risk factors for developing sepsis

Age

- Very young (<2 years of age)
- >55 years of age

Chronic and serious illness

- Cancer
- Diabetes
- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- Cirrhosis or biliary obstruction
- Cystic fibrosis
- Chronic kidney disease
- Congestive heart failure
- Collagen vascular disease
- Obesity

Impaired immunity

- Transplantation
- Chemotherapy
- Radiation therapy
- · Drug-mediated immune suppression
- Blood transfusions

Breach of natural barriers

- Trauma
- · Surgical injury
- · Catheterization or intubation
- Burns
- Enterocolitis

Chronic infections

- HIV
- · Urinary tract infections
- Pneumonia
- Decubitus or non-healing dermal wounds

Other

• Protein calorie malnutrition

Fig. 9.4 Risk factors for developing sepsis



Fig. 9.5 Pathophysiology of local infection and systemic infection

inflammatory response can vary in each patient, depending on several factors including pathogen load and virulence, co-morbidity in patients and the host's genetic factors. Early deaths in sepsis are usually due to a hyperinflammatory cytochemical storm, with fever, refractory shock, acidosis and hypercatabolism. One classic example of this could be that of a young patient who dies from toxic shock syndrome or from meningococcemia. Most patients have an inherent, adaptive immunity recovery and survive infection usually between the fifth and sixth day. If sepsis persists, there is an insufficiency of critical elements in both the inherent immune system and the adaptive system, so that the patient enters a deep immunosuppressive state. Deaths are due to the patient's inability to eliminate the infections and to the development of secondary infections. The most accredited pathophysiology is the one that even if both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses begin together rapidly after sepsis, the initial response in previously health patients is usually an important hyperinflammatory phase with fever, hyperdynamic circulation and shock. Deaths in this early phase are usually due to cardiovascular collapse, metabolic alterations and multiple organ dysfunctions. Although no antiinflammatory therapy has been found to improve survival in large clinical trials, short-acting anti-inflammatory or anti-cytochemical therapies could still offer a theoretical benefit [16–18].

Many patients that develop sepsis are however elderly with several comorbidities that contribute to altering the already altered—by their very age—immune response.

When these individuals develop sepsis, it is common to see that the hyperinflammatory stage is of reduced intensity or even absent, and the patients rapidly develop altered immunity, an actual anti-inflammatory state.

In these situations, which nowadays are increasingly more frequent, an immune adjuvant therapy that can strengthen their immune response is rather promising.

Another immunological response to sepsis may be cycling between hyperinflammatory and hypoinflammatory states. According to this theory, patients that develop sepsis have an initial hyperinflammatory response followed by a hypoinflammatory state. When patients develop a new secondary infection, they have a repeated hyperinflammatory response and can either recover or return to the hypoinflammatory phase. Patients can die in either of the two states. There is not much scientific evidence for this theory, and the longer sepsis continues, the more likely it is that the patient develops a severe immunosuppression.

Due to their advance aged (immuno-senescence) and due to their comorbidities and the specific treatments for said comorbidities, and also due to highly pathogenic, antibiotic-resistant bacteria, many patients are immunodepressed or even immunoparalysed [19].

Sepsis has several, deep effects on all cells that make up the inherent immune system. Sepsis rapidly gives rise to the onset of widespread apoptosis of dendritic cells, monocytes and immature macrophages and natural killer cells and "myeloidderived suppressor cells" (MDSC). The reduced expression of HLA-DR on cells with the antigen that include monocytes/macrophages and dendritic cells is a true distinguishing sign of sepsis that can harm the optimal presentation of microbial antigens to T cells. Sepsis also causes massive losses of CD4+ e CD8+ cells and B cells. T-regulatory (Treg) cells are more resistant to apoptosis induced by sepsis, and there is therefore an increased percentage of Treg cells in circulation compared to the other lymphocyte subsets. This contributes to a more immunosuppressive phenotype. The CD4+ e CD8+ cells that survive have either a shift from one proinflammatory Th1 cell phenotype to an anti-inflammatory Th2 cell phenotype or develop a thorough phenotype characterised by an increased expression of "programmed cell death 1" and reduced cytokine secretion. CD4+ T cells have a reduced expression of CD28 and a reduced receptor diversity for the T cell (TCR) that likely both contribute to the damaged microbial response to invading pathogens.

It has recently been shown that patients with sepsis can develop—if they survive the acute phase but do not recover from organ failure—a so-called persistent critical illness (PCI) [19–21] with clear organ failure that lasts for weeks and months. In the past, these patients would have died, but today they survive due to organ support and therapies provided to them. Death from persistent critical illness is 20–40%, and survivors are frequently handicapped in their cognitive functions, with neuropathies and myopathies, immune dysfunction and other serious complications.

Sepsis is an immunopathology; very early administration of antibiotics, fluids and oxygen (SEPSIS Bundles and SEPSIS SIX) (Figs. 9.6, 9.7, and 9.8) to patients with sepsis has lowered the percentage of mortality, even if this has not prevented or overturned the development of persistent critical illness that is often associated with immunosuppression. Sepsis and persistent critical illness may also not be
SSC 3 and 6 h bundle

To be completed within 3 h of time of presentation*

- 1. Measure lactate level
- 2. Obtain blood cultures prior to administration of antibiotics
- 3. Administer broad spectrum antibiotics
- 4. Administer 30 mL/kg crystalloid for hypotension or lactate ≥4 mmol/L

"time of presentation" is defined as the time of triage in the Emergency Department or, if presenting from another care venue, from the earliest chart annotation consistent with all elements severe sepsis or septic shock ascertained through chart review.

To be completed within 6 h of time of presentation

- 5. Apply vasopressors (for hypotension that does not respond to initial fluid resuscitation to maintain a mean arterial pressure (MAP ≥65 mmHg) (GRADE 1C)
- 6. In the event of persistent arterial hypotension despite volume resuscitation (septic shock) or initial lactate ≥4 mmol/L (36 mg/dL):
 - Measure central venous pressure (CVP)*
 - Measure central venous oxygen saturation (ScvO2)*
- 7. Re-measure lactate*

 Targets for quantitative resuscitation included in the guidelines are CVP of ≥8 mmHg (higher with altered ventricular compliance or increased intrathoracic pressure) ScvO2 of ≥70% and lactate normalization (lactate clearance – GRADE 2C)

Fig. 9.6 Sepsis bundles 3 and 6 h (SSC 2004/2008/2012)

SSC Bundle 1 h (2018)

- Measure lactate level. Remeasure if initial lactate is >2 mmol/L
- · Obtain blood cultures prior to administration of antibiotics
- · Administer broad spectrum antibiotics
- Begin rapid administration of 30 mL/Kg crystralloid for hypotension or lactate ≥4 mmol/L
- Apply vasopressors if patient is hypotensive during or after fluid resuscitation to maintain MAP ≥65 mmHg
- "Time Zero" or "Time of Presentation" is defined as the time of triage in the Emergency Department or, if presenting from another care venue, from the earliest chart annotation consistent with all elements of sepsis (formerly severe sepsis) or septic shock ascertained through chart review

Bundle element	Grade of recommendation and level of evidence
Measure lactate. Remeasure if initial lactate >2 mmol/L	Weak recommendation, low quality of evidence
Obtain blood cultures prior to administration of antibiotics	Best practice statement
Administer broad spectrum antibiotics	Strong recommendation, moderate quality of evidence
Begin rapid administration of 30 mL/Kg crystralloid for hypotension or lactate \ge 4 mmol/L	Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence
Apply vasopressors if patient is hypotensive during or after fluid resuscitation to maintain MAP ≥65 mmHg	Strong recommendation, moderate quality of evidence

Fig. 9.7 SSC bundle 1 h (2018) and grade of recommendation and level of evidence of bundle elements

Fig. 9.8 SEPSIS SIX Sepsis six (1 h) Daniels R. Nutbeam T, McNamara G, Galvin Prompt fulfillment, within the first hour from identification, of six C. The sepsis six and the diagnostic (in black) therapeutic (in red) manoeuvres severe sepsis resuscitation 1. Oxvgen administration bundle: a prospective 2. Haemoculture samples observational cohort study. 3. Antibiotic therapy Emerg Med J. 2011; 4. Fluid administration 28(6):507-12 Lactate measurement

6. Urinary output monitoring



One healthcare system that works in a coordinate manner in definite times

Fig. 9.9 Fully embrace and quantify the uncertainty in a septic condition. Suspicion and early diagnosis of infection and sepsis quick shift from suspected infection to confirmed infection

immunopathologies but be the failure to recover homeostasis that results in dysfunction of the immune and neuroendocrine system: the two major systems that maintain healthy intercommunication between the organs. The components pertaining to efferent to both the systems are damaged in sepsis and in persistent critical illness via molecular and cellular mechanisms that are currently the focus of active research.

The limits of this new definition of sepsis emerge in all current scientific evidence, together with deep uncertainty (Figs. 9.9 and 9.10).

Doctors and nurses need a less controversial and less confused definition. They need it to be made operational like a set of clinical criteria that can be used to make clinical decisions and even guide them in testing and using therapies that can modulate the host's response. The first task requires identification of specific diagnostic criteria, others a further refinement of these criteria via true therapeutic stratification.



Fig. 9.10 Infection and sepsis integrated care in the time dominion. A systematic vision of sepsis in Tuscany Region (Italy)

We don't currently screen patients for sepsis; instead we search for diagnostic tests that can establish or exclude diagnosis in a patient with early and non-specific signs of acute illness. The critical question is: what are we trying to diagnose?

Sepsis is a complex structure that incorporates both causes, infection and the consequent complications: development of a life-threatening organ dysfunction and thus the diagnostic criteria for sepsis could address four different needs:

- (a) DIAGNOSING THE INFECTION AT AN EARLY STAGE, so that we can treat it suitably and thus prevent organ dysfunction.
- (b) IN PATIENTS WITH SUSPECTED OR KNOWN INFECTION, IDENTIFY THE ONES THAT HAVE AN INCREASED RISK OF DEVELOPING LIFE-THREATENING ORGAN DYSFUNCTION, so that we can monitor them better and intervene earlier.
- (c) IDENTIFY THOSE PATIENTS WITH EARLY ORGAN DYSFUNCTION THAT ARE AT A HIGH RISK OF DEATH, so that we can intervene to alter their trajectory.
- (d) EXCLUDE THOSE PATIENTS THAT RISK ORGAN DYSFUNCTION BUT WHERE THE INFECTION IS NOT THE CAUSE.

The infection and sepsis must integrate care and assistance in time because sepsis can appear or develop from the territory to the hospital or inside the hospital, in Intensive Care and/or on the wards or in the maternity wards. If it develops in the territory, diagnosis must be carried out by the family GP if the patient calls him. Therefore, we can consider a delay caused by the patient. If first contact is with a family GP, he can diagnose or not diagnose sepsis and delay causing the emergency services. If he does call emergency services, there may be a delay in transport either due to delay in replying or a delay in the transport itself. On arriving at the emergency department, there may be a delay in the department itself due to an undertriage of the sepsis. Only an integrated system can diagnose and treat sepsis in the right timescales. In the hospital, it is necessary to know what the correct methods are for diagnosing sepsis in the different settings but also to know where sepsis and septic shock must be treated: sepsis and septic shock must always be treated either in Intensive Care or High Dependency Units (HDU).

Sepsis at home can be diagnosed with simple, rapid approaches such as the qSOFA may be, perhaps expanded to temperature and heart rate and with strong empowerment of the families. There is need for a new family GP and to teach the patient signs of infection and sepsis.

Sepsis and septic shock can be addressed in emergency medical systems also in these settings, via simple adaptive tools. When we analyse these simple tools, it is possible to see that they all start from MEWS (Fig. 9.11).

With the introduction of the more recent rapid diagnosis microbiological techniques in clinical practice for identification of the pathogen and for its antibiotic resistance (Figs. 9.12 and 9.13), severe infections in high intensity areas of hospital care can be addressed by the clinician in a totally new way. With this new diagnostic approach, the information obtained using the molecular microbiological technique and phenotype microbiological technique can be used rapidly by the doctor, as required by sepsis, thus overcoming one of the main problems of traditional microbiology, i.e. the prolonged response time. Finding negative cultures in patients that have already received antibiotics occurs frequently [22]. This problem can also be resolved in part using molecular biology techniques. Delay in diagnosis due to the microbiological laboratory is accompanied by a delay in administering targeted antibiotic therapy, with deterioration in the patients' outcome, especially if they are in septic shock. There is much solid scientific evidence that shows a mortality increase if the empiric antibiotic therapy proves to be inadequate. At the end of the 1990s, in a prospective surveillance study, it was proven that 8.5% of infected patients admitted to Intensive Care received inadequate empiric therapy, and this was an important independent factor of hospital mortality: 42% versus 17.7% in the infected group treated adequately from the start [23].

Some authors, using a broad range of cases, assessed the appropriateness of antibiotic therapy in bacteraemia and the related clinical outcome and found a clear increase in hospital mortality in the critical group of patients who were given an inappropriate empiric therapy [24].

In an article often cited in literature, the concept that the duration of hypotension—expressed in hours—in septic shock before an effective empiric antibiotic is commenced is a critical decisive factor closely related to mortality is emphasised. This work reports a 7.6% increase in mortality for each hour of delay in











Fig. 9.13 Molecular diagnostics: useful tool for antibiotic stewardship

administering effective therapy, in the first 6 h from diagnosis of septic shock [25]. This concept has been misinterpreted by many, extending the need to establish a rapid, prompt antibiotic therapy in all infectious conditions far removed from septic shock, the only one where such evidence is solid.

More recently, on analysing an enormous global case study of patients in septic shock/with severe sepsis, other authors have again shown the close relationship between delay in commencing appropriate antibiotic therapy in the early hours since diagnosis of septic shock/severe sepsis and hospital mortality. Mortality increased in line in the early hours, as in the previously cited work, but in lower percentages [26]. Some of the independently associated factors to inappropriate antibiotic therapy include a previous colonisation by multiresistant germs and previous antibiotic therapy, especially one with broad-spectrum molecules such as carbapenems [27]. More than 2/3 of the bacteraemias acquired in Intensive Care are caused by MDR or XDR (multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant) germs, with a clear prevalence of isolated gram-negatives, characterised [28] by more complex problems in treatment, mainly due to the limited number of effective antibiotic molecules. The problem of the negative impact (in terms of mortality) of inappropriate empiric antibiotic therapy on outcome has once again been confirmed by a large recently published meta-analysis [29]. All this clearly imposes rapid identification of the pathogen causing the infection, especially in septic patients admitted to Intensive Care, together with its pattern of resistance and susceptibility to currently used antimicrobial molecules. Access to rapid diagnosis is currently possible

for only a few clinicians as such methods are extremely expensive. It is therefore essential to design clinical care paths with patient complexity at the centre, able to direct a certain "setting" of septic patients to rapid diagnosis. On this matter, the microbiology laboratory should travel at two different speeds, clearly differentiating the routine path of a sample from that of the critical septic patient who requires much different times. A well-prepared clinician should stratify patients who need a preferential diagnostic path based on several factors. The combined, integrated use of validated scores helps the clinician in this task which is often not easy. Above all, the SOFA score was introduced by Vincent in 1996 [30]. Originally, the SOFA score was designed not to predict the outcome but to describe a developing sequence of organ damage. On admission, the SOFA score is independently associated with the possibility of developing bacteraemia in critical patients; in itself, it does not predict the outcome for those patients who will then develop this complication, but if we analyse its value on the first day of bacteraemia, then it is a powerful, independent prognostic factor. A high SOFA score value is associated with a higher probability of death [31].

With the introduction of the new sepsis and septic shock definitions, this score takes on an even more important clinical role in accurately defining a septic patient [1–3]. Today, sepsis involves organ dysfunction, focusing attention on a much more complex pathology than a simple infection plus SIRS criteria. This new way of thinking underlines the supremacy of the non-homeostatic host response to the infection, with the connected greater potential fatality compared to a simple infection, and this forces the clinician to rapidly recognise these patients in order to reduce said risk. Current clinical criteria for sepsis are the presence of an infection that has brought about a dysregulated host response together with a 2-point increase on the SOFA score, considering 0 as the initial state when the starting value is unknown. A patient in these conditions has a 10% higher hospital mortality risk. Septic shock, as has already been mentioned, means sepsis, as defined above, associated with the needs to vasopressors for maintaining a MAP > 65 mmHg and with lactacidemia >2 mg/L with no hypovolaemia. However, it is necessary to remember that the concept of SIRS has been removed from the definition of sepsis, but the clinician must be well aware that its use is most certainly useful when making a presumptive diagnosis of infection. The infection to be verified is still the crux of the sepsis problem, in fact.

Alongside the SOFA score, there are other scores of great and renewed interest for stratifying which patients are worthy of rapid microbiological diagnosis, including the CPIS score (clinical pulmonary infection score) when a lung infection is suspected and the PITT score when bacteraemia is suspected. Recently, the CPIS score was included in more complex diagnostic strategies, including both quali/ quantitative microbiological analyses and biomarkers [32], or due to its non-elevated diagnostic performance highlighted by various studies published in literature [33, 34] integrated with procalcitonin levels and a chest echography [35] (CEPPIS Chest Echography and Procalcitonin Pulmonary Infection Score). A CEPPIS score >5 analysed retrospectively on 221 patients, 108 of which with microbiological VAP confirmation was found to be higher-performing in predicting VAP compared to a CPIS score >6 (OR 23.78; sensitivity 80.5%, specificity 85.2% versus OR 3309; sensitivity 39.8%, specificity 83.3%). PITT bacteraemia score is associated with mortality in patients with bacteraemia [36]. Another essential important aspect in risk stratification for septic patients is assessing the probability that the infection is caused by multiresistant germs. It is possible in this case too to use clinical scores to quantify this risk. Some authors [37] have validated a specific score for hospital-acquired infections from multiresistant gram-negative pathogens in critical patients, based on the following factors:

- 1. A stay of more than 5 days in Intensive Care
- 2. Use of carbapenems in the previous 6 months
- 3. Presence of a gram-negative infection in the previous 6 months
- 4. Dialysis with end-stage kidney disease
- 5. Surgery that precedes identification of gram-negative MDR
- 6. Carbapenem therapy in patients in Intensive Care for more than 5 days
- 7. Presence of CoNS

A coefficient is attributed to each of these factors, and the sum total allows the patients to be stratified into three classes of MDR risk: low risk, medium risk and high risk.

Another advantage of correct risk stratification is that within the MDR low-risk group of patients with less organ impact, the abuse/misuse of broader-spectrum molecules can be considerably reduced, thus contributing to interrupting the vicious cycle that leads to resistance. There are also predictive infection models for KPC *KlebsiellaKPC*, which are also based on several factors that are easy to analyse at the patient's bedside [38].

Some authors [39] have carried out retrospective studies on the risk factors of pneumonia caused by MDR in microbiologically confirmed cases and have constructed a new predictive score: the DRIP score (Drug Resistance in Pneumonia Score) which can identify these patients better than the less precise criteria of the CDC's HCAP (healthcare-associated pneumonia). At a threshold value >4, the DRIP score shows a sensitivity of 0.82 (95% CI, 0.67 at 0.88), a specificity of 0 (95% CI, 0.73 at 0.87), a positive predictive value (PPV) of 0.68.81 (95% CI, 0.56 at 0.78) and a negative predictive value (NPV) of 0.90 (95% CI 0.81 at 0.93).

The problem of antibiotic resistance and therefore of acquiring an MDR germ responsible for the infection is priority, but we must not forget that it is the gravity of the septic syndrome that has the greatest influence on the outcome and likewise the condition in which an appropriate antibiotic therapy was established. In a retrospective study on 510 patients affected by bacteraemia in sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock, all with appropriate empiric therapy, it was proven that it is the gravity of the septic syndrome rather than the acquired MDR state that is an important predictor of death [40]. Therefore, it is only a careful initial assessment, layering the clinical gravity risk related to the outcome with the help of scores, the severity of the septic syndrome and the risk of having MDR pathogen infections that can guide

microbiological diagnostics in septic patients, as part of a rapid path shared at every stage with the clinical microbiology colleague, who is today a vital figure in the "sepsis path".

As a part of this decision-making path (diagnostic-therapeutic), a role of primary importance is played by the use of biomarkers, such as procalcitonin (PCT) and proadrenomedullin (proADM). Evidence supporting the use of PCT is truly important. In 2004, Liliana Simon published her first review and comparative meta-analysis between PCT and PCR as bacterial infection markers, concluding that PCT was more sensitive (88% versus 75%) and more specific (81% versus 67%) than PCR in differentiating a bacterial infection from non-infectious causes [41]. A few years later, the proCAP study began to lay the foundations for the use of PCT in deciding to interrupt antibiotic therapy earlier, showing that the 151 patients guided by PCT on average interrupted antibiotic therapy in CAPs after 5 days compared to the 12 days of the control group, with a reduction of prescription on entry from 99% to 85% [42].

The proHOSP study published in 2009 extended the analysis to all lower airway infections and on analysing 1359 patients in a multicentre, randomised, controlled trial, confirmed what had already been stated that the PCT-guided group had a lower exposure to antibiotics and a smaller percentage of drug-related adverse events related to a similar clinical outcome than the control group [43]. Once the PRORATA trial appeared in a basic, reference article supporting current clinical use of PCT, it was finally confirmed that the 307 patients in the PCT group (algorithm for commencing and/or discontinuing the PCT-guided antibiotic therapy) had a mortality rate at 28 and at 60 days that was fully comparable with that of the 314 patients in the control but with a significantly lower daily exposure to antibiotics [44]. In 2012, the Cochrane collaboration published a review of 14 randomised, controlled clinical trials, concluding that use of PCT in commencing or discontinuing antibiotic therapy did not lead to a higher frequency of mortality and/or therapeutic failure but did, on the other hand, lead to an important reduction of days of exposure to the antibiotic and a lower drug-related effect and lower antibiotic-resistance rate [45]. Another meta-analysis from 2013 introduced the concept that the PCT value should be contextualised and interpreted within the clinical context [46]: this is vitally important, when PCT is used in clinical practice, as it is not the single value alone that must be considered but the meaning that that value has in that clinical context and above all the kinetics in the first 72 h of PCT. It is the dynamic change of PCT in the first 48-72 h that expresses the predictive value of survival and of antibiotic therapy efficacy [47, 48]. In addition to this placement of PCT, which has now been consolidated for some time and is based on the fact that no marker has ever been assessed with such a high level of methodological rigour in randomised clinical trials, the marker has already been paired for a few years now with new microbiological diagnostic and rapid identification technologies, which is a new and promising possibility for treating serious infections in the critical patient [49]. PCT plays a primary role today, alongside a careful stratification of patient risk, in guiding rapid diagnosis. In clinical practice based on close daily collaboration with his clinical microbiology colleagues, the clinician's request, shared with the microbiologist after reasoning on each clinical case, for rapid diagnosis, therefore for a dedicated path from the laboratory, starts after identifying the patient deserving of such a customised diagnostic path, based on suitable stratification of risk, including scores (adaptive, heuristic tools) and biomarkers, the first of which is PCT, and more recently proADM that strengthens the former for some aspects. PCT has been included in all the most advanced antimicrobial stewardship programmes [50] especially for critical patients, at which point it is now truly difficult not to consider this marker as part of the clinical path of this particular patient setting. Mortality data in terms of reduction in the PCT-guided group that was missing in all the trials published thus far has recently come from the results in a large-scale Dutch open-label, randomised, controlled trial including 1575 patients divided into two groups (PCT-guided and standard-guided) where mortality at 28 days in the PCT group was 19.6% versus 25% of the control group [51].

One ideal biomarker to be included in daily clinical practice should not only have a high positive predictive value (PPV) but also a high negative predictive value (NPV). Anyone who currently uses PCT in an advanced and innovative manner focuses their attention on the NPV of this marker, taking the rest for granted and consolidated. It is this very particular characteristic that differentiates PCT from other biomarkers used in clinical practice in the context of an initial structured diagnostic path for a markedly septic patient, without however known or common infection sites. The use of this marker as part of an integrated, complex clinical path stimulates the clinician's diagnostic ability, refining his accuracy. In a patient with sepsis/septic shock with negative or extremely low PCT for the severity of the clinical picture, it is automatically mandatory to guide diagnosis with the exclusion of syndrome situations such as deep and/or compartmentalised abscesses, meningitis/ ventriculitis, endocarditis without embolism, specific atypical pneumonia and "bloodstream infections" from CoNS or from fungus.

In clinical practice in these groups of patients, instrumental diagnosis using advanced total body imaging with contrast media, in both CT and MRI scans, are rapidly carried out, the latter at the same time as the CT scan, in the cases where the site can be studied better or characterised using this method—see particular deep muscle or CNS locations. Alongside the CT and/or MRI test, another important diagnostic test is a trans-thoracic or trans-oesophageal ultrasound with the intention to exclude valve vegetations.

Alongside PCT, another marker of current interest is the MR-proADM amino acid fragmentation of the adrenomedullin peptide of 52 amino acids secreted by endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscles. ADM is involved in the systemic control of circulation and has a probable autocrine/paracrine vasoactive action. The molecule also has a diuretic and natriuretic action, increasing glomerular filtration rate and reducing the distal absorption of sodium. ADM also has a bactericide action, further increased by being regulated and by modulation of the complementary activity. It is not therefore surprising that high blood levels of ADM have been found raised in septic patients, making it one of the parameters to evaluate in both the diagnostic and the prognostic and monitoring paths. Unfortunately, measuring ADM is often unreliable due to its rapid clearance in blood circulation. Furthermore, circulating ADM is associated with a binding protein that makes it inaccessible for any direct immunometric dosage. However, the problem has recently been resolved by identifying its mean regional fragment, named pro-adrenomedullin (MR-proADM), in the plasma of septic patients, as a stable, reliable surrogate marker for release of ADM. Secretion of proADM increases during the immune response to viruses, fungi and bacteria in relation to stimulation intensity, and its presence is also found therefore during serious infections [52]. The MR-proADM amino acid fragment also provides more prognostic information and is an expression of greater endothelial damage. It is closely related to the gravity of the disease and would appear to play an important role in defending the organism from the host and is in fact an antibacterial peptide [53]. ProADM is therefore a strong prognostic biomarker that can be used together with the clinical parameters of gravity (APACHE II score, SOFA score) to stratify the risk of septic patients. Therefore, having a more specific marker for prognosis on entry can help the clinician to formulate both diagnostic and most of all clinical situation evolution hypotheses, by modulating several therapeutic strategies on several levels of care intensity. Pairing both the PCT and proADM markers with TNF alpha in one compound score has proven that identification performance for a sepsis diagnosis is notably refined [54]. It has recently been proven that MR-proADM differentiates sepsis from non-infection-based SIRS situations with very high specificity and that if paired with PCT in septic patients, the post-test diagnosis probability increases noticeably if compared to that of the two markers taken individually [55-57]. The following hypotheses can be validated by assessing daily blood levels of proADM together with those of PCT, as part of a multi-parametric analysis of sepsis using existing scores (SOFA score, PITT score, CPIS score, MDR score) and extremely advanced rapid microbiological diagnostic techniques:

- (a) Identifying diagnostic cut-offs for infectious situations
- (b) Testing the association between associated patterns compared to each proADM and PCT text
- (c) Diagnostic accuracy of the infection and in response to therapy
- (d) Testing whether the diagnostic values of proADM and PCT, their maximum values or their cumulative values or quantification of their trends add predictiveness to classical prediction models in critical patients

From an initial analysis, it is possible to see an existing close correlation between proADM and SOFA score and sometimes even the proADM rises before the SOFA score, allowing the clinician to anticipate his suspicion of a probable deterioration in organ failure. The proADM also correlates with the PITT score, more than the PCT. Another characteristic aspect to validate during the analysis phase is the fact that in several cases of initial PCT values that can also be high, the proADM remains low if the organ is not affected. It is as if the marker, not seeing the gravity of the patient, differs itself from the PCT positive result. The matter is more complex for the cut-off of proADM as it is not clear in literature what the most reliable cut-off may be. Cut-off < 1 indicates the absence of an infectious pathology, with organ

dysfunction ongoing. Cut-off between 1 and 2, even without clear clinical signs and with low PCT, may indicate that the organs are affected with a latent infectious picture or one that is not yet fully resolved. This latter data is extremely important and innovative for a biomarker, as it encourages the clinician to reason and to set up a more accurate diagnostic-therapeutic plan. Cut-off between 2 and 4 indicates a severe infection associated with organ dysfunction and is usually associated in line with the SOFA score.

All patients who are admitted in septic shock with a proADM value >6 are all dead, as if this was a cut-off of no return in this group of patients. By pairing up the two markers, the clinician can refine his diagnostic capacity in the initial phase even further.

As everyone knows, PCT does not move during a viral or fungal infection, although with fungal infections, things are slightly different, in fact. A cut-off of 2 ng/mL separates sepsis from *Candida* from bacterial ones, with a 92% sensitivity and a 93% specificity and a NPV of 94% [58]. Therefore, when evaluating the NPV in PCT, also in fungal infections, the information it provides is very important for a well-prepared clinician. From data found in literature, a septic patient with PCT > 3 on the seventh day plus a *Candida* score >3 is associated with the high probability of candidemia to the point that an empiric antifungal therapy will be recommended [55, 59].

With the new definition of sepsis and with the important role attributed to the SOFA score, the possibility of using a prognostic marker, related to the SOFA score as an expression of organ damage, such as proADM most definitely increases leaning towards more advanced diagnostic-therapeutic strategies during the decision-making stage.

The diagnostic/therapeutic path proposed for sepsis and septic shock can be tracked as follows in different hospital settings (Figs. 9.14, 9.15, and 9.16):

- 1. Stratification of risk
 - Scores: SOFA score/PITT score/CPIS score/MDR score + BIOMARKERS: PCT/proADM + lactate and grading of gravity of septic syndrome
- 2. Rapid microbiological diagnostics in patients selected based on their gravity, with the criteria stated above and its correct interpretation
 - Rapid identification/resistance pattern/rapid antibiogram
- Reasoned empiric therapy on the infection site possible, on the patient's history and on the department's epidemiology
- Therapeutic upgrading/downgrading once the information from point 2 has been obtained
 - Narrowing of action spectrum of molecules used, reduction in the number of molecules and changeover from combination therapy to monotherapy
- 5. Synergism test (customised therapy)
- 6. Reduction in the duration of antibiotic therapies based on the clinic and the PCT kinetics
- 7. Close sharing in all parts of the process described above between clinician and clinical microbiologist







Fig. 9.15 Patient risk stratification in a medical/surgical ward: the use of a bioscore



Fig. 9.16 Patient risk stratification in the ICU: the use of a bioscore

- 8. Possibility of a positive return in terms of both local epidemiology and infection control, with a considerable impact on patients' outcome
 - Shorter stays in hospital, lower mortality, lower costs for related drug, etc.

9.1 The Surviving Sepsis Campaign 2016 Guidelines

The international SSC guidelines for sepsis and septic shock management reached their fourth edition in 2016. The recommendations contained therein have been evaluated using the GRADE system and clearly show us that there is still a high rate of uncertainty that the clinician must still embrace. However, they contain a new section: Good Practice. Eighteen best practice statements appear in the guidelines, 13 of which concern the first 3 h of intervention, i.e. initial resuscitation, diagnosis, antibiotic therapy, source control and fluid therapy (Figs. 9.17, 9.18, and 9.19).

One good practice defines sepsis and septic shock as medical emergencies and recommends that treatment and resuscitation commence immediately. This means that healthcare organisations must consider sepsis and septic shock on the same basis as trauma, IMA and strokes, where times for treatments must be measured and considered as indicators. The good practices that concern fluid therapy recommend



Grading of recommendations assessment, development, and evaluation (GRADE) system - quality of evidence - strength of recommendations

Fig. 9.17 SSC international guidelines 2016: recommendations and best practice statements (BPS)



Fig. 9.18 SSC 2016: the 18 best practice statements. Red dots: the 13 best practices (ungraded strong recommendations) in the early sepsis phase. Early diagnosis of infection and sepsis, essentials to optimise early antibiotic therapy



Continue to balance fluid resuscitation and vasopressor dose with attention to maintain tissue perfusion and minimize interstitial edema
Implement some combination of haemodynamic monitoring to aid in further resuscitation choices that may include additional fluids or inotropic therapy
Blood pressure, heart rate response; urine output; cardiothoracic ultrasound; CVP,ScvO2; pulse pressure variation; lactate clearance normalization; dynamic measurement: response of flow to fluid bolus or passive leg raising

• Consider albumin fluid resuscitation when large volume of crystalloids are required to maintain intravascular volume

Diagnostic, antibiotic, sepsis stewardship programs (DASSP)

Fig. 9.19 SSC 2016: the 18 best practice statements. Red dots: the 13 best practices (ungraded strong recommendations) in the early sepsis phase. Early diagnosis of infection and sepsis, early effective fluid therapy

that after the start of early fluid resuscitation, additional fluids must be guided by frequent reassessment of the hemodynamic state and that further hemodynamic assessments are carried out if a clinical examination of the patient does not lead to a clear diagnosis; the "fluid challenge" technique is also recommended, when fluids must continue to be administered for the entire time that the hemodynamic factors continue to improve. On diagnosis, not much is added to the recommendation that the appropriate routine microbiological cultures (including blood) must be taken before starting antimicrobial therapy in patients with suspected sepsis or septic shock, if these procedures do not delay excessively the start of antibiotic therapy. Most of the good practices concern antibiotic therapy and "source control". With regard to antibiotic therapy, empiric antibiotic therapy should be narrowed down once the pathogen and the antibiogram have been identified and/or a suitable clinical improvement has been noted. Sustained systemic prophylaxis is also not recommended for patients with severe inflammatory states of a non-infectious origin, such as severe pancreatitis and burn injuries. Antibiotic dosing must be optimised based on the accepted principles of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics and the specific properties of the drug. It is also recommended that if a combination therapy is initially used for septic shock, de-escalation should be carried out with discontinuation of the combination therapy within the first few days in response to clinical improvement and/or evidence of infection resolution. This is applied to both targeted combination therapy (for culture-positive infections) and empiric combination therapy (for culture-negative infections). Lastly, therapy should be assessed daily for de-escalation of antimicrobial therapy in patients with sepsis and septic shock.

Other good practices concern controlling the site of infection. The first good practice recommends a specific anatomic diagnosis of infection that requires emergency source control is identified or excluded as early as possible and that each requested source control intervention be implemented as soon as it is medically and logistically possible after diagnosis. A recommendation is also made for prompt removal of intravascular access devices that may be the source of sepsis and septic shock, after other vascular access sites have been established. As we can see, the best practices regard the entire initial phase. One important best practice states that hospital systems must have a performance improvement programme that includes sepsis screening for high-risk, acutely ill patients.

On comparing the 2012 recommendations with the ones from 2016, with regard to initial resuscitation, we can note that some important trials have also influenced this change. In 2012, initial resuscitation of patients with sepsis and tissue hypoperfusion (defined as hypotension persisting after initial fluid challenge or blood lactate concentration \geq 4 mmol/L) was protocolised under the influence of the EGDT. The goals to be achieved in the first 6 h of resuscitation were:

- (a) CVP 8-12 mmHg
- (b) MAP $\geq 65 \text{ mmHg}$
- (c) Urine output $\geq 0.5 \text{ mL/kg/h}$
- (d) Central or mixed venous saturation of = 70% or 65%, respectively (grade 1C)
- (e) With elevated lactate levels, resuscitation must tend towards normalising the lactate (grade 2C)

In 2016, sepsis and septic shock are considered to be a medical emergency, and it is recommended that treatment and resuscitation begin immediately. A minimum of 30 mL/kg of intravenous crystalloids are recommended in resuscitation in sepsisinduced hypoperfusion, to be administered in the first 3 h (strong recommendation with low quality of evidence). A frequent reassessment of the hemodynamic state is recommended after initial fluid resuscitation, which must include a full clinical examination and an assessment of the physiological variables available: heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation, breathing rate, temperature, urinary output and others if available, such as other invasive and non-invasive forms of monitoring. A further hemodynamic assessment is recommended (such as the one to assess heart function) to determine the type of shock if the clinical examination does not lead to a clear diagnosis. Dynamic variables should be used rather than static ones to predict "fluid responsiveness", when they are available, of course (weak recommendation, low quality of evidence). An initial target for mean arterial pressure of 65 mmHg in patients with septic shock requiring vasopressors is recommended (strong recommendation with moderate quality of evidence). Resuscitation should be guided to normalising lactate in patients with high levels of lactate as a marker for tissue hypoperfusion (weak recommendation, low quality of evidence)

With regard to diagnosis, the use of the 1.3-sD glucan and of the antibody mannan and the antibody anti-mannan for the different diagnoses with fungus infections disappear, and the use of imaging carried out to promptly confirm a potential source of infection also disappears.

For antibiotic therapy, the recommendation of administering antibiotics within 1 h for both sepsis and septic shock remains (strong recommendation with moderate quality of evidence). Not much changes for all the rest apart from the increase in this treatment in the best practices as already stated. The same for source control. Follow the EGDT protocol or monitor the patient and administer the treatment based on the clinical signs [60–64].

In a recent Canadian study [65], an association was shown between time to treatment and the outcome for patients with sepsis or septic shock treated in the emergency department. In this important study, it was found that a longer time in completing the "bundle of care" of 3 h for septic patients and the administration of broad-spectrum antibiotics were associated with a higher hospital mortality, adjusted for risk. No association was found in the same study between completion of the initial bolus of fluids and hospital mortality. Time to treatment varied widely between hospitals. The results of the study were in agreement with other smaller, observational-type studies [66–69].

However, a recent meta-analysis of 11 observational studies did not show a significant benefit of administering antibiotics within 3 h, compared to administration after 3 h, after triage in the emergency department (odds ratio 1.16; 95% CI, 0.92 at 1.46) or within 1 h of recognising shock (odds ratio 1.46; 95% CI, 0.89 at 2.40) [26].

The odds ratios cited in the study are similar, but the confidence intervals are narrower, given the larger sample included in the Canadian study. This study complements a meta-analysis of goal-directed therapy in sepsis and septic shock (PRISM trial) [60]. More than three out of four patients in the PRISM trial received

elements of the 3-h bundle before randomisation, after which the various trials making up the PRISM trial tested to see whether the protocolised resuscitation strategies improved the outcome. However, the Canadian study asked another question: is timing important for these earlier, more basic elements? This population data also places the relatively high compliance with these steps in the control groups of the various trials making up the PRISM trial before randomisation into the context. Only half the hospitals conducted themselves at this level. There are several biological explanations for the association between time to completion of the 3-h bundle and the outcome. First of all, a faster administration of antibiotics reduces the pathogenic load, modifies the host's response and may reduce the incidence of subsequent organ failure. Secondly, doctors who decide more rapidly to measure lactate levels in the blood can identify non-recognised shock better and are better prepared for facing lactate-guided resuscitation than clinicians who are slower in measuring lactate levels, a strategy that may improve the outcome of the randomised trials [72]. Thirdly, doctors vary vastly in how they identify sepsis, even when presented with similar cases [73].

Early administration of treatment in sepsis, even within the framework of rigid protocols, requires a prompt clinical suspicion of both the infection and of the organ dysfunction that is deteriorating. [70–71] Even if we do not find any association between the completion time of the initial bolus of intravenous fluids and the outcome, this data should not be interpreted as evidence in favour of abandoning early fluid resuscitation. Analysis of the completion time of the initial bolus of fluids is more likely to be confused by indication (e.g. sicker patients will receive fluids earlier and are also more likely to die) [74].

A greater volume of fluids administered rapidly may contribute to adverse effects such as pulmonary edema, fluid overload and a longer duration of organ support in selected patients [6]. A variation of 1–2 times was found in the study between hospitals regarding the speed in which the 3-h bundle was completed, antibiotics were administered, and the bolus of intravenous fluids were completed in the emergency departments. Generally speaking, adherence ranged from 60% to 90% and was higher than the comparable one in programmes to improve the quality of treatments for strokes in New York [75]. This performance may derive from the public's growing attention towards sepsis [76]. Adherence was greater in emergency departments in smaller, non-university hospitals, a result that differs from a previous study [77]. These hospitals may have fewer doctors to train, a lower census in their emergency departments and a different case mix compared with the larger reference centres that perhaps helps with the faster implementation of sepsis protocols.

9.2 Controlling the Infection Site (Source Control) [78–81]

In the German MEDUSA trial, surgical (84.8%) or intervention (15.9%) source control was carried out in 422 patients: the overall average time was 3 h (-0.1 to 13.7 h) and 6 h, respectively (2–20 h), in those patients where source control was begun after development of organ dysfunction (314 patients). Of these 314 patients,

158 (50.3%) received source control within 6 h of the onset of infection-related organ dysfunction. Time to source control was significantly longer in non-surviving patients than in surviving ones. In 55 patients (13.3%), source control was evaluated as inadequate. Mortality at 28 days was 65.5% in patients with inadequate source control, compared to a 26.7% mortality rate in patients with adequate source control (P < 0.01). There was no relation between time to source control and risk of death at 28 days (odds ratio per hour of increase in time to source control, 1.0 (95% CI: 1-1.0 P = 0.725)). Patients who suffered a delay in source control for more than 6 h had a significantly higher mortality (42.9% versus 26.7% P < 0.001). This delay was independently associated with an increased risk of death. There was no statistically significant or linear interaction between time to antibiotic treatment and time to source control. Other studies found that a cut-off of 12 h is a better indicator between early and late times, with better outcomes observed in the groups with early intervention. In a Spanish prospective observational study by the EDUSEPSIS Study Group, a third of the patients with sepsis admitted to ICU required source control, especially the ones with abdominal infections and soft tissue infections. Although the patients going to source control were more serious and received worse initial resuscitation, their outcome was better than those that did not go to source control. The study, however, failed to prove a lower mortality with early source control compared to later source control in specific infection sites. Educational and quality control programmes are required to identify and control infection sites in patients with sepsis and septic shock.

All these results from different studies must not be an excuse for doctors to use a slow approach with critically ill patients, in a population of vulnerable patients. These studies support the notion that personalised medicine and personalised surgery are the optimal approach for timing to source control in septic patients. Some patients require early intervention, while other can tolerate a delayed source control certainly until their clinical condition has improved. It is difficult to imagine a situation where a prospective, randomised clinical trial can be designed to strictly determine the optimal time for commencing source control in septic patients. This trial may be possible, but it would be difficult to justify it on an ethical level. Evidence to date shows that careful supervision of a drainable infection site is mandatory in septic patients. Timing to source control interventions should raise attention to the fact that source control is a challenge and a difficult, individual decision that needs to be based on all the evidence available for each patient.

9.3 Some Critical Questions

9.3.1 Does the New Definition of Sepsis Improve Early Diagnosis of Sepsis and Its Treatment?

The question of how it is better to define sepsis is one doctors have asked for the last 20 years. Previous efforts, in 1991 and in 2001 [82, 83], have continued to cause

much controversy; one of the observations has been that there was not much agreement between the definitions agreed at the table and the one that the doctors at the patient's bedside thought at the time [5]. Many believed that the huge heterogeneity of the population found in existing definition was partly responsible for the difficulties found by phase three trials that had overall failed to identify new treatments for sepsis. Several authors [84, 85] had pointed out that there was an urgent need for reviewing these definitions. This was then enacted by an international group of experts which led to the SEPSIS-3 proposal. As soon as this new definition was published, it started up a real torrent of comments and criticisms [1, 86–88]. What are the strengths and weaknesses of the new definitions?

Strengths

- (a) Proposals with solid foundations based on widely validated cohorts
- (b) Pragmatic proposals that reduce complexity: they remove redundant terms such as severe sepsis and septicaemia
- (c) qSOFA that is extremely easy to apply without the need for using a laboratory
- (d) qSOFA that can be used for both early recognition in the emergency department and in clinical and epidemiological trials

Weaknesses

- (a) It is still a syndrome diagnosis based on the probability of hospital mortality.
- (b) There are still no clinical tests that are easy to measure and that can reflect the concept of "dysregulated immune response".
- (c) The criteria for recognising the infection have not been defined; microbiology is totally ignored.
- (d) Paediatric patients are currently excluded.
- (e) The definition is developed for the first world and cannot be generalised for use in countries with low or medium levels of income.

The definition is based on an "injury severity score", the SOFA score that actually establishes whether you have sepsis or not or whether you have a very serious infection that is complicating and becoming organ failure. The fact that the work derives from data from North America and to a lesser extent from Europe means that the conclusions need to be reviewed for doctors who work, for example, in third world countries. As others have debated [89], there is confusion between having sepsis and what doctors recognise as a septic patient. SEPSIS-3 is actually focused on bacterial disease in Intensive Care Units in Europe and North America, but does not say so and does not clarify that fact; in other parts of the world, malaria may respond well to such requests. Perhaps what has been lost in all these discussions is a real understanding of what these definitions have been drawn up for. There is inevitable tension between a meaning whose primary function is to accurately and without ambiguity identify a homogeneous population that is available for inclusion in a clinical trial and a pragmatic definition that is easy to apply in the clinic that can allow a rapid diagnosis and immediate treatment.

The experts who drew up SEPSIS-3 attempted to address this problem by developing the idea of the quick SOFA, a shorter version of the more detailed SOFA score [90]. The qSOFA has three physiological variables that are easy to measure, every two of these is a positive result and an indication that the patient is at risk of sepsis. A positive qSOFA is not a replacement definition of sepsis but an indication that a patient may be at increased risk of sepsis. The difficulty here lies in the concern that such a low threshold (all that is necessary is rapid breathing and blood pressure slightly lower than normal) will result in a super-sensitive signal, similar to the problems found with SIRS [9, 91].

It is helpful to compare the high simplicity of the qSOFA with the recent guide published by NICE, where the algorithms used are much more complex [92].

The application of the new definition of sepsis is actually more interesting: a life-threatening organ dysfunction due to a dysregulated host response to the infection. This definition has caused a lot of debate: Are all cases of sepsis really life-threatening? What does dysregulated mean? How do we measure a dysregulated host response in a patient? This new definition helps on each of the two key requests: improved definition of each case or improved treatment of each case? In Great Britain, the NHS has published an action plan to support hospitals in improving the outcome of sepsis patients. The so-called SEPSIS SIX, based on early recognition with the NEWS has been widely adopted, and evidence suggests that this method has been effective [93, 94]. It is not clear how the new SEPSIS-3 definition, based on a 2-point change in the SOFA score can improve these outcomes. A fundamental criticism of this new definition is that it perpetuates the notion of sepsis as a single entity with a common pathophysiological bias, i.e. that of being susceptible to a single therapeutic intervention (if only it is possible to identify what that might be).

Moving increasingly towards the world of customised medicine, the idea of being able to separate patients with sepsis into subgroups becomes more attractive than leaving them all grouped together in a single category [95]. These subtypes could be characterised by an entire spectrum of phenotypic or biological characteristics: We could identify adult patients with pneumococcus pneumonia or patients with a particular combination of biomarkers or a genotype at risk plus a specific clinical risk factor. This approach faces significant challenges. The first is to establish plausible hypotheses, although this is becoming more probable with the use of big data and bio-information technology. The second is that these populations are by definition subgroups and therefore smaller in number than we were used to working with, and there are both scientific and commercial pressures to try and avoid narrow focuses. However, the introduction of rapid microbiological diagnostic processes, such as MALDI TOF [96] or molecular ones, means that real-time bacterial diagnosis is now a reality, and there are examples of drugs developed for the treatment of specific types of bacterial sepsis [97].

9.3.2 Should Combined Antibiotic Therapy Be Used Routinely in the Empiric Treatment of Septic Patients?

The main principles for using antibiotics in sepsis are now free of controversy:

- (a) They should be commenced as soon as a clinical diagnosis of sepsis is made: speed is essential.
- (b) It is important to use a regime with adequately broad spectrum of activity that will be active against the most likely pathogen agents.
- (c) The dose should be optimised using a load dose if necessary and taking some variables into consideration (e.g. the use of hemoperfusion) that may alter pharmacokinetics in septic patients.
- (d) Ideally, the regime should be quickly de-escalated to reduce the spectrum.

There is a further consideration that is sometimes discussed that the use of bactericide drugs is preferable to bacteriostatics. Although this may seem intuitively correct, there is not much clinical data to support it. The problem that clinicians encounter is whether an adequately broad spectrum of activity suggests the routine use of a combination of antibiotics in these critically ill patients. The problem is that selecting an antibiotic regime that then proves to be inactive against the organism that is subsequently isolated in blood cultures is associated with a significantly higher mortality [98]. This is a strong incentive to choose a cautious, defensive approach in prescribing multiple antibiotics. There are advantages and disadvantages in using combination therapy; although it is likely that if it were possible to prove a measurable benefit for survival from the routine use of two or more drugs, then this would act as a counterweight to potential disadvantages.

Advantages of combined antibiotics

- (a) They will guarantee a broader spectrum of activity than the one obtained by a single drug.
- (b) They can produce an additive or even a synergic effect.
- (c) They can reduce the risk of the emergency of resistance during treatment.
- (d) They can produce non-antimicrobial, beneficial pharmacological effects.

Disadvantages

- (a) A generally wider use of antibiotics would probably bring about the problem of resistance to antimicrobials.
- (b) It would probably increase the risk of toxicity.
- (c) It can increase the risk of superinfection (e.g. with fungi).
- (d) It can increase the probability of undesired and unexpected interactions between drugs.
- (e) It can increase costs.

The current recommendations of the Surviving Sepsis Campaigns are that combination therapy is indicated for:

- (a) Neutropenic patients with severe sepsis
- (b) Patients that have or are likely to have infections with organisms that are resistant to most drugs such as *Acinetobacter* or *Pseudomonas* or *Klebsiella*
- (c) Selected patients with severe infections associated with respiratory failure and/ or septic shock associated with bacteraemia from *Pseudomonas*
- (d) Shock from infection from Streptococcus pneumoniae

The evidence that supports these recommendations varies in quality, but putting to one side these special cases, the question remains of whether there can really be a benefit from using a combination routine in routine treatment of most septic patients. A widely cited work [99] that is often reported [100] shows that there is actually a benefit for survival from using combination therapy. However, this work is a retrospective analysis and not a controlled prospective, randomised study and even here the apparent benefit is limited to some subgroups of patients. The more powerful beta-lactams (e.g. carbapenems and third and fourth generation antipseudomonal cephalosporins) have failed to prove any benefits in combinations, probably because they already act with a virtually 100% bactericide activity against the most common pathogens, so that there is little room for other improvements [22]. Some authors have carried out a meta-regression analysis of about 50 trials and have proven that there are no benefits from multiple agents, although there was a statistically significant effect in the more critical patients [101]. The most convincing evidence comes from a well-conducted, controlled, randomised trial on patients in Intensive Care with varying levels of sepsis that compared meropenem alone with a combination of meropenem and moxifloxacin [102] in which there was no evidence of benefits from combining the two antibiotics. It is difficult to interpret the information in this area as the populations of patients studied in the various trials and the regimes of antibiotics used vary greatly. In spite of this, taken as a whole, this data shows that there is no evidence to support the routine use of combined antibiotic therapy for most septic patients.

In spite of this, there is legitimate concern that in some clinical situations and actually in some countries, the risk of sepsis from gram-negative MDR is so high that combination therapy is essential. In particular, it has been suggested that in a somewhat counterintuitive way, organisms that produce carbapenemases such as strains of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* may benefit from treatments with combinations of carbapenems [103, 104]. The logic is that the two drugs together can reach the MIC concentration threshold in spite of in vitro resistance. A more recent work [105] however presents data that contradicts all this, suggesting that combination therapy was only efficient if the drugs were effective in vitro and administered together with colistin or tigecycline. None of these studies is free of methodological problems, however, and this is still an unresolved problem.

9.3.3 Should Beta-Lactam Antibiotics Be Administered by Continuous Infusion in Septic Patients?

Antimicrobial broad-spectrum beta-lactams, with their good safety profile, are a good choice as empiric agents for septic patients. Different antibiotics have different modes of action, and in the case of beta-lactams, the time over the MIC (T > MIC) (which is the amount of time during which the antibiotic concentration in the relevant tissue space exceeds the minimum inhibitor concentration required to kill the bacteria) is the critical pharmacokinetic characteristic that determines efficacy. These are the reasons why many have believed that it is much more sensible to administer beta-lactams by continuous infusion as this will optimise the T > MIC. The situation is complicated even further because the profound shift of fluids that can occur in septic patients, and intervention such as hemofiltration, can considerably alter the pharmacokinetics of several drugs, including antibiotics [106]. Sepsis studies have actually shown marked variability in serum levels of beta-lactams during treatment and have also shown that the administration of these drugs by continuous infusion truly improves the pharmacokinetic parameters [107].

The answer is by far not a clear one. In a 2013 preliminary study, some Australian authors from Brisbane proved that even though infusion did improve the pharmacokinetics, there was no overall effect on survival in Intensive Care, but there was a statistically significant improvement in clinical [108–109]. More recently, the BLISS trial reached practically the same conclusions [110]. In the meantime, the Brisbane group had published another large-scale, controlled, randomised trial that failed to prove a statistically significant benefit from continuous infusion [111]. Lastly, a meta-analysis of 632 patients studied three large-scale controlled trials and concluded that there was a statistically significant benefit from continuous infusion for both clinical care and for survival, but when the multi-variate analysis was carried out, the independent effect of continuous infusion was lost [112]. Those who defend this approach could argue that it is unreasonable to require that survival in Intensive Care or hospital outcome are the two primary end points of these trials, as the purpose of the intervention is to improve treatment of the infection, and there are several other reasons why a patient may not survive in Intensive Care or on admission to hospital, even if the infection is treated effectively. Other hypotheses include the possibility that it is only a subgroup of septic patients (usually the most ill ones) that will benefit or that it is necessary to monitor the drug to ensure that optimal levels of the drug are reached even with continuous infusion [113]. Increasing the beta-lactams dosage to bring them into the optimal range would however bring with some risks with it: extremely high doses are associated with neurotoxicity although this generally unusual. Lastly, it has been suggested that rather than the seric level of antibiotics, the critical measurement for efficacy is that actual bactericide effect in vivo, in the appropriate tissue space, against the specific infecting organism. A method has been described for measuring all this based on the time required for a culture to become positive in the presence of an antibiotic (time to positivity: Tpos), and it has proven that there is a correlation between Tpos and the length of stay in

Intensive Care [114]. It is a rather arduous method that measures seric levels, and it must still be decided whether it may have some clinical use.

To sum up, continuous infusion of beta-lactams is a logical indication with no significant risk; however if we take survival in Intensive Care as the final test of a new intervention, this strategy is not supported by current data.

9.3.4 Should We Use Biomarkers to Limit the Duration of Antibiotic Treatment?

Most clinicians agree that generally speaking, it is right for the duration of antibiotic treatment to be as short as possible, commensurate with obtaining a satisfactory clinical outcome. This applies to all clinical contexts and not just to sepsis, but it is interesting that the matter of therapy duration is not frequently studied. There are some well-known examples—infections of the urinary tract or tuberculosis—but most antibiotic prescriptions are based on habits and practice rather than on solid data obtained from comparative clinical trials. Again, the potential advantages of shorter courses of antibiotics are relatively non-controversial, and as Intensive Care is an area where antibiotics are highly used, there is much pressure to see how the use of antibiotics may be subject to limitations (antibiotic stewardship).

Biomarkers are a potentially attractive way of controlling the use of antibiotics. There is a large amount of literature regarding the use of biomarkers in sepsis, but in terms of their role in controlling antibiotics, recent works have concentrated on procalcitonin. There are two approaches that could be taken into consideration for the use of biomarkers (and one does not exclude the other): the first question—can I use a biomarker that tells me that the patient does not have an infection and I do not need to commence antibiotics or if I have already begun them I am now quite sure that there is no infection and can I suspend the antibiotics? Interestingly, the Surviving Sepsis Campaign takes this approach and recommends, but only with a moderate level of evidence, that procalcitonin or other similar biomarkers can be used to help the doctor in discontinuing empiric antibiotics in patients who initially appear to have sepsis, but who do not have subsequent evidence of infection. The alternative strategy is try to use a biomarker to answer the question: has the infection been cured and can I stop antibiotics?

There is still a large amount of evidence that suggests that the use of procalcitonin provides safe, credible information about when to discontinue antibiotics in patients with sepsis in Intensive Care [115]. Some studies have shown that sequential measures (normally every day) could identify positive- or negative-culture patients and also the ones that are destined to survive or to die [116] and several trials have shown that the use of antibiotics is less in patients who are followed with an active protocol based on procalcitonin measurements [117, 118]. Even more surprisingly a recent large trial also showed a benefit for survival [119]. A recent HTA [119] concluded that in spite of limited data, procalcitonin can be efficient and costeffective when used to guide discontinuation of antibiotics in adults treated for suspected or confirmed sepsis in Intensive Care. Still today, sepsis is a common, difficult problem. There is no magic bullet on the horizon, so in the meantime we need to optimise those aspects of the treatment that we can control by using the best quality data that we have. Faced with the problem of antibiotic resistance, we must use the antibiotics available with increasing shrewdness and while saving as much as possible. This is why it is necessary to run a microbiological path alongside the sepsis path, based on the modern development of molecular microbiological diagnostics and to run diagnostic stewardship alongside antibiotic stewardship [120, 121].

Sepsis stewardship, antibiotic stewardship and diagnostic stewardship are today both a moral and scientific obligation.

References

- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315:801–10.
- Shankar-Hari M, Phillips GS, Levy ML, et al. Developing a new definition and assessing new clinical criteria for septic shock: for the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315:775–87.
- Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, et al. Assessment of clinical criteria for sepsis: for the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315:762–74.
- 4. Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. Chest. 1992;101:1644–55.
- 5. Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med. 2003;31:1250–6.
- Vincent J-L, Sakr Y, Sprung CL, et al. Sepsis in European intensive care units: results of the SOAP study. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(2):344–53.
- Klein Klouwenberg PM, Ong DS, Bonten MJ, et al. Classification of sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock: the impact of minor variations in data capture and definition of SIRS criteria. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:811–9.
- Vincent JL, Opal SM, Marshal JC. Sepsis definitions: time for change. Lancet. 2013;381:774–5.
- Kaukonen KM, Bailey M, Pilcher D, et al. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome criteria in defining severe sepsis. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(17):1629–38.
- Churpek MM, Zadravecz FJ, Winslow C, et al. Incidence and prognostic value of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome and organ dysfunctions in ward patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;192:958–64.
- Rhodes A, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign International Guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock 2016. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43:304–77. Crit Care Med 2017; 45: 486–552.
- Freund Y, Lemachatti N, Krastinova E, et al. Prognostic accuracy of sepsis-3 criteria for in-hospital mortality among patients with suspected infection presenting to the emergency department. JAMA. 2017;317:301–8.
- Raith EP, Udy AA, Bailey M, et al. Prognostic accuracy of the sofa score, sirs criteria, and qsofa score for in-hospital mortality among adults with suspected infection admitted to the intensive care unit. JAMA. 2017;317:290–300.
- Henning DJ, et al. An emergency department validation of the SEP 3 Sepsis and Septic Shock definitions and comparison with 1992 consensus definitions. Am Emerg Med. 2017;70:544.
- 15. Casanova JL, Abel L. The genetic theory of infectious diseases: a brief history and selected illustrations. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2013;14:215–43.

- Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis induced immunosuppression from cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13:862–74.
- 17. Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Immunosuppression in sepsis a novel understanding of the disorder and a new therapeutic approach. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:260.
- Deutschmann CS, Tracey KJ. Sepsis: current dogma and new perspective. Immunity. 2014;40:463–75.
- 19. Mira J, et al. Sepsis pathophysiology, chronic critical illness and persistent inflammation Immunosuppression and catabolism syndrome. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:253–62.
- Shankar-Hari M, Rubenfeld GD. Understanding long term outcomes following sepsis: implication and challenges. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016;18:31.
- Monneret G, Venet F. Sepsis induced immune alterations monitoring by flow cytometry as a promising tool for individualized therapy. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2016;90:376–86.
- Vincent JL, Bassetti M, Francois B, et al. Advances in antibiotic therapy in the critically ill. Crit Care. 2016;20:133.
- Kollef MH, Sherman G, Ward S. Inadequate antimicrobial treatment of infections: a risk factor for hospital mortality among critically ill patients. Chest. 1999;115:462–74.
- Ibrahim EH, Sherman G, Ward S. Treatment of bloodstream infections on patients outcomes in the ICU setting. Chest. 2000;118:146–55.
- Kumar A, Daniel R, Kenneth W. Duration of hypotension before initiation effective antimicrobial therapy is the critical determinant of serviva in human septic shock. Crit Care Med. 2006;34:1589–96.
- Ferrer R, Martin-Loeches I, Phillips G, et al. Empiric antibiotic treatment reduces mortality in severe sepsis and septic shock from the first hour: results from a guideline based performance improvement program. Crit Care Med. 2014;42:1749–55.
- Vazquez-Guillamet C. Using the number needed to treat to assess appropriate antimicrobial therapy as a determinant of out come in severe sepsis and septic shock. Crit Care Med. 2014;42:2342–9.
- Tabah A, Koulenti D, Lapland K. Characteristics and determinants of out come of hospital acquired bloodstream infections in intensive care units: the EUROBACT International color study. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:1930–45.
- Raman G, Avendano E, Berger S. Appropriate initial antibiotic therapy in hospitalized patients with gram negative infections: systematic review and meta analysis. BMC Infect Dis. 2015;15:395.
- Vincent JL, Moreno R, Takala J. The SOFA (Sepsis related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. Intensive Care Med. 1996;22:707–10.
- 31. Vincent JL. Dear SIRS, I am sorry to say that I do not like you. Crit Care Med. 1997;25:372-4.
- 32. Vincent JL, de Mendonca A, Cantraine F, Working group on Sepsis Related Problems of the European Society of intensive Care Medicine. Use of the SOFA score to assess the incidence of organ dysfunction/failure in intensive care units: results of a multicenter prospective study. Crit Care Med. 1998;26:1793–800.
- Nair GB, Niederman MS. Ventilator associated pneumonia: present understanding and ongoing debates. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41:34–48.
- 34. Fabregas N, Ewing S, Torres A. Clinical diagnosis of ventilator associated pneumonia revisited: comparative validation using immediate post mortem lung biopsies. Thorax. 1999;54:867–73.
- Lauzier F, Ruest A, Cook Canadian critical care trials group. The value of pretest probability and modified clinical pulmonary infection score to diagnose ventilator associated pneumonia. J Crit Care. 2008;23:50–7.
- Zagli G, Cozzolino M, Terreni A. Diagnosis of ventilator associated pneumonia: a pilot, exploratory analysis of a new score based on procalcitonin and chest echography. Chest. 2014;146:1578–85.
- Rhee JY, Kwon KT, Ki HK. Scoring systems for prediction of mortality in patients with intensive care unit acquired sepsis: a comparison of the PITT bacteremia score and the APACHE II scoring systems. Shock. 2009;31:146–50.

- Vasudevan A, Mukhopadhyay A, Li J. A prediction tool for nosocomial multi drug resistant gram negative bacilli infections in critically ill patients: prospective observational study. BMC Infect Dis. 2014;14:615.
- Tumbarello M, Trecarichi EM, Tumietto F. Predictive models for identification of hospitalized patients harboring KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58:3514–20.
- Webb A, Dascomb K, Stenehjem E. Derivation and multicenter validation of the drug resistance in pneumoniae clinical prediction score. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60:2652–63.
- Burham JP, Lane MA, Kollef MH. Impact of sepsis classification and multidrug resistance status on outcome among patients treated with appropriate therapy. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:1580–6.
- 42. Simon L. Serum procalcitonin and c reactive protein levels as markers of bacterial infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39:206–17.
- Christ-Crain M, Stolz D, Bingisser R. Procalcitonin guidance of antibiotic therapy in community acquired pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2006;174:84–93.
- 44. Schuetz P, Christ-Crain M, Thomann R. Effect of procalcitonin based guidelines versus standard guidelines on antibiotic use in lower respiratory tract infections. JAMA. 2009;302:1059–66.
- Bouadma L, Luyt CE, Tubach F. Use of procalcitonin to reduce patients' exposure to antibiotics in intensive care units (PRORATA trial) a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Lancet. 2013;375:463–74.
- 46. Schuetz P, Muller B, Christ-Crain M. Procalcitonin to initiate or discontinue antibiotics in acute respiratory tract infections (review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(9):CD007498.
- Wacker C, Prkno A, Brunkhorst FM. Procalcitonin as a diagnostic marker for sepsis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:426–35.
- 48. Guan J, Zhaofen L, Hong L. Dynamic change of procalcitonin rather than concentration itself, is predictive of serviva in septic shock patients when beyond 10ng/ml. J Shock. 2011;36:570–4.
- Georgopoulou AP, Savva A, Giamarellos-Bourboullis EJ. Early changes of procalcitonin may advise about prognosis and appropriateness of antimicrobial therapy in sepsis. J Crit Care. 2011;26:331.e1–7.
- Mitsuma SF, Mansour MK, Dekker JP. Promising new assays and technologies for the diagnosis and management of infectious diseases. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56:996–1002.
- Bassetti M, De Waele JJ, Eiggmann P. Preventive and therapeutic strategies in critically ill patients with highly resistant bacteria. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41:776–95.
- 52. De Jong E, Van Oers JA, Beishuizen A. Efficacy and safety of procalcitonin guidance in reducing the duration of antibiotic treatment in critically ill patients: a randomized, controller, open label trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16:819–27.
- Linscheid P, Seboek D, Zulewski H. Autocrine/paracrine role of inflammation mediated calcitonin gene related and adremedullin expression in human adipose tissue. Endocrinology. 2005;146:2699–707.
- Christ-Crain M, Morgenthaler NG, Strunck J. Mid regional pro adrenomedullin as a prognostic marker in sepsis; an observation study. Crit Care. 2005;9:R816–24.
- 55. Angeletti S, Dicuonzo G, Fioravanti M, Procalcito N. Procalcitonin levels in surgical patients at risk of candidemia. J Infect. 2010;60:425–30.
- Angeletti S, et al. Procalcitonin, MR proadrenomedullin and cytokines measurement in sepsis diagnosis: advantages from test combination. Dis Markers. 2015;2015:951532.
- 57. Angeletti S, Battistoni F, Fioravanti M. Procalcitonin and mid regional pro-adrenomedullin test combination in sepsis diagnosis. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2013;51:1059–67.
- Suberviola B, Castellanos-Ortega A, Ruiz A. Hospital mortality prognostication in sepsis using the new biomarkers suPAR and pro ADM in a single determination on ICU admission. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39:1945–52.

- Charles PE, Castro C, Ruiz-Santana S. Serum procalcitonin levels in critically ill patients colonized with Candida Spp:new clues for the early recognition of invasive candidiasis. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35:2146–50.
- The PRISM Investigators. Early, goal-directed therapy for septic shock a patient-level meta-analysis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2223–34.
- The ProCESS Investigators. A randomized trial of protocol based care for early septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:1683–93.
- Mouncey PR, Osborn TM, Power GS, et al. Trial of early, goal-directed resuscitation for septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1301–11.
- 63. The ARISE Investigators and the ANZICS Clinical Trials Group. Goal-directed resuscitation for patients with early septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:1496.
- 64. Berger RE. Management of septic shock: a woman with septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2282–5.
- Seymour CW. Time to tretment and Mortality during mandate emergency care for sepsis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2235–44.
- Liu VX, et al. The timing of early antibiotics and hospital mortality in sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;196:934.
- Lee CC, et al. Timing of appropriate empirical antimicrobial administration and outcome of adults with community onset bacteremia. Crit Care. 2017;21:119.
- 68. Peltan ID, et al. Physician variation in time to antimicrobial treatment for septic patients presenting to emergency department. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:1011–8.
- 69. Leisman DA. Delayed second dose antibiotics for patients admitted from the emergency department with sepsis: prevalence, risk factors and outcomes. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:956–65.
- Sterling SA, Miller WR, Pryor J, Puskarich MA, Jones AE. The impact of timing of antibiotics on outcomes in severe sepsis and septic shock: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:1907–15.
- Puskarich MA, Trzeciak S, Shapiro NI, et al. Association between timing of antibiotic administration and mortality from septic shock in patients treated with a quantitative resuscitation protocol. Crit Care Med. 2011;39:2066–71.
- Jansen TC, van Bommel J, Schoonderbeek FJ, et al. Early lactate-guided therapy in intensive care unit patients: a multicenter, open-label, randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182:752–61.
- Rhee C, Kadri SS, Danner RL, et al. Diagnosing sepsis is subjective and highly variable: a survey of intensivists using case vignettes. Crit Care. 2016;20:89.
- Psaty BM, Koepsell TD, Lin D, et al. Assessment and control for confounding by indication in observational studies. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1999;47:749–54.
- Gropen TI, Gagliano PJ, Blake CA, et al. Quality improvement in acute stroke: the New York State Stroke Center Designation Project. Neurology. 2006;67:88–93.
- Cooke CR, Iwashyna TJ. Sepsis mandates: improving inpatient care while advancing quality improvement. JAMA. 2014;312:1397–8.
- Walkey AJ, Wiener RS. Hospital case volume and outcomes among patients hospitalized with severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;189:548–55.
- Bloos F, et al., for the Medusa Study group. Impact of compliance with infection management guidelines on outcome in patients with severe sepsis: a prospective observational multicenter study. Crit Care. 2014;18:R42.
- Boyer A, Vargas F, Coste F, et al. Influence of surgical treatment timing on mortality from necrotizing soft tissue infections requiring intensive care management. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35:847–53.
- Kobayashi L, Konstantinidis A, Shackelford S, et al. Necrotizing soft tissue infections: delayed surgical treatment is associated with increased number of surgical debridements and morbidity. J Trauma. 2011;71:1400–5.
- Martinez ML, et al., for the Edusepsis Study group. Impact of source control in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:11–9.

- 82. Opal SM. Source control in sepsis urgent or not so fast. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:130-2.
- 83. Bone RC. Sepsis, the sepsis syndrome, multi-organ failure: a plea for comparable definitions. Ann Intern Med. 1991;114:332–3.
- Brown T, Ghelani-Allen A, Yeung D, et al. Comparative effectiveness of physician diagnosis and guideline definitions in identifying sepsis patients in the emergency department. J Crit Care. 2015;30:71.
- Cohen J, Opal S, Calandra T. Sepsis studies need new direction. Lancet Infect Dis. 2012;12:503–5.
- Deutschman CS. Imprecise medicine: the limitations of sepsis-3. Crit Care Med. 2016;44:857–8.
- Whittle J, Walker D. The new international sepsis guidelines (sepsis-3): the central message remains. Br J Hosp Med. 2016;77:208–11.
- Marshall JC. Sepsis-3: what is the meaning of a definition? Crit Care Med. 2016;44:1459–60.
- Petersen E, Zumla A. To have sepsis or to be septic is the difference between these clinical conditions important? Int J Infect Dis. 2016;48:118–9.
- 90. Vincent J-L, Moreno R, Takala J, et al. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med. 1996;22:707–10.
- Klein Klouwenberg PM, Ong DS, Bonten MJ, et al. Classification of sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock: the impact of minorvariations in data capture and definition of SIRS criteria. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:811–9.
- National Institute of Health and Care Excellence. Sepsis: recognition, diagnosis and early management. 2016. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng51.
- NHS England. Improving outcomes for patients with sepsis. A cross system action plan. 2015. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/Sepsis-Action-Plan-23.12.15-v1. pdf.
- 94. Daniels R, Nutbeam T, McNamara G, et al. The sepsis six and the severe sepsis resuscitation bundle: a prospective observational cohort study. Emerg Med J. 2011;28:507–12.
- 95. Prescott HC, Calfee CS, Thompson BT, et al. Toward smarter lumping and smarter splitting: rethinking strategies for sepsis and acute respiratory distress syndrome clinical trial design. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194:147–55.
- Cohen J, Vincent JL, Adhikari NK, et al. Sepsis: a roadmap for future research. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015;15:581–614.
- Bulger EM, Maier RV, Sperry J. A novel drug for treatment of necrotizing soft-tissue infections: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg. 2014;149:528–36.
- Ibrahim EH, Sherman G, Ward S, et al. The influence of inadequate antimicrobial treatment of bloodstream infections on patient outcomes in the ICU setting. Chest. 2000;118:146–55.
- 99. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock, 2012. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39:165–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-012-2769-8.
- 100. Kumar A, Zarychanski R, Light B, et al. Early combination antibiotic therapy yields improved survival compared with monotherapy in septic shock: a propensity-matched analysis. Crit Care Med. 2010;38:1773–85.
- 101. Kumar A, Safdar N, Kethireddy S, et al. A survival benefit of combination antibiotic therapy for serious infections associated with sepsis and septic shock is contingent only on the risk of death: a meta-analytic/meta-regression study. Crit Care Med. 2010;38:1651–64.
- 102. Brunkhorst FM, Oppert M, Marx G, et al. Effect of empirical treatment with moxifloxacin and meropenem vs meropenem on sepsis-related organ dysfunction in patients with severe sepsis: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2012;307:2390–9.
- 103. Cprek JB, Gallagher JC. Ertapenem-containing double-carbapenem therapy for treatment of infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60:669–73.

- 104. Oliva A, D'Abramo A, D'Agostino C, et al. Synergistic activity and effectiveness of a doublecarbapenem regimen in pan drug resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infections. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69:1718–20.
- 105. Bass SN, Bauer SR, Neuner EA, et al. Impact of combination antimicrobial therapy on mortality risk for critically ill patients with carbapenem-resistant bacteremia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59:3748–53.
- Cotta MO, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Antibiotic dose optimization in critically ill patients. Med Intensiva. 2015;39:563–72.
- 107. Roberts JA, Paul SK, Akova M, et al. DALI: defining antibiotic levels in intensive care unit patients: are current β-lactam antibiotic doses sufficient for critically ill patients? Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58:1072–83.
- Dulhunty JM, Roberts JA, Davis JS, et al. Continuous infusion of beta-lactam antibiotics in severe sepsis: a multicenter double blind, randomized controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56:236–44.
- 109. Bates A, Joffe AR. Is there a role for continuous infusion of betalactam antibiotics in severe sepsis? J Thorac Dis. 2016;8:E437–9.
- 110. Abdul-Aziz MH, Sulaiman H, Mat-Nor MB, et al. Beta-Lactam Infusion in Severe Sepsis (BLISS): a prospective, two-centre, openlabelled randomised controlled trial of continuous versus intermittent beta-lactam infusion in critically ill patients with severe sepsis. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1535–45.
- 111. Dulhunty JM, Roberts JA, Davis JS, et al. A multicenter randomized trial of continuous versus intermittent β -lactam infusion in severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;192:1298–305.
- 112. Roberts JA, Abdul-Aziz MH, Davis JS, et al. Continuous versus Intermittent β -lactam infusion in severe sepsis: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomized trials. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194:681–91.
- 113. Jager NG, van Hest RM, Lipman J, et al. Therapeutic drug monitoring of anti-infective agents in critically ill patients. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2016;9:961–79.
- 114. Jerwood S, Hankins M, Cohen J. A pilot clinical trial to evaluate a novel time-to-positivity assay to measure the effectiveness of antibiotic therapy for septic patients in intensive care. J Crit Care. 2012;27:320–5.
- 115. Hohn A, Heising B, Schutte JK, et al. Procalcitonin-guided antibiotic treatment in critically ill patients. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2017;402:1.
- 116. Shehabi Y, Sterba M, Garrett PM, et al. Procalcitonin algorithm in critically ill adults with undifferentiated infection or suspected sepsis. A randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190:1102–10.
- 117. Schuetz P, Christ-Crain M, Thomann R, et al. Effect of procalcitonin-based guidelines vs standard guidelines on antibiotic use in lower respiratory tract infections: the ProHOSP randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2009;302:1059–66.
- 118. de Jong E, van Oers JA, Beishuizen A, et al. Efficacy and safety of procalcitonin guidance in reducing the duration of antibiotic treatment in critically ill patients: a randomized controlled open label trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16:819–27.
- 119. Westwood M, Ramaekers B, Whiting P, et al. Procalcitonin testing to guide antibiotic therapy for the treatment of sepsis in Intensive Care settings and for suspected bacterial infection in emergency department settings: a systematic review and cost effectiveness analysis. Health Technol Assess. 2015;19:v.
- 120. Arena F, et al. Molecular antibiogram in diagnostic clinical microbiology: advantages and challenges. Future Microbiol. 2017;12:361–4.
- 121. Messacor K, et al. Implementation of rapid molecular infectious disease diagnostics: the role of diagnostic and antimicrobial stewardship. J Clin Microbiol. 2017;55:715–83.



Septic Shock and Hemodynamic Management

10

Fabio Guarracino, Giulia Brizzi, and Rubia Baldassarri

10.1 Introduction

Sepsis has recently been defined as life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection [1, 2]. Organ dysfunction is defined by the SOFA (sequential [sepsis-related] organ failure assessment) score. The quick SOFA (qSOFA) is recommended in the critically ill patient with suspected infection and severe hemodynamic instability with the detection of parameters such as alteration in mental status, respiratory rate >22/min, and systolic blood pressure <100 mmHg.

A qSOFA score >2 is an unfavorable prognostic index and requires the application of SOFA score to confirm the organ dysfunction and the diagnosis of septic shock, even if qSOFA seems to have a higher predictive value than SOFA score in septic shock. Even if the initial qSOFA is negative (≤ 2), it is necessary to repeat the evaluation in case of changes in the clinical status. The detection of an acute change in the total SOFA score >2 points (assuming the baseline SOFA score to be zero in patients without organ dysfunction) as a consequence of the infection suggests organ dysfunction in septic patients [1]. In this context, septic shock is the most severe clinical manifestation of sepsis in which the underlying circulatory and metabolic abnormalities are profound enough to substantially increase mortality. The infectious process triggers a systemic inflammatory response through a dynamic series of processes that cause the release of pro-inflammatory agents. Normally the pro-inflammatory activity induced by the infection is balanced by the antiinflammatory activity performed by cytokines. The pathogenic mechanism of septic shock seems to be due to the complex interaction between the pathogen and the host's immune reaction which triggers a series of cascade processes with amplification of the response and overproduction of pro-inflammatory factors and mediators

F. Guarracino (🖂) · G. Brizzi · R. Baldassarri

Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anaesthesia and Critical Care, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana, Pisa, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_10

of inflammation [3]. All this leads to the liberation of oxygen-free radicals and nitric oxide from the cells with damage to the surrounding tissues and consequent amplification of the inflammatory response.

In fact, despite the better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms of sepsis and the constant review of the therapeutic strategy in order to improve the clinical prognosis, sepsis and septic shock are still one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality in patients admitted to critical care [4].

10.2 Pathophysiology

The hemodynamic profile of septic shock is characterized by a generalized vasodilatation with severe arterial hypotension and peripheral hypoperfusion [5]. The main pathophysiological determinants of acute circulatory failure in septic shock are the loss of vascular tone control and the decreased peripheral vascular resistance (RVP). In septic shock the loss of vascular tone control derives from the lack of modulation between vasodilatation and vasoconstriction; the production of inflammation mediators and the release of endogenous vasodilators from the cells in an oxidative stress state determine vasoplegia and hyperreactivity of the arteries to vasoconstrictor stimulation.

All this results in an alteration of the microcirculation and cellular perfusion.

This circulatory dysfunction results in the maldistribution of blood flow and oxygen supply to the various organs with consequent cellular damage. In fact, the balance between delivery and oxygen demand in cells is fundamental to guarantee adequate cell function in different metabolic conditions. The function of microcirculation is to ensure modulation of flow and supply of oxygen to cells in response to the different metabolic needs. For this reason, the blood flow increases in response to a series of signals sent by the cells in conditions of increased metabolism. In the initial phases of septic shock, self-regulation mechanisms maintain adequate blood flow and oxygen delivery at cellular level despite acute circulatory failure. The first and most immediate compensatory mechanism is arterial vasoconstriction which increases the RVP and, therefore, counteracts the loss of vascular tone, at least at the beginning, ensuring normal values of systemic arterial pressure. In septic shock microcirculation function is deeply altered, and consequently tissue perfusion is compromised. Microvascular alteration involves capillary leak and tissue edema with cell hypoxia. Therefore, even in the presence of apparently normal or even high CO and adequate DO2, tissue perfusion remains inadequate in septic shock.

10.3 Cardiac Dysfunction

Although circulatory dysfunction is considered the main determinant of hemodynamic instability in septic shock, the presence of a coexisting cardiac dysfunction may play a very important role in the pathogenesis of hemodynamic failure. Septic shock is characterized by hypotension with important peripheral vasodilatation; therefore a possible cardiopathy might not be immediately recognized [6]. In septic shock sepsis-induced myocardium depression is the main cause of cardiac dysfunction even though, in the critically ill patient, it is not uncommon that a cardiogenic shock preexisted the septic shock. The pathogenetic mechanisms of myocardial depression in sepsis have not yet been sufficiently clarified, although the alteration of sepsis-induced myocardial contractility was described in 1984 [7]. The role of several cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, and mitochondrial dysfunction appears to be established in the pathogenesis of sepsis-induced myocardium depression. At the same time, the alteration of intracellular calcium, the increased production of NO, the downregulation of beta-adrenergic receptors, and the attenuation of postreceptor signals seem to contribute significantly to the reduction of cardiac contractility. Myocardial damage can also result from the direct action of bacterial toxins, complement factors, and endogenous factors liberated from tissue damage induced by infection (DAMPS, damage-associated molecular patterns) [3, 8]. In patients with septic shock, cardiac dysfunction can affect both ventricles and both phases of the cardiac cycle. Generally, the left ventricular function is compromised by direct injury of the myocardium, while the right ventricular function can be altered due to primary myocardial damage or decreased as a consequence of pulmonary hypertension [6]. The most common manifestation of myocardial dysfunction during septic shock is cardiac hibernation that appears to play a protective role during myocardium functional recovery.

Diastolic dysfunction may occur during septic shock as an isolated form of myocardial injury or associated with LV systolic dysfunction. Although it is known that LV diastolic dysfunction is one of the major causes of heart failure with a high predictive value of long-term morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease, it is less known in septic shock. Diastolic dysfunction is commonly found in septic shock and has a high independent predictive value of early mortality. The evaluation of diastolic function is therefore fundamental in the management of the patient with septic shock. In most cases the study of cardiac function in septic patients is focused on the evaluation of systolic function, and the main hemodynamic monitoring systems give us information on CO and pressures. The most recent studies show that the evaluation of diastolic function is just as important as understanding myocardial damage during septic shock. Diastolic dysfunction, isolated or associated with systolic dysfunction, has a high predictive value of shortterm mortality in septic shock. For this reason, the early detection of diastolic dysfunction should lead to the appropriate therapeutic approach.

In patients with septic shock, right ventricular dysfunction is not uncommon. Functional alteration of the right ventricle may be isolated or associated with left ventricular systolic and/or diastolic dysfunction. Although direct damage of the right ventricular myocardium is one of the possible causes of ventricular dysfunction, the function of the right ventricle can precipitate secondarily to other causes including left ventricular dysfunction. In addition, multiple pathogenic mechanisms not strictly related to sepsis, such as mechanical ventilation, can negatively impact the right ventricular function.
Myocardial dysfunction occurs in about 50-65% of patients with severe sepsis and septic shock and has a wide clinical spectrum ranging from left ventricular dysfunction (systolic and/or diastolic) to right ventricular dysfunction. The routine use of echocardiography in the critically ill patient has identified three possible scenarios of myocardial dysfunction in the septic patient: left ventricular systolic dysfunction, left ventricular diastolic dysfunction, and right ventricular dysfunction. The various types of cardiac dysfunction can occur during septic shock in an isolated form, that is, a single alteration of the cardiac function or associated in variable proportions [9]. Although left ventricular systolic dysfunction is the most common dysfunction in septic shock, as already demonstrated by Parker's studies in the 1980s, it is only present in an isolated form in a low percentage of cases, being more often associated with diastolic dysfunction and/or right ventricular failure. In 20-60% of patients with ventricular systolic dysfunction, the ejection fraction is significantly reduced, and the left ventricular enddiastolic volume increases. Paradoxically, this type of myocardial dysfunction has a favorable functional recovery prognosis in most cases at the resolution of the septic process. Given the complexity of cardiac dysfunction during septic shock, the sepsis-induced myocardial damage should not only be referred to EF which, despite being a very important parameter for hemodynamic evaluation and therapeutic approach, cannot alone explain the wide range of functional alterations of the cardiac system that can occur in septic shock. Much emphasis has recently been given to the study of diastolic function whose alteration is often present in severe sepsis and septic shock and which seems to have an unfavorable prognostic role. The study of diastole is possible with echocardiography directly bedside and in a noninvasive way when a transthoracic approach is used; therefore this diagnostic tool is of great importance when monitoring patients with septic shock.

Serum cardiac troponin (cTn) levels are increased in 12–85% of patients with cardiac dysfunction during septic shock. Elevation of cTn, which is generally associated with left ventricular systolic dysfunction, has also been commonly seen in patients with isolated diastolic dysfunction. The increase in this myocardionecrosis marker is an unfavorable prognostic index, especially in the case of diastolic dysfunction.

Elevated blood levels of BNP (brain natriuretic peptide) or NT-proBNP (aminoterminal fragment of BNP) can be seen in patients with septic shock. As is well known, BNP has a high negative predictive value for cardiovascular dysfunction, while the positive predictive value is not so significant. The increase in this marker in septic shock is present in both left ventricular systolic dysfunction and in the isolated diastolic ventricular dysfunction. Both have a predictive value of mortality. Recent studies have shown that there is a disparity between the two markers where BNP values are very high and troponin levels are only slightly increased. This could be related to the fact that in septic shock the coronary flow is preserved, and therefore there is a high wall stress but only a minimal damage of the myocardiocytes [9].

10.4 Ventricular-Arterial Coupling

Recently, the role of ventricular-arterial coupling has been described in hemodynamic decompensation of septic shock [4, 5, 10]. In physiological conditions the two components of the cardiovascular system, the heart and the systemic circulation, interact dynamically in order to guarantee enough cardiac output and arterial flow for organ perfusion [5, 11]. Continuous modulation of compliance and resistance of the arterial bed in relation to cardiac performance adapts blood flow and perfusion pressures to the metabolic needs of the various organs in different physiological and pathological conditions therefore guaranteeing CO and perfusion. The cardiovascular system works better when it is coupled, that is when at every ejection the heart pumps the amount of blood that the vascular system is able to receive, and this happens at the lowest possible energy cost.

The ventricular-arterial coupling (V-A) is defined as the relationship between arterial elastance (Ea) and ventricular elastance (Ees); this ratio is considered normal when it is close to 1:

Ea / Ees = 1

Ees results from the relationship between end-systolic pressure and end-systolic volume of the left ventricle: the slope of the pressure-volume curve is defined as end-systolic ventricular elastance. Ees is considered a load-independent index of myocardial contractility.

Ea results from the relationship between stroke volume (SV) and systemic arterial pressure at various levels of SV variation. The slope of the curve that expresses this relationship is the arterial elastance. Ea is an index of the arterial tone as it is influenced by compliance and arterial resistance, aortic impedance, and systolic and diastolic intervals. In practice Ea represents the net load imposed by the arterial system to the SV. It is graphically represented by the slope of the line that joins the end-diastolic volume of the left ventricle (LV EDV) to the end-systolic pressure of the left ventricle (LV ESP) in the pressure-volume curve of the LV. In practice, Ea expresses the ability of the arterial system to increase blood pressure when SV increases.

The cardiovascular system expresses maximum efficiency when the ratio between Ea/Ees is equal to 1 which means that the value of Ea is about $1 + \frac{1}{2}$ the value of Ees. The cardiovascular system is decoupled by values of Ea/Ees ≥ 1.36 . The alteration of the relationship may depend on the increase or decrease of Ea, Ees, or both.

In septic shock, the cardiovascular system is generally decoupled (Ea/Ees \geq 1.36) with severe energy cost at the expense of functional efficiency. In most cases, Ea is increased due to pharmacologically induced arterial vasoconstriction, while Ees is decreased due to reduced myocardial contractility. In some patients with septic shock, Ea/Ees is normal; the cardiovascular system is therefore coupled, and the maintenance of CO and tissue perfusion happens anyway in favorable conditions. The most obvious explanation is that in these patients cardiac function is normal

and that Ea is also normal for a good therapeutic strategy with adequate hydration and appropriate use of inotropes and vasopressors. As we have seen, Ea/Ees is a reliable index of cardiovascular efficiency, and, as already mentioned, in septic shock it is common to find a decoupled system; the therapeutic strategy in these patients should be aimed at the normalization of Ea/Ees.

Currently the Ea/Ees measure can be obtained with the use of echocardiography directly at the patient's bed in a noninvasive way. This method has made continuous monitoring of the V-A coupling in the critically ill patient possible.

10.5 Hemodynamic Monitoring

Because hemodynamic instability, arterial hypotension, and signs of tissue hypoperfusion characterize septic shock, it represents a real medical emergency that requires both a diagnosis and an early treatment. The management of septic shock therefore requires careful hemodynamic evaluation to prepare the correct therapeutic strategy and follow its effects over time. Although arterial hypotension, defined as systolic pressure <100 mmHg or as mean arterial pressure <65 mmHg or as a decrease of >40 mmHg from baseline, is an important sign of acute circulatory failure, signs of tissue hypoperfusion are definitely more significant for the diagnosis and therapeutic follow-up of septic shock. The most important signs of tissue hypoperfusion are increased blood lactate levels $\geq 2 \text{ mmol/L}$ and reduced values of central venous saturation (ScvO2) and/or mixed venous saturation (SvO2). The alteration of cellular metabolism in conditions of reduced or inadequate oxygen supply (DO2/VO2 mismatch) is characterized by an increase in blood lactate levels. Although lactates may also increase in the presence of normal blood flow and adequate oxygen supply, a value greater than 2 mmol/L, especially if seen in acute circulatory failure as in septic shock, is a clear sign of cell dysfunction. In this context, monitoring lactatemia values is mandatory in patients with septic shock in order to evaluate tissue perfusion. Recent sepsis guidelines recommend the assessment of lactatemia both for diagnostic purposes and for monitoring efficacy of therapy in patients with septic shock. An initial value of blood lactates $\geq 2 \text{ mmol/L}$ identifies cell dysfunction and organ hypoperfusion. If hyperlactataemia persists after implementation of the therapeutic protocol, the prognosis is poor. The therapeutic strategy guided by the levels of lactatemia seems, as reported in literature, to reduce mortality by 20% every 2 h in the first 8 h of therapy. The normalization of blood lactate levels expresses clear improvement of tissue and cellular perfusion.

ScvO2 and SvO2 are clear indexes of tissue hypoperfusion and inadequate oxygen supply to cells when ScvO2 \leq 70% and SvO2 \leq 65%. Recently, the venoarterial carbon dioxide pressure gradient (v pCO2 – a pCO2) has been validated as an index of adequacy of cell perfusion during shock. A value \geq 6 mmHg suggests tissue hypoperfusion even in the presence of normal central venous saturation values.

According to the recommendations of international guidelines [2], the hemodynamic treatment of septic shock provides in fact the prompt administration of fluids to restore an efficient circulation, the use of vasopressors and inotropes to maintain CO, and adequate perfusion pressures. According to the recent recommendations of the Surviving Sepsis Campaign [2], the "fluid resuscitation" (30 mL/kg within the first 3 h) is still indicated as the immediate treatment for the correct management of the hypotensive state and the hypoperfusion that characterize septic shock, followed by norepinephrine infusion if MAP < 65 mmHg persists. Dobutamine should be added if hypoperfusion persists after volume and vasoactive drug administration. It is important to underline that in patients who still have signs of systemic hypoperfusion and arterial hypotension despite the initial administration of crystalloids as recommended by the guidelines, further volemic expansion may be necessary. In such patients, the administration of additional fluids must however be carefully guided by hemodynamic monitoring [12] in order to avoid water overload that can precipitate in acute pulmonary edema, especially if there is an underlying cardiac dysfunction.

10.6 Echocardiography

The role of echocardiography in the diagnostic-therapeutic process of septic shock has been validated in recent guidelines for the management of sepsis [2]. Although the main task of the echocardiographic examination is the morpho-functional study of the heart and of the cardiac structures, the echocardiographic examination allows the measurement of some hemodynamic variable that can be integrated into the cardiac function data and into the clinical parameters, identifying the hemodynamic profile in the septic patient with severe hemodynamic instability (Table 10.1). As already underlined, cardiac function can be depressed in patients with septic shock contributing significantly to circulatory failure and to the severe hemodynamic instability that characterizes this serious syndrome. Therefore, the study of cardiac function is fundamental for differential diagnosis and for the control of therapies. The echocardiographic examination in case of septic shock must be exhaustive and focused at the evaluation of the morphology and structure of the cardiac chambers and of the valvular apparatus, as well as the blood flow inside the cardiac chambers and intracavitary pressures and fluid responsiveness.

Diastolic dysfunction should be routinely investigated in patients with septic shock. Since fluid resuscitation is the fulcrum of therapy and of hemodynamic management of septic shock, it is very important to identify patients in whom fluid administration should be carefully monitored in order to exclude water overload that can precipitate into pulmonary edema.

Table 10.1 Echocardiographic evaluation in the patient with septic shock	Biventricular systolic function
	Biventricular diastolic function
	Effective circulating volume (fluid responsiveness)
	Ventricular elastance (contractility)
	Morphological evaluation of valvular apparatus and pericardium

Due to the extreme complexity and critical issue of the clinical scenario, patients with septic shock require advanced hemodynamic monitoring both in the diagnostic phase, where the understanding of the hemodynamic profile allows to categorize the type of shock, and in the clinical development to evaluate the response to therapy.

10.7 Conclusions

The patient's hemodynamic management in septic shock requires monitoring that allows real-time evaluation of the main hemodynamic variables in order to understand the patient and evaluate response to treatment.

Although the use of the pulmonary arterial catheter has revolutionized the management of the hemodynamically unstable patient, thanks to the interpretation of the hemodynamic data obtained, the increasing use of echocardiography in clinical practice has certainly changed the management of hemodynamic instability of these patients. Thanks to the possibility of using a noninvasive method as in the case of the transthoracic approach of echocardiography or semi-invasive when using the transesophageal modality, monitoring septic patients in a simple and reproducible way directly by the patient's bed is feasible. The specificity of the echocardiographic method consists in combining the acquired data on cardiac function with those obtained from hemodynamic monitoring in order to obtain a complete picture of the function of the cardiovascular system. Echocardiography has also allowed noninvasive evaluation of the V-A coupling whose role in the hemodynamic instability of septic shock has recently been emphasized.

In conclusion, the physiopathological complexity of septic shock from a hemodynamic point of view requires careful evaluation before starting the treatments. In fact, even the recommended therapies need a personalized assessment in order not to worsen an already critical state: for example, fluid resuscitation in the first hours in a patient with severe alteration of the ventricular compliance or the administration of norepinephrine in a patient with severe contractile dysfunction requires careful management. In this scenario the combination of pathophysiological information provided by echocardiography with those from traditional hemodynamic monitoring allows the clinician to manage the resuscitation in the critical patient with septic shock in a more "tailored" way.

References

- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, Bellomo R, Bernard GR, Chiche JD, Coopersmith CM, Hotchkiss RS, Levy MM, Marshall JC, Martin GS, Opal SM, Rubenfeld GD, van der Poll T, Vincent JL, Angus DC. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801–10. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.0287.
- Rhodes A, Evans LE, Alhazzani W, Levy MM, Antonelli M, Ferrer R, Kumar A, Sevransky JE, Sprung CL, Nunnally ME, Rochwerg B, Rubenfeld GD, Angus DC, Annane D, Beale RJ, Bellinghan GJ, Bernard GR, Chiche JD, Coopersmith C, De Backer DP, French CJ, Fujishima

S, Gerlach H, Hidalgo JL, Hollenberg SM, Jones AE, Karnad DR, Kleinpell RM, Koh Y, Lisboa TC, Machado FR, Marini JJ, Marshall JC, Mazuski JE, McIntyre LA, McLean AS, Mehta S, Moreno RP, Myburgh J, Navalesi P, Nishida O, Osborn TM, Perner A, Plunkett CM, Ranieri M, Schorr CA, Seckel MA, Seymour CW, Shieh L, Shukri KA, Simpson SQ, Singer M, Thompson BT, Townsend SR, Van der Poll T, Vincent JL, Wiersinga WJ, Zimmerman JL, Dellinger RP. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock: 2016. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43(3):304–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-017-4683-6.

- Kakihana Y, Ito T, Nakahara M, Yamaguchi K, Yasuda T. Sepsis-induced myocardial dysfunction: pathophysiology and management. J Intensive Care. 2016;4:22. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40560-016-0148-1.
- 4. Zhang Z, Hong Y, Smischney NJ, Kuo HP, Tsirigotis P, Rello J, Kuan WS, Jung C, Robba C, Taccone FS, Leone M, Spapen H, Grimaldi D, Van Poucke S, Simpson SQ, Honore PM, Hofer S. Caironi PEarly management of sepsis with emphasis on early goal directed therapy: AME evidence series 002. J Thorac Dis. 2017;9(2):392–405. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.02.10.
- Guarracino F, Baldassarri R, Pinsky MR. Ventriculo-arterial decoupling in acutely altered hemodynamic states. Crit Care. 2013;17(2):213. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc12522.
- Guarracino F, Ferro B, Morelli A, Bertini P, Baldassarri R, Pinsky MR. Ventriculoarterial decoupling in human septic shock. Crit Care. 2014;18(2):R80. https://doi.org/10.1186/ cc13842.
- 7. Margaret M. Parker, (1984) Profound but Reversible Myocardial Depression in Patients with Septic Shock. Annals of Internal Medicine 100 (4):483
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol. 2007;81:1–5.
- Pulido JN, Afessa B, Masaki M, Yuasa T, Gillespie S, Herasevich V, Brown DR, Oh JK. Clinical spectrum, frequency, and significance of myocardial dysfunction in severe sepsis and septic shock. Mayo Clin Proc. 2012;87(7):620–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2012.01.018.
- Pinsky MR. Both perfusion pressure and flow are essential for adequate resuscitation. Sepsis. 2000;4:143–6.
- 11. Vieillard-Baron A. Septic cardiomyopathy. Ann Intensive Care. 2011;1:6.
- Guarracino F, Ferro B, Forfori F, Bertini P, Magliacano L, Pinsky MR. Jugular vein distensibility predicts fluid responsiveness in septic patients. Crit Care. 2014;18(6):647. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13054-014-0647-1.



11

The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Diagnosis and Management

Davide Chiumello, Antonella Marino, and Antonio Cammaroto

The first of the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) description was in 1821 by Laennec. Since that many and more accurate definitions followed. Nowadays almost 5% of hospitalized and mechanically ventilated patients present ARDS diagnostic criteria [1]. ARDS can be generally defined as a new acute onset of hypoxemia and bilateral opacities after an insult direct or indirect to the lungs [2–4]. In 1994 there was the first shared definition, and then, in 2001, an update known as "Berlin definition" was made by an expert panel of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine [4]. According to this new definition, ARDS is an acute form of diffuse lung injury that happens in patients with predisposing factors, with:

- Symptoms onset within 1 week of a known clinical insult or new or worsening respiratory symptoms
- Bilateral opacities not fully explained by effusions, lobar/lung collapse, or nodules
- Respiratory failure not fully explained by cardiac failure or fluid overload
- − Hypoxia, classified by PaO_2/FiO_2 ratio measured with at least PEEP of 5 cmH₂O into: mild (200 mmHg ≤ $PaO_2/FiO_2 ≤ 300$ mmHg), moderate (100 mmHg ≤ $PaO_2/FiO_2 ≤ 200$ mmHg), severe ($PaO_2/FiO_2 ≤ 100$ mmHg) [2–4].

This new definition brings a small, but very important, improvement in predictive ability for mortality (Area Under the Curve [AUC] 0.577) [5].

D. Chiumello (\boxtimes)

A. Marino

UOC Anestesia e Rianimazione, Ospedale San Paolo, ASST Santi Paolo e Carlo, Milan, Italy

A. Cammaroto

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Intensive Therapy, University of Milan San Paolo Hospital, Milan, Italy e-mail: davide.chiumello@unimi.it

Dipartimento di Fisiopatologia Medico-Chirurgica e dei Trapianti, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_11

Recently it has been demonstrated that classifying ARDS severity at a standard level of positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) of 5 cmH₂O allows a better alveolar edema and potential of lung recruitment estimation than using higher clinically set PEEP levels [6].

11.1 Diagnostic Evaluation

Main ARDS finding is the increased permeability of lung capillaries due to both alveolar epithelium and end vascular endothelium injuries. As consequence a protein-rich fluid accumulates into alveoli, cytokines are released, and a diffuse alveolar injury develops [7]. Alveolar epithelium is composed of type I and II pneumocytes. Injury of type I cells leads to liquid accumulation into alveoli and to a reduction in clearance ability, while injury of type II cells leads to surfactant reduction, alveolar collapse, and lung compliance decrease [5]. ARDS pathological pathway is described as a three-phase process: inflammatory, proliferative, and fibrotic phase with each one that could be stopped or complicated by worsening of patient's symptoms or other complications. Common ARDS risk factors are pneumonia, sepsis, inhalation/aspiration injury, trauma, pancreatitis, burns, non-cardiogenic shock, drowning, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) [8]. However, pneumonia is the leading cause of ARDS, so microbiological investigations aiming to pathogen's identification are milestones in the diagnostic process. Communityacquired pneumonia is still the leading cause of ARDS in case of pneumonia etiology [9], while a recent study found that viral pneumonia is becoming more frequent going from 5% to 10% [10–12] to 36%. Among viral pneumonia, respiratory virus is predominant [13]; in this case, the first-line diagnostic test is polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test on bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) [14]. Less frequent ARDS causes are represented by CMV and HSV infections [12, 15] and by parasites (such as Toxoplasma gondii, Aspergillus fumigatus, Pneumocystis jirovecii) mainly present in immunocompromised patients.

Early and correct treatment of the triggering cause appears to be decisive in improving patient's outcome; thus a fast and precise etiological diagnosis is very useful. It is therefore important to first investigate the possible infectious causes by performing blood cultures, urine samples for the detection of *Legionella pneumophila*'s and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*'s antigens, serological tests for the research of *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* and *Chlamydia pneumoniae*, and microbiological samples of the respiratory system, preferably performed with BAL [16].

However, it is worth knowing that ARDS without identifiable risk factor have a prevalence of 7.5% [17]. In this scenario the cytological analysis on BAL sample, chest CT scan, and an immunological evaluation is useful while looking for less common causes. If neither radiological CT images nor alveolar bronchoscopy cytology is decisive, a diagnostic open lung biopsy (OLB) may be done. OLB has also a role in the evaluation of histological lung characteristics evolution, helping the clinician in the decision toward the use or not of corticosteroids [15]. Figure 11.1 represents the diagnostic flowchart in ARDS. Lung CT scan is frequently used to



evaluate lung morphology, which in ARDS is characterized by consolidated regions (homogeneous areas with increased density without identifiable vessels or bronchi), ground glass regions (areas with increased density but with still visible vessels), and normally aerated regions. Since lungs are characterized by diffuse edema, with the superimposed pressure causing atelectasis and collapse of dependent lung zones, consolidated areas are typically located in dependent lung regions [18]. Lung CT scan is also helpful in lung potential of recruitment evaluation, i.e., the proportion of consolidated lung that regain aeration after an increase in alveolar pressures. In ARDS patients, potential of recruitment could range between 0% and 70%.

Moreover, lung CT scan could help clinician in identifying ARDS etiology; in fact, in pulmonary ARDS consolidated and ground glass areas are similar, while in extrapulmonary ARDS ground glass areas are predominant [19]. Next to CT scan, ultrasound of lung parenchyma, pleura, and air may be helpful in diagnostic evaluation, clinical management, and monitoring of ARDS patients [20–23]. In respiratory failure patients, lung ultrasound is characterized mainly by B-line (hyperechogenic vertical artifact line that starts from pleura) [21], while the B-pattern composed of three or more B-lines appears to be correlated with an interstitial pathological process [24]. A bilateral homogeneous B-pattern is not decisive between ARDS and cardiogenic edema and deserves further analysis [25], while bilateral, nothomogeneous B-pattern plus C-pattern composed of consolidated areas and pleura abnormalities are suggestive of ARDS etiology [26]. Figure 11.2 shows possible lung ultrasound patterns.

11.2 Treatment

The acute respiratory failure management includes early recognition of the triggering cause and timely targeted treatment. Besides that, supportive treatments must be started to assure adequate respiratory gas exchange while minimizing the risk of ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) onset. Actual knowledge suggest that in most severe ARDS patients, spontaneous respiratory triggering could be dangerous; thus the spontaneous breathing approach should be used only in mild and moderate ARDS patients. Different therapeutic targets should be met using different pharmacological and non-pharmacological approaches and different mechanical ventilation modalities.

11.2.1 Noninvasive Mechanical Ventilation

Noninvasive mechanical ventilation (NIMV) is able to reduce patient's work of breathing and intrapulmonary shunt, improving gas exchange, avoiding patient's deep sedation, and reducing the ventilator-associated pneumonia risk. However, NIMV use is widely debated due to the high risk of failure (i.e. an intubation rate between 30% and 86% and a mortality rate between 15% and 71%) [27], and the consequent risk of delaying intubation and mechanical ventilation in patients who fail this kind of support. High-flow nasal cannula (HFNC) represents an additional noninvasive ventilatory support that ensures patient's nose and has shown to be able to reduce respiratory work while improving oxygenation and CO_2 elimination, providing the patient with a positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) that varies between 4 and 6 cmH₂O. A recent study carried out on patients diagnosed with ARDS, as in the case of NIV [28], showed however a high rate of HFNC failure, equal to 40% [29].



Fig. 11.2 Lung ultrasonographic patterns. Panel (**a**) = normally aerated lung with pleural sliding (0 point). Panel (**b**) = B-lines separated by at least 5 mm (1 point). Panel (**c**) = B-lines separated by less than 5 mm (2 points). Panel (**d**) = consolidated lung, hyperechoic areas, and bronchograms (3 points)

11.2.2 Invasive Mechanical Ventilation and Pulmonary Recruitment

Invasive mechanical ventilation is a supportive therapy able to guarantee adequate gas exchange (increase PaO_2 and clear CO_2 adequately) and reduce the respiratory muscle activity [30]. Mechanical ventilation presents a double effect on patient oxygenation: it allows a continuous and precise FiO₂ titration and during the inspiratory phase applies a positive airway pressure that reopens collapsed alveolar units. This second effect is likely to be limited in time, unless an adequate positive endexpiratory pressure is applied during the expiratory phase to avoid the alveolar recollapse [31]. The ventilatory setting in ARDS patient remains a daily challenge, and the choice should be adapted to each patient considering his/her hemodynamic parameters, respiratory mechanics, and gas exchange. During the last 30 years, literature has already widely demonstrated that high-volume/high-frequency ventilation can damage the lungs [32] mainly through the cycling collapse-reopening and alveolar overdistention phenomena that contribute to the so-called atelect-trauma [33]. The application of high PEEP allows collapsed alveoli reopening and intrapulmonary shunt reduction, moreover it reduces the repetitive alveolar opening and closing which occurs during the respiratory cycle [34]. However, it's not always useful to set high PEEP levels, as it could appear at first; indeed, two randomized and controlled trials comparing ARDS patients treated with low vs. high PEEP [35, 36] have not shown any benefit from the use of the high PEEP strategy. These contradictory results can be explained by the pulmonary recruitment concept, i.e., the volume of collapsed pulmonary parenchyma in which is possible to re-establish a normal aeration by an increase in the airway pressure [37]. To recruit collapsed lung regions and keep them open, it is necessary to apply an airway pressure higher enough to counterbalance the superimposed pressure, i.e., the pressure generated by the weight of the lung and the rib cage that acts on the lung below [38]. Several maneuvers can be used to recruit the lung: the sigh (i.e., one high-volume breath intermittently provided by the ventilator), the extended sigh (i.e., a progressive increase in PEEP or a progressive increase in both PEEP and plateau pressure), and the sustained inflation (i.e., a static sustained increase in the airway pressure [35-40 mmHg] protracted for 20-40 seconds) [39]. The target of these maneuvers is to increase the transpulmonary pressure for a period of time sufficiently long to reinflate the alveolar units previously closed. While these maneuvers are able to improve the oxygenation for a variable period of time, their systematic use did not result in a mortality reduction [40]. While the lung CT scan is the gold standard for the potential of recruitment evaluation, the lung ultrasound seems to be a promising alternative available at the patient's bedside with several advantages such as safety and repeatability; however further studies are necessary to confirm this data [41].

11.2.3 Choice of PEEP

As known, the choice of a too low end-expiratory positive pressure could cause the collapse of otherwise recruited parenchymal areas, while the choice of a too high

end-expiratory positive pressure could increase dead space and tissue stretch thus raising the risk of lung damage. The PEEP optimization is therefore crucial in the individual patient to avoid the continuous opening and closing and the overdistention phenomena in some parenchymal areas. Different approaches have been proposed to choose the best PEEP, but the most commonly used is the one based on the PEEP/FiO₂ table, which use the patient's saturation/oxygenation as target [36]. Another method is based on the respiratory mechanics: PEEP is progressively increased while keeping the tidal volume constant and the airway pressure within a safety range (26–28 cmH₂O) [42]. Conversely, our group uses the esophageal pressure variation during the breath, to evaluate the transpulmonary pressure. It is measured as: (plateau pressure – total PEEP) – (esophageal pressure at plateau – esophageal pressure at ZEEP). The transpulmonary pressure is a pulmonary stress indicator, and it should not exceed 15 cmH₂O [43].

11.2.4 Choice of Tidal Volume

The main determinants of the ventilator-induced lung injury are strain (defined as the lung deformation induced by the application of the tidal volume) and stress (i.e., the transpulmonary pressure determined by the strain) [44]. Therefore, to maintain low stress and strain, it is necessary to apply a low tidal volume or have a high residual functional capacity [42, 45]. A recent meta-analysis has shown how the use of "protective ventilation," with a tidal volume of 6 mL/kg (calculated on kg of ideal body weight), guarantees a reduction in mortality [46]. Since the actual body weight isn't an accurate index of lung size, it is recommended the use of the ideal weight (calculated based on gender and height) to calculate the best tidal volume; however, the ideal weight is not correlated with the functional residual capacity of the lung, highlighting that the same tidal volume can generate very different stress and strain values [47] in people with the same gender and height but different functional residual capacity. Amato, in a recent study performed over a group of 3500 patients with ARDS ventilated with different combinations of PEEP and tidal volume, showed that the variable most closely associated with the outcome of patients is represented by the driving pressure of the airways, calculated as (plateau pressure - total PEEP). Furthermore in that study was demonstrated that high levels of PEEP appeared protective only when associated with reduced driving pressure, with a pressure cutoff of 15 cmH₂O [48]. However, the use of driving pressure has several limitations: the main one is the fact that the pressure that extends the lung is the transpulmonary pressure and not the airway pressure.

11.2.5 Target of Blood Gases

Current recommendations encourage the use, in mechanically ventilated patients, of a conservative oxygen strategy with an O_2 arterial saturation target ranging from 88% to 95%. The associated use of a "protective ventilation," with the aim of

reducing the damage induced by ventilation, can however cause the development of hypercapnia; however a $PaCO_2$ around 70 mmHg and a pH of about 7.20 have been proved to be safe [49, 50], except in special cases such as patients with intracranial hypertension or severe heart failure. The rationale for this permissive strategy lies in the known effect that hypercapnic acidosis exerts on arterial and tissue oxygenation [51].

11.2.6 Neuromuscular Blockade

In order to guarantee a better patient adaptation to the ventilator, to reduce the oxygen consumption related to the respiratory muscle activity and to guarantee a protective transpulmonary pressure, the use of neuromuscular blockers is accepted in clinical practice [49]. Moreover, neuromuscular blockers have the ability to reduce stress and strain applied to the parenchyma. Neto demonstrated that, in patients with severe ARDS, a short course of treatment with neuromuscular blockers was associated with a mortality decrease [52].

11.2.7 Prone Positioning

The indications for the prone positioning have changed over time: once it was used to improve arterial oxygenation in the most severe forms of respiratory failure [53, 54]; while nowadays it aims to achieve a more homogeneous distribution of stress and strain within the lung parenchyma, acting in synergy with the remaining therapies and protecting against the ventilator induced lung injury [55]. The prone positioning improves ventilation/perfusion coupling thus improving the CO_2 elimination and improves the ventilation distribution across the dorsal regions of the pulmonary parenchyma [55, 56]. The association of prone positioning and the use of neuromuscular blockers, in patients with severe ARDS, seems to have a synergistic effect on oxygenation and overall duration of mechanical ventilation and seems to be associated with a better outcome. However, these data needs further studies to confirm.

In any case, the prone positioning presents few absolute contraindications, namely, pregnancy, open abdominal treatment, unstable fractures, and hemody-namic instability [55].

11.2.8 Corticosteroids and Inhaled Vasodilators

As shown above, the central role in the pathogenesis of ARDS is played by the inflammatory response that develops in the lung. Several trials have been performed over time to evaluate the use of corticosteroids in the treatment of respiratory distress syndrome, but the results appeared controversial [57, 58]. Meduri in his study carried out in the early phases of the ARDS, showed that the use of a decremental infusion scheme of corticosteroids leads to a mortality reduction in intensive care

[57]. However, in other studies, this result has not been confirmed [58, 59]. Although nitric oxide (NO) has a known vasodilatory effect on the pulmonary vessels thus ensuring an improvement of the ventilation/perfusion coupling, its use in patients with ARDS is not universally accepted [60]. In fact, it has not been clearly demonstrated its benefit in terms of mortality, while its use is burdened by possible serious complications, such as renal failure [61].

11.2.9 Extracorporeal Support

The use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) in the treatment of severe respiratory failure was born around the 70s with the aim of properly oxygenating the patient ensuring a protective ventilation, reducing the chances of lung damage. Several observational studies have demonstrated various ECMO's benefits in patients with respiratory failure. However, the CESAR study, a recent randomized trial, showed an increase in survival at 6 months (63% vs. 47%) but no difference in quality of life and spirometric parameters between patients undergoing conventional mechanical ventilation and extracorporeal support in reference ECMO centers [62]. Therefore, considering the non-univocal interpretation of the data coming from this trial, nowadays it is not possible to conclude for a superiority of ECMO support compared with the association of the supportive therapy listed above [63].

11.3 Weaning from Mechanical Ventilation

It is of crucial importance the choice of the right moment to start the weaning from mechanical ventilation and to extubate the patient: any delay in extubation increases the risk to develop ventilator-associated pneumonia [64]; while a premature extubation can lead to a prolonged stay in ICU [65] and/or to a new need of invasive respiratory support. The weaning from mechanical ventilation is considered difficult in the 20–30% of mechanical-ventilated patients: the failure of the weaning process is defined as the inability to overcome a spontaneous breathing test or as the need for re-intubation within the first 48 hours from the endotracheal tube removal [66]. The causes of weaning failure are complex and determined by different factors; the main ones are listed below.

11.3.1 Airways Resistance

In the patient with a difficult weaning, an increase in the airways resistance should be considered. Moreover, a secondary tracheal obstruction caused by tracheal stenosis, tracheomalacia or the development of granulation tissue, can contribute to a complicated weaning from mechanical ventilation [67]. In ARDS patients an increase in airway resistances is typically due to bronchial walls edema of the small airways.

11.3.2 Neurological Alterations

The delirium seems to be the more frequent neurological alteration associated with a difficult weaning, with a four-time extubation failure rate than a patient without neurological complications [68]. Delirium diagnosis is simple thanks to the use of validates scales, such as CAM-ICU. Psychiatrists and psychologists could be help-ful in other cognitive disturbances diagnosis different from delirium. A well-known risk factor for delirium is represented by sedation, in particular when midazolam is used [69]. The implementation of a daily sedative wash-out protocol, possibly together with a spontaneous breathing trial, can be associated to a reduction in ventilatory support length [70]. The depression development, common in patients staying in ICU for long periods, seems to be associated to an increased risk of weaning failure [71]. Antidepressant drugs seem to foster weaning from mechanical ventilation, even if only few data are available at the moment [72].

11.3.3 Cardiovascular Alterations

In the patient affected by an alteration of the myocardial contractility, the shift from mechanical ventilation to spontaneous breathing causes an increase in the cardio-vascular work, mainly due to two factors: an intrathoracic pressure variation that causes changes in preload and afterload and an increase of the oxygen consumption by respiratory muscles [73]. An accurate cardiovascular evaluation in mechanically ventilated patients makes the introduction or the optimization of the appropriate therapy possible: this allows a reduction of the weaning failure risk.

11.3.4 Diaphragmatic and Respiratory Musculature Function

The beginning of weaning causes an increase in respiratory muscle workload that frequently appears to be already weakened. In assessing the cause of muscle weakness, it is important to bear in mind that the respiratory muscle dysfunction can result from a damage located anywhere on the axis from the afferent chemoreceptors, to the respiratory center, to the single muscle fiber [73].

The cause of the failure is frequently represented by a diaphragm alteration that can be secondary to two conditions that often coexist in the same patient: the critical illness polyneuropathy (CIP) involving the phrenic nerve and, more often, the critical illness myopathy (CIM). Several works have demonstrated that in mechanical-ventilated patients, there is often an alteration of the respiratory muscle contractility [74]. Before implementing weaning-from-mechanical-ventilation protocols, it is necessary to carefully assess the diaphragmatic function so as to exclude the presence of alterations. To do so, some tests used in clinical practice are here below displayed.

• $P_{0,1}$: it is the most frequently used test for the respiratory drive evaluation in mechanically ventilated patients. In order to carry out this test, the ventilator's

inspiratory valve is closed, and the pressure fall within the first 100 msec after the patient's inspiratory attempt is recorded. Usually, the $P_{0.1}$ value varies between 0.5 and 1.5 cmH₂O. It is important to note that this parameter depends both on the inspiratory muscular strength and on the respiratory drive.

- Maximal inspiratory pressure (MIP): represents the maximum pressure that the patient can generate by inhaling against a completely occluded airway, starting from functional residual capacity (FRC). The minimum thresholds are -75 cmH₂O for men and -50 cmH₂O for women [75]. Theoretically, the most negative values exclude the presence of a significant muscular weakness.
- Rapid shallow breathing index (RSBI): introduced by Tobin [76], it is one of the most common indexes used to evaluate patients in weaning process. It is defined as the ratio between the respiratory rate and the tidal volume expressed in liter. Patients that tend to breathe with a higher respiratory rate and with a smaller tidal volume have a high RSBI and more probably a higher risk of weaning failure. The majority part of centers considers a RSBI < 105 adequate to start weaning the patient from mechanical ventilation [77].

Mechanical ventilation is a life-saving intervention in patients affected by acute respiratory distress, but it is also associated with complications. Therefore it is desirable to wean patients from mechanical ventilation as soon as the underlying cause that led to the need for ventilatory support is resolved or the patient has sufficiently improved and is able to sustain spontaneous breathing with adequate respiratory mechanics and gas exchange. Recently, there were published some guidelines aimed at giving indications on which weaning/extubation techniques it is recommended to use in patients under mechanical ventilation [78]:

- For acutely hospitalized patients ventilated more than 24 h who are able to make a weaning attempt, it is recommended to carry out an initial spontaneous breathing trial with inspiratory pressure support (5–8 cmH₂O).
- For acutely hospitalized patients ventilated for more than 24 h, it is suggested to use protocols to minimize sedation or guarantee sedative suspension periods, during which carry out a spontaneous breathing trial.
- For acutely hospitalized patients ventilated more than 24 h at high risk for extubation failure and who have passed a spontaneous breathing trial, it is recommended the application of noninvasive ventilation (NIV) following extubation.

11.4 Conclusions

Still today, ARDS represents a syndrome with a globally high incidence and a high mortality rate that varies between 40% and 60%. The use of a systematic diagnostic approach can help physicians to rapidly identify the triggering cause of the syndrome, making it possible to quickly start with the right therapy. Chest imaging, mainly represented by CT scan, is of primary relevance both in the diagnostic pathway and in the evaluation of lung parenchyma recruitability. The use of lung ultrasound is gaining a pivotal role in the daily bedside evaluation of the patient, thanks

to its role in the differential diagnosis and to the possibility to evaluate right and left ventricular function. The supportive treatment guaranteed to patients with respiratory distress needs to be oriented to the maintenance of vital functions, to the improvement of gas exchange and to the reduction of lung injury risk.

In order to avoid ventilator-induced lung injury and to set a lung protective ventilation, it is useful to monitor functional residual capacity (FRC) and transpulmonary pressure.

In the most severe cases, it can be useful to use neuromuscular-blocking drugs and prone position so as to improve ventilation/perfusion ratio. Another challenge for physicians seems to be the weaning from mechanical ventilation: the aim is to exclude all the alterations that may delay or make fail the respiratory weaning. The latest guidelines written by the American Thoracic Society and the American College of Chest Physicians are useful to treat the patient in this crucial phase.

References

- Esteban A, Ferguson ND, Meade MO, Frutos-Vivar F, Apezteguia C, Brochard L, et al. Evolution of mechanical ventilation in response to clinical research. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;177(2):170–7.
- 2. Ashbaugh DG, Bigelow DB, Petty TL, Levine BE. Acute respiratory distress in adults. Lancet. 1967;2(7511):319–23.
- Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL, Carlet J, Falke K, Hudson L, et al. The American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1994;149(3 Pt 1):818–24.
- Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT, Ferguson ND, Caldwell E, Fan E, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the Berlin Definition. JAMA. 2012;307(23):2526–33.
- 5. Umbrello M, Formenti P, Bolgiaghi L, Chiumello D. Current concepts of ARDS: a narrative review. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;18(1):pii: E64.
- Caironi P, Carlesso E, Cressoni M, Chiumello D, Moerer O, Chiurazzi C, et al. Lung recruitability is better estimated according to the Berlin definition of acute respiratory distress syndrome at standard 5 cm H2O rather than higher positive end-expiratory pressure: a retrospective cohort study. Crit Care Med. 2015;43(4):781–90.
- 7. Martin TR. Lung cytokines and ARDS: Roger S. Mitchell lecture. Chest. 1999;116(1 Suppl):2S-8S.
- Ferguson ND, Fan E, Camporota L, Antonelli M, Anzueto A, Beale R, et al. The Berlin definition of ARDS: an expanded rationale, justification, and supplementary material. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38(10):1573–82.
- 9. Piantadosi CA, Schwartz DA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. Ann Intern Med. 2004;141(6):460–70.
- de Roux A, Marcos MA, Garcia E, Mensa J, Ewig S, Lode H, et al. Viral community-acquired pneumonia in non immunocompromised adults. Chest. 2004;125(4):1343–51.
- Jennings LC, Anderson TP, Beynon KA, Chua A, Laing RT, Werno AM, et al. Incidence and characteristics of viral community-acquired pneumonia in adults. Thorax. 2008;63(1):42–8.
- Luyt CE, Combes A, Trouillet JL, Nieszkowska A, Chastre J. Virus-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome: epidemiology, management and outcome. Presse Med. 2011;40(12 Pt 2):e561–8.
- 13. Choi SH, Hong SB, Ko GB, Lee Y, Park HJ, Park SY, et al. Viral infection in patients with severe pneumonia requiring intensive care unit admission. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186(4):325–32.

- Bautista E, Chotpitayasunondh T, Gao Z, Harper SA, Shaw M, Uyeki TM, et al. Clinical aspects of pandemic 2009 influenza A (H1N1) virus infection. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(18):1708–19.
- Papazian L, Calfee CS, Chiumello D, Luyt CE, Meyer NJ, Sekiguchi H, et al. Diagnostic workup for ARDS patients. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42(5):674–85.
- Gadsby NJ, Helgason KO, Dickson EM, Mills JM, Lindsay DS, Edwards GF, et al. Molecular diagnosis of legionella infections--clinical utility of front-line screening as part of a pneumonia diagnostic algorithm. J Infect. 2016;72(2):161–70.
- Gibelin A, Parrot A, Maitre B, Brun-Buisson C, Mekontso Dessap A, Fartoukh M, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome mimickers lacking common risk factors of the Berlin definition. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42(2):164–72.
- Pelosi P, D'Andrea L, Vitale G, Pesenti A, Gattinoni L. Vertical gradient of regional lung inflation in adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1994;149(1):8–13.
- Goodman LR, Fumagalli R, Tagliabue P, Tagliabue M, Ferrario M, Gattinoni L, et al. Adult respiratory distress syndrome due to pulmonary and extrapulmonary causes: CT, clinical, and functional correlations. Radiology. 1999;213(2):545–52.
- Lichtenstein DA. Ultrasound in the management of thoracic disease. Crit Care Med. 2007;35(5 Suppl):S250–61.
- Volpicelli G, Elbarbary M, Blaivas M, Lichtenstein DA, Mathis G, Kirkpatrick AW, et al. International evidence-based recommendations for point-of-care lung ultrasound. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38(4):577–91.
- Bouhemad B, Liu ZH, Arbelot C, Zhang M, Ferarri F, Le-Guen M, et al. Ultrasound assessment of antibiotic-induced pulmonary reaeration in ventilator-associated pneumonia. Crit Care Med. 2010;38(1):84–92.
- Peris A, Zagli G, Barbani F, Tutino L, Biondi S, di Valvasone S, et al. The value of lung ultrasound monitoring in H1N1 acute respiratory distress syndrome. Anaesthesia. 2010;65(3):294–7.
- Lichtenstein DA, Meziere GA. Relevance of lung ultrasound in the diagnosis of acute respiratory failure: the BLUE protocol. Chest. 2008;134(1):117–25.
- Gargani L, Lionetti V, Di Cristofano C, Bevilacqua G, Recchia FA, Picano E. Early detection of acute lung injury uncoupled to hypoxemia in pigs using ultrasound lung comets. Crit Care Med. 2007;35(12):2769–74.
- Copetti R, Soldati G, Copetti P. Chest sonography: a useful tool to differentiate acute cardiogenic pulmonary edema from acute respiratory distress syndrome. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2008;6:16.
- Agarwal R, Aggarwal AN, Gupta D. Role of noninvasive ventilation in acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome: a proportion meta-analysis. Respir Care. 2010;55(12):1653–60.
- 28. Antonelli M, Conti G, Moro ML, Esquinas A, Gonzalez-Diaz G, Confalonieri M, et al. Predictors of failure of noninvasive positive pressure ventilation in patients with acute hypoxemic respiratory failure: a multi-center study. Intensive Care Med. 2001;27(11):1718–28.
- Messika J, Ben Ahmed K, Gaudry S, Miguel-Montanes R, Rafat C, Sztrymf B, et al. Use of high-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy in subjects with ARDS: a 1-year observational study. Respir Care. 2015;60(2):162–9.
- 30. Gattinoni L. Ultra-protective ventilation and hypoxemia. Crit Care. 2016;20(1):130.
- Pelosi P, Goldner M, McKibben A, Adams A, Eccher G, Caironi P, et al. Recruitment and derecruitment during acute respiratory failure: an experimental study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164(1):122–30.
- Webb HH, Tierney DF. Experimental pulmonary edema due to intermittent positive pressure ventilation with high inflation pressures. Protection by positive end-expiratory pressure. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1974;110(5):556–65.
- Slutsky AS, Tremblay LN. Multiple system organ failure. Is mechanical ventilation a contributing factor? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1998;157(6 Pt 1):1721–5.
- Caironi P, Cressoni M, Chiumello D, Ranieri M, Quintel M, Russo SG, et al. Lung opening and closing during ventilation of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;181(6):578–86.

- Brower RG, Lanken PN, MacIntyre N, Matthay MA, Morris A, Ancukiewicz M, et al. Higher versus lower positive end-expiratory pressures in patients with the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(4):327–36.
- 36. Meade MO, Cook DJ, Guyatt GH, Slutsky AS, Arabi YM, Cooper DJ, et al. Ventilation strategy using low tidal volumes, recruitment maneuvers, and high positive end-expiratory pressure for acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2008;299(6):637–45.
- 37. Chiumello D, Marino A, Brioni M, Cigada I, Menga F, Colombo A, et al. Lung recruitment assessed by respiratory mechanics and computed tomography in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. what is the relationship? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193(11):1254–63.
- Cressoni M, Chiumello D, Carlesso E, Chiurazzi C, Amini M, Brioni M, et al. Compressive forces and computed tomography-derived positive end-expiratory pressure in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Anesthesiology. 2014;121(3):572–81.
- Chiumello D, Algieri I, Grasso S, Terragni P, Pelosi P. Recruitment maneuvers in acute respiratory distress syndrome and during general anesthesia. Minerva Anestesiol. 2016;82(2):210–20.
- 40. Suzumura EA, Figueiro M, Normilio-Silva K, Laranjeira L, Oliveira C, Buehler AM, et al. Effects of alveolar recruitment maneuvers on clinical outcomes in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40(9):1227–40.
- Bouhemad B, Brisson H, Le-Guen M, Arbelot C, Lu Q, Rouby JJ. Bedside ultrasound assessment of positive end-expiratory pressure-induced lung recruitment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(3):341–7.
- 42. Protti A, Cressoni M, Santini A, Langer T, Mietto C, Febres D, et al. Lung stress and strain during mechanical ventilation: any safe threshold? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(10):1354–62.
- 43. Chiumello D, Langer T, Vecchi V, Luoni S, Colombo A, Brioni M, et al. Low-dose chest computed tomography for quantitative and visual anatomical analysis in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40(5):691–9.
- 44. Gattinoni L, Carlesso E, Caironi P. Stress and strain within the lung. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2012;18(1):42–7.
- 45. Chiumello D, Cressoni M, Colombo A, Babini G, Brioni M, Crimella F, et al. The assessment of transpulmonary pressure in mechanically ventilated ARDS patients. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40(11):1670–8.
- Petrucci N, De Feo C. Lung protective ventilation strategy for the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(2):CD003844.
- 47. Chiumello D, Carlesso E, Cadringher P, Caironi P, Valenza F, Polli F, et al. Lung stress and strain during mechanical ventilation for acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178(4):346–55.
- 48. Amato MB, Meade MO, Slutsky AS, Brochard L, Costa EL, Schoenfeld DA, et al. Driving pressure and survival in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(8):747–55.
- Hraiech S, Yoshida T, Papazian L. Balancing neuromuscular blockade versus preserved muscle activity. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2015;21(1):26–33.
- Hickling KG, Walsh J, Henderson S, Jackson R. Low mortality rate in adult respiratory distress syndrome using low-volume, pressure-limited ventilation with permissive hypercapnia: a prospective study. Crit Care Med. 1994;22(10):1568–78.
- 51. Caironi P. Driving pressure and intraoperative protective ventilation. Lancet Respir Med. 2016;4(4):243–5.
- 52. Neto AS, Pereira VG, Esposito DC, Damasceno MC, Schultz MJ. Neuromuscular blocking agents in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a summary of the current evidence from three randomized controlled trials. Ann Intensive Care. 2012;2(1):33.
- Langer M, Mascheroni D, Marcolin R, Gattinoni L. The prone position in ARDS patients. A clinical study. Chest. 1988;94(1):103–7.

- Piehl MA, Brown RS. Use of extreme position changes in acute respiratory failure. Crit Care Med. 1976;4(1):13–4.
- Gattinoni L, Taccone P, Carlesso E, Marini JJ. Prone position in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Rationale, indications, and limits. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;188(11):1286–93.
- Guerin C, Mancebo J. Prone positioning and neuromuscular blocking agents are part of standard care in severe ARDS patients: yes. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41(12):2195–7.
- Meduri GU, Headley AS, Golden E, Carson SJ, Umberger RA, Kelso T, et al. Effect of prolonged methylprednisolone therapy in unresolving acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 1998;280(2):159–65.
- Steinberg KP, Hudson LD, Goodman RB, Hough CL, Lanken PN, Hyzy R, et al. Efficacy and safety of corticosteroids for persistent acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(16):1671–84.
- Bernard GR, Luce JM, Sprung CL, Rinaldo JE, Tate RM, Sibbald WJ, et al. High-dose corticosteroids in patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1987;317(25):1565–70.
- 60. Siobal MS. Pulmonary vasodilators. Respir Care. 2007;52(7):885-99.
- 61. Adhikari NK, Dellinger RP, Lundin S, Payen D, Vallet B, Gerlach H, et al. Inhaled nitric oxide does not reduce mortality in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome regardless of severity: systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care Med. 2014;42(2):404–12.
- 62. Peek GJ, Mugford M, Tiruvoipati R, Wilson A, Allen E, Thalanany MM, et al. Efficacy and economic assessment of conventional ventilatory support versus extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for severe adult respiratory failure (CESAR): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2009;374(9698):1351–63.
- Ventetuolo CE, Muratore CS. Extracorporeal life support in critically ill adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190(5):497–508.
- 64. Krieger BP. Respiratory failure in the elderly. Clin Geriatr Med. 1994;10(1):103-19.
- 65. Epstein SK, Ciubotaru RL, Wong JB. Effect of failed extubation on the outcome of mechanical ventilation. Chest. 1997;112(1):186–92.
- 66. Boles JM, Bion J, Connors A, Herridge M, Marsh B, Melot C, et al. Weaning from mechanical ventilation. Eur Respir J. 2007;29(5):1033–56.
- 67. Rumbak MJ, Walsh FW, Anderson WM, Rolfe MW, Solomon DA. Significant tracheal obstruction causing failure to wean in patients requiring prolonged mechanical ventilation: a forgotten complication of long-term mechanical ventilation. Chest. 1999;115(4):1092–5.
- Salam A, Tilluckdharry L, Amoateng-Adjepong Y, Manthous CA. Neurologic status, cough, secretions and extubation outcomes. Intensive Care Med. 2004;30(7):1334–9.
- Marcantonio ER, Goldman L, Mangione CM, Ludwig LE, Muraca B, Haslauer CM, et al. A clinical prediction rule for delirium after elective noncardiac surgery. JAMA. 1994;271(2):134–9.
- 70. Girard TD, Kress JP, Fuchs BD, Thomason JW, Schweickert WD, Pun BT, et al. Efficacy and safety of a paired sedation and ventilator weaning protocol for mechanically ventilated patients in intensive care (A wakening and Breathing Controlled trial): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008;371(9607):126–34.
- Jubran A, Lawm G, Kelly J, Duffner LA, Gungor G, Collins EG, et al. Depressive disorders during weaning from prolonged mechanical ventilation. Intensive Care Med. 2010;36(5):828–35.
- 72. Rothenhausler HB, Ehrentraut S, von Degenfeld G, Weis M, Tichy M, Kilger E, et al. Treatment of depression with methylphenidate in patients difficult to wean from mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit. J Clin Psychiatry. 2000;61(10):750–5.
- Heunks LM, van der Hoeven JG. Clinical review: the ABC of weaning failure--a structured approach. Crit Care. 2010;14(6):245.
- 74. Laghi F, Cattapan SE, Jubran A, Parthasarathy S, Warshawsky P, Choi YS, et al. Is weaning failure caused by low-frequency fatigue of the diaphragm? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167(2):120–7.
- Black LF, Hyatt RE. Maximal respiratory pressures: normal values and relationship to age and sex. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1969;99(5):696–702.

- Yang KL, Tobin MJ. A prospective study of indexes predicting the outcome of trials of weaning from mechanical ventilation. N Engl J Med. 1991;324(21):1445–50.
- Ely EW, Baker AM, Dunagan DP, Burke HL, Smith AC, Kelly PT, et al. Effect on the duration of mechanical ventilation of identifying patients capable of breathing spontaneously. N Engl J Med. 1996;335(25):1864–9.
- 78. Ouellette DR, Patel S, Girard TD, Morris PE, Schmidt GA, Truwit JD, et al. Liberation from mechanical ventilation in critically ill adults: an official American College of Chest Physicians/ American Thoracic Society clinical practice guideline: inspiratory pressure augmentation during spontaneous breathing trials, protocols minimizing sedation, and noninvasive ventilation immediately after extubation. Chest. 2017;151(1):166–80.



12

Airway Management in Pediatric Patients

Giovanna Chidini and Monsellato Stefania

Airway management represents the first priority for the anesthesiologist who is asked to treat a critically ill child.

During pediatric age, the incidence of unpredicted difficult intubation is rare, and most children with difficult airway can be identified during preoperative evaluation.

However, unpredictable difficulties at intubation and/or ventilation may be a cause for high mortality and morbidity [1].

Emergency intubation out of the operating room (i.e., in the emergency room, emergency department, or medical ward) has an increased morbidity and mortality.

While difficult airway management guidelines for the adult were published in the 1990s and are commonly applied from anesthesiologists, in the pediatric field, they are more recent and handled by regional or national societies. Indeed, many anesthesia departments have simply rearranged the adult guidelines without specific pediatric criteria [2–4].

In Italy pediatric airway management guidelines' development was started in 2006 by the SIAARTI/SARNePI group, involving experienced pediatric anesthesiologists and intensivists. Unfortunately, nowadays there are no randomized clinical trials that can support the development of guidelines with evidence of strong recommendation.

That's the reason why the few documents published until now are mostly based on a panel expert consensus (Delphi method).

e-mail: Giovanna.chidini@policlinico.mi.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

G. Chidini (🖂) · M. Stefania

Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Cà Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_12

At the end of the document, expert opinions are classified as recommendation grade A, B, C, D, or E depending on the consensus percentage obtained from the panel in relation to three recurrent clinical cases: (1) difficult mask ventilation, (2) difficult intubation, and (3) difficult ventilation and intubation (cannot intubate and cannot ventilate, CICV). Particularly, Italian guidelines are extended also to newborns, reflecting our specific organizational model in which the anesthesiologist is involved in the management both of the critical newborn in the delivery room and the children in the pediatric intensive care units. Moreover, in the Italian guidelines, a large section is dedicated to the management of the expected difficult intubation, regarding both the planning of anesthesiologic procedures and operative procedures on difficult airways and preparation of instruments needed [5, 6].

The purpose of this chapter is to review the principal papers published about pediatric airway management, with particular attention to our national society guidelines that are so far the landmark for most anesthesiologists and intensivists. Particularly, the peculiar anatomic and physiological characteristics of children, the preoperative evaluation, the use of specific materials, and difficult intubation situations will be discussed.

12.1 Peculiar Anatomic and Physiologic Characteristics in Children

Some peculiar anatomic characteristics of the airway in children are important for the planning of intubation and ventilation procedures.

These characteristics include (1) prominent occipital bone, (2) macroglossia, (3) large epiglottis, and (4) higher position of the larynx (C3–C4) if compared to adult population.

Children and infants up to 3 months are considered prevalent nosebreathers for the presence of a large, omega-shaped epiglottis in a higher position (C4 vs. C6) that tends to hide the laryngeal aditus in direct laryngoscopy. The narrowest part of the pediatric airway is in the subglottic area, at the level of the cricoid ring. The area corresponding to the ventilatory surface is increased during inspiration and decreased during expiration, with consequent interruption of the expiratory flow and the subsistence of a positive end expiratory pressure that keep the chest wall stable preventing its collapse [7, 8].

Up to 8 years, the pediatric larynx is cone-shaped, and its narrowest point is immediately subglottic at the level of the cricoid ring (the only one complete ring of the tracheobronchial tree) [9].

Furthermore, the anterior commissure of the glottis is more caudal than the posterior so that the endotracheal tube may stop at this level and little rotation is needed to assure further advancement [5, 10].

About anatomic characteristics, just few cases of difficult intubation are reported in literature for healthy children, while different reports describe very difficult situations of the management of airways in children with craniofacial and upper airway malformations (Pierre Robin syndrome, Treacher Collins syndrome, Kabuki syndrome, Noonan syndrome, Franceschetti syndrome, achondroplasia, arthrogryposis, osteomandibular synostosis, mucopolysaccharidosis, cleft) and/or lower airway malformations (subglottic or supraglottic hemangiomas, subglottic or supraglottic stenosis derived from neonatal intubation, vascular rings). Particularly, in the craniofacial malformations (Pierre Robin, Treacher Collins, Kabuki, Franceschetti), the difficulty to intubate is caused by the impossibility to visualize the laryngeal aditus with direct laryngoscopy, preferring elective fiberoptic intubation with sedation and maintenance of spontaneous breathing and the creation of a protection tracheostomy for the postoperative period, in selected cases [11–16].

On the other hand, supraglottic or subglottic stenosis due to previous intubation can make the progression of the endotracheal tube through the laryngeal aditus, cricoid, or trachea very difficult or impossible [17, 18].

Concerning physiological characteristics, newborns and infants are in a disadvantageous condition compared to adults regarding onset of hypoxia and hemodynamic complications. In fact, for this population, acute hypoxemia is the principal cause of bradycardia and cardiac arrest.

In the term newborn, FRC (*functional residual capacity*) is about 30 mL/kg, and the compliance of the respiratory system is 5 mL/cmH₂O (1.5 mL/kg). In a 3 kg newborn, minute volume ventilation is 600 mL (with dead space about 50% of tidal volume with a mean alveolar minute ventilation of 300 mL/min) with RR 30–45 breaths/minute. Total resistance of the respiratory system is about 70 cmH₂O L/s, principally distributed in distal airways [19]. If compared to adult population, the newborn has a reduction of the compliance by one-twentieth and an increase of total resistance of about 15 times. The majority of the impedance is due to the lung, depending on the presence of surfactant into the alveoli. Instead the chest wall has a high compliance due to the absence of ossification. During the second year of life, the respiratory system develops, and the ratio between lung and chest wall compliance becomes about 50%, as in adults [20]. In this situation, the respiratory work in an infant is mostly spent to keep the alveoli open in the absence of the stabilizing role of the chest wall.

In addition, infants have a relative immaturity of the central system of control of breathing and a reduced endurance of respiratory muscles (due to the lack of type 1 muscular fibers). In this condition, the loss of spontaneous breathing caused by pharmacological sedation leads to a rapid alveolar derecruitment resulting in hypoxemia, bradycardia, and low cerebral and systemic perfusion. In fact, cardiac output (HR × SV) in infants is strictly related to a high heart rate. The elevated tissue oxygen consumption (5–8 mL/kg/min) keeps the infant more susceptible to hypoxia during bradycardia and desaturation [19].

For all these considerations, children up to 3 years are the pediatric population more at risk of respiratory complications during the management of the airways such as intubation and mechanical ventilation.

12.2 Approach to Intubation in Children

Considering elective intubation in the operating room, several studies describe that it is a safe procedure, with a percentage of difficult intubation from 0.25% to 3% in the healthy child [21–25].

In contrast, emergency pediatric intubation (emergency room, ward) is characterized by elevated morbidity and mortality because of the limited possibility to perform adequate ventilation, the limited availability of adequate materials, and the emergency nature of the event. In this situation important desaturation (14-29%), hypotension (3.21%), cardiac arrest (1%), right bronchial intubation (3-6%), esophageal intubation (10%), and airway lesions (2.5%) are described [26–30].

For these considerations, it is clear that one of the priorities for the operator is to identify children with potential difficult airways in order to program, if possible, the procedure with lower risks and the most appropriate pharmacological approach, preparing the most suitable material for the management of the child and considering the possibility of a secondary transport to a pediatric center for children with known malformative disorders or previous difficulties who need an endoscopic or surgical approach for the management of the airway or a postoperative management in a pediatric intensive care unit.

12.3 Pediatric Airway Evaluation

In the pediatric population, most of the difficult intubations are predictable by anamnestic and clinical criteria considering the particular anatomic and physiological characteristics described above [1].

Particular attention must be paid to the following aspects: (1) presence of apneas, (2) stridor, (3) alterations in the tone of voice, (4) recurrent laryngeal infections, (5) swallow disease or gastroesophageal reflux disease, and (6) previous difficult intubation.

The Mallampati score cannot be applied to children, so clinical examination must be focused on potential pathological aspects: reduced mouth opening, macroglossia, and micrognathia [5–8]. Some malformative conditions characterized by micrognathia, retrognathia, mandibular hypoplasia, and glossoptosis are considered the most common conditions associated with difficult intubation. This is caused by an altered insertion of the tongue in the hypopharynx (glossoptosis) leading to an almost impossible epiglottis loading during direct laryngoscopy (Pierre Robin syndrome and Treacher Collins syndrome) [11–16].

Other particular aspects on the clinical evaluation are about (1) the temporomandibular joint mobility assessment, whose limitation is extremely uncommon except in lesions, trauma, or burns; (2) atlanto-occipital joint limitations (head extension <35°), characteristic of some specific syndromes such as juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, multiple congenital arthrogryposis, Klippel-Feil syndrome, or Goldenhar syndrome; and (3) atlanto-occipital joint instability (Down syndrome, osteogenesis imperfecta).

12.4 Equipment and Materials

According to Italian guidelines, the material for the airway management is divided in two groups: (1) essential equipments for nonspecialized centers—facial masks, Guedel cannulas in different sizes, conventional rigid laryngoscopes with straight and curved blades, endotracheal tubes from 2 to 6 mm ID, tracheal tube introducers and guides, Magill forceps, soft short stylets, pediatric laryngeal mask airways, and needles for cricothyroid puncture—and (2) essential equipment for specialized centers: flexible bronchoscope with light source, masks and facial cannulas for fiberoptic intubation, rigid bronchoscopes, cricothyrotomy set, and retrograde intubation kit [5].

All the equipments for the difficult management of pediatric airways must be checked and kept in a specific tray in the operating room, delivery room, or intensive care unit. Moreover, considering the infrequence of difficult intubation in children, surgical and emergency staff should be trained to use life-saver tools such as neonatal laryngeal masks and to perform elective fiberoptic intubation. Anyhow, spontaneous breathing fiberoptic intubation is still the safest procedure [31–33].

Nowadays new devices for pediatric intubation are available and are created to improve the endoscopic view on the airway (Storz videolaryngoscope with straight blade or Miller 1 blade, fiberoptic laryngoscope Airtraq, GlideScope with pediatric blades). Even if clinical trials are still ongoing, there are several evidences showing how these devices improve endoscopic view and reduce Cormack and Lehane score compared to traditional laryngoscopy [34, 35].

Pediatric laryngoscope handles are recommended because they allow contemporary execution of laryngoscopy and cricoid pressure technique.

In general, straight blades can be used in infants to elevate the epiglottis and visualize the glottic opening even if in clinical practice curved blades are often used in newborns.

Pediatric facial masks for assisted ventilation are produced in different sizes, and they are transparent, latex free with inflatable cushion. Pediatric Guedel cannulas are disposable for habitual use. The length of the Guedel airway positioned near the children's face does not have to exceed the corner of the mouth. A cannula that is too long could push the epiglottis down and close the airway or induce laryngo-spasm if anesthesia is not deep enough [36]. In general in newborns the use of small endotracheal tubes causes an increase in airway resistance, so that uncuffed tubes are often used (newborn 3–3.5 mm; 0–6 months 3.5 mm; 6–12 months 4 mm; 12–18 months 4–4.5 mm; 2–3 years 4.5–5 mm ID). In preterm newborns the use of cuffed endotracheal tubes for a long time is a potential cause of lesions of the tracheal mucosa with possible consequent development of subglottic stenosis and/or granulomas.

A specific problem in newborns is the correct positioning of the endotracheal tube that tends to enter the right or bronchus or is easy to displace for little movements in extension or flexion of the head, being the trachea relatively short.

The use of cuffed tubes for infants and children is largely increased in clinical practice. Even if during the past years the use of uncuffed tubes was considered the

gold standard to avoid lesions due to local compression on subglottic area, nowadays the use of cuffed tubes seems to improve the ventilation in children without causing traumatic lesions (maintaining the cuff pressure under $20 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O}$) [37, 38].

To check the correct position of the endotracheal tube, there are different methods: chest X-ray, chest echography, and endoscopy. The use of pediatric stylets and/ or guides is not routinely recommended because of the potential traumatic lesions it can produce on the airways.

A guide with a working channel can be left on the airway to provide oxygenation or to read capnography. The Magill forceps can help to direct the tube during the progression on the airway.

The use of the laryngeal mask airway should be considered as an urgency device when mask ventilation appears difficult or when local edema or other complications appear. The technique of laryngeal mask placement is the same in children than in adults with the only difference being that in children keeping the cushion partially inflated can help the progression in hypopharynx. It is important to provide adequate sedation in order to avoid complications such as cough laryngospasm, vomiting, or gastric distension.

12.5 Anesthesiologic Procedures

The most important thing in case of a newborn or infant intubation is to assure adequate ventilation mask before proceeding to deep sedation and intubation. Anyway, upper airway obstruction during mask ventilation is frequent and can be solved with some simple measure as chin lift, jawthrust, and/or continuous positive pressure. Also patient lateral positioning (for example, in case of tonsillar hypertro-phy) can reduce the grade of obstruction [39, 40].

Pediatric difficult mask ventilations are infrequent and can be summarized into the following: (1) nasal obstruction, (2) macroglossia, (3) space-occupying lesions, (4) microretrognathia, (5) supralaryngeal inflammatory disease, and (6) pathological obesity.

When ventilations are impossible, the use of a classic laryngeal mask airway can help to provide adequate oxygenation and ventilation. Different studies report a 95–98% of success in ventilation with classic laryngeal mask. It is important to avoid high cuff pressure in order to reduce the risk of mucosal ischemic lesions and postoperative pain [31, 32, 41, 42].

As preanesthetic drugs, it is important to use drugs that do not lead to respiratory depression or protective airway reflex abolition. During induction of anesthesia with halogenated gases (sevoflurane 2–4%), it is important to maintain spontaneous breathing and verify if mask ventilation is possible. When mask ventilation feasibility is assured, deep anesthesia can be achieved with drugs that can allow intubation in association with local anesthetics and without muscle relaxants, if possible (remifentanyl", midazolam, ketamine, sevoflurane).

In pediatric population induction and maintenance of anesthesia are usually performed with an association of halogenated inhaled anesthetics, intravenous anesthetics (hypnotics and/or sedatives), and muscle relaxants when indicated from surgery.

Sevoflurane is the most used inhaled gas to obtain rapid mask induction in children because of its rapid onset/offset time and the absence of irritative effect on airway mucosa. Rapid mask induction is achieved with sevoflurane concentration between 4% and 8%. For its characteristics sevoflurane is considered safe and easy to use also for operative procedure on the airway such as flexible or rigid endoscopy. In this setting, the use of sevoflurane was demonstrated more efficient than intravenous anesthetics in maintaining hemodynamic and respiratory stability in children under 2 years undergoing general anesthesia for operative endoscopy [43].

Intravenous anesthetics frequently used are thiopental, propofol, ketamine, midazolam, fentanyl, and remifentanil [44–46]. The use of these drugs needs welldefined hospital procedures and regulation. In particular, if these drugs are used in patient in spontaneous breathing, qualified staff and adequate equipment have to be available for immediate respiratory and hemodynamic resuscitation.

Thiopentone. It can be used for preanesthesia to facilitate children separation from parents in the operating room (1-2 mg/kg in infants), for moderate procedural sedation (1-2 mg/kg with additional doses of 1-2 mg/kg titrate at max 6 mg/kg as total dose), and for general anesthesia induction 4–6 mg/kg [44].

Propofol. Propofol is approved (FDA) for induction and general anesthesia maintenance for children more than 3 years of age and adults. In children and adults classified as ASA 1–2, the usual dose is 1–2 mg/kg for anesthesia induction (if patient ASA 3–4, consider a reduction of 80% of dose) and for general anesthesia maintenance 125–150 µg/kg/min. Propofol is not approved for pediatric sedation in the ICU for the risk of myocardial depression, hypotension, bradycardia, and propofol infusion syndrome, especially in hypovolemic or septic patients.

Ketamine. Ketamine is used in children for induction (2 mg/kg IV), for maintenance of general anesthesia and as supporting drug in procedural sedation (0.2–1 mg/kg), and for sedation in ICU (5–20 μ g/kg/min). It is contraindicated in newborns less than 3 months of age because some studies demonstrate an increase in neuronal apoptosis and delay in cognitive development.

It is relatively contraindicated in case of airway procedures because of the increased risk of laryngospasm and in case of intracranial hypertension.

Fentanyl. Fentanyl can be used in children for moderate procedural sedation (1-2 mg/kg dose), as support in general anesthesia induction (2-3 mg/kg dose), and for continuous sedation in ICU (1-3 mg/kg/h).

Remifentanyl. Remifentanyl can be used in children for maintenance of general anesthesia with nitrous oxide (0.4–1 μ g/kg/min), as analgosedation for intubated children (preterm 0.075 μ g/kg/min to titrate at max 0.11 μ g/kg/min), and in term infants needing mechanical ventilation in ICU (0.15 μ g/kg/min to titrate at a reported medium dose of 0.23 μ g/kg/min) [47, 48].

Rocuronium. Rocuronium is approved by FDA for all children and adult patients as muscle relaxant drug at general anesthesia induction, to maintain intraoperative muscle relaxation, and in ventilated patients in ICU. The particular interest for this drug derived from its classification as non-depolarizing neuromuscular blocker with rapid onset and for the availability of an antagonist with rapid action (sugammadex). Pediatric dosage for RSI is 0.9-1.2 mg/kg and for elective intubation is 0.45-0.6 mg/kg. Maintenance dosage is $7-12 \mu \text{g/kg/min}$ both for intraoperative and ICU patients (to notice that the contemporary use of inhaled anesthetics reduces the needed dose of rocuronium for maintenance of neuromuscular blockade, it is recommended the titration at the minimum dosage). Rare cases of anaphylaxis, asthma, and arrhythmias are reported.

The use of sugammadex is nowadays approved by FDA for children aged higher than 2 years (2 mg/kg). No data are available for children less than 2 years and newborns, both for safety and efficacy, so for this age the use of sugammadex is not approved yet.

The use of muscular blockers must be avoided in case of difficult or impossible ventilation mask. If the use of these drugs is necessary, it is recommended the choice of muscle relaxants with short duration of action for which an antagonist is potentially available (succinylcholine, rocuronium).

It is important to avoid laryngoscopy or airway manipulation if sedation is nonadequate to avoid reactive laryngo- or bronchospasm. For this reason, local anesthesia with lidocaine on the vocal cords is recommended (lidocaine 1-2%, 3-5 mg/kg).

In conclusion, according to Italian guidelines, we can summarize that during newborn and infant intubation, (1) preoxygenation with mask is mandatory; (2) before abolition of spontaneous breathing, it is mandatory to assure the feasibility of adequate mask ventilation; and (3) the association of sedoanalgesic drugs or inhaled anesthetics with local anesthetics is recommended for intubation.

Finally, for those patients with known malformative diseases, for whom intubation with direct laryngoscopy or videolaryngoscopy is impossible (Pierre Robin, Franceschetti, Treacher Collins), guidelines recommend elective fiberoptic intubation (see below) with laryngeal mask airway, if indicated.

12.6 Planned Difficult Intubation

According to Italian guidelines, in case of planned difficult intubation, it is mandatory to proceed with the following:

- 1. Clinical investigations to exclude airway disease or associated malformations, in patients with malformative syndromes.
- 2. In case of prenatal diagnosis of malformative disease, it is mandatory to prepare preventively in the delivery room or neonatal intensive care unit all the equipments needed to the safest management of the patient.
- 3. To document in the medical records all the clinical predictors of difficult intubation.
- 4. To inform the parents or legal guardian about all the possible problems concerning the management of the difficult airway, the planned strategy of risks, and possible complications.
- 5. To prepare all the equipments needed to carry out the planned strategy.

Finally, it is useful to include in the medical record all the documents about the patient airway as all the equipments utilized to intubate, TC or endoscopic reports, and Cormack score. (For example, after elective fiberoptic-guided intubation, it is possible to perform direct laryngoscopy before the extubation of the patient and to include the Cormack score in the medical record.)

We also recommend to draw up a difficult airway report and to give it to the children's parents, in the event that the child will necessitate urgent intubation among other centers.

12.7 Elective Fiberoptic-Guided Intubation and Use of Supraglottic Airway Devices (SGA)

Fiberoptic-guided intubation in spontaneous breathing is nowadays the safest technique in case of planned difficult intubation, with or without the aid of SGA (specific laryngeal mask). It is important to plan the fiberoptic elective intubation as the first choice, to avoid potential local lesions on the mucosa caused by other procedures that could make difficult the progression of the fibroscope (edema, bleeding). Flexible fibroscopes with operative channel and camera are available for the pediatric population in different sizes (1.8 mm in an ETT 3, 2.2 mm in ETT 3.5, 2.8 in ETT 4).

The intubation technique is the same as in adult population. Considering the poor cooperativeness of the children and the elevated reactivity of the airways, the fiber-optic intubation must be performed with adequate sedation maintaining spontaneous breathing. A possible technique consists in local anesthesia with lidocaine 3–5 mg/kg in association with inhaled or intravenous anesthesia. The fibroscope is advanced until the glottic plane and the vocal cords are visualized. Local anesthetic is then applied, and the fibroscope is advanced into the trachea with the endotracheal tube sliding on the fibroscope that is in the end retired. At the end of the procedure, the correct positioning of the endotracheal tube is checked.

Patient oxygenation can be assured with nasopharyngeal oxygen probes, manual ventilation, or noninvasive ventilation with mask (usually in patients with respiratory failure in ICU) with specific junctions used to pass the fibroscope through the endotracheal tube connected to the ventilatory circuit.

Fiberoptic-guided intubation can be facilitated with the use of specific supraglottic airway devices, such as specific laryngeal masks created to allow the transition through the ventilatory way of a flexible fibroscope with an endotracheal tube or a tube exchanger.

Supraglottic airway devices (SGA) can be defined as devices that allow both ventilation and oxygenation and that are placed immediately out of the larynx, to which they are secured by an inflated cuff. These devices are nowadays an integral part of the basic requirements used for the management of the pediatric airway in emergency situations, including pediatric emergencies and neonatal resuscitation. SGA can be divided in two groups of first and second generation based on the presence or absence of a drainage gastric channel. First-generation devices consist in a

simple ventilation tube connected to the ventilation mask (LMA Classic, LMA Unique); secondary-generation devices used in pediatric population (LMA ProSeal, Air-Q, I-gel, Ambu Aura I) have an inbuilt drainage channel which allows the insertion of a gastric tube to deflate the stomach. If the laryngeal mask is correctly positioned, the inflated cuff creates an adequate adhesion to the hypopharynx and allows positive pressure ventilation. Second-generation devices have best adherence to hypopharynx leading to a more efficient positive pressure ventilation and allowing a better drainage of the stomach and a reduction of the risk of inhalation [41, 49].

The classic laryngeal mask (LMA Classic) is a first-generation device frequently used in pediatric anesthesia for minor procedures.

Hemodynamic response is reduced in LMA positioning if compared to endotracheal intubation, and it is similar to the insertion of an oral cannula. Its positioning by an inexperienced staff is easier and quicker than endotracheal intubation. Anyway, LMA positioning in children is characterized by the onset of more complications if compared to adults (malposition, gastric reflux, laryngo- and bronchospasm). Laryngeal mask ProSeal is a second-generation device with a gastric drainage channel, introduced in 2004 in clinical practice and available in neonatal and pediatric sizes.

It allows a better adherence to hypopharynx, and it is made of an armored ventilation tube that reduces the risk of occlusion of the airway. It can be used for fiberoptic-guided intubation. Anyway, the small diameter of the airway of the device makes impossible the direct insertion of an endotracheal tube, so that a tube exchanger should be used as a guide for the positioning of the endotracheal tube.

LMA Classic and ProSeal are the most used devices in pediatric anesthesia to which all new devices are compared in terms of safety and efficacy [50, 51].

The Air-Q system is an oval-shaped supraglottic device with a curved and angulated airway that permits to avoid the downfold of the epiglottis. Air-Q is available as a first-generation device with standard cuff and as a second-generation device with gastric access, but at the moment this new version is not available in pediatric sizes. Different studies have tested Air-Q in children with a body weight less than 15 kg. They reported good efficacy, better adherence, less leaks, and better endoscopic view of the laryngeal opening with this device when it is used for endoscopic intubation, compared to other supraglottic devices (Ambu Aura). Retrospective studies on pediatric population with craniofacial malformations reported the good efficacy of this device when it is used for fiberoptic-guided intubation.

Second-generation devices available for pediatric population reported in literature include the laryngeal mask Supreme, Ambu Aura, and I-gel. The use of the LMA Supreme airway is associated with less gastric regurgitation, less air leaks, and easier positioning, also in neonatal resuscitation.

The I-gel laryngeal mask is a second-generation device made from a medical grade thermoplastic elastomer, uncuffed, that creates a seal on the airway by anatomical adaptation. Compared to other SGA, I-gel has better view during endoscopy, while no differences are reported concerning onset of complications and easiness in placement or displacement [54].

Ambu Aura is a second-generation SGA specifically created for pediatric fiberoptic-guided intubation. It offers a similar endoscopic view if compared to Air-Q and I-gel, but 1 and 1.5 sizes do not allow the passage of cuffed tubes [52, 53].

In conclusion, during the last years, different SGA were introduced for pediatric use. In the healthy child in general anesthesia, classical devices as LMA Classic and Unique are largely used, except for children with low weight (less than 10 kg, for whom second-generation devices are indicated) for their simple position procedure and better stability.

Air-Q and Ambu Aura have the best endoscopic view and the easiest removal maneuver after fiberoptic-guided intubation. No specific guidelines are available in case of cardiac arrest or in the out-of-hospital setting.

In pediatric literature the role of new devices such as videolaryngoscopes, fiberoptic videolaryngoscopes, or lighted stylet is unclear, and it has not been sufficiently studied to include them into the Australian guidelines, even if they should be available in each center.

In conclusion, according to Italian guidelines, we can say that (1) it is useful to have expertise in fiberoptic-guided pediatric intubation; (2) it is recommended for each hospital to create a procedure for the management of pediatric difficult airway; (3) it is opportune to keep all the equipments in a dedicated tray situated in the surgical unit; (4) it is mandatory to assure the feasibility of mask ventilation before proceeding to deep sedation; (5) it is recommended to reassure adequate oxygenation of the child between different intubation attempts; (6) it is mandatory to avoid more than three attempts of intubation to avoid the onset of impossible mask ventilation situation; (7) if intubation becomes impossible, it is recommended to awake the child and postpone the procedure; (8) in pediatric patients fiberoptic intubation should be performed with pharmacological analgesia and sedation with local anesthesia and 100% oxygen supply devices; and (9) children with predicted difficult airway should be transported to a pediatric reference center.

12.8 Unpredicted Difficult Intubation

Unpredicted difficult intubation in children is infrequent if compared to adult population, and when it occurs, everything should be performed to avoid the onset of cannot intubate/cannot ventilate situation. LMA can be used as an urgency device in a child who cannot be intubated and ventilated to assure temporary adequate oxygenation and ventilation. In extreme cases, cricothyroid puncture to perform jet ventilation is indicated, even if in newborns and infants this procedure is very risky and often unsuccessful, because of the elevated difficulty to find the cricothyroid membrane, the elevated tissue flexibility, and small anatomic spaces. Indeed this procedure is complicated with high mortality and morbidity. When jet ventilation is successfully performed, a surgical tracheostomy should be considered [54, 55].

12.9 Conclusions

Pediatric airway management is a particular skill for anesthesiologists. Pediatric airway has many anatomic and physiological differences from adults, as well as different pathologic conditions (craniofacial malformative syndromes).

An adequate knowledge of these conditions, the available equipments, and the national guidelines allow the intensivist to perform the best management of the child's airway both in elective and urgency situations, with collaboration between pediatric and non-pediatric centers.

Disclaimer Authors have nothing to disclaim about this paper.

References

- 1. Holm-Knudsen RJ, Rasmussen LS. Paediatric airway management: basic aspects. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2009;53:1–9.
- ASA. Practice guidelines for management of the difficult airway. A report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Management of the Difficult Airway. Anesthesiology. 1993;78:597–602.
- 3. Henderson JJ, Popat MT, Latto IP, et al. Difficult Airway Society guidelines for management of the unanticipated difficult intubation. Anaesthesia. 2004;59:675–94.
- 4. Weiss M, Engelhardt T. Proposal for the management of the unexpected difficult pediatric airway. Pediatr Anesth. 2010;20:454–64.
- Petrini F, Accorsi A, Adriano E, et al. Gruppo di studio SIAARTI "Vie aeree difficili" IRC and SARNEPI Task Force recommendations for airway control and difficult airway management. Minerva Anestesiol. 2005;71:617–57.
- Black AE, Flynn PER, Smith HL, et al. Development of a guideline for the management of the unanticipated difficult airway in pediatric practice. Pediatr Anaesth. 2015;25:346. https://doi. org/10.1111/pan.1261.
- Todes ID. The pediatric airway. In: Cote CJ, Todes ID, Godsouzian NG, Ryan JF, editors. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children. 3rd ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders; 2001.
- Wheeler M. The difficult pediatric airway. In: Hagbeg CA, editor. Handbook of difficult airway management. 1st ed. Philadelphia, PA: Churchill Livingston; 2000.
- 9. Adewale L. Anatomy and assessment of the pediatric airway. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(Suppl 1):1–8.
- Hudgins PA, Siegel J, Jacobs I, et al. The normal pediatric larynx on CT and MR. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1997;18:239–45.
- Fiadjoe JE, Hirschfeld M, Wu S, et al. A randomized multi-institutional crossover comparison of the GlideScope[®] Cobalt Video laryngoscope to the flexible fiberoptic bronchoscope in a Pierre Robin manikin. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;8:801–6.
- Iwai H, Kanai R, et al. Successful tracheal intubation using the pediatric Airtraq optical laryngoscope in a pediatric patient with Robin sequence. Masui. 2011;2:189–91.
- 13. Marston AP, Lander TA, Tibesar RJ, et al. Airway management for intubation in newborns with Pierre Robin sequence. Laryngoscope. 2012;6:1401–4.
- 14. Sugawara Y, Inagawa G, Satoh K, et al. Successful intubation using a simple fiberoptic assisted laryngoscope for Treacher Collins syndrome. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;10:1031–3.
- Lin TC, Soo LY, Chen TI, Lu IC, Hsu HT, Chu KS, Yen MK. Perioperative airway management in a child with Treacher Collins syndrome. Acta Anaesthesiol Taiwan. 2009;1:44–7.
- 16. Ozlü O, Simşek S, Alaçakir H, et al. Goldenhar syndrome and intubation with the fiberoptic broncoscope. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;8:793–4.

- Caruselli M, Amici M, Galante D, et al. Post intubation tracheal stenosis in children. Pediatr Rep. 2014;3:549.1.
- Pookamala S, Thakar A, Puri K, et al. Acquired subglottic stenosis: aetiological profile and treatment results. J Laryngol Otol. 2014;7:641–8.
- Lumb BA. Pregnancy neonates and children. In: Nunn's applied respiratory physiology. 8th ed. London: Elsevier; 2017.
- Papastamelos C, Panitch HB, Allen JL. Developmental changes in chest wall compliance in infancy and early childhood. J Appl Physiol. 1995;78:179–84.
- Ohkawa S. Incidence of difficult intubation in pediatric population. Anesthesiology. 2005;103:A1362.
- Tong D, Beus J, Litman RS. The "institution's name" difficulty intubation registry. Anesthesiology. 2007;107:A1637.
- 23. Valois-Gomez T, Oofuvong M, Auer G, et al. Incidence of difficult bag-mask ventilation in children: a prospective observational study. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23:920–6.
- Mirghassemi A, Soltani AE, Abtahi M. Evaluation of laryngoscopic views and related influencing factors in a pediatric population. Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21:663–7.
- Heinrich S, Birkholz T, Ihmsen H, et al. Incidence and predictors of difficult laryngoscopy in 11,219 pediatric anesthesia procedures. Pediatr Anesth. 2012;22:729–35.
- Nishisaki A, Turner DA, Brown CA, et al. A National Emergency Airway Registry for children: landscape of tracheal intubation in 15 PICUs. Crit Care Med. 2013;41:874–85.
- Nishisaki A, Ferry S, Colborn S, et al. Characterization of tracheal intubation process of care and safety outcomes in a tertiary pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2012;13:E5–E10.
- Long E, Sabato S, Babl FE. Endotracheal intubation in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24:1204–11.
- Easley RB, Segeleon JE, Haun SE, et al. Prospective study of airway management of children requiring endotracheal intubation before admission to a pediatric intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 2000;28:2058–63.
- Graciano AL, Tamburro R, Thompson AE, et al. Incidence and associated factors of difficult tracheal intubations in pediatric ICUs: a report from National Emergency Airway Registry for Children: NEAR4KIDS. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40:1659–69.
- Lopez-Gil M, Brimacombe J, Alvarez M. Safety and efficacy of the laryngeal mask airway. A prospective survey of 1400 children. Anaesthesia. 1996;51:969–72.
- 32. Sinha A, Sharma B, Sood J. ProSeal as an alternative to endotracheal intubation in pediatric laparoscopy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17:327–32.
- Brooks P, Ree R, Rosen D, Ansermino M. Canadian pediatric anesthesiologists prefer inhalational anesthesia to manage difficult airways. Can J Anaesth. 2005;52:285–90.
- Doherty JS, Froom SR, Gildersleve CD. Pediatric laryngoscopes and intubation aids old and new. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(Suppl 1):30–7.
- 35. Nagler J, Bachur RG. Advanced airway management. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21:299–305.
- Brambrink AM, Braun U. Airway management in infants and children. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2005;19:675–97.
- 37. Ong M, Chambers NA, Hullet B, Erb TO, von Ungern-Sternberg BS. Laryngeal mask airway and tracheal tube cuff pressures in children: are clinical endpoints valuable for guiding inflation? Anaesthesia. 2008;63:738–44.
- von Ungern-Sternberg BS, Boda K, Chambers NA, Rebmann C, Johnson C, Sly PD, et al. Risk assessment for respiratory complications in paediatric anaesthesia: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2010;376:773–83.
- 39. Meier S, Geiduschek J, Paganoni R, et al. The effect of chin lift, jaw thrust, and continuous positive airway pressure on the size of the glottic opening and on stridor score in anesthetized, spontaneously breathing children. Anesth Analg. 2002;94:494–9.
- 40. Arai YC, Fukunaga K, Hirota S, et al. The effects of chin lift and jaw thrust while in the lateral position on stridor score in anesthetized children with adenotonsillar hypertrophy. Anesth Analg. 2004;99:1638–41.

- 41. White MC, Cook TM, Stoddart PA. A critique of elective pediatric supraglottic airway devices. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(Suppl 1):55–65.
- 42. Mason DG, Bingham RM. The laryngeal mask airway in children. Anaesthesia. 1990;45:760-3.
- 43. Liao R, Li JY, Liu GY. Comparison of sevoflurane volatile induction/maintenance anaesthesia and propofol-remifentanil total intravenous anaesthesia for rigid bronchoscopy under spontaneous breathing for tracheal/bronchial foreign body removal in children. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27:930–4.
- 44. Krauss B, Green SM. Procedural sedation and analgesia in children. Lancet. 2006;367:766-80.
- 45. Patel P, Sun L. Update on neonatal anesthetic neurotoxicity: insight to molecular mechanisms and relevance to humans. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:703–8.
- 46. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illnesses. Geneva: WHO; 2012.
- 47. Giannantonio C, Sammartino M, Valente E, et al. Remifentanyl analgosedation in preterm newborns during mechanical ventilation. Acta Pediatr. 2009;98:1111–5.
- 48. Welzing L, Oberthuer A, Junghaenel S, et al. Remifantanyl/midazolam vs Fentanyl/midazolam for analgosedation of mechanically ventilated neonates and young infants: a randomized controlled trial. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:1017–24.
- 49. Goldmann K, Jakob C. Prevention of aspiration under general anesthesia by use of the size 2 1/2 ProSeal laryngeal mask airway in a 6-year-old boy: a case report. Pediatr Anesth. 2005;15:886–9.
- 50. Smith I, White PF. Use of the laryngeal mask airway as an alternative to a face mask during outpatient arthroscopy. Anesthesiology. 1992;77:850–5.
- 51. Micaglio M, Doglioni N, Parotto M, et al. Training for neonatal resuscitation with the laryngeal mask airway: a comparison of the LMA-ProSeal and the LMA-Classic in an airway management manikin. Pediatr Anesth. 2006;16:1028–31.
- 52. Jagannathan N, Roth AG, Sohn LE, et al. The new air-Q intubating laryngeal airway for tracheal intubation in children with anticipated difficult airway: a case series. Pediatr Anesth. 2009;19:618–22.
- 53. Fiadjoe JE, Stricker PA, Kovatsis P, et al. Initial experience with the air-Q as a conduit for fiberoptic tracheal intubation in infants. Pediatr Anesth. 2010;20:205–6.
- 54. Choi GJ, Kang H, Baek CW, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the i-gel vs laryngeal mask airway in children. Anaesthesia. 2014;69:1258–65.
- 55. Coté CJ, Hartnick CJ. Pediatric transtracheal and cricothyrotomy airway devices for emergency use: which are appropriate for infants and children? Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(Suppl 1):66–76.


13

Anaesthesia for Interventional Neuroradiology

Luciana Mascia, Simone Cappio Borlino, Mario Mezzapesa, and Anna Teresa Mazzeo

13.1 Interventional Neuroradiology and the Neuroteam

Interventional neuroradiology (INR) or endovascular neurosurgery is a specialty emerged as a hybrid of traditional neurosurgery and neuroradiology. It has its role in the management of neurovascular diseases and other neurosurgical conditions, by delivering therapeutic drugs and devices through endovascular or percutaneous access [1].

INR always needs some kind of anaesthesia or sedation and is considered as part of the non-operating room anaesthesia (NORA). NORA generally defines every anaesthetic regimen performed out of the classical operating theatre to serve nonsurgical procedures, which are rapidly developing and have both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes [2].

Although, interventional procedures cause much less tissue trespass than surgical operations, anaesthetists must deal with some specific challenges of this domain. Locations may not be adequately organized or equipped to host interventional procedures and manage potential emergencies [2]; interventional suite personnel are

L. Mascia (🖂)

S. C. Borlino · A. T. Mazzeo

Anestesiologia e Rianimazione, Dipartimento di Scienze Chirurgiche, Azienda Ospedaliera Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, Università di Torino, Torino, Italy

M. Mezzapesa

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Anestesiologia e Rianimazione, Dipartimento di Scienze e Biotecnologie Medico Chirurgiche, Università di Roma La Sapienza, Roma, Italy

Anestesiologia e Rianimazione, Dipartimento di Scienze e Biotecnologie Medico Chirurgiche, Università di Roma La Sapienza, Latina, Italy e-mail: luciana.mascia@unito.it; luciana.mascia@uniroma1.it

Anestesiologia e Rianimazione, Dipartimento di Scienze e Biotecnologie Medico Chirurgiche, Università di Roma La Sapienza, Roma, Italy

D. Chiumello (ed.), Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_13

often not used to cooperate with anaesthetists and therefore may not be aware of their needs; anaesthetists may not be fully trained to deal with NORA challenges, and they may not be familiar to many new interventional techniques [3].

These criticisms make patient management more difficult, while patients with acute brain injuries are particularly frail and need a multidisciplinary, well-integrated management and shared therapeutic plans. According to the well-developed neurosurgical literature, the patient outcome may be improved by the presence of a neuroteam able to focus on common priorities and to share specific competencies. The neuroteam is made by neuroradiologist, neurosurgeon, neuroanaesthetist, neurointensivist, neurologist and well-trained nursing personnel. The neuroanaesthetist differs from general anaesthetist for his qualified experience in treating patients with acute neurologic injury and knowledge of goals and methods of endovascular intervention. In such organization, the neuroanaesthesia department takes care of patients before, during and after the procedure, delivering both anaesthesiologic and intensive care services. Therefore, anaesthesia is essential for INR activity and whole patient management.

This chapter focuses on the anaesthesiologic peri-procedural management of patient undergoing INR procedures. After a rapid introduction to the field of application of INR, anaesthetic issues are described sorting them in two different sections:

- · General considerations applicable to all INR procedures
- Specific considerations inherent to the three most important and frequent INR procedures: aneurysm coiling, arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) and fistulae (AVFs) embolization and acute ischaemic stroke thrombectomy

13.2 Introduction to Interventional Neuroradiology

Neuroradiology procedures can be classified in two major groups, as shown in Table 13.1 [1].

Table 13.1	Main	neuroradiology	procedures
------------	------	----------------	------------

13.3 Generic Considerations About Anaesthesia for INR

13.3.1 Management of Patients During Transport

Patients with neurovascular diseases or injuries may have highly unstable conditions and rapidly deteriorating neurological status. Therefore, before transfer, some precautions should be taken:

- 1. Carefully organize logistic details, staff and equipment for the route.
- 2. Adequately alert the receiving ward or operating room.
- 3. Consider each patient's clinical condition, especially neurologic injury and haemodynamic and respiratory status.

Two personnel, with at least one certified in advanced cardiovascular life support, should be present during transport [4].

13.3.2 Radiation Exposure Risk and Protection

The major source of radiation is the X-ray tube, but leakage through the collimators and radiation scattered from surfaces surrounding the patient's head are two other minor sources [5]. The amount of exposure responds to the inverse square law: radiation intensity decreases proportionally with the inverse of the square of the distance from the source of radiation.

Therefore, correct radiation protection depends on the following:

- Stay as far as possible [4]; use connected multiparameter monitor from remote locations
- Wearing protections, particularly lead aprons (at least 0.5 mm thickness), thyroid shields, protective eyewear and radiation exposure badges [5, 6]
- Providing movable lead glass screens [4]

13.3.3 Equipment and Logistic Organization

The American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) produced a statement on the minimal necessary equipment and organization for NORA. In each location there should be:

- A reliable source of oxygen sufficient for as long as the entire procedure
- An adequate source of aspiration system
- A reliable removal system for anaesthetic gases (if used)
- · A bag valve mask, adequate anaesthesia drugs, supplies and equipment
- · Adequate monitoring systems and anaesthesia machine

- · An emergency cart with defibrillator and emergency drugs
- Sufficient space for equipment and personnel and to allow rapid access to the patient [7]

In the INR suite, imaging devices need to rotate around the patient's head without any restriction [4]. For this reason logistic organization of the INR suite differs from that of surgical settings: anaesthetist and anaesthetic equipment cannot be close to the patient's head, but they are placed at the opposite end of the table, thanks to extensions on tubes and breathing circuit [4, 8].

13.3.4 Patient Monitoring

As stated by the ASA, each procedure requires online monitoring of the following physiologic variables: oxygenation, ventilation, circulation and body temperature [9].

To ensure adequate oxygen delivery, oxygenation must be controlled by measuring the concentration of O_2 in the inspired gas mixture and by pulse oximetry [9]. Capnometry is important in every anaesthetic regimen, as a method of control of ventilation and circulation, but it is especially important in INR because variations in arterial pressure of CO_2 can be induced to modify cerebral blood flow (CBF) and intracranial pressure (ICP). The sampling port of a nasal cannula provides CO_2 measuring when patients are not intubated.

Standard monitoring with ECG, non-invasive blood pressure (NIBP) and pulse oximetry are essential for every INR procedure. Invasive blood pressure monitoring may be required by the type of procedure or by the patient condition (e.g. aneurysm coiling with risk of elevated ICP), but it is not mandatory [9]. For example, diagnostic angiography does not require invasive BP monitoring, while the Society for Neuroscience in Anesthesiology and Critical Care (SNACC) recommends invasive BP measurement unless it delays the procedure [10].

Invasive BP monitoring may facilitate the prevention or management of cerebrovascular complications of INR procedures, and it is advocated when an anaesthetist must deliberately modify BP during the procedure.

Temperature monitoring and warming devices are required: there is a lack of evidence on body temperature management in INR; normothermia is recommended in agreement with the well-developed observation that peri-procedural hypothermia and post-procedural shivering have deleterious effect both in surgical patients and patients with acute brain injury [11].

13.3.4.1 Intraoperative Neurologic Status Monitoring

Neurological monitoring deserves special considerations. Interventional procedures may be complicated by haemorrhagic or occlusive events that worsen patient's outcome. It is important to detect cerebrovascular complications early enough to allow corrective intervention. During conscious sedation it is possible to examine the neurological status while general anaesthesia or comatose status does not allow a direct assessment of neurological function [1].

Electrical activity is the first function lost after regional interruption of cerebral blood flow. Therefore, it has been proposed the use of electrophysiological monitoring (evoked potentials) or non-invasive cerebral oxygenation by near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). Indeed there is a time window between electric failure and ion pump failure with irreversible damage [12]. Some large retrospective studies highlighted that evoked potentials are able to detect neurological damage and improve the patient outcome [13–16]. ICONA (Italian Consensus in Neuroradiological Anesthesia) recommendations reach a B grade of consensus strength for evoked potentials, and their use should be integrated in the perioperative management of patient indicated to INR [17].

Due to the limited evidence available and the weak results obtained, NIRS reaches a C grade of consensus strength in ICONA recommendations, so its use in clinical practice is still controversial [17].

13.3.5 Complete Preoperative Evaluation

A complete preoperative evaluation includes:

- 1. History of actual illness and its systemic effects [8]
- 2. Neurological deficits and Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS).
- 3. Symptoms of raised ICP: if present, the neuroanaesthetist must maintain an adequate MAP to ensure sufficient CPP.
- 4. Previous neurosurgical procedures.
- 5. Renal function, history of radiographic contrast reactions (contrast nephropathy and allergy) and other risk factors. Contrast and flush fluid injections may be dangerous for renal function [6, 8].
- 6. Allergy and medication history [6].

A phenomenon yet well-described is the re-emergence of prior fixed neurologic deficits in patients who undergo anaesthesia [18, 19]. There is no explanation for this observation, but it can complicate neurological status evaluation during the procedure [5]. This requires to carefully perform neurological examination before the procedure, with assessment of GCS, pupil size and reactivity and any focal deficits [8].

All patients should have preoperative blood tests:

- Full blood count, haemoglobin and haemo group for the risk of bleeding [6].
- Urea and creatinine for renal function.
- Electrolyte abnormalities may contribute to patient's level of consciousness [6].
- Coagulation screen with basal ACT is fundamental because anticoagulation is required during and after INR procedures to avoid thromboembolic complications [5].
- Glycaemia should be assessed being a source of secondary brain injury [20].

13.3.6 Choice of Anaesthetic Technique

There is no evidence for a superior anaesthetic choice for all different INR procedures. Therefore recommendations of neuroanaesthesia for surgical procedures are often applied to INR [5], and anaesthetic regimen is chosen in relation to the disease, patient condition and procedure.

Among anaesthetic techniques for INR, general anaesthesia (GA) and conscious sedation (CS) are the main choices. Table 13.2 resumes their principal pros and cons.

13.3.6.1 Reduced Time Delay

Some INR procedures need immediate treatment; reducing time delay is particularly important for endovascular treatment of AIS. The phrase "time is brain" was first used by Saver to emphasize that cerebral tissue is rapidly and irreversibly damaged over time after stroke [21].

In this setting, GA may cause some delay, due to the time needed for induction of anaesthesia and endotracheal intubation. However several studies demonstrated that there is no difference in time delay from patient arrival at the hospital and revascularization among the two anaesthetic techniques [22–29]. This is explained by the fact that procedure duration is longer in CS regimen rather than in GA regimen because of patient movements [23], compensating time delay for endotracheal intubation of patients undergoing GA [27, 30].

13.3.6.2 Patient Immobility, Comfort and Analgesia and High-Quality Imaging

GA provides patient immobility and analgesia allowing patient comfort and safe device deployment into the vasculature with reduced risk of iatrogenic vascular

General anaesthesia	Conscious sedation		
Pros			
Patient immobility, comfort and analgesia	Reduced time delay		
High-quality imaging	Haemodynamic stability		
Airway protection	Intraoperative neurological monitoring		
Control of haemodynamic and respiratory	Rapid post-procedure recovery and short		
variables	monitoring period		
Cons			
No intraoperative neurological monitoring	Risk of emergency conversion		
Time delay	Patient's movements, discomfort and pain		
Haemodynamic instability	Poor-quality imaging		
Long post-procedure recovery and initiation	Prolonged procedure time		
of a critical care pathway	Risk of aspiration		
Respiratory complications due to intubation	Risk of vessel injury from endovascular device		

Table 13.2 Resumes principal pros and cons of general anaesthesia and conscious sedation.Modified from Anastasian 2014

injury. Besides, patient immobility increases imaging quality and decreases the need for repeating imaging acquisition, for contrast fluid administration and for time to achieve the procedure [4, 5].

Patients in conscious sedation have always a certain degree of discomfort from lying in the supine position for a long time, from burning pain due to contrast injection and from headache due to distention or traction on cerebral vessels. Discomfort increases patient's movements that in turn oblige to repeat imaging acquisition and so lengthens the procedure [5].

GA is obviously mandatory in patients confused who have involuntary movements or are uncooperative [8]

13.3.6.3 Haemodynamic Stability and Maintenance of Adequate CPP

GA allows easier deliberate modifications of BP during the procedure, but it may also produce haemodynamic instability: hypertension during induction (stimulation of oropharynx and larynx) and emergence (cough and strain) and hypotension during maintenance due to higher doses of anaesthetics and analgesics than CS [1].

CS instead may allow avoidance of all these haemodynamic consequences typical of GA, ensuring more stable pressure values during all the different procedure phases [4].

13.3.6.4 Airways and Respiration Management

GA ensures careful airway protection, and it reduces the need for acting on airways during the procedure. CS, instead, exposes to the risks of gastric aspiration in non-fasted patients, and, if any problem occurs, emergent intubation may be more risky [4, 6].

GA allows tightly monitoring of ventilatory variables reducing the risk of hypoxemia and hypercapnia [4] and allowing deliberate adjustments [5, 31].

13.3.6.5 Anaesthetic Drugs

The anaesthetic regimens for GA in neuroradiology are total intravenous anaesthesia (TIVA) with propofol and opioids or balanced anaesthesia with the use of volatile anaesthetic such as sevoflurane together with opioids. Remifertanil is the opioid of choice for its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic features and its half-life context independence [32].

Propofol causes systemic hypotension and reduces cerebral blood flow (CBF), intracranial pressure (ICP) and metabolic demand. Hence, TIVA is preferred when patients have elevated ICP or have elevated risk of intracranial hypertension. Sevoflurane, instead, ensures systemic hemodynamic stability and is associated with a more rapid and smoother emergence from anaesthesia than propofol [33], but volatile anaesthetics induce cerebral vasodilatation, increase CBF and do not allow neurophysiological monitoring during procedure [34, 35]. In these cases, TIVA may be the regimen of choice for maintenance of anaesthesia.

Both TIVA and inhaled anaesthesia are useful for rapid titration of arterial pressure if deliberate brief time of hypotension is needed. The use of sevoflurane strengthens neuromuscular block and spare in neuromuscular blocker dose. This is associated with a lower incidence of post-operative residual curarization and complications.

13.3.7 Management of Blood Pressure

Haemodynamic stability is crucial in all procedures of INR. It is important to assess the baseline BP and ascertain the likely autoregulatory range [4]. Some phases of these procedures may require manipulation of the arterial pressure, with deliberate hypertension or hypotension [4].

Deliberate hypertension may be necessary during intraprocedural arterial occlusion, due to intentional balloon inflation or thrombotic clot formation. Increasing mean arterial pressure (MAP) up to 30–40% above the baseline is necessary to maintain CBF through collateral circles or through a partially occluded artery. Deliberate hypertension may be achieved with multiple vasoactive agents such as phenylephrine or ephedrine under ECG monitoring and considering the risk of haemorrhage [4, 5].

In other situations, it may be necessary to induce deliberate hypotension to define cerebrovascular reserve before carotid occlusion procedure, to decrease blood flow into AVM before intraarterial liquid embolization or to temporarily decrease BP in the immediate management of cerebral haemorrhage [5].

13.3.8 Management of Anticoagulation, Platelet Inhibition and Reversal

Many INR procedures require the use of anticoagulant and/or antiplatelet drugs. Anticoagulation is necessary to prevent thrombotic complications during INR procedures. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) is most commonly used. The initial dosage is 50–70 UI/kg to achieve an activated clotting time (ACT) of two- to threefold preheparin, and then UFH can be given continuously or as intermittent boluses [5]. When procedures end or in case of intraprocedural haemorrhage, it is necessary to reverse heparin effects. The first-line therapy for the reversal of anticoagulation with UFH is protamine: 1 mg for each 100 UI heparin given. It is important to remember that protamine administration is not uneventfully. This drug must be administered slowly, because it increases pulmonary vascular resistance and decreases systemic vascular resistance, with the risk of pulmonary hypertension and systemic hypotension, respectively [1, 5]. A fast infusion of protamine may cause cardiogenic shock. Besides, administering more protamine than the necessary has a pro-haemorrhagic effect.

Antiplatelet drugs, including aspirin, P2Y12 inhibitors and glycoprotein IIb/IIIa antagonists, are often needed in IR procedures, particularly those involving stent placement. Clopidogrel is a P2Y12 antagonist commonly used for stent placement or stent-assisted aneurysm coiling. Because of pharmacogenomic differences in

response to clopidogrel, prasugrel may function as an alternative P2Y12 antagonist in these patients [4].

13.3.9 Rapid, Smooth Recovery

After INR, the aim is to rapidly wake up the patient to perform early neurological evaluation. Besides, it is necessary to achieve a smooth recovery to avoid ICP surges or haemorrhage due to cough and strain.

Maintenance of anaesthesia with sevoflurane is associated with a more rapid recovery from anaesthesia in INR [33]. Waking up patients with minimal dose of remifentanil infusion or extubating patient with a deep plain of anaesthesia and the presence of spontaneous breathing are possible emergence strategies. However, the choice of technique is less important than maintenance of patient stability [6].

ICONA recommendations highlight that, after an INR procedure without any complication or major comorbidities, there is no need to routinely admit all patients to an intensive care unit, but continuous observation for 1–4 h must be ensured [17]. Patients who have had neurological complications, instead, need to be transferred to neuro-intensive care settings for continued sedation and ventilation.

13.3.10 Management of Procedure-Specific Complications

Endovascular procedures may have some severe peri-procedural complications (Table 13.3).

Cerebrovascular complications may be catastrophic, and efficacious management with good outcomes depends upon well-planned strategies and a rapid and clear communication between anaesthetist and operators, to define the haemorrhagic or occlusive nature of the problem [4, 5].

In all cases, the anaesthesiologist must preserve pulmonary gas exchange by ensuring a secure airway and by ventilating 100% oxygen [4, 5].

Cerebrovascular complications	Peripheric or systemic complications
Haemorrhagic	Contrast induced
• Aneurysms, AVM and AVF bleeding or re-bleeding	Anaphylaxis
Vessel injury/rupture	 Contrast nephropathy
Occlusive	Haemorrhage
Thromboembolism	Puncture site
Arterial dissection	Groin haematoma
• Vasospasm	 Retroperitoneal haematoma
 Intravascular device or material migration/ 	
displacement	

Table 13.3 Summarizes peri-procedural complications of endovascular procedures. Modifiedfrom Perritt and Mahalingam 2014

13.3.10.1 Vascular Occlusion

In the setting of vascular obstruction or intraoperative vasospasm, the goal is to increase distal perfusion by MAP augmentation to 30–40% above baseline to increase oxygen delivering by collateral blood flow. Simultaneously, intraarterial direct thrombolysis may be performed considering patient comorbidity: it should be titrated to a neurological or angiographic endpoint [4, 5, 8]. The operator may also try to achieve the recanalization through emergent angioplasty, stenting, mechanical lysis or other endovascular treatments (e.g. intraarterial vasodilator injection for vasospasm) [4].

Prevention of vascular occlusion implies the use of anticoagulant drugs during the procedure (as UFH in flush fluid) to reduce incidence of intraoperative thromboembolism and preoperative calcium channel blockers for catheter-induced vasospasm [5].

13.3.10.2 Intracerebral Haemorrhage

Intracerebral haemorrhages may be either spontaneous from aneurysm or AVM/ AVF rupture or caused by endovascular devices or by inadequate anaesthetic management (BP surges) [6, 36].

Headache, nausea, vomiting and vascular pain are typical signs of intracranial haemorrhages in conscious patients. When GA is performed or in comatose patients, the Cushing response (sudden bradycardia and hypertension) or the evidence of contrast extravasation on fluoroscopy may be the only signs of a haemorrhage [5].

In haemorrhagic emergency, anaesthetist must rapidly reverse anticoagulation and consider to induce transient hypotension [1]. Heparin must be antagonized with protamine on the basis of original UFH doses and serial ACT measurements [5, 8]. Antiplatelet drugs do not have specific antidotes: intravenous desmopressin may be used to decrease the effect of antiplatelet drugs, but platelet transfusion is the standard therapy for reversal of effects [37, 38]. The use of specific clotting factors may be considered in cases of life-threatening bleeding uncontrolled with platelet transfusion therapy [39].

Secondary, BP may be controlled by deepening anaesthesia or using antihypertensive drugs, such as IV labetalol [8].

The INR team should find the bleeding site and try to stop the haemorrhage by endovascular treatment, to complete the procedure. Rarely, a patient needs to be transported in the operating room for a rescue craniotomy and vascular clipping [5, 8, 36].

Haemorrhages may produce sudden ICP elevations with the risk of herniation syndromes. The initial management includes hyperventilation (that rapidly reduces cerebral blood volume), head elevation to 15–30°, steroids, intravenous mannitol boluses and burst suppression [4, 36]. When hydrocephalus has developed and neurological condition is deteriorating, a ventricular or lumbar catheter may be placed in the INR suite to monitor and drain CSF, as recommended by the ICONA [8, 17].

13.4 Anaesthetic Implications for Each Specific INR Procedure

13.4.1 Aneurysms

Endovascular coiling is now considered the treatment of choice for many ruptured or unruptured aneurysm of anterior and posterior cerebral circulation compared with neurosurgical clipping, because coiling is associated to a 5-year reduced mortality compared to surgical clipping [40].

GA is preferred over CS during endovascular coiling, because of perceived improved imaging quality and patient safety. However, CS may be performed safely in patient with ruptured cerebral aneurysms and low-grade SAH (WFNS grades 1–2; see Table 13.4), in order to reduce GA complications and allow frequent neurological evaluation [5].

The main goal for the anaesthesiologist is to maintain haemodynamic stability and adequate cerebral perfusion and oxygenation. It is important to maintain systolic arterial pressure (SAP) <160 mmHg during all phases of anaesthesia and to avoid BP surges that might cause aneurysmal rupture. For this objective, Propofol is usually used for the induction of anaesthesia in combination with remifentanil, alfentanil or fentanyl. For the maintenance of anaesthesia, sevoflurane may be the volatile anaesthetic of choice: up to 1 minimal alveolar concentration (MAC), the cerebral circulation responsiveness to CO₂ is preserved, and CBF/cerebral metabolic rate for O2 (CMRO2) coupling is maintained [4]. Propofol is associated with reduced CBF, ICP and CMRO2. Among short acting opioids, remifentanil provides stable haemodynamic and allows more rapid recovery from anaesthesia [8].

In SAH patients some important complications may occur, cardiopulmonary damage and vasospasm being the most threatening.

Neurogenic stress cardiomyopathy (NSC) may complicate several types of severe acute brain injury, and it is mainly a consequence of the catecholamine storm released in the acute phase. NSC presents with ECG or left ventricular wall motion abnormalities, myocardial necrosis enzyme and brain natriuretic peptide elevation [5, 41]. Respiratory complications occur in up to 20–80% of patients with SAH and include pulmonary oedema (cardiogenic or neurogenic or mixed), acute lung injury, acute respiratory distress syndrome and pneumonia. Both NSC and respiratory complications increase mortality and morbidity [42, 43].

Table 13.4WFNS gradingscore

Grade	GCS	Motor deficit
1	15	Absent
2	13–14	Absent
3	13–14	Present
4	7–12	Present or absent
5	3–6	Present or absent

Vasospasm is a potential complication of SAH. It may occur 7–10 days after aneurysm rupture and resolves spontaneously after 21 days. Vasospasm is one possible cause of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI). The arterial narrowing is probably caused by the contact of oxyhaemoglobin with the abluminal side of vessels. To prevent vasospasm, euvolemia should be maintained, and oral nimodipine (60 mg every 4 h) should be administered to all patients with SAH for a period of 21 days [44–46]. When vasospasm develops, maintenance of euvolemia and induction of hypertension is indicated to treat ischemia, unless BP is high at baseline or cardiac conditions preclude it [46]. Patients with symptomatic vasospasm and not rapid response to deliberate hypertension may be treated with cerebral angioplasty and/or selective intraarterial vasodilators [46].

13.4.2 AVMs and AVFs

AVMs are classified as cerebral or dural. Cerebral AVMs are congenital and consist of a nidus of abnormal vessels containing arterial inflow and venous outflow, often in absence of capillary component. Dural AVMs are acquired, often due to venous dural sinus stenosis or occlusion, with opening or recanalization of a potential fistulous tract due to venous hypertension. Endovascular embolization alone is rarely sufficient, and subsequent surgery and radiotherapy are generally requested to complete the treatment.

GA is the preferred technique for the treatment of AVM and AVF, due to enhanced vessel visualization, lack of patient movement, and possible need for deliberate hypotension or cardiac arrest to counteract venous hypertension in dural fistulae [4]. In some phases it may be necessary to induce deliberate hypertension or hypotension. Hypertension is necessary in case of vascular occlusion, to achieve the maintenance of cerebral perfusion through collateral vessels. Deliberate hypotension may be helpful, because it reduces flow into AVMs and allows glue adherence to the tissues, avoiding unwilling migration [4]. Anaesthesia plane can be tailored to manipulate arterial pressure and induce hypotension. Both propofol bolus and temporarily increase of sevoflurane's inspiratory concentration are useful in reducing BP for a brief time. Short-acting vasoactive agents may be used in addition to achieve hypotension. Transient asystole produced by adenosine administration or rapid ventricular pacing is an option in selected patients [47].

After AVM exclusion, cerebral hyper-perfusion and consequent oedema and haemorrhage may result from abrupt restoration of cerebral blood flow to chronically hypo-perfused vascular beds that have lost their autoregulatory capacity [48, 49]. So, maintenance of systolic BP 20–30% below the basal values during the recovery phase may be protective in these cases.

Because of the embolization, there is always a risk of morbidity and mortality. The most common complication associated with occipital AVM endovascular treatment is the visual field loss [50].

13.4.3 Stroke

Intravenous thrombolysis with rtPA within 4.5 h of symptom onset is now widely accepted as the mainstay of early treatment for AIS [51, 52]. Intraarterial methods of recanalization have been introduced to increase the number of patients treated and the efficacy of the early treatment [53]. Indications to endovascular treatment are increasing, and this claims for some considerations on the best anaesthesiologic management.

Medical literature reported association between GA and higher mortality and poorer neurological outcome compared to CS, but this observation is sustained by poor-quality evidences [22, 25, 27, 54, 55]. More recently, other retrospective studies and the first two RCTs published do not demonstrate any superiority of CS compared to GA [23, 24, 56–59].

There is yet no agreement among authors about the influence of anaesthetic regimen on the efficacy in achieving recanalization. Although Brinjikji and colleagues state that GA is associated with reduced probability of revascularisation compared with CS [22], some other authors did not observe this difference [24, 56], and others have shown a greater success with GA [60].

In several studies, GA was associated with a higher rate of respiratory complications due to the invasiveness of endotracheal ventilation [22–24, 54], but not all authors agree on this statement [61]. On the other side, one of the major disadvantages of CS is patient movements and risk for iatrogenic vascular complications caused by intraarterial devices. However, most of the studies available do not highlight a higher incidence of these complications in CS group with regard to GA group [22, 24–26, 54, 61].

So far, there is no consensus on the best anaesthesiologic regimen for endovascular treatment of AIS. AHA/ASA guidelines suggest preferring CS over GA [62], but they have been produced before the publication of SIESTA, AnStroke and GOLIATH trials [23, 24, 60]. Therefore the choice of anaesthetic regimen must be individualized on patient clinical characteristics, in communication with the neurointerventionalists [10].

In 2014 the SNACC developed a series of recommendations for the anaesthesiologic management of patients who undergo endovascular treatment for AIS [10].

13.4.3.1 Haemodynamic Management

The SNACC recommends to maintain SAP between 140 and 180 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure (DAP) below 105 mmHg [10]. These targets derive from the observation that 150 mmHg is the pressure value associated with the best outcome for a patient with acute ischaemic stroke [63].

Three clinical trials demonstrated that it is beneficial to reduce arterial BP after 24 h from stroke onset, when the effect of high BP on the ischaemic penumbrae lessens [64–66].

13.4.3.2 Respiratory Gas Exchange

Recommendations by the SNACC suggest to maintain $\text{SpO}_2 > 92\%$, $\text{PaO}_2 > 60 \text{ mmHg}$ and PaCO_2 between 35 and 45 mmHg [10].

Hypoxemia is a common event after AIS for altered control of breathing, weakness of respiratory muscles, neurogenic or cardiogenic pulmonary oedema and pulmonary embolism [52]. An adequate oxygen delivery must be ensured but hyperoxemia should be avoided, because it induces cerebral vasoconstriction, excitotoxic injury and radical oxygen species (ROS) formation [52].

13.4.3.3 Body Temperature

The SNACC suggests to maintain body temperature between 35 and 37 °C and to treat febrile patients with antipyretics and cooling devices [10]. Fever has been demonstrated to increase death or dependency risk in patients with AIS [67].

Medical evidence currently do not recommend deliberate hypothermia for a patient with AIS, because it is not associated with better outcomes [68, 69].

13.4.3.4 Glycaemia

The SNACC suggests maintaining glycaemia between 70 and 140 mg/dL [10].

13.5 Conclusion

For an efficient and high-quality management, patients with acute neurologic injury should be admitted in high-volume centres with a dedicated neuroteam. In such centres the anaesthesia department is increasingly involved in the treatment of patients requiring an INR procedure [70].

In the perioperative care of these patients, the main goals to improve outcome are haemodynamic stability, maintenance of adequate CPP, avoidance of secondary insults, patient immobility, rapid management of complications and smooth rapid recovery.

Acknowledgement The authors thank Prof Italia Larosa for her helpful criticisms.

References

- Varma MK, Price K, Jayakrishnan V, Manickam B, Kessell G. Anaesthetic considerations for interventional neuroradiology. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99(1):75–85. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/ aem122.
- Boggs SD, Barnett SR, Urman RD. The future of nonoperating room anesthesia in the 21st century. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2017;30:644–51. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ACO.000000000000528.
- 3. Dabu-Bondoc S. Non operating room anesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2017;30(6):639–43. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACO.00000000000524.
- Guercio JR, Nimjee SM, James ML, McDonagh DL. Anesthesia for interventional neuroradiology. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2015;53(1):87–106. https://doi.org/10.1053/sa.2000.17788.

- Lee CZ, Young WL. Anesthesia for endovascular neurosurgery and interventional neuroradiology. Anesthesiol Clin. 2012;30:127–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anclin.2012.05.009.
- 6. Perritt E, Mahalingam G. The principles of anaesthesia for neuroradiology: anaesthesia tutorial of the week 308. Anaesthesia tutorial of the week. London: WFSA; 2014. p. 1–11.
- 7. American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee on Standards and Practice Parameters. Statement On Nonoperating Room Anesthetizing Locations. 2013:1–2.
- Patel S, Reddy U. Anaesthesia for interventional neuroradiology. Br J Anaesth Educ. 2016;16(12):147–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaed/mkv032.
- 9. American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee on Standards and Practice Parameters. Standards for basic anesthetic monitoring. 2015:1–4.
- Talke PO, Sharma D, Heyer EJ, Bergese SD, Blackham KA, Stevens RD. Republished: Society for neuroscience in anesthesiology and critical care expert consensus statement: anesthetic management of endovascular treatment for acute ischemic stroke*. Stroke. 2014;45(8):138– 51. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003412.
- Montanini S, Martinelli G, Torri G, et al. Recommendations on perioperative normothermia. Working Group on Perioperative Hypothermia, Italian Society for Anesthesia, Analgesia, Resuscitation, and Intensive Care. Minerva Anestesiol. 2001;67:157–8.
- Branston NM, Symon L, Crockard HA, Pasztor E. Relationship between the cortical evoked potential and local cortical blood flow following acute middle cerebral artery occlusion in the baboon. Exp Neurol. 1974;45(2):195–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(74)90112-5.
- Phillips JLH, Chalouhi N, Jabbour P, et al. Somatosensory evoked potential changes in neuroendovascular procedures: incidence and association with clinical outcome in 873 patients. Neurosurgery. 2014;75(5):560–7. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.00000000000510.
- Sahaya K, Pandey AS, Thompson BG, Bush BR, Minecan DN. Intraoperative monitoring for intracranial aneurysms: the Michigan experience. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;31(6):563–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNP.00000000000093.
- Horton TG, Barnes M, Johnson S, Kalapos PC, Link A, Cockroft KM. Feasibility and efficacy of transcranial motor-evoked potential monitoring in neuroendovascular surgery. Am J Neuroradiol. 2012;33(9):1825–31. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A3017.
- Liu AY, Lopez JR, Do HM, Steinberg GK, Cockroft K, Marks MP. Neurophysiological monitoring in the endovascular therapy of aneurysms. Am J Neuroradiol. 2003;24(8):1520–7.
- Castioni CA, Amadori A, Bilotta F, et al. Italian COnsensus in Neuroradiological Anesthesia (ICONA). Minerva Anestesiol. 2017;83(9):956–71. https://doi.org/10.23736/ S0375-9393.17.11753-0.
- Thal GD, Szabo MD, Lopez-Bresnahan M, Crosby G. Exacerbation or unmasking of focal neurologic deficits by sedatives. Anesthesiology. 1996;85:21–5.
- Lazar RM, Fitzsimmons BF, Marshall RS, Mohr JP, Berman MF. Midazolam challenge reinduces neurological deficits after transient ischemic attack. Stroke. 2003;34:794–6. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.STR.0000056540.04159.F3.
- Kramer AH, Roberts DJ, Zygun DA. Optimal glycemic control in neurocritical care patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2012;16(5):R203. https://doi.org/10.1186/ cc11812.
- Saver JL. Time is brain quantified. Stroke. 2006;37(1):263–6. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.0000196957.55928.ab.
- Brinjikji W, Murad MH, Rabinstein AA, Cloft HJ, Lanzino G, Kallmes DF. Conscious sedation versus general anesthesia during endovascular acute ischemic stroke treatment : a systematic review and meta-analysis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2015;36:525–9. https://doi.org/10.3174/ ajnr.A4159.
- Schönenberger S, Uhlmann L, Hacke W, et al. Effect of conscious sedation vs general anesthesia on early neurological improvement among patients with ischemic stroke undergoing endovascular thrombectomy. JAMA. 2016;316(19):1986. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.16623.
- Hendén PL, Rentzos A, Karlsson JE, et al. General anesthesia versus conscious sedation for endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke: the AnStroke trial (anesthesia during stroke). Stroke. 2017;48(6):1601–7. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016554.

- Abou-Chebl A, Lin R, Shazam Hussain M, et al. Conscious sedation versus general anesthesia during endovascular therapy for acute anterior circulation stroke: preliminary results from a retrospective, multicenter study. Stroke. 2010;41(6):1175–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.574129.
- Abou-Chebl A, Zaidat OO, Castonguay AC, et al. North American SOLITAIRE stent-retriever acute stroke registry: choice of anesthesia and outcomes. Stroke. 2014;45(5):1396–401. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003698.
- 27. Jumaa MA, Zhang F, Ruiz-ares G, et al. Comparison of safety and clinical and radiographic outcomes in endovascular acute stroke therapy for proximal middle cerebral artery occlusion with intubation and general anesthesia versus the nonintubated state. Stroke. 2010;41:1180–5. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.574194.
- Davis MJ, Menon BK, Baghirzada LB, et al. Anesthetic management and outcome in patients during endovascular therapy for acute stroke. Anesthesiology. 2012;116(2):396–405. https:// doi.org/10.1097/SA.0b013e31827f3137.
- Nichols C, Carrozzella J, Yeatts S, Tomsick T, Broderick J, Khatri P. Is peri-procedural sedation during acute stroke therapy associated with poorer functional outcomes? J Neurointerv Surg. 2010;2(1):67–70. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnis.2009.001768.Is.
- Brekenfeld C, Mattle HP, Schroth G. General is better than local anesthesia during endovascular procedures. Stroke. 2010;41(11):2716–7. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.594622.
- Mundiyanapurath S, Schönenberger S, Rosales ML, et al. Circulatory and respiratory parameters during acute endovascular stroke therapy in conscious sedation or general anesthesia. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2015;24(6):1244–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.01.025.
- Kapila A, Glass PSA, Jacobs JR, et al. Measured context-sensitive half-times of remifentanil and alfentanil. Anesthesiology. 1995;83:968–75.
- Castagnini HE, van Eijs F, Salevsky FC, Nathanson MH. Sevoflurane for interventional neuroradiology procedures is associated with more rapid early recovery than propofol. Can J Anesth. 2004;51(5):486–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03018313.
- Boisseau N, Madany M, Staccini P, et al. Comparison of the effects of sevoflurane and propofol on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88(6):785–9. https://doi. org/10.1093/bja/88.6.785.
- Malcharek MJ, Loeffler S, Schiefer D, et al. Transcranial motor evoked potentials during anesthesia with desflurane versus propofol - a prospective randomized trial. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126(9):1825–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.11.025.
- Dorairaj I, Hancock S. Anaesthesia for interventional neuroradiology. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2008;8:86–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpaic.2016.09.003.
- 37. Schulman S, Bijsterveld NR. Anticoagulants and their reversal. Transfus Med Rev. 2007;21(1):37–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2006.08.002.
- Gordon JL, Fabian TC, Lee MD, Dugdale M. Anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications encountered in emergency surgery patients: a review of reversal strategies. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2013;75(3):475–86. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e3182a07391.
- Goldstein JN, Merrero M, Masrur S, et al. Management of thrombolysis-associated symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage. Arch Neurol. 2010;67(8):965–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2007.01.076.White.
- 40. Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Birks J, et al. Risk of recurrent subarachnoid haemorrhage, death, or dependence and standardised mortality ratios after clipping or coiling of an intracranial aneurysm in the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT): long-term follow-up. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8(5):427–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09) 70080-8.
- 41. Nguyen H, Zaroff JG. Neurogenic stunned myocardium. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2009;9(6):486–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-009-0071-0.
- 42. Zaroff JG, Leong J, Kim H, et al. Cardiovascular predictors of long-term outcomes after non-traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care. 2012;17(3):374–81. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12028-011-9592-x.

- Stevens RD, Nyquist PA. The systemic implications of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci. 2007;261(1-2):143–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2007.04.047.
- 44. Allen GS, Preziosi TJ, Battye R, et al. Cerebral arterial spasm a controlled trial of nimodipine in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med. 1983;308:619–24.
- Pickard JD, Murray GD, Illingworth R, et al. Effect of oral nimodipine on cerebral infarction and outcome after subarachnoid haemorrhage: British aneurysm nimodipine trial. Br Med J. 1989;298:636–42. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.298.6674.636.
- 46. Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Hemphill JC, et al. Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the neurocritical care society's multidisciplinary consensus conference. Neurocrit Care. 2011;15:211–40. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12028-011-9605-9.
- Hashimoto T, Young WL, Aagaard BD, Joshi S, Ostapkovich ND, Pile-Spellman J. Adenosineinduced ventricular asystole to induce transient profound systemic hypotension in patients undergoing endovascular therapy. Dose-response characteristics. Anesthesiology. 2000;93:998–1001. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-200010000-00021.
- Spetzler RF, Wilson CB, Weinstein P, Mehdorn M, Townsend J, Telles D. Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough theory. Clin Neurosurg. 1978;25(1):651–72.
- 49. Rangel-Castilla L, Rajah GB, Shakir HJ, et al. Acute stroke endovascular treatment: tips and tricks. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2016;57(6):758.
- Kupersmith MJ, Vargas ME, Yashar A, et al. Occipital arteriovenous malformations: visual disturbances and presentation. Neurology. 1996;46(4):953–7. https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.46.4.953.
- Jauch EC, Saver JL, Adams HP, et al. Guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke - a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/America Stroke Assosiation. Stroke. 2013;44:870–947. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STR.0b013e318284056a.
- Welch TL, Pasternak JJ. The anesthetic management of interventional procedures for acute ischemic stroke. Curr Anesthesiol Rep. 2016;6(3):223–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40140-016-0166-5.
- Froehler MT, Fifi JT, Majid A, Bhatt A, Ouyang M, McDonagh DL. Anesthesia for endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke. Neurology. 2012;79(13, Suppl 1):S167. https://doi. org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826959c2.
- McDonald JS, Brinjikji W, Rabinstein AA, Cloft HJ, Lanzino G, Kallmes DF. Conscious sedation versus general anaesthesia during mechanical thrombectomy for stroke: a propensity score analysis. J Neurointerv Surg. 2015;7:789–94. https://doi.org/10.1136/ neurintsurg-2014-011373.
- 55. Ouyang F, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Dang G, Liang J, Zeng J. Selection of patients and anesthetic types for endovascular treatment in acute ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151210.
- Van Den Berg LA, Koelman DLH, Berkhemer OA, et al. Type of anesthesia and differences in clinical outcome after intra-arterial treatment for ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2015;46(5):1257– 62. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.008699.
- Wang A, Stellfox M, Moy F, et al. General anesthesia during endovascular stroke therapy does not negatively impact outcome. World Neurosurg. 2017;99:638–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wneu.2016.12.064.
- Wang H, Naghavi M, Allen C, et al. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1459–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1.
- Rai A, Boo S, Dominico J, Roberts T, Carpenter J. E-026 Time and pressure possible reasons behind worse outcomes for GETA patients undergoing stroke interventions. J Neurointerv Surg. 2014;6:A49.
- 60. Simonsen CZ, Yoo AJ, Sørensen LH, et al. Effect of general anesthesia and conscious sedation during endovascular therapy on infarct growth and clinical outcomes in acute ischemic stroke. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75:470. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.4474.

- Bekelis K, Missios S, Mackenzie TA, Tjoumakaris S, Jabbour P. Anesthesia technique and outcomes of mechanical thrombectomy in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2017;48(2):361–6. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.015343.
- 62. Powers WJ, Derdeyn CP, Biller J, et al. 2015 American Heart Association/American stroke association focused update of the 2013 guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke regarding endovascular treatment: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American. Stroke. 2015;46(10):3020–35. https://doi.org/10.1161/STR.000000000000074.
- 63. Leonardi-Bee J, Bath PMW, Phillips SJ, Sandercock PAG. Blood pressure and clinical outcomes in the International Stroke Trial. Stroke. 2002;33(5):1315–20. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000014509.11540.66.
- 64. Robinson TG, Potter JF, Ford GA, et al. Effects of antihypertensive treatment after acute stroke in the Continue Or Stop post-Stroke Antihypertensives Collaborative Study (COSSACS): a prospective, randomised, open, blinded-endpoint trial. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(8):767–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70163-0.
- 65. Sandset EC, Bath PMW, Boysen G, et al. The angiotensin-receptor blocker candesartan for treatment of acute stroke (SCAST): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9767):741–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60104-9.
- 66. He J, Zhang Y, Xu T, et al. Effects of immediate blood pressure reduction on death and major disability in patients with acute ischemic stroke. The catis randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;311(5):479–89. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.282543.
- Phipps MS, Desai RA, Wira C, Bravata DM. Epidemiology and outcomes of fever burden among patients with acute ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2011;42(12):3357–62. https://doi. org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.621425.
- Wan YH, Nie C, Wang HL, Huang CY. Therapeutic hypothermia (different depths, durations, and rewarming speeds) for acute ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2014;23(10):2736–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2014.06.017.
- 69. Ntaios G, Dziedzic T, Michel P, et al. European Stroke Organisation (ESO) guidelines for the management of temperature in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Int J Stroke. 2015;10(6):941–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijs.12579.
- RCoA. Guidelines for the Provision of Anaesthesia Services (GPAS) Guidance on the Provision of Services for Neuroanaesthesia and Neurocritical Care 2016. London: RCoA; 2016. p. 1–9.



14

Antifungal Treatments in Critically III Patients

Marco Dei Poli, Giacomo Trevisan, Luca Di Girolamo, and Gianluca Spinelli

14.1 Introduction

More than 100,000 fungal species exist in nature; 300 of them are human pathogens. Among those, *Candida, Aspergillus, Cryptococcus*, and *Pneumocystis* spp. account for more than 90% of deaths related to fungal infections [1].

Each year, invasive fungal infections (IFI) are associated with roughly 1.5 million of death worldwide [2], this estimate being even underrated due to the low sensibility of cultures. This makes fungal identification remarkably complex [3].

The term "IFI" implies the isolation of a fungal species, either a mold or a yeast, from a sterilely obtained biological sample or a biopsy. The recovery of yeasts by the culture of samples derived from normally contaminated anatomical sites, indwelling surgical drains placed over 24 h or non-sterile procedures, does not yield diagnostic value [4].

A prompt and adequate pharmacological treatment is paramount if IFI-related mortality has to be reduced. It is proved, in fact, that patients receiving early therapies for *Candida* spp. infections show low mortality in relation to those whose treatments follow cultural identifications (cultures take 24–48 h according to different studies) [5, 6].

The statement is particularly true as the identification of mold and yeast from biological samples is burdened by high percentages of false negative (as high as 50%, depending on the fungal species) [3]. Consequentially, therapies are often enforced due to high clinical suspicion rather than the isolation of a fungal pathogen [1].

M. D. Poli (🖂)

G. Trevisan · L. Di Girolamo · G. Spinelli

Department of Medical Physiopathology and Transplants, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Anesthesia and Intensive Care Department, IRCCS Policlinico San Donato, Milan, Italy e-mail: marco.deipoli@grupposandonato.it

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_14

As IFI mainly affects patients suffering from transient or permanent immunodeficiency, it's not a coincidence that intensive care units and onco-hematology wards claim the highest incidence [2].

Further, since both etiologies and therapies (either empirical or targeted) differ between immunocompetent and neutropenic patients [4, 7], as soon as an IFI is suspected, doctors have to resolve on the patients' immunological status.

While *Candida* spp. are the prominent pathogens in non-neutropenic patients, invasive aspergillosis is a quite frequent disease in the immunocompromised group.

A number of risk factors account for the outbreak of invasive candidiasis in the ICUs:

- *Candida* spp. colonization. It is considered a prerequisite for the onset of the invasive form. It is awfully prevalent in the critical ills and preceded invasive candidiasis in the great majority of cases [8].
- Broad-spectrum antibiotics. The use of these drugs causes the modification of the gut microbiome, thus facilitating an exaggerated grow of fungal species that are normally present into the intestinal lumen. The broader the spectrum and the longer the duration of the therapy, the higher the risk [8].
- Major abdominal surgery and severe abdominal illness (necrotizing pancreatitis and intestinal perforations). These conditions imply the breach of the gastrointestinal tract. This intuitively eases the translocation of *Candida* spp. through the gut mucosa and their systemic dissemination [8].
- Total parenteral nutrition. It is considered one of the major risk factors [9]: the absolute enteral feeding deprivation (i.e., the absence of at least minimal enteral feeding) damages the gut mucosa thereby increasing the risk of fungal translocation [10].
- Intravascular indwelling devices. These are identified to be an important risk factor in a number of studies [10–12]. The pathogenic mechanism implies the overgrowth of fungi on the patient's skin and their transfer to the vascular stream through the catheter site of insertion.

Many scores have been proposed to support the diagnosis of invasive candidiasis by considering the aforementioned factors. In this paper, authors decided on strengthening the Candida score by León et al., as it represents the commonest among the few prospectively validated scores, and the "Nebraska Medical Center Score" because of its feasibility and good statistical performance.

Candida score (CS) has been developed by León et al. in 2006 [13] based on a retrospective analysis of risk factors performed on 1700 patients. It was subsequently validated through a multicenter prospective study published by the same study group in 2009 [14].

Table 14.1 shows the considered risk factors. CS involves a cut off ≥ 3 .

Hermsen et al. performed a comparison of different predictive clinical scores for the identification of invasive candidiasis in 2011 [15]. A case-control retrospective study was designed by the study group, and the new "Nebraska Medical Center" (NMC) score was created through a multivariate analysis. Table 14.2

	Surgery	1	
	Suigerj	1	
Multifocal colonization		1	
	Severe sepsis	2	
Risk fa	ctor	Coefficient	
Broad-	1.537		
Central venous catheter		0.873	
Total p	Total parenteral nutrition		
System	nic steroidal therapy	0.402	
Abdom	ninal surgery	0.879	
Hospit	alization prior to ICU	0.039	
admiss	ion		
High risk	Neutropenia		
	Oncoematologic illnesses		
	Allogeneic transplant	Allogeneic transplant	
Intermediate	Long lasting corticostero	id therapy	
risk	prior to ICU admission		
	Autologous transplantation		
	COPD		
	Hepatic cirrhosis		
	Malignancies		
	HIV		
	Systemic immunosuppressive therapy		
	Lung transplantation		
Low risk	Severe burns		
	Organ transplantation (e)	cept for	
	Continent and treatment a 7 days		
	Hospitalization in ICU >	Hospitalization in ICU >21 days	
	Malnourishment		
	Risk fa Broad- Centra Total p Systen Abdon Hospit admiss High risk Intermediate risk Low risk	Multifocal colonization Severe sepsis Risk factor Broad-spectrum antibiotics Central venous catheter Total parenteral nutrition Systemic steroidal therapy Abdominal surgery Hospitalization prior to ICU admission High risk Neutropenia Oncoematologic illnesse Allogeneic transplant Intermediate Long lasting corticostero risk Prior to ICU admission Autologous transplantatii COPD Hepatic cirrhosis Malignancies HIV Systemic immunosuppre Low risk Severe burns Organ transplantation Corticosteroid treatment Hospitalization in ICU > Malnourishment	

shows the examined risk factors with associated coefficients; authors recommend >2.45 as the cutoff.

Literature identifies risk factors associated to pulmonary aspergillosis (IPA) in the critical ills as well. Those factors have been known for years and, according to Table 14.3, allow a classification of patients into three classes (low, medium, and high risk) [16]. Despite that, new risk factors such as COPD, cirrhosis, and previous H1N1 infection have been identified during the last decade thereby complicating the IPA diagnostic-therapeutic process [17].

Along with scores and risk factor identification, biomarkers play an important role in IFI diagnostic process. This holds especially true in the absence of a positive cultural test.

Table 14.1 CS criteria and coefficients (Adapted from León et al. [14])

Criteria	Coefficient
Total parenteral nutrition	1
Surgery	1
Multifocal colonization	1
Severe sepsis	2

Risk factor	Coefficient
Broad-spectrum antibiotics	1.537
Central venous catheter	0.873
Total parenteral nutrition	0.922
Systemic steroidal therapy	0.402
Abdominal surgery	0.879
Hospitalization prior to ICU	0.039
admission	

 Table 14.4
 BDG performance: Sens, sensibility; Spec, specificity; PPV, positive predictive value;

 NPV, negative predictive value [37]

Sens	Spec	PPV	NPV
0.64–1	0.45-0.90	0.37-0.61	0.91–1

Besides the traditional mannan/anti-mannan (for *Candida* spp. infections) and galactomannan (for *Aspergillus* spp. infections) essays, the recent β -D-glucan dosage shows promises. β -D-glucan is a fungal cell wall component, which could be identified by Fungitell[®] assay (Associates of Cape Cod Inc., Falmouth, USA). This is a protease zymogen-based colorimetric test for the qualitative detection of (1-3)- β -D-glucan in the patients' sera which might be exploited in patients who present symptoms or medical conditions predisposing to invasive fungal infection.

Despite (1-3)- β -D-glucan is produced by *Candida* spp. and other medically important fungal species [18], some others as *Cryptococcus* spp. produce low level of (1-3)- β -D-glucan [19, 20] and zygomycetes (as *Absidia*, *Mucor*, and *Rhizopus*) do not even produce (1-3)- β -D-glucan [20]. Therefore, *Fungitell*[®] *assay* remains a "pan-fungal" test despite failing in the identification of fungal species that do not expose (1-3)- β -D-glucan.

The test demonstrates pretty good performance (details in Table 14.4) particularly regarding its high negative predictive value. This can assist clinicians to rule out invasive candidiasis in case of doubts. Further, it requires short processing times: microbiologists could return results in 2 h from the acceptance of the sample. Keeping in mind that cultures necessitate as long as 48–72 h, a clinician might evidently initiate a therapy 2 days earlier by *Fungitell*[®] assay.

Until now, few laboratories in Italy perform the *Fungitell® assay* due to the lack of an automated procedure and consequent high costs.

The following section will focus on the critical ill derangements that alter antifungal pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics. Subsequently, indications and dosage adjustments for interesting antifungal to ICU practice will be exanimated.

14.2 Critical III Drug Pharmacodynamics and Antifungal Agents

Two major issues affect the critical ill pharmacotherapy. First, critical ill-related organ failures may affect drugs' pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic profile; then, an increased risk of pharmacological interaction is present due to the number of drugs simultaneously administered in those patients [21].

As regards the first issue, a cornerstone of pharmacology is "volume of distribution" (Vd) which defines the relationship between the administered amount of a drug and its resulting serum concentration [22].

Many influences may affect Vd during a patient's ICU stay. To make an example, large Vd shifts happen during sepsis due to large "resuscitative" fluid administration and hypoproteinemia, the latter causing an increased unbound fraction of drugs [21].

The relevance of Vd shifts mainly concerns hydrophilic drugs (i.e., fluconazole and echinocandins among antifungal drugs). Hydrophilic drugs are exclusively distributed in the extracellular compartment so as great antibiotic dilutions are expected whenever extracellular fluid expansions occur. This leads to inadequate drug concentrations and inefficient microbial killing and may trigger drug resistances [21, 23, 24].

It has been recently demonstrated that severe hypoalbuminemia (i.e., inferior to 2.36 g/dL), which usually occurs during sepsis/septic shock, reduces the plasmatic concentration of echinocandins [25] and that same doses of fluconazole, anidula-fungin, and caspofungin achieve inferior plasmatic concentration in ICU patients than in healthy volunteers [24]. Still, great concentrations variability was described among critical ill patients [24].

Lipophilic drugs (i.e., voriconazole and amphotericin B among antifungals) are only marginally interested by the mentioned pharmacological influences. The reason lies behind their intracellular diffusion.

By acting as a reservoir, in fact, the intracellularly collected drug may promptly compensate by back diffusion for any dilution that should occur in case of third space volume expansion. This ensues the maintenance of adequate drug concentration [21, 23].

The critical patient commonly presents significant alteration of drug metabolism and elimination as well.

Drug metabolism, mainly a liver duty, may significantly reduce due to decreases of liver perfusion or cytochrome P450 inhibition. This may depend on simultaneous drug administration. Of note, cytochrome P450 represents the main hepatic enzymatic group involved in drug metabolism [22].

Some lipophilic drugs undergo hepatic elimination besides hepatic transformation. Dosage reductions are therefore all the reasons necessary in case of hepatic failure.

The classical Child–Pugh score is used to guide dose adjustments in clinical practice, nonetheless it has never been validated in the critical setting [21].

As regards to antifungals, voriconazole and caspofungin need dose adjustment in case of hepatic failure.

Specifically, the maintenance dose of voriconazole should be halved in patients affected by mild to moderate hepatic failure (Child–Pugh A–B) while no recommendations are avoidable in case of severe failure [26].

Caspofungin is by contrast the only antifungal-holding recommendations for the use in Child–Pugh class C liver failure [27].

The kidneys eliminate most of others drugs, a large number of variables affecting the process. This is especially true in critical ill patients. Of note, renal clearance may increase during hyperdynamic states (i.e., sepsis, vasoactive support, and traumatic brain injury) as it may decrease during hypo-dynamic states or acute kidney injury (AKI) [22, 23].

Among antifungals, either hydrophilic or lipophilic, two agents require dosage adjustments because of renal impairment, namely, fluconazole and voriconazole.

	CVVH	CVVHD	CVVHDF
Fluconazole	Loading dose 400–800 mg Maintenance 200–400 mg daily	Loading dose 400–800 mg Maintenance 400–800 mg daily	Loading dose 400–800 mg Maintenance 400–800 mg daily
Voriconazole	Loading dose 400 mg/12 (2 doses) Maintenance 200 mg every 12 h	-	-

Table 14.5 Dosage adjustments during CRRT

References in the text

As to the former, a halved dose claimed as creatinine clearance (CrCl) becomes \leq 50 mL/min [28]. According to the manufacturer, the oral formulation of voriconazole has to be used in patients affected by moderate to severe renal insufficiency (i.e., creatinine clearance \leq 50 mL/min), as cyclodextrin, which is found in intravenous formulations, may accumulate. Despite that, no major adverse events have been reported when intravenous formulations were employed [29].

AKI treatment may include a continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT), which strongly influences drug clearance antifungal agents not being an exception. According to CRRT settings (continuous veno-venous hemofiltration (CVVH), continuous veno-venous hemodialysis (CVVHD), continuous veno-venous hemodialysis (CVVHD), continuous veno-venous hemodiafiltration (CVVHDF)), the requested dose corrections may differ.

As regards fluconazole and voriconazole, dosage may be adjusted as follows (Table 14.5) [26, 28, 30]. No recommendations are otherwise available regarding others antifungals.

Given the plethora of conditions that may potentially alter the antifungals' pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic profiles, it is hard to predict their plasmatic concentration shifts. This matter, as the mentioned almost unpredictable variations, greatly influences the therapeutic success to one side and the appearance of drug-related toxicities to the other.

According to the "personalized medicine" principle, the therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM), implying serial blood concentration measurements, represents a possible solution to the issue.

Despite that, it is at the moment unthinkable to routinely dose each antifungal, as recent British guidelines recommend on TDM to be used only in case of voriconazole-, itraconazole-, and 5-flucytosine-based therapies [31]. To the best of our knowledge, there are no studies examining the patient-centered benefits coming from a dose-optimization approach (i.e., TDM) in the critically ill affected by invasive fungal infections. Until such data become available, data obtained from different populations supporting the achievement of PK/PD targets and the use of TDM suggest that practitioner should actively optimize antifungal dosing and consider the use of TDM where available [32].

14.3 Antifungal Drugs: Which, When, and How

The most common antifungals used in critically ill patients are echinocandins (caspofungin, micafungin, anidulafungin), azoles (fluconazole, voriconazole), and amphotericin B.

Table 14.6 summarizes the spectrum of action for to the most frequent fungal species.

14.3.1 Echinocandins

Echinocandins are the most recent antifungal and the only one holding activity against the fungal cells' wall [22]. They act as noncompetitive inhibitors of the 1,3-beta-glucan synthase, thereby destroying the growing cell's wall structure, inducing osmotic instability and causing fungal cell death. Echinocandins are high molecular weighted; thereby their gastrointestinal absorption is greatly limited. Accordingly, they are commercialized only in intravascular formulations.

Echinocandins have fungicidal activity against most of the *Candida* species and fungistatic activity against *Aspergillus* spp. Furthermore, they are the only antifungals equipped with an established activity against biofilm produced by *Candida* spp.

Caspofungin, micafungin, and anidulafungin belong to this class of antifungals.

	Fluconazole	Voriconazole	Anidulafungin	Caspofungin	Micafungin	Amphotericin B
Aspergil- lus fumiga- tus	0	++	±	±	±	+
Candida albicans	++	+	++	++	++	+
Candida glabrata	±	±	++	++	++	++
Candida krusei	0	+	++	++	++	++
Candida parapsi- losis	++	+	+	+	+	++
Candida tropicalis	++	+	++	++	++	++
Mucor- mycosis	0	0	0	0	0	++
Crypto- coccus spp.	++	+	0	0	0	++

Table 14.6 Spectrum of action: ++, recommended; +, active, ± variable; 0, not recommended

14.3.1.1 Indications

These drugs are the first-choice drugs for the targeted treatment of candidemias and invasive candidiasis in non-neutropenic critically ill patients and as empiric treatment of suspected invasive candidiasis in non-neutropenic-critically ill patients [4, 33]. They also represent the first-line treatment for candidemias in oncohematological patients [7].

Echinocandins are not much active against *C. parapsilosis*, for which their use is justified only in case the treatment is started before microbiological identification and an adequate clinic and microbiological response in evident; in any case, a change in treatment with fluconazole still remains indicated [4, 7].

Caspofungin is available as rescue therapy for aspergillosis after a therapeutic failure with voriconazole [7].

14.3.1.2 Therapeutic Notes

Echinocandins show a weak interaction with other drugs, which makes them easily used in critical patients who often receive a lot of concomitant pharmacologic medications.

None of the three echinocandins requires any dose adjustment either in the case of renal failure or during continuous dialytic treatment [34].

Anidulafungin and micafungin's dose shouldn't be modified during hepatic failure, whereas caspofungin requires a 50% dose reduction in Child–Pugh class C patients [27, 35]. It should be noted that, regarding micafungin, there is a warning box on the onset of liver tumors in rats subjected to treatment with this drug for periods of more than 3 months: the manufacturer recommends liver function monitoring, although these reports have been limited to studies in rats subjected to prolonged treatment periods, without any clinical consideration in humans.

14.3.2 Azoles

Azoles inhibit lanosterol 14α -demethylase enzyme, which converts lanosterol to ergosterol, one of the main components of the fungal cell membrane, thus inhibiting fungal growth and replication [2, 22].

14.3.2.1 Fluconazole

It is a triazole active against *Candida* spp., *Cryptococcus neoformans*, *Histoplasma*, *Blastomyces*, and *Coccidioides* spp. but doesn't show any activity against filamentous mycetes [34]. It has both concentration- and time-dependent antifungal action [24].

Indications

Fluconazole is the first choice drug in case of certain infection by *C. parapsilosis*, both in non-neutropenic and in oncohematological patient [4, 33, 36], given the poor action of echinocandins toward this *Candida* species.

It is indicated as a second-choice drug for the treatment of invasive *Candida* infections in non-oncohematological patients if not previously exposed to azoles, if not critical, and if not at high risk of *C. glabrata* infection [7].

In case of candidemia with evidence on antibiogram of a species sensitive to azoles, it should be used in a step-down therapy: after an initial phase of treatment with echinocandin, usually not less than 72 h and in any case until the patient remains critical, a de-escalation to fluconazole is indicated [4, 33, 36].

Fluconazole can be used in prophylaxis against invasive candidiasis in ICU patients who underwent abdominal surgery with evidence of anastomotic leakage or with recurrent gastrointestinal perforations, although the results in this regard are conflicting [4, 24].

This drug is not indicated in the empirical treatment of candidiasis or against species other than *C. parapsilosis* in the oncohematological patient [7].

Therapeutic Notes

It has been noted that a standard dose of 400 mg does not always determine an effective drug concentration, so it is recommended to adjust the dose on the individual patient's weight: give 6 mg/kg daily after a loading dose of 12 mg/kg [24].

No therapeutic adjustment is necessary during hepatic insufficiency, whereas a 50% dose reduction is required when creatinine clearance (CrCl) is \leq 50 mL/min [28]. The drug requires dosage adjustments during renal replacement treatment: for the correct dose under CRRT see Table 14.5.

Unlike echinocandins, fluconazole shows numerous drug interactions. Of note, many of them occur with some drugs of possible interest in intensive care settings: alfentanyl and fentanyl, citalopram, clopidrogrel, hydroxyzine, ivabradine, and tolvaptan. In all these cases, the concomitant administration causes an increase in the concentration of the drug associated with fluconazole, with the possibility of overdose side effects.

14.3.2.2 Voriconazole

It is a second generation triazole approved by FDA in 2002. It is a broad-spectrum fungicidal drug [2].

Indications

Voriconazole is the first choice drug in the treatment of invasive aspergillosis [7].

It is indicated in the treatment of chorioretinitis/vitreitis when caused by *Candida* species that are sensitive to voriconazole on the antibiogram [4].

Therapeutic Notes

Voriconazole is one of few drugs for which repeated control serum levels over time are indicated [7].

The maintenance dose of voriconazole should be reduced by 50% in patients with moderate hepatic failure (Child–Pugh A–B), while it has not been studied in severe failure [26].

Given the risk of accumulation of cyclodextrin present in the injectable formulation, it is recommended to switch to the oral formulation of voriconazole in case of CrCl \leq 50 mL/min; nevertheless, some authors used the intravenous formulation in such circumstances without particular adverse events [29].

As for fluconazole, the administered dose should be changed during CRRT (see Table 14.5).

14.3.3 Amphotericin B

This antifungal drug belongs to the polyene macrolide class. It performs its function through the destruction of the fungal cell wall: it binds to the wall sterols, mainly ergosterol, causing the formation of pores that lead to death of the fungal cell [2, 22].

The affinity for the sterols is not selective for those present in the mycotic cells alone; in fact the toxic effects of the drug are due to the damage of the human cells' sterols. The main toxic effects include worsening of renal function, electrolyte abnormalities, leukopenia, and anemia.

Given its hydrophobicity, this drug has poor oral bioavailability and therefore should be administered exclusively intravenously. It has a fungicidal action and a broad spectrum of action [2, 34]. Its active ingredient is available in different formulations; among these, liposomal amphotericin and that in lipid complexes show a lower toxicity when compared to desoxycholate amphotericin [34].

14.3.3.1 Indications

Amphotericin represents the first-line treatment for *Candida* spp. dissemination to the central nervous system and to hepatosplenic, ocular, endocarditic, and articular levels [4, 36].

In both liposomal and lipid complexes formulations, it is indicated as a secondline treatment for candidiasis in oncohematological patients [7].

It is the drug of first choice, associated with the surgical eradication, in the treatment of invasive mucormycosis [7] and cryptococcosis [36], typical invasive mycosis of the immunocompromised patient.

14.3.3.2 Therapeutic Notes

Amphotericin does not require dosage adjustments either in the course of liver or renal failure. It is not necessary to change the dose during CRRT.

Attention should be paid to monitoring renal function given the nephrotoxicity of the drug [34].

14.4 Conclusion

Fungal infections are relatively frequent pathologies in critically ill patients, and they are characterized by high mortality. The diagnosis is often based on clinical scores and biomarkers rather than on isolation of pathogens from biological samples. Prompt and correct therapy is by contrast fundamental to guarantee the best chance of survival. The complexity of a critically ill patient, his multiple therapies, and concurrent organ failures makes pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antifungal agent unpredictable and variable. At present, it is only possible to choose the right antifungal drug and adequate doses to the organ failures (either renal or hepatic) or to CRRT. According to the pharmacological principles, it could be recommended to modify drug doses due to the Vd increment and alteration of plasma protein concentration, but, at the state of knowledge, no clinical studies give indication about the magnitude of these adjustments. The relevance of this topic and the lack of evidence in this field of critical medicine have driven a panel of international experts to add the study of pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of antifungal agents to the list of top ten studies/trials to be done in the next 10 years about fungal invasive infections [16].

References

- Schmiedel Y, Zimmerli S. Common invasive fungal diseases: an overview of invasive candidiasis, aspergillosis, cryptococcosis, and Pneumocystis pneumonia. Swiss Med Wkly. 2016;146:1–12.
- Campoy S, Adrio JL. Antifungals. Biochem Pharmacol. 2017;133:86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bcp.2016.11.019.
- Clancy CJ, Nguyen MH. Finding the 'missing 50%' of invasive candidiasis: how nonculture diagnostics will improve understanding of disease spectrum and transform patient care. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56:1284–92.
- 4. Pappas PG, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of candidiasis: 2016 update by the infectious diseases society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;62:e1–e50.
- 5. Garey KW, et al. Time to initiation of fluconazole therapy impacts mortality in patients with candidemia: a multi-institutional study. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;43:25–31.
- 6. Puig-Asensio M, et al. Impact of therapeutic strategies on the prognosis of candidemia in the ICU. Crit Care Med. 2014;1:10. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.0000000000221.
- Tissot F, et al. ECIL-6 guidelines for the treatment of invasive candidiasis, aspergillosis and mucormycosis in leukemia and hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients. Haematologica. 2017;102:433–44.
- Eggimann P, Garbino J, Pittet D. Epidemiology of Candida species infections in critically ill non-immunosuppressed patients. Lancet Infect Dis. 2003;3:685–702.
- 9. Yang S-P, et al. A risk factor analysis of healthcare-associated fungal infections in an intensive care unit: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Infect Dis. 2013;13:10.
- Bassetti M, Mikulska M, Viscoli C. Bench-to-bedside review: therapeutic management of invasive candidiasis in the intensive care unit. Crit Care. 2010;14:244.
- Pittet D, Monod M, Suter PM, Frenk E, Auckenthaler R. Candida colonization and subsequent infections in critically ill surgical patients. Ann Surg. 1994;220:751–8.
- Glöckner a, Karthaus M. Current aspects of invasive candidiasis and aspergillosis in adult intensive care patients. Mycoses. 2011;54:420–33.
- León C, et al. A bedside scoring system ('Candida score') for early antifungal treatment in nonneutropenic critically ill patients with Candida colonization. Crit Care Med. 2006;34:730–7.
- León C, et al. Usefulness of the 'Candida score' for discriminating between Candida colonization and invasive candidiasis in non-neutropenic critically ill patients: a prospective multicenter study. Crit Care Med. 2009;37:1624–33.
- Hermsen ED, et al. Validation and comparison of clinical prediction rules for invasive candidiasis in intensive care unit patients: a matched case-control study. Crit Care. 2011;15:R198.

- Bassetti M, et al. Intensive care medicine research agenda on invasive fungal infection in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43:1225. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00134-017-4731-2.
- Garnacho-Montero J, et al. Epidemiology, diagnosis and treatment of fungal respiratory infections in the critically ill patient. Rev Esp Quimioter. 2013;26:173–88.
- Gow NAR, Veerdonk FLVD, Brown AJP, Netea MG. Europe PMC Funders Group. Candida albicans morphogenesis and host defence : discriminating invasion from colonization. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2013;10:112–22.
- 19. Miyazaki T, et al. Plasma (1-->3)-beta-D-glucan and fungal antigenemia in patients with candidemia, aspergillosis, and cryptococcosis. J Clin Microbiol. 1995;33:3115–8.
- Odabasi Z, et al. Differences in beta-glucan levels in culture supernatants of a variety of fungi. Med Mycol. 2006;44:267–72.
- 21. Blot SI, Pea F, Lipman J. The effect of pathophysiology on pharmacokinetics in the critically ill patient concepts appraised by the example of antimicrobial agents. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;77:3–11.
- 22. Katzung BG, Masters SB, Trevor AJ. Basic and clinical pharmacology. London: McGraw-Hill Education; 2014.
- 23. Pea F. Plasma pharmacokinetics of antimicrobial agents in critically ill patients. Curr Clin Pharmacol. 2013;8:5–12.
- 24. Sinnollareddy MG, et al. Pharmacokinetic variability and exposures of fluconazole, anidulafungin, and caspofungin in intensive care unit patients: data from multinational Defining Antibiotic Levels in Intensive care unit (DALI) patients Study. Crit Care. 2015;19:33.
- Pea F. Current pharmacological concepts for wise use of echinocandins in the treatment of Candida infections in septic critically ill patients. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2013;11:989–97.
- Scott LJ. Voriconazole: a review of its use in the management of invasive fungal infections. Drugs. 2007;67:269–98.
- McCormack P, Perry C. Caspofungin: a review of its use in the treatment of fungal infections. Drugs. 2005;65:2049–68.
- 28. Diflucan® Package Insert.
- 29. Oude Lashof AML, et al. Safety and tolerability of voriconazole in patients with baseline renal insufficiency and candidemia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012;56:3133–7.
- Heintz BH, Matzke GR, Dager WE. Antimicrobial dosing concepts and recommendations for critically ill adult patients receiving continuous renal replacement therapy or intermittent hemodialysis. Pharmacotherapy. 2009;29:562–77.
- 31. Ashbee HR, et al. Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of antifungal agents: guidelines from the british society for medical mycology. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69:1162–76.
- 32. Calandra T, et al. Diagnosis and management of invasive candidiasis in the ICU: an updated approach to an old enemy. Crit Care. 2016;20:125.
- 33. Cornely OA, et al. ESCMID* guideline for the diagnosis and management of Candida diseases 2012: non-neutropenic adult patients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012;18(Suppl 7):19–37.
- Dimopoulos G, Antonopoulou A, Armaganidis A, Vincent J-L. How to select an antifungal agent in critically ill patients. J Crit Care. 2013;28:717–27.
- 35. Cancidas. Prescribing information-(caspofungin acetate) for injection.
- Chen SC, et al. Consensus guidelines for the treatment of yeast infections in the haematology, oncology and intensive care setting, 2014. Intern Med J. 2014;44:1315–32.
- 37. O Marchetti, F Lamoth, M Mikulska, C Viscoli, P Verweij, S Bretagne, (2012) ECIL recommendations for the use of biological markers for the diagnosis of invasive fungal diseases in leukemic patients and hematopoietic SCT recipients. Bone Marrow Transplantation 47 (6):846-854.



Correction to: Diagnosis and Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: An Evidence-Based Review

Giorgio Tulli

Correction to: D. Chiumello (ed.), Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_9

This book was inadvertently published with incorrect figure captions for figures 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7, 9.8, 9.9 and 9.10.

Figures captions are updated in book and the correct figure captions are provided below -

Fig. 9.3 Infectious disease is a complex disease. The four complementary theories of an infectious disease

Fig. 9.4 Risk factors for developing sepsis

Fig. 9.5 Pathophysiology of local infection and systemic infection

Fig. 9.6 Sepsis bundles 3 and 6 h (SSC 2004/2008/2012)

Fig. 9.7 SSC bundle 1 h (2018) and grade of recommendation and level of evidence of bundle elements

Fig. 9.8 SEPSIS SIX (1 h) Daniels R, Nutbeam T, McNamara G, Galvin C. The sepsis six and the severe sepsis resuscitation bundle: a prospective observational cohort study. Emerg Med J. 2011; 28(6):507–12

G. Tulli (🖂)

Quality and Safety Department, Tuscany Region Healthcare Agency, Florence, Tuscany, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

The updated version of the book can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_9

D. Chiumello (ed.), *Practical Trends in Anesthesia and Intensive Care 2018*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94189-9_15

Fig. 9.9 Fully embrace and quantify the uncertainty in a septic condition. Suspicion and early diagnosis of infection and sepsis quick shift from suspected infection to confirmed infection

Fig. 9.10 Infection and sepsis integrated care in the time dominion. A systematic vision of sepsis in Tuscany Region (Italy)